INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

EXTERNAL SECTOR REPORT

Imbalances Receding





INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

EXTERNAL SECTOR REPORT Imbalances Receding





©2024 International Monetary Fund

Cataloging-in-Publication Data IMF Library

Names: International Monetary Fund, publisher.
Title: External sector report (International Monetary Fund).
Other titles: ESR
Description: Washington, D.C. : International Monetary Fund, 2012- | Annual | Some issues also have thematic titles. | Began in 2012. | Includes bibliographical references.
Identifiers: ISSN 2617-3832 (print) | ISSN 2617-3840 (online)
Subjects: LCSH: Balance of payments—Periodicals. | Debts, External—Periodicals. | Investments, Foreign—Periodicals. | International finance—Periodicals.
Classification: LCC HG3882.158
ISBN: 979-8-40027-750-4 (Paper)

979-8-40028-109-9 (ePub) 979-8-40028-111-2 (PDF)

The *External Sector Report* (ESR) is a survey by the IMF staff published once a year, in the summer. The ESR is prepared by the IMF staff and has benefited from comments and suggestions by Executive Directors following their discussion of the report on July 1, 2024. The views expressed in this publication are those of the IMF staff and do not necessarily represent the views of the IMF's Executive Directors or their national authorities.

Recommended citation: International Monetary Fund. 2024. *External Sector Report: Imbalances Receding*. Washington, DC, July.

Publication orders may be placed online, by fax, or through the mail: International Monetary Fund, Publications Services P.O. Box 92780, Washington, DC 20090, USA Tel.: (202) 623-7430 Fax: (202) 623-7201 E-mail: publications@imf.org bookstore.IMF.org elibrary.IMF.org

CONTENTS

Further Information	vii
Preface	viii
Executive Summary	ix
IMF Executive Board Discussion Summary	x
Chapter 1. External Positions and Policies	1
Overview and Context	1
Recent Developments: Trade and Current Account Balances	1
Recent Developments: Currencies, Financial Flows, Balance Sheets	4
Assessment of External Positions in 2023	10
Outlook and Risks	12
Policy Priorities for Promoting External Rebalancing	18
Box 1.1. Cross-Country Variation in Gross Capital Inflows to Large Emerging Market	
and Developing Economies	20
Box 1.2. Geoeconomic Fragmentation and the Global Balance	22
Box 1.3. China Real Estate Slowdown and the Global Balance	25
References	34
Chapter 2. Navigating the Tides of Commodity Prices	37
Introduction	37
Features of Commodity Price Swings	39
Zooming In on Energy Price Swings	40
Looming Challenges	47
Conclusion	49
Box 2.1. Impact of the Recent Energy Price Shock on the EU Manufacturing Sector	51
Box 2.2. Co-Movements between Commodity Prices	53
Box 2.3. The Evolving Correlation between the US Dollar and the Oil Price	54
Box 2.4. Macroeconomic Impact of Energy Transition: The Case of Commodity Exporters	57
References	59
Online Annex Chapter 2	
Chapter 3. 2023 Individual Economy Assessments	61
Methodology and Process	61
Selection of Economies	61
Box 3.1. Assessing Imbalances: The Role of Policies—An Example	62
Abbreviations and Acronyms	63
Technical Endnotes by Economy	94
References	97
Figures	
Figure 1.1. COVID-19 Factors, Real Commodity Prices, and Global Trade Volume	2
Figure 1.2. Contributions to the Global Current Account Balance, 2000–23	2
Figure 1.3. Contributions of COVID-19 Factors to the Global Balance for ESR Sample	
Countries, 2020–23	3

Figure 1.4. Fiscal Policy Changes, 2022–23	3
Figure 1.5. Decomposition of Changes in Current Account, 2019–23	4
Figure 1.6. Currency Movements	5
Figure 1.7. Exchange Market Pressure and Its Components, 2023	5
Figure 1.8. Aggregate Net Capital Inflows in Emerging Market and	
Developing Economies, 2014–23	6
Figure 1.9. Net Capital Inflows to Emerging Market and Developing Economies by	
Component, 2014–23	7
Figure 1.10. Gross Capital Flows in Emerging Market and	
Developing Economies, 2014–23	7
Figure 1.11. High-Frequency Gross Portfolio Inflows to Emerging Market and	
Developing Economies, January 2023–March 2024	8
Figure 1.12. Gross Assets and Liabilities, 2000–23	8
Figure 1.13. Net International Investment Positions, 1990–2023	9
Figure 1.14. Valuation Changes and Net International Investment Position, 2023	9
Figure 1.15. Evolution of the Global Financial Safety Net, 1995–2023	10
Figure 1.16. Bilateral Central Bank Swap Line Agreements with the	
People's Bank of China	10
Figure 1.17. External Balance Assessment Current Account Norms, 2023	11
Figure 1.18. Evolution of External Sector Assessments, 2012–23	12
Figure 1.19. Evolution of Headline Current Account Balance and IMF Staff Gaps	12
Figure 1.20. Global Current Account Balance, 2000–29	13
Figure 1.21. Fiscal Policy and Global Current Account Balance, 2024–28	13
Figure 1.22. Number of Net Harmful Trade Restrictions by Policy Instrument, 2009–23	14
Figure 1.23. Capital Flows at Risk for Emerging Markets	15
Figure 1.1.1. Gross Capital and FDI Inflows	20
Figure 1.1.2. Bilateral FDI Abroad in the Balance of Payments	21
Figure 1.2.1. Trade Fragmentation Impact on the Current-Account-to-GDP Ratio	22
Figure 1.2.2. Impact of Trade Fragmentation on Global Balance	23
Figure 1.2.3. The Global Interest Rate after a Financial Fragmentation Shock	23
Figure 1.2.4. Impact of Financial Fragmentation on Global Balance	24
Figure 1.3.1. Medium-Term Impact of China Real Estate Slowdown on the	25
External Sector	25
Figure 1.3.2. Medium-ferm Impact on Global Balance	26
Figure 1.5.5. Real Effective Exchange Rate Response to China Real Estate	26
Slowdown Scenarios	26
Figure 2.1. Commonity and the US Dollar	58 40
Figure 2.2. Real Oil Price Swings	40
Figure 2.5. Effects of Oli Supply and Global Activity Shocks	41
Figure 2.4. Effects of Global Activity Shocks on Energy Exporters and Importers	42
Figure 2.5. Effects of Oil Supply Shocks on Energy Exporters and Importers	45
Figure 2.7. Impulse Responses to an Oil Supply and a Clobal Activity Shock in the	4)
Flevible System of Clobal Models	46
Figure 2.8 US Oil Trade Balance and Bolling Correlations between	10
Oil Price and the US Dollar	48
Figure 2.1.1 Wholesale Energy Prices in Europe	51
Figure 2.1.2. Energy Cost in European Manufacturing	51
Figure 2.2.1. Cumulative Explanatory Power of Components	53
Figure 2.2.2. Correlation of First Principal Component with Commodity Prices	53
	20

Figure 2.3.1. US Oil Trade Balance and Rolling Correlations between	
Oil Price and the US Dollar	54
Figure 2.3.2. Impact of Oil Price Shocks on the US Dollar over	
Different Sample Periods	55
Figure 2.3.3. Responses of Foreign Investors' Net Purchase of US Assets Following	
Negative Oil Supply Shocks	55
Figure 2.4.1. Impulse Response to a Permanent Decline in Global Real Oil Prices in the	
Flexible System of Global Models	58
Figure 2.4.2. Impulse Response to a Permanent Increase in Global Real Copper	
Prices in the Flexible System of Global Models	58
Tables	
Table 1.1. Selected Economies: Current Account Balance, 2021–24	16
Table 1.2. Selected Economies: Net International Investment Position, 2020–23	17
Annex Table 1.1.1. Selected Economies: Foreign Reserves, 2020–23	27
Annex Table 1.1.2. External Sector Report Economies: Summary of	
External Assessment Indicators, 2023	28
Annex Table 1.1.3. External Sector Report Economies: Summary of IMF Staff-Assessed	
Current Account Gaps and IMF Staff Adjustments, 2023	29
Annex Table 1.1.4. External Sector Report Economies: Summary of IMF Staff–Assessed	
Real Effective Exchange Rate and External Balance Assessment Model Gaps, 2023	30
Annex Table 1.1.5. Selected External Sector Report Economies: External Balance	
Assessment Current Account Regression Policy Gap Contributions, 2023	31
Annex Table 1.1.6. 2023 Individual Economy Assessments: Summary of	
Policy Recommendations	32
Table 3.A. Description in External Sector Report Overall Assessment	62
Table 3.B. Economies Covered in the External Sector Report	62
Table 3.1. Argentina: Economy Assessment	64
Table 3.2. Australia: Economy Assessment	65
Table 3.3. Belgium: Economy Assessment	66
Table 3.4. Brazil: Economy Assessment	67
Table 3.5. Canada: Economy Assessment	68
Table 3.6. China: Economy Assessment	69
Table 3.7. Euro Area: Economy Assessment	70
Table 3.8. France: Economy Assessment	71
Table 3.9. Germany: Economy Assessment	72
Table 3.10. Hong Kong Special Administrative Region: Economy Assessment	73
Table 3.11. India: Economy Assessment	74
Table 3.12. Indonesia: Economy Assessment	75
Table 3.13. Italy: Economy Assessment	76
Table 3.14. Japan: Economy Assessment	77
Table 3.15. Korea: Economy Assessment	78
Table 3.16. Malaysia: Economy Assessment	79
Table 3.17. Mexico: Economy Assessment	80
Table 3.18. The Netherlands: Economy Assessment	81
Table 3.19. Poland: Economy Assessment	82
Table 3.20. Russia: Economy Assessment	83
Table 3.21. Saudi Arabia: Economy Assessment	84
Table 3.22. Singapore: Economy Assessment	85
Table 3.23. South Africa: Economy Assessment	86

Table 3.24. Spain: Economy Assessment	87
Table 3.25. Sweden: Economy Assessment	88
Table 3.26. Switzerland: Economy Assessment	89
Table 3.27. Thailand: Economy Assessment	90
Table 3.28. Türkiye: Economy Assessment	91
Table 3.29. United Kingdom: Economy Assessment	92
Table 3.30. United States: Economy Assessment	93

Corrections and Revisions

The data and analysis appearing in the *External Sector Report* are compiled by the IMF staff at the time of publication. Every effort is made to ensure their timeliness, accuracy, and completeness. When errors are discovered, corrections and revisions are incorporated into the digital editions available from the IMF website and on the IMF eLibrary. All substantive changes are listed in the online table of contents.

Print and Digital Editions

Print

Print copies of this *External Sector Report* can be ordered from the IMF Bookstore at http://IMF.org/external/terms.htm

Digital

Multiple digital editions of the *External Sector Report*, including ePub, enhanced PDF, Mobi, and HTML, are available on the IMF eLibrary at www.elibrary.IMF.org/ESR24

Download a free PDF of the report and data sets for each of the charts therein from the IMF website at imf.org/en/Publications/ESR or scan the QR code below to access the *External Sector Report* web page directly:



Copyright and Reuse

Information on the terms and conditions for reusing the contents of this publication is at http://IMF.org/external/terms.htm

PREFACE

Produced since 2012, the IMF's annual *External Sector Report* analyzes global external developments and provides multilaterally consistent assessments of external positions of the world's largest economies representing more than 90 percent of global GDP, which include current accounts, real exchange rates, external balance sheets, capital flows, and international reserves. Together with the *World Economic Outlook* and Article IV consultations, this report is part of a continuous effort to assess and address the possible effects of spillovers from members' policies on global stability and to monitor the stability of members' external positions in a comprehensive manner.

Chapter 1, "External Positions and Policies," discusses the evolution of global external positions in 2023, key risks to external sector stability, and policy priorities for reducing excess imbalances over the medium term. Chapter 2, "Navigating the Tides of Commodity Prices," explores the external sector implications of energy price swings. It finds that energy-importing countries bear the brunt of negative oil supply shocks and can mitigate the impact through policies including greater exchange rate flexibility and more anchored inflation expectations. Chapter 3, "2022 Individual Economy Assessments," provides details on the overall external assessments for 30 economies and associated policy recommendations. This year's external assessments are based on the latest version of the IMF's External Balance Assessment methodology, external sector data as of May 20, 2024, and IMF staff projections in the April 2024 *World Economic Outlook*.

This report was prepared under the overall guidance of Pierre-Olivier Gourinchas, IMF Economic Counsellor and Director of Research, and under the direction of the External Sector Coordinating Group, comprising staff from the IMF's area departments (African, Asia and Pacific, European, Middle East and Central Asia, and Western Hemisphere) and several functional departments (Fiscal Affairs; Statistics; Strategy, Policy, and Review; Monetary and Capital Markets; and Research): Ali Jawad Al-Eyd, Rudolfs Bems, Pelin Berkmen, Emine Boz, Nigel Chalk, Jiaqian Chen, Mariana Colacelli, Borys Cotto, Christopher Erceg, Alexandra Aikaterini Fotiou, Kenneth Henry Kang, Purva Khera, Vitaliy Kramarenko, Jaewoo Lee (Chair), Amine Mati, Erin Nephew, Dragana Ostojic, Marcos Poplawski Ribeiro, Lev Ratnovski, Stephane Roudet, Christian Saborowski, Ranil Salgado, Mika Saito, Carlos Sánchez-Muñoz, Martin Sommer, Antonio Spilimbergo, Anita Tuladhar, and Sebastian Weber.

Rudolfs Bems and Jiaqian Chen led the preparation of the report, which draws on contributions from Cian Allen, Christiane Baumeister (external consultant), Lukas Boer, Benjamin Carton, Geoffroy Dolphin, Giovanni Ganelli, Keiko Honjo, Ting Lan, Roman Merga, Racha Moussa, Dirk Muir, Rafael Portillo, Cyril Rebillard, and Pedro Rodriguez. Important input was provided by country teams as well as David Coble, Majdi Debbich, Bada Han, David Florián Hoyle, Parisa Kamali, Robin Koepke, Svitlana Maslova, Hui Tong, and Marco Rodriguez Waldo. Excellent research and editorial assistance were provided by Mustafa Oguz Caylan, Santiago Gomez, Jane Haizel, DavidGuio Rodriguez, Jair Rodriguez, Xiaohan Shao, and Brian Hyunjo Shin.

Cheryl Toksoz from the Communications Department led the editorial team for the report, with production and editorial support from Absolute Services and the Grauel Group.

The analysis benefited from comments and suggestions by staff members from other IMF departments, as well as by the IMF's Executive Directors following their discussion of the report on July 1, 2024. However, both projections and policy considerations are those of the IMF staff and should not be attributed to Executive Directors or to their national authorities.

ollowing a sharp global monetary policy tightening to address inflation in 2021-22, tight monetary policy conditions in key advanced economies were maintained in 2023, contributing to the continued strength of the US dollar in 2023 and early 2024. Other reserve currency movements have been mixed in real terms, with notable depreciations of the Chinese renminbi and the Japanese yen partly reflecting weaker market sentiment and diverging monetary policy, respectively. Emerging market and developing economies generally experienced less depreciation pressure in 2023 than in the previous year, as monetary policy divergence subsided. Net capital inflows to emerging market and developing economies recovered slightly from the lows experienced in 2022 but remained negative in 2023. This is the result of various push (global) and pull (local) factors, including tight monetary policy in advanced economies, geopolitical uncertainties, compressed interest rate differentials, and subdued growth prospects. These patterns in net flows mask a decline in both gross inflows and gross outflows in emerging market and developing economies.

The global current account balance—the cross-country sum of absolute values of current account—narrowed significantly in 2023, moderating toward pre-COVID levels after a sustained expansion during 2020–22. The narrowing reflects a reversal of large current account surpluses in commodity exporting countries. Continued recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic and a slowdown in global trade in goods during 2023 also contributed.

The excess global current account balance—the sum of absolute values of current account surpluses and deficits in excess of their norms—has remained broadly unchanged relative to 2022, as a decrease in excess balances in several large economies was offset by increases in smaller economies. While part of current account surpluses and deficits reflects differences in fundamentals and desirable medium-term policies, excess global current account balances could exacerbate the risks of sudden stops and disruptive currency and capital flow movements, while contributing to increasing geoeconomic fragmentation and raising trade barriers. Narrowing excess global current account balances would reduce the risk of financial crisis, improve resource allocation, and help preserve support for multilateralism.

Over the medium term, the global current account balance is projected to continue narrowing, as current account deficit countries embark on fiscal consolidation and commodity prices moderate. Risks to the outlook are sizable and tilted toward a widening global balance. They include a divergence from projected medium-term fiscal consolidation plans, increasing geopolitical fragmentation, global spillovers from a prolonged real estate slowdown in China, and renewed commodity price spikes amid regional conflicts.

Policy efforts, in both excess surplus and deficit economies, are required to promote external rebalancing. Where excess current account deficits in 2023 partly reflected the need to reduce high public debt levels, policies in the near and medium term should focus on a credible fiscal consolidation. Economies with competitiveness challenges would also benefit from structural reforms, including to address bottlenecks in the labor market. In economies where excess current account surpluses persist, the priority should be on policies aimed at promoting investment and diminishing excess saving, including through public saving. Reforms to expand social safety nets and reduce informality would also help.

Coordinated policy efforts and multilateral cooperation will help deal with complex challenges facing the world economy and preserve the benefits of multilateralism, including by maintaining stable and transparent trade policies. Following the completion of the 16th General Review of Quota, the provision of consent by member countries to their respective quota increases would ensure that the IMF is adequately resourced to serve as an anchor of the global financial safety net.

IMF EXECUTIVE BOARD DISCUSSION SUMMARY

The following remarks were made by the Acting Chair at the conclusion of the Executive Board's discussion of the External Sector Report on July 1, 2024.

xecutive Directors broadly agreed with the findings of the 2024 External Sector Report (ESR) and its policy recommendations. They welcomed that global current account balances narrowed significantly in 2023 after a sustained expansion during 2020–22. Nonetheless, Directors observed that the excess global current account balance has remained broadly unchanged relative to 2022, as a decrease in excess balances in several large economies was offset by increases in smaller economies. Concurrently, global cross-border holdings of financial assets and liabilities remained at historically high levels in 2023, with net foreign creditor and debtor positions widening, largely owing to valuation changes.

Directors noted that lower commodity prices, and the related reversal of large current account surpluses in commodity exporting countries, significantly contributed to the narrowing of global balances in 2023. Other factors included the continued recovery of international travel from the pandemic disruptions, as well as a slowdown in global trade in goods. Directors observed that tight monetary policy conditions in key advanced economies were maintained, contributing to continued strength of the US dollar and more stable currency markets in 2023 and early 2024, relative to 2022. Net capital inflows to emerging market and developing economies, while recovering slightly, remained negative in 2023.

Directors generally welcomed the analysis of the external sector implications of energy price swings for the global and individual economies, differentiating among drivers behind the price swings, as well as accounting for countries' energy importer or exporter status. They concurred that, while energy-importing countries bear the brunt of negative oil supply shocks, these countries can resort to several policy tools to mitigate the adverse effects, including greater exchange rate flexibility, lower government debt, and having stronger external buffers. Moving forward, Directors called for further analysis of the two newly emerging challenges arising from the clean energy transition and the possible shift in the now positive correlation between the oil price and the US dollar.

Directors noted that global current account balances are expected to continue narrowing over the medium term, underpinned by a projected sizable medium-term fiscal consolidation in current account deficit economies and continued moderation in commodity prices. They cautioned that significant risks surround this outlook, including a divergence from projected medium-term fiscal consolidation plans, increasing geopolitical fragmentation, or renewed commodity price spikes amid regional conflicts.

Directors reiterated that excess global current account balances could exacerbate the risks of sudden stops and disruptive currency and capital flow movements, while possibly contributing to increasing geoeconomic fragmentation and raising trade barriers. They consequently encouraged both excess surplus and deficit economies to take steps to promote external rebalancing, in order to reduce the risk of financial crisis, improve resource allocation, and help preserve support for multilateralism.

Directors underscored that policies to promote external rebalancing differ with positions and needs of individual economies. They considered that in economies in which excess current account deficits partly reflect the need to reduce high public debt levels, policies should focus on a credible and growth-friendly fiscal consolidation. Directors stressed that economies with lingering competitiveness challenges would also benefit from structural reforms, including to address bottlenecks in the labor market. In economies where excess current account surpluses persist, prioritizing policies aimed at promoting investment and diminishing excess savings, including through expanded social safety nets or higher fiscal deficits—where feasible—is warranted. Directors also emphasized that economies with external positions broadly in line with fundamentals should continue to implement policies to address domestic imbalances and prevent excessive external imbalances; structural reforms to boost productivity would also improve competitiveness while facilitating the green and digital transition. Directors also noted that careful calibration of monetary easing and clear communication will be crucial to guard against unwarranted financial and capital market volatility and disruptive exchange market pressures. The policy responses to potentially disruptive capital flow movements should continue to be guided by the Integrated Policy Framework and the revised Institutional View on Capital Flows, depending on country circumstances. Strong macroeconomic policies and fundamentals continue to remain the first line of defense to protect against excessive capital volatility.

Directors underscored that coordinated policy efforts and multilateral cooperation will be key to deal with complex challenges facing the world economy and preserve the benefits of multilateralism. This includes maintaining stable and transparent trade policies, ensuring the responsible use of industrial policies and of potentially disruptive new technologies such as artificial intelligence, and mitigating the effects of climate change. Directors stressed that ensuring an adequate global financial safety net, with the Fund at its core, remains critical. Timely consent by members to their respective quota increases under the 16th General Review of Quotas is crucial in this regard.

Directors reiterated the need to ensure transparency, consistency, and evenhandedness of external assessments across countries. They stressed the importance of continued caution in interpreting and communicating the assessment results. Directors encouraged further exploration of possible improvements to enhance the EBA methodologies, and continued efforts to ensure consistency across work streams.

Overview and Context

In 2023, external sectors of External Sector Report (ESR) countries turned relatively stable, following a highly volatile 2020-22 period, which was characterized by two key shocks: the COVID-19 pandemic beginning in 2020 and Russia's invasion of Ukraine in 2022. Commodity prices moderated toward historical trends and pandemic factors¹ continued to recede, contributing to the return of public and private saving, investment, and current account balances toward prepandemic trends, narrowing the global current account balance. Following a sharp global monetary policy tightening to address inflation in 2021-22, tight monetary policy conditions in key advanced economies were maintained in 2023, contributing to the continued strength of the US dollar and constraining capital flows to emerging markets.

The medium-term outlook indicates continued narrowing of the global current account balance, supported by fiscal consolidation efforts in current account deficit countries and a moderation in commodity prices. However, there is a high degree of uncertainty surrounding this outlook. Risks include delays in the implementation of projected fiscal consolidation and heightened uncertainty about the commodity market outlook in view of geopolitical tensions, as well as intensification of geoeconomic fragmentation and a prolonged real estate slowdown in China. Besides impacting the global current account balance, these risks could hamper the efficient flow of resources and undermine the relative external stability of postpandemic years.

The authors of this chapter are Cian Allen, Rudolfs Bems (lead), Giovanni Ganelli, and Racha Moussa, in collaboration with Benjamin Carton and Dirk Muir, and under the guidance of Jaewoo Lee. Mustafa Oguz Caylan, Santiago Gomez, David Guio Rodriguez, Jair Rodriguez, Xiaohan Shao, and Brian Hyunjo Shin provided research support, and Jane Haizel provided editorial assistance.

¹Throughout the chapter, "pandemic factors" refers to the direct effect of COVID-19 (that is, lockdowns) as well as the market implications of COVID-19 (for example, initial collapse of the oil price and GDP) and policies implemented in reaction to COVID-19.

Recent Developments: Trade and Current Account Balances

Pandemic factors continued to normalize in 2023. Remaining supply chain disruptions dissipated, with the level of pressure falling below pre-COVID-19 levels and transport costs declining, relative to 2021–22 levels (Figure 1.1, panel 1). Following the lifting of COVID-19 restrictions in China in early 2023, the travel sector in Asia rebounded strongly in the first half of 2023 (UN World Tourism Organization 2024). Household consumption in advanced economies and emerging markets rotated back from tradable goods to services, with the composition in most countries returning to prepandemic levels (Figure 1.1, panel 2).

Commodity prices declined in 2023, reversing from 2022 peaks toward historical averages. Following a volatile 2022 with major negative supply shocks and elevated uncertainty about the commodity outlook, prices for all major commodity groups (food, energy, metals) have declined from the peaks reached during 2021–22 (Figure 1.1, panel 3). Both the easing of supply concerns and the slowdown in demand have contributed. The most notable reversal was observed for gas prices in Europe, which, after reaching very high levels in 2022, have fallen dramatically. As of the first quarter of 2024, real commodity prices remain elevated relative to prepandemic levels, in part due to continued global geopolitical tensions.

Global trade in goods slowed in 2023. Despite resilience in global economic activity, the volume of imports and exports declined globally by 0.9 percent, with global trade openness, measured as real goods trade-to-GDP ratio, falling sharply in 2023 (Figure 1.1, panel 4). The slowdown has equally affected emerging markets and advanced economies, reflecting restrictive global monetary policy and relatively tight financial conditions, especially in emerging markets, which tend to disproportionately impact traded goods. The postpandemic shift in demand back toward services (Figure 1.1, panel 2) has also had a dampening effect, while geopolitical fragmentation could be another contributing factor (Box 1.1 in the

Figure 1.1. COVID-19 Factors, Real Commodity Prices, and Global Trade Volume



Sources: CEIC, Global Economic Database; Haver Analytics; IMF, Primary Commodity Price System; IMF, April 2024 *World Economic Outlook*; and Joint Organizations Data Initiative.

Note: In panel 2, the impact on imports from the shift in consumption to durables and nondurables is plotted, in percent of country GDP. The impact on imports is estimated by applying the import content of durables, nondurables, and services from Hale and others 2019 for the United States, and scaling it by the percentage of foreign value added in domestic demand (OECD TiVA) for other countries, to the difference between the actual consumption of durables, nondurables, and services, and what they would have been based on their 2019 shares in private consumption. Countries included are Australia, Canada, Chile, China, Denmark, France, Germany, Indonesia, Israel, Italy, Japan, Korea, Mexico, New Zealand, Spain, South Africa, Sweden, Türkiye, the United Kingdom, and the United States. In panel 3, US consumer price index was used to derive real prices. In panel 4, index constructed as real goods trade-to-GDP ratio. Global foreign trade volumes are arithmetic averages of percent changes for individual countries weighted by the US dollar value of exports or imports as a share of world total (in the preceding year). Real GDP similarly constructed using US dollar GDP value share of world total.

Figure 1.2. Contributions to the Global Current Account Balance, 2000–23 (Percent of world GDP)



Sources: IMF, World Economic Outlook database; and IMF staff calculations. Note: The absolute value of current accounts is shown, in percent of world GDP. The global current account balance is calculated as the sum of absolute values of current accounts across countries. The categories "oil exporters" and "others" are also the sum of absolute values of the current accounts of countries in those categories.

April 2024 *World Economic Outlook*; Gopinath and others 2024). Most recent data for early 2024 indicate that a limited recovery is under way.

These developments have contributed to significantly narrowing the global current account balance toward pre-COVID-19 levels.² Following a sustained expansion during 2020–22, the global balance in 2023 decreased by 1 percentage point of world GDP (Figure 1.2).

A continued recovery from the pandemic facilitated the narrowing. COVID-19 factors significantly expanded the global balance during 2020–21, with reversed effects in 2022–23 (Figure 1.3). In China, for example, COVID-19 travel restrictions tended to increase the current account surpluses by lowering its service deficit. In the United States, the increased demand for durables and disrupted business travel during the lockdown increased imports of goods and decreased exports of services, widening the current account deficit. In turn, the gradual recovery of

²Global current account balance is defined as the sum of absolute current account balances across all countries. This indicator is a convenient summary measure of the global configuration of current account balances but need not indicate an excess global current account balance.





Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: COVID-19 factor contributions derived from COVID-19 adjustors of external sector assessments. Change in global balance is measured relative to its 2019 level and differs from headline global balance because it is based on *External Sector Report* country sample, for which COVID-19 adjustors are available. "Travel" refers to restrictions on international travel; "Household" refers to shift in household consumption toward traded goods; "Medical" refers to a surge in trade of medical goods; "Transport" refers to a surge in transportation costs; "Oil" refers to extraordinary reduction in demand for oil in 2020, due to mobility restrictions; "Other" captures other country-specific COVID-19 factors for 2020. See Online Annex 1.1 of the 2021 *External Sector Report* for details on the adjustors. ESR = *External Sector Report*.

international travel and the rotation of consumption out of durables and back into services since 2022 have narrowed the global balance.³ Other COVID-19 factors, such as elevated transportation costs and trade in medical goods, tended to similarly widen the global balance temporarily during the pandemic. Analysis of ESR sample economies shows that in 2021, COVID-19 factors could have contributed 0.63 percent of global GDP to the post-COVID-19 increase in the global balance. In 2023, the withdrawal of such factors is estimated to have contributed 0.1 percent of global GDP to the narrowing of the global balance relative to 2022.

A significant share of the narrowing of the global balance in 2023 can be linked to a reversal of peak current account surpluses in commodity-exporting countries in 2022 (see contribution of oil exporters in

Figure 1.4. Fiscal Policy Changes, 2022–23 (Cyclically adjusted fiscal balance, percentage points of potential GDP)



Sources: IMF, World Economic Outlook database; and IMF staff calculations. Note: CA = current account.

Figure 1.2). Commodity exporters as a group reduced current account surpluses by 0.55 percent of world GDP, as saving declined to buffer the economic impact of declining commodity prices (see also Figure 1.5, panel 3). The terms-of-trade shifts implied by the commodity price adjustments have also significantly impacted external balances for commodity importers. Most notably, the outsized fall in gas prices in Europe in 2023 (see Box 2.1 in Chapter 2) decreased energy import bills and increased trade balances for the region's gas importers.

The narrowing of the global balance can be linked to sizable changes in private saving, more than offsetting the impact of public saving on the current account. Current account deficit countries (excluding the United States) expanded fiscal positions slightly, and the United States did so considerably relative to 2022. Current account surplus countries' fiscal positions remained broadly unchanged (Figure 1.4). These developments widened the global balance. However, changes in government saving in 2023 were surpassed by changes in private sector saving for key contributors to the global balance-China, the United States, and oil exporters. On the current account deficit side, the decrease in the US current account deficit despite considerable fiscal loosening implies an increase in private saving (Figure 1.5). The current account surplus declined with private saving in China, albeit from a high level, reflecting the end of COVID-19-era lockdowns. For oil exporters, the current account surplus and saving declined as they smoothed the impact of commodity price volatility.

3

³Most recently, in 2023 lower travel service balance is estimated to have decreased the current account in China by 0.4 percent of GDP relative to 2022.

Figure 1.5. Decomposition of Changes in Current Account, 2019–23 (Percent of World GDP)



Sources: IMF, April 2024 *World Economic Outlook*; and IMF staff calculations. Note: Investment is displayed as a negative value. The private saving rate is calculated as the residual from the current account balance, investment, and the public saving rate.

Recent Developments: Currencies, Financial Flows, Balance Sheets

Exchange Rates

Following a rapid US dollar appreciation in 2022, currency markets were more stable in 2023 and early 2024. Exchange rate movements in 2022 were dominated by the rapid monetary tightening in the United States, relative to other economies, which drove a sharp increase in the value of the US dollar. In 2023, tight monetary policy conditions prevailed globally but monetary policy divergence subsided, with additional tightening in major advanced economies staying limited.

The strong US dollar persisted in 2023, with the currency remaining close to its post-2000 peak (Figure 1.6, panel 1), in part reflecting continued tight monetary policy and the relative resilience of the US economy in 2023. In the fourth quarter of 2023, the US dollar depreciated slightly, reflecting expectations of the beginning of the Federal Reserve cutting cycle. However, the more recent expectations of higher-for-longer policy rates in the United States have reversed this depreciation in early 2024.

Other reserve currency movements in 2023 and early 2024 have varied. The Chinese renminbi (-9.9 percent) and the Japanese yen (-10.2 percent) depreciated in real effective terms compared to their 2022 average. The depreciations partly reflected weaker market sentiment for the former and diverging monetary policy for the latter. The euro (0.3 percent) has remained broadly stable in real effective terms, while the pound sterling (4.9 percent) has appreciated, potentially driven by interest rate differentials (Figure 1.6, panel 2) and the speed of economic recovery.

Nominal effective exchange rate trends for other ESR countries in 2023 and early 2024 have displayed broadly similar patterns to their 2022 dynamics (Figure 1.6, panel 3). Some emerging market and developing economies (EMDEs), such as Brazil and Mexico, have appreciated again in 2023 and early 2024. Others, such as Argentina and Türkiye, have experienced significant depreciations. Country-specific factors such as interest rate differentials (see Figure 1.6, panel 2), speed of postpandemic economic recovery, preexisting vulnerabilities (such as lower perceived institutional quality), and success with disinflation efforts are reflected in these persistent differences in currency movements across EMDEs during 2022-23. The Russian ruble depreciated in 2023, largely due to declining export earnings.

The realized change in exchange rates is an imperfect measure of external pressures because interest rate changes and (active or passive) changes in foreign exchange (FX) reserves can also cushion pressures. Figure 1.7 plots an index summarizing this for 2023, incorporating realized exchange rate movements, policy rate changes by central banks, and adjusted changes in FX reserves, with positive values corresponding to exchange market pressure that would depreciate the

Figure 1.6. Currency Movements



Sources: Haver Analytics; IMF, Global Data Source; IMF, International Financial Statistics database; and IMF staff calculations.

Note: In panel 2, EBA currencies refers to the national currencies of the countries in the EBA model country sample. For scaling purposes, Argentina, Russia, and Türkiye were omitted from panel 2, and Argentina, Colombia, and Russia were omitted from panel 3. Omitted countries are listed with their coordinates. Data labels in the figure use International Organization for Standardization (ISO) country codes. AE = advanced economies; EBA = External Balance Assessment; EM = emerging markets; EUR = euro area; pp = percentage points.

Figure 1.7. Exchange Market Pressure and Its Components, 2023

(Percent change)

- Adjusted change in FX reserves
 Interest rate
 Total Exchange
 - Total Exchange Market Pressure 2023

1. Emerging Market and Developing Economies

Total Exchange Market Pressure 2022



2. Advanced Economies



Sources: Adler and others (2024); Goldberg and Krogstrup (2023); IMF, International Financial Statistics database; and IMF staff calculations. Note: The Exchange Market Pressure Index is based on Goldberg and Krogstrup (2023, updated). It is defined as the weighted and scaled sums of ER depreciation, adjusted changes in FX reserves, and policy rate changes. It combines pressures observed in exchange rate adjustments with model-based estimates of incipient pressures that are masked by changes in reserves and policy rate adjustments. Positive values correspond to exchange market pressure that would depreciate the nominal exchange rate. A country's total exchange market pressure in 2023 is the sum of scaled and weighted observed adjusted changes in FX reserves, short-term interest rate changes, and nominal exchange rate movements. Values of adjusted changes in FX reserves and interest rate changes are expressed in terms of counterfactual exchange rate adjustments that would have occurred if no changes in FX reserves or policy rates had occurred. Changes in FX reserves are adjusted for valuation changes, income flows, and changes in other foreign currency balance sheet positions by Adler and others (2024, updated). Figure includes all ESR economies covered by Goldberg and Krogstrup (2023). Missing economies are Argentina, Indonesia, and Türkiye. The United States is not reported as the reference currency is the US dollar. Data labels in the figure use International Organization for Standardization (ISO) country codes. EA = euro area; ER = exchange rate; ESR = External Sector Report; FX = foreign exchange.

nominal exchange rate. Using the adjusted changes in FX reserves constructed by Adler and others (2024, updated),⁴ Goldberg and Krogstrup (2023) estimated the counterfactual adjustment in the exchange rate that would have occurred in the absence of the adjusted changes in FX reserves or policy rate changes.

External pressure was considerably weaker and less one-sided in 2023, compared to 2022, as monetary policy divergence subsided, with tight conditions persisting globally. Twelve External Balance Assessment (EBA) economies (including Poland, Mexico and Brazil) faced appreciating pressure in 2023-a significant increase from 2022.5 This potentially reflects resilience of emerging markets to the ongoing tightening cycle, including improved policy frameworks in some economies, as indicated by the progress made in their fight against inflation and in reducing currency volatility, capital outflows, and other external pressures (see the April 2024 Global Financial Stability Report). As in 2022, change in inflation during 2023 was positively linked to the Exchange Market Pressure index, with lower pressure for depreciation in economies that have reduced inflation by more.

Exchange rate changes were the main policy outlet for addressing exchange market pressures, especially where the pressures were more sizable. In some emerging markets, as well as advanced economies, adjusted reserves changed. These changes occurred in both directions, with the adjusted change in reserves decreasing the appreciation pressure in Brazil, India, Poland, and Singapore, while the change absorbed depreciation pressure in Malaysia and Russia. With inflation abating in major emerging markets, some central banks have commenced cutting interest rates. During 2023, interest rate differentials vis-à-vis the United States-which has yet to cut rates-have declined (among ESR countries) for Brazil and Poland, as reflected in a negative interest rate component in Figure 1.7.

⁴Adler and others (2024) adjust changes in FX reserves for estimated valuation changes, income flows, and changes in other foreign-currency balance sheet positions. This measure often reflects FX intervention, but it can sometimes be dominated by other changes in the central bank's foreign currency position. Central banks can also intervene through derivatives, which have been increasingly used in some economies. See country pages in Chapter 3 for country-specific details on foreign exchange intervention in 2023.

⁵Average depreciation pressure was 1.9 percent, with 12 out of 32 EBA currencies experiencing depreciating pressure in 2023; in 2022 the average depreciation pressure was 12.8 percent, with 29 currencies having depreciating (positive) pressure.





Sources: Haver Analytics; IMF, International Financial Statistics database; and IMF staff calculations.

Global Financial Flows

Net capital inflows to emerging markets recovered slightly from 2022 lows but remained negative in 2023, showing uphill capital flows (Figure 1.8).⁶ This aggregate emerging market trend hides important heterogeneity across countries. While China continued to account for a large share of negative net capital inflows during 2023, inflows to other emerging markets as a group were positive and increased. Turning to subcomponents of the financial account (Figure 1.9):

- Net foreign direct investment (FDI) inflows in 2023 declined relative to historical averages but remained positive across emerging market groups. China was an exception, where net FDI inflows stayed negative and fell further in 2023.
- In both groups (China and other emerging markets), the more volatile net portfolio inflows were less negative in 2023. At the same time, net other investment inflows were muted in 2023, with a turn to positive net inflows in other emerging markets and a decline in China relative to 2022.
- Reserve accumulation, presented in negative values in Figure 1.9, has declined in China, while it has increased in other emerging markets.

⁶The overall level of net capital inflows into EMDEs varies across country samples. The focus in this section is on economies covered in the *External Sector Report* and the EBA regression model, subject to data availability.

Note: Net capital inflows are calculated as gross inflow minus gross outflow. Positive values indicate a net inflow. Total includes reserve accumulation with a negative sign. Sample includes economies covered in the *External Sector Report* and the External Balance Assessment regression model, subject to data availability. Derivatives are excluded. EM = emerging market economies.



Figure 1.9. Net Capital Inflows to Emerging Market and Developing Economies by Component, 2014–23

Sources: Haver Analytics; IMF, International Financial Statistics database; and IMF staff calculations.

Note: Net capital inflows are calculated as gross inflow minus gross outflow. Positive values indicate a net inflow. Total includes reserve accumulation with a negative sign. Sample includes economies covered in the *External Sector Report* and the External Balance Assessment regression model, subject to data availability. Derivatives are excluded. EM = emerging markets; FDI = foreign direct investment.

> These patterns in net inflows mask a decline in both gross inflows (nonresident investment in EMDEs) and gross outflows (EMDE residents' investment abroad) (Figure 1.10).

- In China, gross inflows have declined since 2021, with gross other investment inflows staying negative in 2022–23. A sharp decline in gross FDI inflows stands out in historical context. On the gross outflow side, China—the largest overseas investor among emerging markets—saw comparable or even larger reductions during 2023 for portfolio flows and reserves, contributing to the relative recovery in overall net inflows (see Figure 1.9, panel 2). In contrast, China's gross FDI outflows have remained broadly stable and in line with historical trends, resulting in large negative net inflows for this capital flow component.
- In other emerging markets in 2023, gross capital inflows and outflows declined, with a more pronounced decline in the latter increasing the net flows (Figure 1.9, panel 1). The relative resilience of net FDI inflows is accounted for by a comparable decline in both gross FDI inflows and gross FDI outflows. Gross portfolio inflows and outflows increased in 2023. Other gross outflows moderated relative to 2022, contributing to a recovery of net



Figure 1.10. Gross Capital Flows in Emerging Market and Developing Economies, 2014–23

Sources: Haver Analytics; IMF, International Financial Statistics database; and IMF staff calculations.

Note: Sample includes economies covered in the *External Sector Report* and the External Balance Assessment regression model, subject to data availability. Derivatives are excluded. EM = emerging markets; FDI = foreign direct investment.

other capital inflows. However, there was significant heterogeneity across large emerging markets, with some gross inflow destinations recording sizable increases (both for FDI and non-FDI inflows) relative to prepandemic trends (see Box 1.1).

Observed shifts in capital flows during 2023 can be attributed to push (global) and pull (local) factors. Among global factors, continued disinflation efforts and tight monetary policy in advanced economies set a generally constraining capital flow environment, as evidenced by reduced gross capital inflows and outflows. Local factors, such as interest differentials and less robust growth, may have depressed inflows to some countries. Geopolitical uncertainties may have played a role in reducing FDI (see Box 1.1).

Figure 1.11. High-Frequency Gross Portfolio Inflows to Emerging Market and Developing Economies, January 2023–March 2024

(Three-month moving sum, billions of US dollars)



Sources: Ajello and others (2023); Institute of International Finance; and IMF staff calculations.

Note: US financial conditions measured by the Financial Conditions Impulse on Growth index, with positive values indicate financial tightening. Gross portfolio inflows are measure by nonresident portfolio inflows data from the International Institute of Finance, with positive values indicting an inflow. EM = emerging market economies.

High-frequency gross portfolio inflows, a subset of the financial account, show an inflow to emerging markets other than China in the first few months of 2024, a continuation of the 2023 trend (Figure 1.11). China has seen a decline in inflows in early 2024, partly reversing the recovery in the fourth quarter of 2023 (also observed in aggregate gross portfolio inflows in Figure 1.10). These gross portfolio inflow dynamics can be linked to fluctuations in US financial conditions, with optimism in financial markets and the limited depreciation of the US dollar in the fourth quarter of 2023 helping rekindle capital inflows to emerging markets in the fourth quarter of 2023 and the first quarter of 2024. There have so far been fairly limited global spillovers in capital flows from increased tensions in the Middle East, as inflows to the region decreased in the second half of 2023 but have since recovered.

Global Balance Sheets and the Global Financial Safety Net

Global cross-border holdings of financial assets and liabilities are estimated to have remained broadly constant in 2023 relative to 2022 in percent of the

Figure 1.12. Gross Assets and Liabilities, 2000–23 (Percent of world GDP)



Sources: External Wealth of Nations database; IMF, April 2023 *World Economic Outlook*; and IMF staff calculations.

Note: Liabilities are shown on reverse scale. Data labels in the figure use International Organization for Standardization (ISO) country codes. Advanced economies (AE) commodity exporters: Australia, Canada, and New Zealand. Emerging market and developing economies (EMDE) debtors: Brazil, Chile, Indonesia, Mexico, Peru, South Africa, and Türkiye. Financial centers: The Bahamas, Barbados, Belgium, Cyprus, Hong Kong, Ireland, Luxembourg, Malta, Mauritius, The Netherlands, Panama, Singapore, Switzerland, and Taiwan. Oil exporters: Algeria, Angola, Azerbaijan, Bahrain, Brunei, Chad, Republic of Congo, Ecuador, Equatorial Guinea, Gabon, Iran, Iraq, Kazakhstan, Kuwait, Libya, Nigeria, Norway, Oman, Qatar, Russia, Saudi Arabia, South Sudan, Timor-Leste, Trinidad and Tobago, Turkmenistan, United Arab Emirates, Venezuela, and Yemen. ROW = rest of the world.

global GDP (Figure 1.12). Such gross holdings have remained large from a historical perspective and have increased in US dollar terms. Financial centers, including the United Kingdom, continued to play an outsized role in global balance sheets, representing 36 percent of global assets and liabilities but only 7 percent of global GDP.

Despite the narrowing in the global current account balance, net foreign creditor and debtor positions are estimated to have expanded in 2023, with broad-based increases in positions across different country groups (Figure 1.13). The largest debtor economy remains the United States, whose net international investment position deteriorated from -61 percent of GDP in 2022 to -71 percent in 2023 (Table 1.2). Other large debtor economies include Brazil, France, and India, while the largest creditor economies remain China, Germany, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, and Japan.

Figure 1.13. Net International Investment Positions, 1990–2023

(Percent of world GDP)



Sources: External Wealth of Nations database; IMF, April 2023 World Economic Outlook; and IMF staff calculations.

Note: Liabilities are shown on reverse scale. Data labels in the figure use International Organization for Standardization (ISO) country codes. Advanced economies (AE) commodity exporters: Australia, Canada, and New Zealand. Emerging market and developing economies (EMDE) debtors: Brazil, Chile, Indonesia, Mexico, Peru, South Africa, and Türkiye. Financial centers: Belgium, Bermuda, Bahrain, The Bahamas, Barbados, British Virgin Island, Cayman Islands, Curacao, Cyprus, Guernsey, Hong Kong, Ireland, Isle of Man, Jersey, Luxembourg, Malta, Mauritius, The Netherlands Antilles, Panama, Singapore, Switzerland, Taiwan, and Turks and Caicos. Oil exporters: Algeria, Angola, Azerbaijan, Bahrain, Brunei, Chad, Republic of Congo, Ecuador, Guinea Equatorial, Gabon, Iran, Iraq, Kazakhstan, Kuwait, Libya, Nigeria, Norway, Oman, Qatar, Russia, Saudi Arabia, South Sudan, Timor-Leste, Trinidad and Tobago, Turkmenistan, United Arab Emirates, Venezuela, and Yemen. ROW = rest of the world.

Financial centers have a large net creditor position as a group, around 6 percent of global GDP.

Persistent current account surpluses and deficits across creditors and debtors continued to shape the expanding net international investment positions during 2023. In addition, valuation changes have contributed to increasing stock imbalances, with creditor countries tending to have more positive valuation changes (with a notable exception of The Netherlands) while larger debtors tended to experience valuation losses (Figure 1.14). US equity prices, in particular, led to a deterioration of US debtor position and increases in net position of countries holding these assets. Currency-induced valuation changes tended to partly offset the shifts due to asset prices over this period. For instance, in the United States, the valuation loss due to higher domestic equity prices was only partially offset by a valuation

Figure 1.14. Valuation Changes and Net International Investment Position, 2023 (Percent of GDP)



Sources: IMF, International Financial Statistics database; and IMF staff calculations.

Note: Valuation changes are calculated as the difference between the change in net international investment position over the 2022:Q4–23:Q4 period and current account balance, in percent of GDP. Sample includes economies covered in the External Balance Assessment regression model, subject to data availability. Bubble sizes are proportional to US dollar GDP. Data labels in the figure use International Organization for Standardization (ISO) country codes.

gain due to a US dollar depreciation over the first three quarters of 2023.

The global financial safety net continues to be a critical component of the international monetary system. It provides countries with insurance against shocks, financing to mitigate their impact, and incentives for sound macroeconomic policies (Aiyar and others 2023). The global financial safety net is composed of four layers: central banks' foreign exchange reserves, central banks' bilateral swap arrangements, regional financing arrangements, and the IMF. As of the end of 2023, it represented a combined firepower of around \$17.8 trillion (Figure 1.15). In addition, the Federal Reserve's temporary bilateral swap lines or repurchase agreement facility for foreign and international monetary authorities played a key role in stabilizing global financial markets and capital flows to emerging market economies.7 There has been a rapid growth in the People's Bank of China swap lines signed in the last 11/2 decades (Bahaj, Fuchs, and Reis 2024), both on the intensive margin, with the value of these

⁷See Aizenman, Ito, and Pasricha (2022) and Goldberg and Ravazzolo (2022) for more details.

Figure 1.15. Evolution of the Global Financial Safety Net, 1995–2023

(Billions of US Dollars)



Sources: Central bank websites; Perks and others (2021); RFA annual reports; and IMF staff estimates.

Note: BSLs = bilateral swap lines; eop = end of period; RFAs = regional financing arrangements. Two-way arrangements are counted only once.

¹Limited-amount swap lines include all arrangements with an explicit amount limit and exclude all the Chiang Mai Initiative Multilateralization arrangements, which are included under RFAs.

²Permanent swap lines among major advanced economy central banks (Federal Reserve, European Central Bank, Bank of England, Bank of Japan, Swiss National Bank, Bank of Canada). The estimated amount is based on known past usage or, if undrawn, on average past maximum drawings of the remaining central bank members in the network, following the methodology in Denbee, Jung, and Paternò 2016.

³Based on explicit lending capacity or limit (where available), committed resources, or estimated lending capacity based on country access limits and paid-in capital.

⁴After prudential balances.

⁵Quota for countries in the financial transaction plan after deducting prudential balance.

agreements increasing markedly, and on the extensive margin, with the People's Bank of China expanding the number of countries with active bilateral swap lines agreements to 31 by 2023 (Figure 1.16).

Assessment of External Positions in 2023

This report presents multilaterally consistent individual assessments of external positions for 30 of the world's largest economies (87.7 percent of global GDP).⁸ Annex Tables 1.1.2, 1.1.3, and 1.1.4 summarize the IMF staff–assessed current account and real effective exchange rate gaps and external sector assessments for these economies.

Figure 1.16. Bilateral Central Bank Swap Line Agreements with the People's Bank of China



Sources: Bahaj, Fuchs, and Reis (2024); People's Bank of China; and IMF staff calculations.

Note: Number of countries and swap amounts based on data from Bahaj, Fuchs, and Reis (2024), which tracks public sources such as People's Bank of China press releases regarding swap line agreements. A swap line agreement is classified as active if the date of observation falls between the enactment and expiration dates of the agreement. In cases when an existing deal is replaced with another deal with a different amount during a given year, the amount of the later deal is used. BSL = bank swap line.

Methodology

The models in the EBA methodology produce medium-term current account and real exchange rate benchmarks (or norms) that are consistent with country fundamentals and desired policies (Figure 1.17).^{9,10} The norms are compared with realized current account and real exchange rate levels (after adjusting for cyclical and other short-term factors) to derive gaps, a measure of excess external balances. The model inputs are then combined with other external indicators, analytically grounded adjustments, and country-specific insights to reach a holistic IMF staff assessment of external sectors.

⁹The EBA current account norms reflect fundamental features affecting economies' saving and investment decisions. Advanced economies with higher incomes, older populations, and lower growth prospects tend to have positive norms, while most EMDEs, which tend to be younger and are expected to import capital to invest and exploit their higher growth potential, have negative norms. Norms also depend on desirable medium-term policies—that is, policies deemed appropriate by IMF staff once cyclical factors are accounted for. For instance, economies for which IMF staff recommend a relatively loose fiscal policy will have lower norms than those evaluated as needing fiscal consolidation.

¹⁰See Allen and others (2023) for details on the current vintage of the EBA methodology. A detailed description of the external assessment process can also be found in an IMF blog entry (Obstfeld 2017).

⁸Although the ESR presents assessments for 30 systemic economies, the IMF staff conduct an assessment of the external sector of all members as part of bilateral surveillance.

Figure 1.17 External Balance Assessment Current Account Norms, 2023

(Percent of GDP)



Source: IMF, External Balance Assessment estimates.

Note: Figure excludes Hong Kong SAR, Saudi Arabia, and Singapore, as they are not included in the EBA regression model. Data labels use International Organization for Standardization (ISO) country codes. EA = euro area; EBA = External Balance Assessment.

¹The EBA current account norm is multilaterally consistent and cyclically adjusted. ²Other fundamentals include output per worker, expected GDP growth, and *International Country Risk Guide*.

³Desirable policies include desirable credit gap, desirable fiscal balance, desirable foreign exchange intervention, desirable health, and constant and multilaterally consistent adjustment.

⁴The current account norm is corrected for reporting discrepancies in intra-area transactions, since the current account of the entire euro area is about 1.3 percent of GDP less than the sum of the individual 11 countries' balances (for which no such correction is available).

IMF staff judgment plays a critical role in the assessments, as the models may not capture all relevant country characteristics and potential policy distortions. Adjustors for country-specific factors, such as measurement issues, natural disasters, net international investment position considerations, and lingering but temporary effects of the pandemic, have been included. The size of such adjustors continued to shrink when compared to 2022 (see Figure 1.3). Annex Table 1.1.3 reports the overall set of IMF staff adjustments.

Assessment Results for 2023

External positions compared with the levels consistent with medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies in 2023 were as follows:

 Moderately stronger, stronger, or substantially stronger than the level consistent with medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies: The 10 economies with such positions were Germany, India, Malaysia, Mexico, Singapore, Sweden, and Thailand, along with The Netherlands, Poland, and Spain, which entered the category in 2023.

- Moderately weaker, weaker, or substantially weaker than the level consistent with medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies: The nine economies with such positions were Argentina, Belgium, Canada, Italy, and Türkiye, along with Korea, Saudi Arabia, Switzerland, and the United Kingdom, which entered the category in 2023.
- Broadly in line with the level consistent with mediumterm fundamentals and desirable policies: The 11 economies with such positions were Australia, Brazil, China, the euro area, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, Indonesia, and Japan, along with France, Russia, South Africa, and the United States, which entered this category in 2023.

Compared with those for 2022, assessments for 2023 changed for about half of the 30 ESR economies (Figure 1.18), largely driven by changes in headline current accounts. About half of the economies that changed assessment moved farther away from the "broadly in line" category. However, notable cases of economies that moved into the "broadly in line" category include France, Russia, South Africa, and the United States. At the aggregate level, the sum of the absolute values of IMF staff-assessed current account gaps remained broadly unchanged relative to 2022close to 1 percent of ESR economy GDP (Figure 1.19, panel 1)—as a decrease in staff gaps for the largest economies (China and the United States) was offset by increases in some of the smaller ESR economies (Figure 1.19, panel 2).

Compared in terms of the sum of absolute values, headline current account balances decreased sizably in contrast to IMF staff–assessed current account gaps. For the ESR sample, the sum of the absolute values of current account balances (akin to the global current account balance of Figure 1.2) decreased by about 0.6 percentage point to about 2.4 percent of ESR GDP in 2023 compared to 2022 (see Figure 1.19, panel 1). Cyclical factors played a major role in the large headline current account fluctuations.¹¹ The summed absolute value of current account norms was stable at 1.6 percent of GDP in 2023.

¹¹IMF staff–assessed current account gaps are constructed once cyclical and short-term considerations are factored out and incorporate staff adjustments for temporary factors; they therefore are less volatile.

Figure 1.18. Evolution of External Sector Assessments, 2012–23

	2012 13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23		
Stronger than Implied by Fundamentals													
Singapore													
Sweden													
The Netherlands													
Germany													
Thailand													
Malaysia													
Poland													
Mexico													
India													
Spain													

Broadly in Line with Fundamentals



Weaker than Implied by Fundamentals



Source: IMF staff assessments.

Note: Grouping and ordering are based on economies' excess imbalance during 2023. Coverage of Argentina in the *External Sector Report* started in 2018.

Most of the excess balance in 2023 (measured by the sum of absolute values of IMF staff–assessed current account gaps) pertained to advanced economies. Among economies in the "weaker-than-warranted" categories, the largest contributors to lower-thanwarranted current account balances as a share of ESR economy GDP were, in descending order, the United Kingdom, Italy, and Canada. Among economies in the "stronger-than-warranted" categories, the largest contributors to larger-than-warranted current account balances as a share of ESR economy GDP were (again, in descending order) Germany, India, and The Netherlands.

Figure 1.19. Evolution of Headline Current Account Balance and IMF Staff Gaps



Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: Data labels in the figure use International Organization for Standardization (ISO) country codes. CA = current account; EA = euro area; ESR = *External Sector Report.*

¹The headline CA for 2024 is a projection.

²Bubble sizes are proportional to 2023 GDP in US dollars.

Outlook and Risks

Outlook

The global balance is projected to narrow further over the medium term, with some heterogeneity across countries (Figure 1.20, Table 1.1). Current account surpluses in China and oil exporters are projected to continue to decline as imports of services continue to grow in China and as energy prices continue to moderate. The current account deficit of the United States is also projected to contribute to the narrowing of the global balance as the trade deficit continues to decline toward prepandemic levels.

Figure 1.20. Global Current Account Balance, 2000–29 (Percent of world GDP)



Sources: IMF, International Financial Statistics database; IMF, World Economic Outlook database; and IMF staff calculations. Note: Data labels in the figure use International Organization for Standardization (ISO) country codes. AEs = advanced economies; EA = euro area; EMDEs = emerging market and developing economies.

> The decline in the global balance is dampened by the projected widening of the current account deficit in several deficit emerging markets, including Brazil, India, Indonesia, and Mexico. In terms of macroeconomic factors, the narrowing of the medium-term global balance is supported by moderating commodity prices and projected medium-term fiscal consolidation in current account deficit countries, including the United States (Figure 1.21), outweighing a projected gradual recovery in global trade volumes. The medium-term global balance has decreased by 0.2 percent of world GDP relative to the path reported in the 2023 *External Sector Report*.

> Creditor and debtor stock positions are projected to continue to expand moderately over the medium term. As projections of exchange rates and asset prices are highly uncertain, global stock balances could deviate substantially from baseline projections. Nevertheless, the debtor position of European economies is projected to improve over the medium term on the back of persistent current account surpluses and declining deficits. Risks of external stress persist for economies where gross external liabilities are historically high (see Chapter 2 of the 2020 *External Sector Report*).

Figure 1.21. Fiscal Policy and Global Current Account Balance, 2024–28



Sources: IMF, World Economic Outlook (WEO) database; and IMF staff estimates (Group of Twenty model simulations).

Risks Surrounding the Outlook

Several key assumptions underpin the baseline projection for current account balances, including the implementation of sizable medium-term fiscal consolidation in current account deficit countries, no further escalation of geoeconomic tensions, moderating commodity prices, and continued global financial stability. Risks to the outlook are sizable and tiled toward a widening global balance, linked to potential delays in fiscal consolidation in current account deficit countries, external sector spillovers from continued real estate slowdown and rebalancing in China, and rising commodity prices. Risks that could narrow the global balance include intensifying geoeconomic fragmentation and tightening of global financial conditions. Several of the risks surrounding the outlook, including delayed fiscal consolidation and intensifying geoeconomic fragmentation, have the potential to disrupt the relative stability in external sector that has returned after the pandemic years.

Divergence from projected medium-term fiscal consolidation plans: Current account deficit countries provided outsized fiscal support during the pandemic (see the 2021 External Sector Report). After sustaining elevated expenditure levels during 2022–23, partly due to new global geoeconomic shocks, these



Figure 1.22. Number of Net Harmful Trade Restrictions by Policy Instrument, 2009–23

Sources: Global Trade Alert database; and IMF staff calculations. Note: Industrial policy (IP) and trade interventions are based on the reported policy instrument used. COVID-19 interventions are defined as those with explicit mention of COVID-19 or related words in the intervention's state act title. The reported time series is adjusted for time-series comparison. This adjustment consists of only reporting the interventions announced by the government and documented in the data set within the same year. The reported net interventions are only those catalogued as harmful ("Red") minus those reported as liberalizing ("Green") in the published Global Trade Alert database. Results are based on data published on May 16, 2024.

> economies are projected to embark on a gradual fiscal consolidation of 2 percent of GDP over the medium-term horizon (Figure 1.21, panel 1). No systematic consolidation relative to 2023 is projected for current account surplus countries. However, implementing the consolidation could prove challenging, for example, due to elections or political pressure to increase subsidies and reduce taxes (see Chapter 1 of the April 2024 World Economic Outlook). To examine such risks, an alternative scenario assumes that fiscal consolidation envisaged for 2024-25 is postponed until 2026 (see Box 1.2 of the April 2024 World Economic Outlook for further details).¹² Under this risk scenario, analyzed using the IMF's Group of Twenty model, current account deficit countries run higher deficits in fiscal and current accounts initially and then engage in sharper fiscal consolidation after 2026 than under the baseline. As a result, the global

> ¹²The April 2024 *World Economic Outlook* scenario focuses on fiscal consolidation efforts in advanced economies, which, for the purpose of external sector analysis of this section, have been recast in terms of current account deficit and surplus countries, with advanced economies, and the United States in particular, accounting for a disproportionate share of global current account deficits. No deviations from the fiscal baseline are assumed for China.

current account balance expands relative to the baseline until 2026 and thereafter shrinks faster and lower than the baseline (Figure 1.21, panel 2). Beyond the examined risk scenario, delayed fiscal consolidation could magnify fiscal vulnerabilities by increasing sovereign spreads and public debt, more so in countries with current account deficits. Heightened fiscal vulnerabilities, in turn, increase the risk of external stress events, which have been shown to lead to larger output losses and sharper current account adjustments (see Chapter 2 and Box 2.1 in the 2020 External Sector Report). Given the global scale of the projected fiscal consolidation, a widespread delay could also deteriorate global risk sentiment and elevate global financial stress, which can further heighten economic costs to debtor as well as creditor countries, with the latter experiencing substantial valuation losses.

Intensifying geoeconomic fragmentation hampering global trade and finance: Geoeconomic fragmentation remains a major concern, aggravated by the recent geopolitical tensions stemming from US-China trade relations and Russia's war in Ukraine. In an extreme scenario, the world could splinter into geoeconomic blocs, with profound effects on cross-border trade and the international monetary system (Aiyar and others 2023). Policy measures that restrict global trade have continued to accumulate in terms of trade interventions, as well as increasingly in the form of industrial policies targeting national security, economic resilience, de-risking of supply chains, and climate objectives (Figure 1.22). Recent empirical evidence suggests that fragmentation of trade and investment along geopolitical lines following Russia's invasion of Ukraine has already materialized, albeit to a relatively small extent (Gopinath and others 2024). Model-based scenarios of trade and financial fragmentation suggest that an intensification of geoeconomic fragmentation could reduce trade flows and narrow the global balance over the medium term (see Box 1.2).¹³ Geoeconomic fragmentation adversely impacts effective productivity by distorting trade in intermediate goods, more so for those countries closely integrated in global value chains across un-friendly blocs. Importantly, the negative economic consequences of the intensifying fragmentation could extend beyond the politically more distant blocs. Output, investment, and trade openness decline also in the systemically important group of

¹³See also Box 1.3 in the 2023 *External Sector Report* for a related analysis of trade costs and current account imbalances.

non-aligned emerging and developing economies. Further geoeconomic fragmentation would unambiguously reduce welfare, including through its effects on FDIs, the diffusion of technology, and flows of goods and capital (Aiyar and others 2023; April 2023 *World Economic Outlook*, Chapter 4; April 2023 *Global Financial Stability Report*, Chapter 4). Increased fragmentation would also weaken international policy coordination on vital global public goods, such as climate change mitigation and pandemic resilience (see Chapter 2 of the 2022 *External Sector Report*).

Global spillovers from a prolonged real estate slowdown in China: A depreciation of China's housing value—a dominant store of wealth for households—and the subsequent rebuilding of the stock of wealth in China could contribute to a saving glut with global spillovers. Such a scenario would likely drive up China's current account surpluses vis-à-vis the rest of the world and widen the global current account balance (Box 1.3). Increased production in goods sectors, due to increased subsidies or rapid productivity gains, could also generate international spillovers, widening the global balance. This highlights the importance of domestic rebalancing and broad-based structural reform efforts in China, including efforts to boost productivity growth and strengthen social safety nets to reduce precautionary saving.

An abrupt tightening of financial conditions: Given very low financial volatility concurrent with elevated macroeconomic uncertainty, a sudden repricing of risk could lead to a sharp tightening of financial conditions. Additionally, correlations across asset classes are historically high, increasing the risk of contagion (see the April 2024 Global Financial Stability Report). This could trigger capital outflows, sharp exchange rate adjustments, and balance-of-payments crises for countries with weak buffers and high foreign currency debt. A particular financial risk stems from higher-for-longer policy rates in the United States, which could reduce policy rate differentials in emerging markets (see the April 2024 Global Financial Stability Report). Resulting global spillovers could include disruptive exchange market pressures, capital outflows, and reduced trade flows, likely translating into a lower global balance. In IMF staff estimates of capital flows at risk, threequarter-ahead portfolio debt outflows across emerging markets (excluding China) at the fifth percentile will be 2.3 percent of GDP, with a probability of outflows at about 27 percent (Figure 1.23). This represents a marginal improvement from last year, related to a more positive investor sentiment.

Figure 1.23. Capital Flows at Risk for Emerging Markets (Conditional probability distribution)



Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: The *x*-axis represents the expected average of gross portfolio debt inflows to GDP over the next three quarters into 18 emerging market economies (Brazil, Bulgaria, Chile, Colombia, Egypt, Hungary, India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Mexico, Peru, Philippines, Poland, Romania, Russia, Thailand, Türkiye, South Africa). Probability densities are estimated for different sets of data with the baseline representing the average across time. Please see Gelos and others (2022) for more detail.

Rising commodity prices: Energy price hikes could be triggered by renewed supply chain pressures precipitated by the war in Ukraine, the Middle East conflict, terrorism disruptions to trade, or climate disasters. EMDEs that are energy importers and have low buffers are particularly vulnerable to a prolonged elevation in commodity prices, which could lead to capital outflows, exchange rate depreciations, fiscal pressures, and debt distress. Rising commodity prices have historically been linked to a widening global balance, but risks such as intensification of regional conflicts could also depress trade in goods and services as well as financial flows.

Climate change and clean energy transition: As risks of climate change are materializing, natural disasters could become more widespread, increasingly affecting larger countries, especially in the long term. Empirical estimates for disaster-prone economies show a deterioration of the current account after a climate disaster (see Box 1.3 of the 2022 *External Sector Report*). Moreover, the global balance could be significantly impacted by implementation of climate mitigation policies (see Chapter 2 of the 2022 *External Sector Report*). The transition to clean energy could also reshape commodity prices and trade flows, with potentially diverging impacts on current accounts between exporters of fossil fuels and green metals (see Chapter 2 and Box 2.4).

Table 1.1. Selected Economies: Current Account Balance, 2021–24

	Billions of US Dollars					GDP	Percent of GDP					
	2021	2022	2023	2024 Projection	2021	2022	2023	2024 Projection	2021	2022	2023	2024 Projection
Advanced Economies												
Australia	48	18	21	9	0.05	0.02	0.02	0.01	2.9	1.1	1.2	0.5
Belgium	8	-6	-6	-3	0.01	-0.01	-0.01	0.00	1.3	-1.0	-1.0	-0.5
Canada	0	-8	-16	7	0.00	-0.01	-0.01	0.01	0.0	-0.4	-0.7	0.3
France	11	-57	-23	-9	0.01	-0.06	-0.02	-0.01	0.4	-2.0	-0.7	-0.3
Germany	330	172	263	322	0.34	0.17	0.25	0.30	7.7	4.2	5.9	7.0
Hong Kong SAR	44	37	35	36	0.04	0.04	0.03	0.03	11.8	10.2	9.2	8.8
Italy	52	-33	11	18	0.05	-0.03	0.01	0.02	2.4	-1.6	0.5	0.8
Japan	196	90	150	143	0.20	0.09	0.14	0.13	3.9	2.1	3.6	3.5
Korea	85	26	35	50	0.09	0.03	0.03	0.05	4.7	1.5	2.1	2.9
The Netherlands	125	94	113	104	0.13	0.09	0.11	0.10	12.1	9.3	10.1	9.1
Singapore	86	90	99	95	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.09	19.8	18.0	19.8	18.0
Spain	11	9	41	42	0.01	0.01	0.04	0.04	0.8	0.6	2.6	2.5
Sweden	45	32	40	37	0.05	0.03	0.04	0.03	7.1	5.4	6.8	6.0
Switzerland	56	77	68	77	0.06	0.08	0.06	0.07	6.9	9.4	7.6	8.2
United Kingdom	-15	-96	-110	-91	-0.02	-0.10	-0.11	-0.08	-0.5	-3.1	-3.3	-2.6
United States	-831	-972	-819	-852	-0.86	-0.97	-0.78	-0.78	-3.5	-3.8	-3.0	-3.0
Emerging Market and Developing Economies												
Argentina	7	-4	-22	4	0.01	0.00	-0.02	0.00	1.4	-0.7	-3.4	0.6
Brazil	-46	-48	-30	-32	-0.05	-0.05	-0.03	-0.03	-2.8	-2.5	-1.4	-1.4
China	353	402	253	236	0.36	0.40	0.24	0.22	2.0	2.3	1.4	1.3
India ¹	-39	-67	-29	-55	-0.04	-0.07	-0.03	-0.05	-1.2	-2.0	-0.8	-1.4
Indonesia	4	13	-2	-13	0.00	0.01	0.00	-0.01	0.3	1.0	-0.1	-0.9
Malaysia	15	13	6	11	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	3.9	3.1	1.5	2.4
Mexico	-4	-18	-6	-15	0.00	-0.02	-0.01	-0.01	-0.3	-1.2	-0.3	-0.8
Poland	-9	-17	13	6	-0.01	-0.02	0.01	0.01	-1.2	-2.4	1.6	0.7
Russia	122	238	51	56	0.13	0.24	0.05	0.05	6.6	10.5	2.5	2.7
Saudi Arabia	42	152	34	5	0.04	0.15	0.03	0.00	4.8	13.7	3.2	0.5
South Africa	15	-2	-6	-7	0.02	0.00	-0.01	-0.01	3.7	-0.5	-1.6	-1.8
Thailand	-10	-16	7	9	-0.01	-0.02	0.01	0.01	-2.0	-3.2	1.4	1.7
Türkiye	-6	-46	-45	-31	-0.01	-0.05	-0.04	-0.03	-0.8	-5.1	-4.0	-2.8
Memorandum Items: ²												
Euro Area	417	-85	260	368	0.4	-0.1	0.2	0.3	2.8	-0.6	1.7	2.3
Global Current Account Balance	3,448	4,079	3,192	3142	3.6	4.1	3.1	2.9				
Statistical Discrepancy	917	445	551	453	0.9	0.4	0.5	0.4				
Overall Surpluses	2,183	2,260	1,874	1852	2.3	2.2	1.8	1.7				
Of which: Advanced Economies	1,436	1,060	1,238	1311	1.5	1.1	1.2	1.2				
Overall Deficits	-1,265	-1,816	-1,324	-1399	-1.3	-1.8	-1.3	-1.3				
Of which: Advanced Economies	-894	-1,265	-974	-1002	-0.9	-1.3	-0.9	-0.9				

Sources: IMF, April 2024 World Economic Outlook; and IMF staff calculations.

Note: ". . ." indicates that data are not available or not applicable; SAR = Special Administrative Region.

¹For India, data are presented on a fiscal year basis.

²The global current account balance is the sum of absolute deficits and surpluses. Overall surpluses and deficits (and the "of which" advanced economies) include non-External Sector Report economies.

Table 1.2	2. Selected	Economies:	Net	International	Investment	Position	2020-	-23
-----------	-------------	-------------------	-----	---------------	------------	----------	-------	-----

	Billions of US Dollars				Percent of World GDP				Percent of GDP			
	2020	2021	2022	2023	2020	2021	2022	2023	2020	2021	2022	2023
Advanced Economies												
Australia	-786	-600	-655	-556	-0.9	-0.6	-0.7	-0.5	-57.6	-36.2	-38.0	-31.9
Belgium	262	389	338	410	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.4	49.9	64.7	57.9	65.0
Canada	887	1,103	841	1,236	1.0	1.1	0.8	1.2	53.6	55.0	38.9	57.7
France	-831	-874	-659	-885	-1.0	-0.9	-0.7	-0.8	-31.4	-29.5	-23.7	-29.2
Germany	2,640	2,782	2,881	3,120	3.1	2.9	2.9	3.0	68.0	65.0	70.5	70.0
Hong Kong SAR	2,122	2,111	1,765	1,757	2.5	2.2	1.8	1.7	615.2	572.2	492.0	468.0
Italy	18	162	96	167	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.9	7.5	4.7	7.4
Japan	3,465	3,678	3,091	3,372	4.1	3.8	3.1	3.2	68.5	73.1	72.6	80.0
Korea	487	685	771	780	0.6	0.7	0.8	0.7	29.6	37.7	46.1	45.5
The Netherlands	1,095	919	760	802	1.3	0.9	0.8	0.8	120.5	89.1	75.2	71.8
Singapore	1,093	1,005	890	859	1.3	1.0	0.9	0.8	312.8	231.5	178.4	171.4
Spain	-1,084	-1,027	-851	-835	-1.3	-1.1	-0.8	-0.8	-84.9	-71.0	-60.0	-52.8
Sweden	45	115	183	197	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	8.2	17.9	31.0	33.2
Switzerland	906	832	756	838	1.1	0.9	0.8	0.8	122.2	102.4	92.3	94.7
United Kingdom	-250	-440	-443	-1,037	-0.3	-0.5	-0.4	-1.0	-9.3	-14.0	-14.3	-31.0
United States	-14,721	-18,783	-16,172	-19,768	-17.3	-19.4	-16.1	-18.9	-66.8	-76.2	-61.2	-70.7
Emerging Market and Devel	oping Ecor	nomies										
Argentina	122	122	116	109	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	31.7	25.1	18.4	17.0
Brazil	-552	-601	-824	-976	-0.6	-0.6	-0.8	-0.9	-37.4	-36.0	-42.2	-44.9
China	2,287	2,186	2,427	2,914	2.7	2.3	2.4	2.8	15.4	12.3	13.6	16.5
India	-345	-353	-373	-370	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-13.3	-11.4	-11.1	-10.6
Indonesia	-280	-277	-250	-260	-0.3	-0.3	-0.2	-0.2	-26.4	-23.4	-19.0	-19.0
Malaysia	20	22	12	27	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	5.7	5.8	3.0	6.8
Mexico	-552	-554	-615	-732	-0.6	-0.6	-0.6	-0.7	-49.2	-42.2	-42.0	-40.9
Poland	-273	-258	-233	-272	-0.3	-0.3	-0.2	-0.3	-45.5	-37.8	-33.7	-33.5
Russia	517	485	760	847	0.6	0.5	0.8	0.8	34.7	26.3	33.4	42.4
Saudi Arabia	701	709	786	785	0.8	0.7	0.8	0.7	95.4	81.2	70.9	73.5
South Africa	112	102	80	106	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	33.2	24.4	19.7	28.1
Thailand	40	32	-17	43	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	7.9	6.3	-3.4	8.3
Türkiye	-382	-249	-315	-285	-0.4	-0.3	-0.3	-0.3	-53.1	-30.4	-34.7	-25.5
Memorandum Items:												
Euro Area	-449	-22	470	637	-0.5	0.0	0.5	0.6	-3.4	-0.1	3.3	4.1
Statistical Discrepancy	-3,882	-6,926	-5,154	-6,810	-4.6	-7.2	-5.1	-6.5				
Overall Creditors ¹	20,170	21,006	20,095	22,197	23.7	21.7	20.0	21.2				
Of which: Advanced Economies	16,089	17,063	15,610	17,283	18.9	17.6	15.5	16.5				
Overall Debtors ¹	-24,052	-27,932	-25,249	-29,007	-28.3	-28.9	-25.1	-27.8				
Of which: Advanced Economies	-19,345	-23,241	-20,252	-23,838	-22.7	-24.0	-20.2	-22.8				

Sources: IMF, April 2024 World Economic Outlook; US Bureau of Economic Analysis; and IMF staff calculations.

Note: ". . ." indicates that data are not available or not applicable; SAR = Special Administrative Region.

¹Overall creditors and debtors (and the "of which" advanced economies) include non-External Sector Report economies.

Policy Priorities for Promoting External Rebalancing

Current account surpluses and deficits are not an undesirable phenomenon to the extent that they reflect differences in countries' fundamentals and desirable medium-term policies. However, excess current account balances could reflect an inefficient allocation of resources and, when combined with negative net international investment positions, could exacerbate the risks of sudden stops and reversals in capital inflows. Moreover, excess balances could contribute to fuel discontent toward multilateralism, exacerbating geoeconomic fragmentation and raising trade barriers. Therefore, correcting excess balances can improve welfare, reduce the risk of disruptive capital flow reversals, and preserve the support for multilateralism.

Promoting external rebalancing requires both excess current account surplus and deficit economies to act collectively. As the April 2024 World Economic Outlook emphasizes, policymakers will need to calibrate policies to help deliver a smooth landing to the global economy. In this context, central banks will need to ensure right timing of monetary policy easing, ensuring that wage and price pressures are clearly dissipating before announcing moves to a less restrictive stance. Fiscal consolidation, where warranted, would help rebuild budgetary room to deal with future shocks and curb the rise of public debt as appropriate. In addition to being consistent with these objectives, the policy priorities set out in the April 2024 World Economic Outlook would also help rebalance excess external positions and contain risks to external balances, including via fiscal consolidation in several large economies with excessive deficits on fiscal and external accounts (such as Italy and the United Kingdom).

As central bank policies become less synchronous, divergences in interest rates across countries could spur capital flow movements and high volatility in foreign exchange markets. In this context, policy responses should be guided by the IMF's Integrated Policy Framework and the revised Institutional View on Capital Flows (IMF 2023), depending on countryspecific circumstances. If those risks materialize, adjusting the policy rate and allowing exchange rate flexibility would be appropriate for economies with deep foreign exchange markets, low foreign currency mismatches, and well-anchored inflation expectations. On the other hand, in economies where foreign exchange markets are shallow, FX mismatches are large, or a sudden exchange rate depreciation may de-anchor inflation expectations, it may be appropriate to resort to temporary FX interventions or loosen capital flow management measures on inflows to keep the FX market functioning smoothly while keeping monetary and fiscal policy at their appropriate settings. Macroprudential policies, including pre-emptive capital flow management measures/macroprudential measures where appropriate, should help reduce financial vulnerabilities from large exposure to foreign currency denominated debt. Temporary FX interventions and capital flow management measures should not substitute for warranted macroeconomic adjustments or the development of domestic macroprudential policies.

Coordinated policy efforts and multilateral cooperation will help address a host of complex challenges facing the world and preserve the benefits of multilateralism. As discussed in the April 2024 World Economic Outlook, geoeconomic fragmentation, which is already affecting international trade, could intensify. In this context, cross-border cooperation will be paramount to mitigate fragmentation and strengthen the resilience of the international monetary system. Policymakers should maintain stable and transparent trade policies and avoid discriminatory policies that induce trade and investment distortions, including by safeguarding the transportation of critical minerals, restoring the World Trade Organization's ability to settle trade disputes, and ensuring the responsible use of potentially disruptive new technologies such as artificial intelligence. International coordination and dialogue will also be beneficial to help ensure an appropriate use and design of industrial polices-including by identifying their unintended consequences across borders, facilitating an orderly resolution of debt problems in an increasingly complex creditor landscape, and mitigating the effects of climate change and facilitate the green energy transition.

Maintaining liquidity in the global financial system will be essential to manage risks related to less synchronous monetary policies and geoeconomic fragmentation of the financial system. This will help ensure that economies at risk of external shocks can make full use of the global financial safety net, including through IMF precautionary financial arrangements. In this context, the IMF Board of Governors' conclusion of the 16th Review of Quotas is a welcome step that needs to be followed up by members providing their consent to their respective quota increase. Once implemented, the quota increase will increase IMF liquidity, ensure the primary role of quotas in IMF resources, reinforce the IMF's role at the center of the global financial safety net, and strengthen the IMF's capacity to help safeguard global financial stability and respond to members' needs.

Policies to promote external rebalancing differ based on individual economies' positions and needs, as detailed in the individual economy assessments in Chapter 3 (and summarized in Annex Table 1.1.6).

- Economies with weaker-than-warranted external positions should focus on policies that boost saving and competitiveness. Where the assessment partly reflects the need to reduce high public debt levels (as in Belgium and Italy), policies in the near and medium terms should focus on a credible fiscal consolidation, which would also create space to support green and digital transformations. Fiscal consolidation would also help reduce vulnerabilities in economies with low reserves and elevated gross external financing needs (as in Türkiye) and should be implemented in a way that protects critical infrastructure investment and well-targeted social spending to help tackle poverty and inequality (for example, in Argentina). Countries with competitiveness challenges also need to address structural bottlenecks through labor market and other structural reforms to promote green, digital, and inclusive growth while boosting productivity.
- *Economies with stronger-than-warranted external positions* should prioritize policies aimed at promoting investment and diminishing excess saving to support external rebalancing while also pursuing domestic objectives. For example, in Germany, higher fiscal deficits than currently planned are likely to be required over the medium term to ensure adequate public investment in the green transition, digitalization, and transport infrastructure to achieve domestic climate, digital, and energy security goals, while also helping reduce the current

account balance toward its norm. In Sweden, as inflation recedes, there is a need to increase private and public investment in the green transition and the health sector, thus lowering the external balance, helping the country meet its ambitious climate goals and prepare for demographic challenges. In some emerging markets (such as Malaysia, Mexico, and Thailand), reforms to tackle informality and expand social safety nets, including when appropriate through public health care, would encourage investment and—by supporting consumption—help reduce precautionary saving, thus also helping with external rebalancing.

• Economies with external positions broadly in line with fundamentals should continue to address domestic imbalances to prevent excessive external imbalances. Some economies (such as China) should address policy distortions, including through accelerating market-based structural reforms, shifting fiscal policy support toward strengthening social protection to reduce high household savings and rebalance toward private consumption, and gradually increasing exchange rate flexibility to help the economy better absorb external shocks. In the United States, fiscal consolidation over the medium term would broadly stabilize the public debt-to-GDP ratio and maintain an external position consistent with medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. In economies with negative net international investment positions (such as Brazil), keeping current account balances in line with their norms will require efforts to raise national savings, which will also provide room for a sustainable expansion in investment. Reforms to boost productivity would also improve competitiveness while facilitating the green and digital transitions.

Box 1.1. Cross-Country Variation in Gross Capital Inflows to Large Emerging Market and Developing Economies

This box discusses cross-country heterogeneity behind the overall decline in gross capital inflows to emerging market and developing economies during 2022–23, highlighting its patterns and challenges with measurement.

Relative to a 2017–19 baseline, gross capital inflows in emerging markets declined during 2022–23 for aggregate capital flows as well as foreign direct investment (FDI; Figure 1.1.1). However, these aggregate trends hide large cross-country variation. Some of the larger emerging markets, including China, India, and Russia, drive the aggregate decline. Meanwhile, other emerging markets, such as Malaysia, Poland, and Türkiye, have seen increases in gross capital inflows for both FDI and non-FDI flows, relative to prepandemic trends.

The observed heterogeneity in gross capital flows could reflect recent geoeconomic fragmentation trends.¹ Data on outward bilateral FDI flows from three key source economies-the euro area, Japan, and the United States-reveal a systematic difference in FDIs to rival geopolitical blocs (Figure 1.1.2). For all three source countries, FDI to the Western bloc increased relative to a 2017-19 baseline. This increase is largely driven by FDI to Europe and the United States. Flows to the Eastern bloc declined or stagnated, driven by FDI into China and Russia. The results for the nonaligned countries are more mixed, with increases in Mexico as a destination for US investment, Türkiye for the euro area, and Malaysia and Vietnam for Japan. Notably, for the United States and Japan, the nonaligned group outperformed the Eastern bloc. These findings are consistent with previous work (Chapter 4 of April 2023 World Economic Outlook; Gopinath and others 2024) but extend the analysis to more comprehensive bilateral balance-of-payments data.

This box was prepared by Cian Allen.

¹Other potential explanations include varying policy frameworks, changes in medium-term expected GDP growth, or delayed postpandemic recoveries in some economies.

Figure 1.1.1. Gross Capital and FDI Inflows (Percent of GDP)



Source: IMF, Balance of Payments database.

Note: Sample includes emerging market economies covered in the *External Sector Report*, subject to data availability. Last observation for Malaysia is 2023:Q3. The line indicates the 45-degree line. Bubble size is based on GDP in US dollars. Data labels in the figure use International Organization for Standardization (ISO) country codes. FDI = foreign direct investment.

However, destination-based analysis of capital flows is severely hindered by the outsized role of financial centers in intermediating capital flows. The comprehensive nature of bilateral balance-of-payments data reveals that besides the geoeconomic trends for the destination of outward FDI flows, a significant share of FDI flows to financial centers and hence cannot be allocated to its ultimate destination (Figure 1.1.2, right bar).² These findings call for caution in interpreting available data on cross-country allocation of capital flows and the need to improve measurement of such flows.

²As previously documented in Lane and Milesi-Ferretti (2018) and Damgaard, Elkjaer, and Johannesen (2024), for instance. See also Coppola and others (2021) and Chapter 4 of the April 2024 *World Economic Outlook* for details on the role of financial centers in bilateral portfolio investment.

Box 1.1 (continued)



Sources: Bureau of Economic Analysis, US International Transactions; European Central Bank, Balance of Payments; and Japan, Ministry of Finance, Regional Balance of Payments.

Note: The bars correspond to the change between the average flow between 2022-23 and the average over the 2017-19 period. Geopolitical blocs correspond to a broad definition of geopolitical blocs in Gopinath and others (2024). Using the narrow definition yields very similar results. The list of FCs is based on Lane and Milesi-Ferretti (2018), along with data availability. For the United States, the aggregate category "Other Western Hemisphere," which includes the Cayman Islands, is included in FC. FC = financial centers.

Box 1.2. Geoeconomic Fragmentation and the Global Balance

Geoeconomic fragmentation poses a risk to decades of trade and financial integration. This box uses the IMF's Global Integrated Monetary and Fiscal (GIMF) model¹ to analyze trade and financial fragmentation scenarios between hypothetical US and China blocs, focusing on implications for the global current account balance.²

Trade Fragmentation

Trade fragmentation is modeled as an increase in symmetric nontariff trade barriers (NTBs) between the US bloc and the China bloc. NTBs capture the fallout from fragmentation that is more general than direct trade restrictions, extending to industrial policies targeting national security, economic resilience, and de-risking of supply chains. The shock is calibrated as a permanent 50 percent increase in NTBs over 10 years. NTBs act as a negative productivity shock, reducing investment, trade volumes, and output globally, while simultaneously increasing the price of imported goods, including consumption, investment, and intermediate goods.

NTBs significantly impact medium-term current accounts across the blocs. If the two blocs were symmetric, reciprocal NTBs need not induce external sector adjustments. However, there are large structural asymmetries. Countries that are more open to trade and have major trading partners outside their blocs are disproportionately impacted by NTBs. The emerging Southeast Asia region is the most open to both the China bloc and the US bloc and more specialized in global value chain (GVC) goods. As fragmentation exacerbates (more than in other countries), import and consumption prices gradually increase and the real exchange rate appreciates, which, via the uncovered interest parity condition, temporarily lowers the region's real interest rate. Consequently, consumption declines less in the short to medium term (in anticipation of higher future price of consumption), reducing saving. In addition, the reduced output in the region's GVC sector lowers national income, which in the presence of rigidities in consumption induces

This box was prepared by Rudolfs Bems, Benjamin Carton, and Racha Moussa.

¹See Kumhof and others (2010) and Anderson and others (2013) for details on the GIMF model.

²See Chapter 4 of the April 2023 *World Economic Outlook* and Online Annex 4.4 for the version of the GIMF model used here. The scenarios discussed in this box are based on those in Box 2.2 of the April 2023 *World Economic Outlook*.

Figure 1.2.1. Trade Fragmentation Impact on the Current-Account-to-GDP Ratio

(Percentage point deviation from baseline)



Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: The US bloc includes the US, European Union and Switzerland (EUR), and other advanced economies (OAE). The China bloc includes China, emerging Southeast Asia (AS2), and remaining countries (ROW). Latin American countries (LAT) and Indonesia and India (AS1) are not aligned. EUR, OAE, CHN, AS2, and ROW have current account surpluses. USA, AS1, and LAT have current account deficits. The percentage point deviation from the baseline plotted is for the fifth period of the shock. Data labels in the figure use International Organization for Standardization (ISO) country code.

a further decline in saving. On the investment side, any decline in volumes is largely compensated by the NTB-induced price increase, limiting the decline in investment rate. On balance, the current account decreases (Figure 1.2.1). Nonaligned countries are at the other end of the spectrum. They are only indirectly exposed to the NTB shock through input linkages, leading to a small decline in investment and income. In the absence of NTBs, their tradable goods become relatively abundant, leading to a real exchange rate depreciation in the short to medium term and a temporary increase in the real interest rate, which in turn increases saving and the current account. Current account responses for the model's other countries can be similarly explained through the asymmetric exposure to the NTBs. The United States runs a current account surplus because it is the least exposed to the NTBs across the two blocs, with prices increasing relatively less than in the emerging Southeast Asia region, its real exchange rate depreciating, its real interest rate rising temporarily, and saving increasing. China is less exposed than the emerging Southeast Asia region but more so than countries in the US bloc, leading to a moderate current account deficit.
Box 1.2 (continued)

Figure 1.2.2. Impact of Trade Fragmentation on Global Balance

(Percent of global GDP) 0.06 -0AE 0.04 -Contribution to the change in Widening 0.02 global balance EUR balance 0.00 -0.02 -AS1 Narrowing -0.04 global AS2 global balance CHN -0.06 -I AT -0.08 -USA -0.10 -ROW -0.12 -1.0 -0.8 -0.6 -0.4 -0.2 0.0 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.8

Current account in 2023

Sources: IMF, World Economic Outlook database; and IMF staff calculations.

Note: The contribution to the change in global balance is calculated as the difference between the absolute value of the current account after the trade fragmentation shock and the absolute value of the current account in 2023, all in percent of global GDP. The current account after the trade fragmentation shock is calculated as the current account to global GDP in 2023 plus the percentage point deviation of the current account to global GDP after the trade fragmentation shock. The medium term corresponds to the fifth period of the shock. Data labels in the figure use International Organization for Standardization (ISO) country codes. AS1 = India and Indonesia; AS2 = emerging Southeast Asia; EUR = the European Union and Switzerland; LAT = Latin America; OAE = other advanced economies; ROW = rest of the world.

How is the global balance impacted?³ All regions contribute to narrowing the global balance except for OAE and EUR in the US bloc, since they are surplus regions where the current account increases (Figure 1.2.2). Overall, quantitative results show that a 50 percent increase in NTBs decreases the global balance by 0.36 percentage point of global GDP over the medium term. However, this narrowing comes at a high economic cost, as trade restrictions reduce output growth through efficiency losses and resource misallocation. Global medium-term real output declines by 3 percent relative to the baseline, with a fall in all regions. The fall in global trade volumes is even starker, with a decline of about 9 percent relative to the baseline.

Financial Fragmentation

In recent decades, capital market integration has allowed advanced economies—the United States in particular—to benefit from a saving glut in emerging markets, which has helped bring down the interest rate in the United States while lifting it in surplus countries in Asia and the Middle East and widening the global current account balance (Bernanke 2005; Caballero, Farhi, and Gourinchas 2008, 2016, 2017a, 2017b, 2021) (see dashed black lines in Figure 1.2.3).

³The global balance is calculated as the sum of the absolute values of the current-account-to-global-GDP ratio of regions. Medium term is defined as model responses five years out.



Figure 1.2.3. The Global Interest Rate after a Financial Fragmentation Shock

Box 1.2 (continued)

Financial fragmentation could reverse this process and reduce the flow of capital between the China and US blocs (see the shift from dashed black to red lines in Figure 1.2.3, where financial fragmentation is captured with a wedge λ).

To quantify these potential outcomes and their impact on the global balance, financial fragmentation is modeled as a decline in the premium paid by the China bloc on US Treasuries by 50 basis points. Consistent with the illustrative Metzler diagram in Figure 1.2.3, the model simulation finds that financial fragmentation increases medium-term investment and decreases saving and the interest rate in the China bloc, leading to a decline in the current account. In the US bloc, the impact is the opposite with investment decreasing and the interest rate and saving increasing, and consequently the current account increasing. These effects are present in all regions within both blocs. Medium-term impacts on nonaligned regions are relatively minor.

Given the present global constellation of current account surpluses and deficits, these external sector responses imply that all regions in the China bloc contribute to narrowing the global balance, as does the declining current account deficit in the United States (Figure 1.2.4). The remaining current account surplus regions in the US bloc widen the global balance in the medium term. The contribution of the nonaligned regions is negligible. The overall medium-term impact on the global balance is a narrowing of 0.24 percent of global GDP, with the largest contributions from China and the United States.

To summarize, this box shows that fragmentation through trade and financial channels could narrow the global current account balance over the medium term. However, the magnitude of the narrowing and

Figure 1.2.4. Impact of Financial Fragmentation on Global Balance



Sources: IMF, World Economic Outlook database; and IMF staff calculations.

Note: The contribution to the change in global balance is calculated as the difference between the absolute value of the current account after the financial fragmentation shock and the absolute value of the current account in 2023, all in percent of global GDP. The current account after the financial fragmentation shock is calculated as the current account to global GDP in 2023 plus the percentage point deviation of the current account to global GDP after the financial fragmentation shock. The medium term corresponds to the fifth period of the shock. Data labels in the figure use International Organization for Standardization (ISO) country codes. AS1 = India and Indonesia; AS2 = emerging Southeast Asia; EUR = the European Union and Switzerland; LAT = Latin America; OAE = other advanced economies; ROW = rest of the world.

the countries that contribute depend on the nature of the fragmentation process, with trade restrictions compressing trade flows and reducing the dispersion of external balances globally, while financial fragmentation generates more heterogeneous external sector responses.

Box 1.3. China Real Estate Slowdown and the Global Balance

Economic growth in China has slowed in the past five years, in large part due to an ongoing housing sector slowdown. This box uses the IMF Global Integrated Monetary and Fiscal Model to analyze a prolonged China real estate slowdown scenario and its impact on the global current account balance.¹ To capture a rebalancing of the real estate sector, an illustrative scenario is constructed based on three components. First, the existing stock of buildings is depreciated due to a large inventory overhang in the property market. Second, financial conditions (equity premium) tighten in the real estate sector, leading to a sharp decline in construction activity and a reduction of households' wealth. Third, households increase precautionary saving.² Additional households' saving aims at rebuilding their stock of wealth, which has been dominated by housing.

Following a near-term decline in private investment, private consumption, and GDP, the resulting macroeconomic adjustment in China entails a persistent medium-term surge in saving, which reduces domestic demand. Demand for imports falls and trade balance increases. Added saving decreases the real interest rate, which in turn increases the investment rate in the medium term. However, the adjustment in the investment rate is a fraction of the increase in saving, and China's current account surplus expands (Figure 1.3.1).

Given China's size, the scenario generates global spillovers. To accommodate the persistent surge in saving and China's current account surpluses, the medium-term real interest rate falls globally and China's real effective exchange rate depreciates. This relative price adjustment reflects income compression in China and facilitates external sector adjustment through expenditure switching at both import and export margins. The lower global interest rate increases investment and decreases saving in other regions, with corresponding declines in the current account (Figure 1.3.1).³ The global current account balance

This box was prepared by Rudolfs Bems and Dirk Muir. ¹See Carton and Muir (forthcoming) for more details.

²The illustrative calibration for the three shocks is as follows: (i) the economic value of existing buildings is depreciated by 10 percent, (ii) the equity premium in the real estate sector increases by 4 percentage points for five years, and (iii) households' precautionary saving increases by 2 percent of GDP for five years. There are other possible configurations of the shocks, but here the focus is on the impacts from a significant domestic slowdown.

³Given limited variability across model regions, responses have been aggregated into China, the euro area and the United States as a region, and the rest of the world. Figure 1.3.1. Medium-Term Impact of China Real Estate Slowdown on the External Sector (Deviations from baseline)



Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: The figure shows medium-term responses for select macro variables, captured in the model at the five-year horizon. All responses are reported as percentage point deviations from baseline. Reported model responses are aggregated into three countries/regions: (1) China, (2) the euro area and the United States as a region, and (3) the rest of the world. REER = real effective exchange rate, with a decrease representing a depreciation.

widens, chiefly because of the widening current account surplus in China and the widening current account deficit in the United States (Figure 1.3.2). It is worth stressing that the surge in saving and the resulting global macroeconomic adjustment are distinct from the rise in goods' production, for example, in electric vehicle or solar energy sectors, due to increased subsidies and/or rapid productivity gains.

Box 1.3 (continued)

Figure 1.3.2. Medium-Term Impact on Global Balance

(Deviations from baseline, percent of world GDP)



Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: Medium term is captured in the model at a five-year horizon. EA includes Austria, Belgium, Cyprus, Germany, Estonia, Finland, France, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, The Netherlands, Portugal, Slovakia, Slovenia, and Spain. OAE includes Australia, Bulgaria, Canada, Czech Republic, Denmark, Iceland, Israel, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Russia, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan, and the United Kingdom. AS1 includes Bangladesh, Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, India, Indonesia, Korea, LAO P.D.R., Malaysia, Myanmar, the Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, and Vietnam. LAT includes Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Mexico, and Peru. Data labels use International Organization for Standardization (ISO) country codes. AS1 = other Asia; EA = euro area; LAT = Latin America; OAE = other advanced economies; ROW = rest of the world.

One often-discussed policy response to counter current account surpluses and the widening global balance would be to impose trade tariffs on China. The box next extends the scenario to analyze the impact of such a policy response. In particular, to counter the spillovers from China's real estate slowdown, the euro area and the United States are assumed to impose a 10 percent trade tariff on China.

The results of this expanded scenario reveal that tariffs have a limited impact on containing external sector spillovers. Saving, investment, and current accounts remain broadly unchanged, mainly because tariffs induce further relative price adjustments in the model (Figure 1.3.3). To accommodate the internal saving–investment imbalance, China's real effective

Figure 1.3.3. Real Effective Exchange Rate Response to China Real Estate Slowdown Scenarios

(Percent deviation from baseline)



Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: Medium term is captured in the model at a five-year horizon. All responses are reported as percentage point deviations from baseline. Reported model responses are aggregated into three countries/regions: (1) China, (2) the euro area and the United States as a region, and (3) the rest of the world.

exchange rate depreciates even further, with offsetting appreciations for the euro area and the United States. There is only a very limited reduction in the global balance, amounting to 0.01 percent of world GDP (Figure 1.3.2). At the same time, the imposed tariffs significantly reduce global growth and lower cross-border trade flows, as global production efficiency declines.

Broad-based domestic structural reforms could help address the saving-investment imbalance in China, including efforts to boost productivity growth and strengthen social safety nets to reduce precautionary saving. Separately, in the current context of heightened geopolitical tensions between China and the United States, a rising current account surplus in China could potentially be concurrent with a decline in demand for US assets. This could lead to a financial fragmentation, with real interest rates in China and the United States diverging toward their autarkic levels. Such a scenario, analyzed in Box 1.2, would attenuate global spillovers from a prolonged slowdown in China's housing sector.

			Gros	s Official	Reserves	2			IMF St in	aff–Est Official	imated C Reserve	hange s ³	Gross Official	
_	(B	illions of	US Dollar	rs)		(Percent	of GDP)		(Percen	t of GDP)		(Percent of	FXI Data
	2020	2021	2022	2023	2020	2021	2022	2023	2020	2021	2022	2023	ARA metric) ⁴	Publication
Advanced Economies														
Australia	43	58	57	62	3.1	3.5	3.3	3.5	0.1	1.0	-0.1	0.1		Yes, daily
Canada	90	107	107	118	5.5	5.3	4.9	5.5	0.1	1.0	0.5	0.0		Yes, monthly
Euro Area	1,078	1,196	1,185	1,267	8.2	8.1	8.3	8.1	0.1	1.1	0.3	-0.2		Yes, quarterly
Hong Kong SAR	492	497	424	418	142.6	134.7	118.2	111.0	9.8	-0.3	-13.1	-2.7		Yes, daily
Japan	1,395	1,406	1,100	1,295	27.6	27.9	25.8	30.7	0.3	1.1	-1.1	0.6		Yes, daily
Korea	443	463	423	420	27.0	25.5	25.3	24.5	1.0	0.4	-1.7	-0.5		Yes, quarterly
Singapore	362	418	289	351	103.6	96.3	58.1	70.0	32.0	4.6	-26.4	10.7		Yes, semiannually
Sweden	58	62	65	60	10.6	9.7	11.0	10.1	-0.1	0.9	1.3	0.1		Yes, weekly
Switzerland	1,083	1,110	947	805	146.2	136.6	115.7	90.9	15.6	7.2	-1.8	-15.4		Yes, quarterly
United Kingdom	180	194	176	178	6.7	6.2	5.7	5.3	-0.1	0.9	0.0	0.1		Yes, monthly
United States	627	712	707	777	2.8	2.9	2.7	2.8	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.0		Yes, quarterly
Emerging Market and	Develop	ing Econo	omies											
Argentina	39	40	45	23	10.2	8.1	7.1	3.5	-3.1	0.7	-2.5	-2.2	37	Yes, daily
Brazil	356	362	325	355	24.1	21.7	16.6	16.3	-2.3	-0.8	-1.2	0.9	130	Yes, daily
China	3,357	3,428	3,307	3,450	22.6	19.3	18.5	19.5	0.2	1.1	0.6	-0.2	112	No
India	590	638	567	623	22.1	20.2	16.9	17.4	4.7	1.6	-1.6	1.6	109	Yes, monthly
Indonesia	136	145	137	146	12.8	12.2	10.4	10.7	0.5	1.3	-0.3	0.2	123	No
Malaysia	108	117	115	113	31.9	31.3	28.2	27.3	1.1	2.4	-1.7	-0.6	114	No
Mexico	199	208	201	214	17.8	15.8	13.7	12.0	1.1	0.8	-0.1	0.4	126	Yes, monthly
Poland	154	166	167	194	25.7	24.4	24.2	24.0	3.1	2.8	1.9	2.6	164	No
Russia	597	632	582	599	40.1	34.3	25.6	30.0	-1.0	3.5	-0.3	0.0	343	Yes, daily
Saudi Arabia	454	455	460	437	61.8	52.1	41.5	40.9	-6.3	0.2	0.4	-0.1	208	No
South Africa	55	58	61	63	14.5	14.7	15.5	16.6	0.0	0.7	0.8	0.5	97	No
Thailand	258	246	217	224	51.6	48.6	43.7	43.6	2.4	-0.4	-2.9	0.1	237	No
Türkiye	94	111	129	141	13.0	13.6	14.2	12.6	-10.0	2.7	0.4	-0.8	97	No
Memorandum Items:														
Aggregate ⁵	12,248	12,827	11,791	12,332	14.4	13.2	11.7	11.8	0.4	0.9	-0.2	0.0		
AEs	5,852	6,223	5,480	5,750	6.9	6.4	5.4	5.5	0.4	0.5	-0.2	-0.1		
EMDEs	6,397	6,604	6,311	6,582	7.5	6.8	6.3	6.3	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.0		

Annex Table 1.1.1. Selected Economies: Foreign Reserves, 2020–23¹

Sources: IMF, Assessing Reserve Adequacy data set; IMF, International Financial Statistics; IMF, International Reserves and Foreign Currency Liquidity; IMF, April 2024 World Economic Outlook; and IMF staff calculations.

Note: "..." indicates that data are not available or not applicable. AE = advanced economy; ARA = assessment of reserve adequacy; EMDE= emerging market and developing economy; FX = foreign exchange; FXI = foreign exchange intervention; SAR = Special Administrative Region.

¹Sample includes *External Sector Report* economies excluding individual euro area economies. Euro area is reported as aggregate.

²Total reserves from International Financial Statistics; includes gold reserves valued at market prices.

³This item is not necessarily equal to actual FXI, but it is used as an FXI proxy in External Balance Assessment model estimates. The estimated change in official reserves is equivalent to the change in reserve assets in the financial account series from the *World Economic Outlook* (which excludes valuation effects but includes interest income on official reserves) plus the change in off-balance-sheet holdings (short and long FX derivative positions and other memorandum items) from International Reserves and Foreign Currency Liquidity minus net credit and loans from the IMF.

⁴The ARA metric reflects potential balance of payments FX liquidity needs in adverse circumstances and is used to assess the adequacy of FX reserves against potential FX liquidity drains (see IMF 2015). The ARA metric is estimated for selected EMDEs and includes adjustments for capital controls for China. For Argentina, the adjusted measure uses a four-year average to smooth the temporary effect of the sharp reductions in short-term debt and exports, and a collapse in the valuation of debt portfolio investments in the wake of the sovereign debt restructuring. Additional adjusted figures are available in the individual country pages in Chapter 3.

⁵The aggregate is calculated as the sum of External Sector Report economies only. The percent of GDP is calculated relative to total world GDP.

Annex Table 1.1.2. External Sector Report Economies: Summary of External Assessment Indicators, 2023

		Curr Acco (Perce GD	ent unt nt of P)	IMF Staff (Percent	CA Gap of GDP)	IMF Staf Gap (Pe	f REER rcent)	Inter Posit	national Invo ion (Percent	estment of GDP)	CA NFA Stabilizing	SE of CA
Economy	Overall Assessment	Actual	Cycl. Adj.	Midpoint	Range	Midpoint	Range	Net	Liabilities	Assets	(Percent of GDP)	Norm (Percent)
Argentina	Weaker	-3.4	-3.6	-2.6	±1	22.5	±2.5	17	51	68	1.1	0.5
Australia	Broadly in line	1.2	0.3	0.9	±0.6	-5.3	±3.4	-32	181	149	-1.8	0.6
Belgium	Weaker	-1.0	-0.6	-3.6	±0.4	5.2	±0.5	65	358	423	3.1	0.4
Brazil	Broadly in line	-1.4	-1.7	0.2	±0.5	-1.7	±4.2	-45	91	47	-2.4	0.5
Canada	Moderately weaker	-0.7	-1.0	-1.8	±0.4	6.7	±1.6	58	253	310	2.9	0.4
China	Broadly in line	1.4	1.2	-0.1	±0.6	0.7	±4.3	17	38	54	1.1	0.6
Euro Area ¹	Broadly in line	1.7	1.7	0.6	±0.6	-1.7	±1.7	4	239	243	0.2	0.6
France	Broadly in line	-0.7	-0.9	-0.9	±0.4	3.3	±1.6	-29	364	335	-1.4	0.4
Germany	Stronger	5.9	5.9	2.7	±0.5	-7.5	±1.4	70	232	302	3.0	0.5
Hong Kong SAR	Broadly in line	9.2	8.8	-0.9	±0.9	2.3	±2.3	468	1,152	1,620		
India	Moderately stronger	-0.8	-0.5	1.7	±0.6	-9.4	±3.3	-11	39	28	-1.0	0.6
Indonesia	Broadly in line	-0.1	-0.3	0.8	±0.5	-5.0	±2.9	-19	54	35	-1.5	0.5
Italy	Weaker	0.5	0.8	-3.0	±0.7	11.5	±2.7	7	162	169	0.3	0.7
Japan	Broadly in line	3.6	3.7	-0.3	±1.1	1.7	±6.3	80	168	248	3.2	1.1
Korea	Moderately weaker	2.1	2.3	-2.0	±0.9	6.1	±2.7	46	88	134	2.5	0.9
Malaysia	Stronger	1.5	1.8	2.1	±0.5	-4.1	±1	7	125	132	0.5	0.5
Mexico	Moderately stronger	-0.3	0.1	1.4	±0.4	-4.5	±1.4	-41	84	44	-2.2	0.4
The Netherlands	Substantially stronger	10.1	10.3	4.3	±0.5	-6.6	±0.8	72	859	931	3.7	0.5
Poland	Stronger	1.6	1.4	3.6	±0.5	-8.4	±1.1	-34	93	60	-1.7	0.5
Russia	Broadly in line	2.5	2.6	0.3	±0.8	-1.8	±4.9	42	35	77	2.0	0.8
Saudi Arabia	Weaker	3.2	3.3	-2.6	±2	12.1	±9.2	74	60	134		
Singapore	Substantially stronger	19.8	20.1	7.0	±1.8	-14.0	±3.6	171	951	1,122		
South Africa	Broadly in line	-1.6	-2.2	-0.9	±0.9	3.6	±2.7	28	100	128	1.3	0.9
Spain	Moderately stronger	2.6	2.8	1.8	±0.8	-6.4	±2.8	-53	248	196	-2.6	0.8
Sweden	Substantially stronger	6.8	6.6	5.5	±0.4	-17.0	±6.5	33	281	314	1.8	0.4
Switzerland	Weaker	7.6	7.7	-2.8	±0.8	5.2	±1.4	95	537	631	4.9	0.8
Thailand	Stronger	1.4	1.3	2.6	±0.7	-5.3	±1.4	8	112	120	0.5	0.7
Türkiye	Weaker	-4.0	-3.0	-2.6	±0.6	9.6	±2.3	-25	55	29	-1.7	0.6
United Kingdom	Weaker	-3.3	-3.3	-2.4	±1	9.2	±3.8	-31	534	503	-1.5	0.3
United States	Broadly in line	-3.0	-2.6	-0.7	±0.7	5.8	±5.8	-71	194	124	-3.8	0.7

Sources: IMF, International Financial Statistics; IMF, April 2024 World Economic Outlook; US Bureau of Economic Analysis; and IMF staff assessments.

Note: ". . . " indicates that data are not available or not applicable. CA = current account; Cycl. Adj. = cyclically adjusted; NFA = net foreign assets; REER = real effective exchange rate; SAR = Special Administrative Region; SE = standard error.

¹The IMF staff-assessed euro area CA gap is calculated as the GDP-weighted average of IMF staff-assessed CA gaps for the 11 largest euro area economies.

Annex Table 1.1.3. External Sector Report Economies: Summary of IMF Staff–Assessed Current Account Gaps and IMF Staff Adjustments, 2023 (Percent of GDP)

					IMF	IMF Staff A	Adjustm	ients ³	
	Actual	Cycl. Adj.	EBA CA	EBA CA	Staff-		01	ther	
	Balance	Balance	Norm	Gap ¹	CA GAP ²	Total	CA	Norm	-
Economy	[A]	[B]	[C]	[D=B-C]	[E = D + F]	[F = G – H]	[G]	[H]	Comments on Adjustments
Argentina	-3.4	-3.6	0.4	-3.9	-2.6	1.3	2.4	1.1	Drought (CA), weak reserve coverage/external sustainability (norm)
Australia	1.2	0.3	-0.6	0.9	0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Belgium	-1.0	-0.6	3.0	-3.6	-3.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Brazil	-1.4	-1.7	-1.9	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Canada	-0.7	-1.0	2.3	-3.3	-1.8	1.5	1.5	0.0	Measurement biases
China	1.4	1.2	0.9	0.3	-0.1	-0.4	-0.4	0.0	Travel adjustor
Euro Area ⁴	1.7	1.7	0.7	1.0	0.6	-0.4	-0.4	0.0	Country-specific measurement bias adjustments
France	-0.7	-0.9	0.0	-0.9	-0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Germany	5.9	5.9	3.1	2.7	2.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	
India	-0.8	-0.5	-2.2	1.7	1.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Indonesia	-0.1	-0.3	-0.8	0.5	0.8	0.3	0.0	-0.3	Demographics (high mortality rate, norm)
Italy	0.5	0.8	3.8	-3.0	-3.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Japan	3.6	3.7	4.0	-0.3	-0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Korea	2.1	2.3	4.4	-2.0	-2.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Malaysia	1.5	1.8	-0.3	2.1	2.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Mexico	-0.3	0.1	-1.3	1.4	1.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	
The Netherlands	10.1	10.3	4.3	6.1	4.3	-1.8	-1.8	0.0	Measurement biases
Poland	1.6	1.4	-2.2	3.6	3.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Russia	2.5	2.6	2.3	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	
South Africa	-1.6	-2.2	0.6	-2.8	-0.9	1.9	1.4	-0.5	Demographics (high mortality rate, norm), measurement biases, and SACU transfers
Spain	2.6	2.8	0.9	1.8	1.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Sweden	6.8	6.6	1.1	5.5	5.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Switzerland	7.6	7.7	6.4	1.3	-2.8	-4.1	-4.1	0.0	Measurement biases
Thailand	1.4	1.3	0.8	0.5	2.6	2.1	2.1	0.0	Travel and transport adjustors
Türkiye	-4.0	-3.0	-0.3	-2.6	-2.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	
United Kingdom	-3.3	-3.3	-0.4	-2.9	-2.4	0.5	0.5	0.0	Measurement biases
United States	-3.0	-2.6	-1.9	-0.7	-0.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Hong Kong SAR	9.2	8.8			-0.9	12.2	0.7	-11.5	
Singapore	19.8	20.1			7.0	2.5	-2.2	-4.7	Measurement biases, NFA composition, health spending
Saudi Arabia	3.2	3.3			-2.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Absolute sum of excess surpluses and deficits ⁵				1.0	0.9				
Discrepancy ⁶					-0.15				

Source: IMF staff estimates.

Note: "..." indicates that data are not available or not applicable; CA = current account; Cycl. Adj. = cyclically adjusted; EBA = external balance assessment; ESR = *External Sector Report*; NIIP = net international investment position; SACU = Southern African Customs Union.

¹Minor discrepancies between constituent figures and totals are due to rounding.

²Refers to the midpoint of the IMF staff-assessed CA gap.

³Total IMF staff adjustments include rounding in some cases. The last column explains country-specific adjustments to the CA and norm.

⁴The EBA euro area CA norm is calculated as the GDP-weighted average of norms for the 11 largest euro area economies, adjusted for reporting discrepancies in intra-area transactions. The IMF staff–assessed CA gap is calculated as the GDP-weighted average of IMF staff–assessed gaps for the 11 largest euro area economies.

⁵Sum of absolute value of IMF staff-assessed CA gaps in percent of aggregate GDP for economies included in the ESR exercise.

⁶Sum of IMF staff-assessed CA gaps in percent of aggregate GDP for economies included in the EBA and/or ESR exercise.

Annex Table 1.1.4. External Sector Report Economies: Summary of IMF Staff–Assessed Real Effective Exchange Rate and External Balance Assessment Model Gaps, 2023

	IMF	REER Gap Implied by IMF	EBA	EBA		RE (Percent	ER change)
Economy	Staff–Assessed REER Gap ¹	Staff–Assessed CA Gap ²	REER-Level Gap	REER-Index Gap	CA/REER Elasticity ³	Average 2023/ Average 2022	April 2024/ Average 2023
Argentina	22.5	21.7	5.0	19.9	0.12	0.5	-2.7
Australia	-5.3	-5.3	20.6	-10.6	0.17	-0.6	1.8
Belgium	5.2	5.2	20.6	8.8	0.69	1.3	0.8
Brazil	-1.7	-1.7	-11.2	-25.1	0.12	4.6	-0.5
Canada	6.7	6.7	-12.9	0.5	0.27	-3.6	-1.3
China	0.7	0.7	3.4	5.1	0.14	-8.2	-2.7
Euro Area	-1.7	-1.7	3.9	5.5	0.35	3.5	-0.4
France	3.3	3.3	2.9	-5.1	0.27	1.9	-0.5
Germany	-7.5	-7.5	-9.3	8.0	0.36	3.5	-0.5
India	-9.4	-9.4	5.2	5.9	0.18	-1.6	1.8
Indonesia	-5.0	-5.0	-15.9	0.8	0.16	-3.7	-2.4
Italy	11.5	11.5	10.8	8.9	0.26	2.8	-1.7
Japan	1.7	1.7	-31.7	-35.5	0.18	-4.9	-6.9
Korea	6.1	6.1	-3.1	-4.1	0.33	2.1	-2.0
Malaysia	-4.1	-4.1	-30.1	-27.2	0.51	-2.6	-2.7
Mexico	-4.5	-4.5	27.6	8.1	0.31	21.0	9.0
The Netherlands	-6.6	-6.6	2.8	18.9	0.65	0.8	0.6
Poland	-8.4	-8.4	-11.7	11.8	0.43	11.3	5.2
Russia	-1.8	-1.8	-18.6	3.3	0.17	-3.5	-3.7
South Africa	3.6	3.6	-15.8	-20.7	0.25	-8.3	1.8
Spain	-6.4	-6.4	18.6	3.8	0.28	0.3	1.0
Sweden	-17.0	-14.1	-23.9	-20.9	0.39	-1.9	0.2
Switzerland	5.2	5.2	17.7	12.8	0.54	3.4	-1.1
Thailand	-5.3	-5.3	-1.4	7.4	0.49	1.1	-5.0
Türkiye	9.6	9.6	-55.7	-45.7	0.27	2.4	7.0
United Kingdom	9.2	9.2	4.4	-5.9	0.26	2.5	2.8
United States	5.8	5.8	16.7	8.3	0.12	-0.5	2.0
Hong Kong SAR	2.3	2.3			0.40	2.6	2.6
Singapore	-14.0	-14.0			0.50	7.2	2.0
Saudi Arabia	12.1	12.1			0.20	0.7	0.7
Discrepancy ⁴	1.7						

Sources: IMF, Information Notice System; and IMF staff estimates.

Note: "..." indicates that data are not available or not applicable; CA = current account; EBA = External Balance Assessment; REER = real effective exchange rate. ¹Refers to the midpoint of the IMF staff–assessed REER gap.

²Implied REER gap = -(IMF staff-assessed CA gap/CA-to-REER elasticity).

³CA-to-REER semielasticity used by IMF country teams.

⁴GDP-weighted average sum of IMF staff-assessed REER gaps.

Annex Table 1.1.5. Selected External Sector Report Economies: External Balance Assessment Current Account Regression Policy Gap Contributions, 2023 (Percent of GDP)

						Fis	cal Ga	d		Public F	lealth E	cpendit	ure Gap		Priva	te Credi	t Gap		Ľ.	oreign Ey Ca	cchang pital Co	e Inter ontrols	vention Gap	and	
		EBA	Gap			Do	mestic	5			Dome	estic				Dom	estic					Domes	tic		
Economy	Total ¹	Identified	Dom ²	Residual	Total ¹	Dom ³	Coeff	4	*4	Total ¹	00m ³ C	oeff F	×d	Total	Dom	⁵ Coeff	٩	¥	Total ¹	Dom ³ C	oeff F	XIP F	XI P* I	(C P KI	Å
Argentina	-3.9	-1.8	-2.5	-2.1	0.0	-1.3	0.3	-4.1	0.0	-0.1	0.0	0.3 6	.5 6.5	-0.4	0.1	-0.1	-0.7	0.0	-1.3	-1.3	. 9.0	-2.2	1.5	0.7 (.3
Australia	0.9	2.1	1.5	-1.2	0.9	-0.3	0.3	÷	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	0.3 7	.5 7.2	1.4	1.9	-0.1	-19.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.1	0.0	0.1	
Belgium	-3.6	2.0	1.4	-5.6	0.0	-1.2	0.3	-5.0	÷	-0.1	0.0	0.3 8	.0 7.9	2.0	2.5	-0.1	-26.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.5	0.0	0.1	
Brazil	0.2	-0.4	÷	0.6	-0.2	-1.4	0.3	-8.2	-3.5	0.1	0.2 -	0.3 3	.9 4.4	-0.6	-0.1	-0.1	0.6	0.0	0.3	0.3	0.6	0.9	0.0	0.5 (.3
Canada	-3.3	1.4	0.8	-4.7	1.2	-0.1	0.3	-0.6	-0.4	-0.5	-0.5	0.3 8	.6 7.0	0.8	1.3	-0.1	-13.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.1	
China	0.3	-0.6	-1.3	0.9	-0.2	-1.4	0.3	-6.7	-2.2	0.0	0.0	0.3 3	.9 4.0	-0.3	0.2	-0.1	-1.6	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	. 9.0	-0.2	0.0	0.8	.3
Euro Area ⁴	1.0	0.5	-0.2	0.5	0.4	-0.8	0.3	-3.5	-0.9	-0.2	-0.2	0.3 8	.9 8.4	0.3	0.8	-0.1	-8.4	-0.3	0.0	0.0	. 9.0	-0.1	0.0	0.1	
France	-0.9	0.1	-0.6	-1.0	0.0	-1.2	0.3	-5.0		-0.3	-0.3	0.3 10	.2 9.3	0.4	0.9	-0.1	-9.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	. 9.0	-0.7	0.0	0.1	
Germany	2.7	-0.2	-0.9	2.9	1.0	-0.2	0.3	-1.9	-1.3	-0.5	-0.4	0.3 10	9.6 6.0	-0.8	-0.3	-0.1	3.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.3 (.3
India	1.7	0.6	-0.1	1.1	0.3	-0.9	0.3	-8.7	-5.8	0.1	0.1	0.3 1	.4 1.8	-0.6	-0.1	-0.1	0.8	0.0	0.8	0.8	0.6	1.6	0.0	0.8	.3
Indonesia	0.5	1.7	1.0	-1.2	1.3	0.1	0.3	-1.6	-2.0	0.6	0.7 -	0.3 0	.8 3.0	-0.3	0.2	-0.1	-2.4	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.6	0.2	0.0	0.5 (.3
Italy	-3.0	-0.2	-0.9	-2.8	-1.2	-2.4	0.3	-7.5	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.3 6	.7 6.8	1.0	1.5	-0.1	-15.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0
Japan	-0.3	-1.5	-2.2	1.2	-0.3	-1.5	0.3	-5.8	-1.0	-0.1	0.0	0.3 9	.3 9.1	-1.2	-0.7	-0.1	14.1	7.3	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.6	0.0	0.1	
Korea	-2.0	0.6	-0.1	-2.6	0.9	-0.3	0.3	-0.9	0.0	0.7	0.8	0.3 5	.9 8.5		-0.6	-0.1	5.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	. 9.0	-0.5	0.0	0.1	
Malaysia	2.1	0.9	0.3	1.2	0.6	-0.6	0.3	-4.5	-2.5	0.6	- 9.0	0.3 2	.0 4.1	-0.1	0.4	-0.1	-4.6	0.0	-0.2	-0.2	. 9.0	-0.6	0.0	0.6 (.3
Mexico	1.4	0.6	0.0	0.8	0.7	-0.5	0.3	-4.5	-2.7	0.0	0.1	0.3 3	.2 3.6	-0.2	0.3	-0.1	-3.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.6	0.4	0.0	0.4 (.3
The Netherlands	6.1	3.7	3.1	2.3	1.4	0.2	0.3	-1.4	-2.0	0.1	0.1	0.3 8	.4 8.8	2.2	2.7	-0.1	-28.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0
Poland	3.6	1.8	1:1	1.8	0.3	-1.0	0.3	-5.1	-2.0	0.1	0.2 -	0.3 5	.9 6.6	0.7	1.2	-0.1	-17.6	-5.0	0.7	0.7	0.6	2.6	0.0	0.4 (.3
Russia	0.3	1.5	0.9	-1.2	0.8	-0.4	0.3	-2.5	-1.0	0.2	0.3 -	0.3 4	.6 5.5	0.5	1.0	-0.1	-10.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.4 (.3
South Africa	-2.8	0.7	0.0	-3.5	0.2	-1.0	0.3	-6.4	-3.1	0.7	0.8	0.3 4	.0 6.6	-0.1	0.4	-0.1	-3.7	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	. 9.0	-0.3	0.0	0.6 (.3
Spain	1.8	0.3	-0.3	1.5	0.4	-0.8	0.3	-3.7	-1.0	-0.3	-0.2 -	0.3 7	.2 6.5	0.2	0.7	-0.1	-7.9	-1.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.4	0.0	0.2 (0.2
Sweden	5.5	3.0	2.3	2.6	:-	-0.1	0.3	0.0	0.3	-0.1	0.0	0.3 9	.2 9.0	2.0	2.4	-0.1	-25.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.1	0.0	0.2 (0.2
Switzerland	1.3	-1.0	-1.7	2.3	1.7	0.5	0.3	0.5	-1.0	-0.1	-0.1	0.3 8	.3 8.0	-0.7	-0.2	-0.1	2.3	0.0	-1.8	-1.8	- 9.0	15.4	0.0	0.2	.2
Thailand	0.5	0.3	-0.4	0.3	1.2	0.0	0.3	-2.9	-2.8	0.2	0.2 –	0.3 3	.6 4.4		-0.7	-0.1	6.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.1	0.0	0.5 (.3
Türkiye	-2.6	1.5	0.8	-4.1	0.6	-0.6	0.3	-6.3	-4.3	0.1	0.1	0.3 3	.1 3.6	1.2	1.7	-0.1	-18.0	0.0	-0.4	-0.4	. 9.0	-0.8	1.2	0.4 (.3
United Kingdom	-2.9	1.9	1.2	-4.7	0.0	-1.2	0.3	-6.3	-2.4	0.2	0.2 –	0.3 7	.1 7.9	1.7	2.1	-0.1	-22.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.1	0.0	0.1	
United States	-0.7	-0.7	-1.4	0.0	-0.8	-2.0	0.3	-8.5	-2.0	0.1	0.1 -	0.3 8	.0 8.4	0.0	0.5	-0.1	-4.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.2 ().2
Source: IMF staff es Note: Coeff = coeffi ¹ Total contribution a	stimates. cient; Do fter adjus	m = domes sting for mu	tic; EBA - Iltilateral c	 External B consistency. 	alance A Total for	ssessm eign exc	ent; FX :hange	(1 = forei interven	ign excha	ange inte capital c	rvention; controls c	KC = c ontribut	apital cc ion = Cc	introls; P = oeff * [(FXI	= actual × KC)	level; P – (desira	* = desire ble FXI ×	ed level. : desira	ole KC)].						
² Includes the contrit fiscal = 1.2 ; public h	ntion of . nealth = -	domestic po -0.1; privaté	licy gaps e credit =	to the identif -0.5; foreig	ied gap. In exchai	The tota nge inter	al foreig rventioi	tin policy n = 0.0.	gap cont	ribution i	s constar	nt and e	qual to C	7 percent	for all o	countries	. Foreign	contribu	tions are	estimate	d as fol	lows (in	percent	t of GDP	÷
³ Total domestic con ⁴ The euro area EBA	itribution current	is equivaler account gap	nt to coeff o and poli-	icient * (P – cy gap contr	P*). ibutions	are calo	culated	as the (GDP-wei	ghted ave	erages of	EBA cu	urrent ac	count gap:	s and p	olicy gap	contribu	tions fo	the 11	largest ei	uro area	a econo	mies.		

CHAPTER 1 EXTERNAL POSITIONS AND POLICIES

10
~
.0
-
9
p
G
Ξ
5
5
ā
~
· · · ·
>
3
-
0
0
-
7
0
>
- H
g
3
=
$\overline{\mathbf{O}}$
•••
<u> </u>
ā
E
5
ŝ
ŝ
_
w.
š
SSE
Asse
/ Asse
N ASSE
my Asse
omy Asse
nomy Asse
onomy Asse
conomy Asse
Economy Asse
Economy Asse
al Economy Asse
al Economy Asse
tual Economy Asse
idual Economy Asse
vidual Economy Asse
lividual Economy Asse
idividual Economy Asse
Individual Economy Asse
Individual Economy Asse
3 Individual Economy Asse
23 Individual Economy Asse
023 Individual Economy Asse
2023 Individual Economy Asse
. 2023 Individual Economy Asse
6. 2023 Individual Economy Asse
.6. 2023 Individual Economy Asse
.1.6. 2023 Individual Economy Asse
1.1.6. 2023 Individual Economy Asse
1.1.6. 2023 Individual Economy Asse
e 1.1.6. 2023 Individual Economy Asse
ole 1.1.6. 2023 Individual Economy Asse
able 1.1.6. 2023 Individual Economy Asse
Table 1.1.6. 2023 Individual Economy Asse
Table 1.1.6. 2023 Individual Economy Asse
x Table 1.1.6. 2023 Individual Economy Asse
ex Table 1.1.6. 2023 Individual Economy Asse
nex Table 1.1.6. 2023 Individual Economy Asse
nnex Table 1.1.6. 2023 Individual Economy Asse

Economy	Overall 2023 Assessment	Policy Recommendations
Argentina	Weaker	Continue the implementation of the ambitious stabilization plan, centered on a strong fiscal anchor and relative price corrections. Implement structural reforms to boost Argentina's competitiveness and export capacity. As stability and confidence are reestablished, a gradual conditions- based easing of CFM measures will be needed, while any remaining MCPs and exchange restrictions should be phased out as early as possible.
Australia	Broadly in line	Maintain fiscal and monetary restraint; implement structural policies that boost investment by rebalancing taxes from direct to indirect taxes, executing planned infrastructure investment, streamlining product market regulation, and promoting R&D and innovation investment.
Belgium	Weaker	Strengthen competitiveness through significant structural reforms, including of the wage indexation system, pension and social benefits, tax, and the labor and product markets. Rebuild fiscal buffers through a credible, expenditure-led consolidation, while preserving public investment.
Brazil	Broadly in line	Implement efforts to raise national savings, providing room for a sustainable expansion in investment. Fiscal consolidation should continue contributing to increase net public savings. Structural reforms that improve efficiency and reduce the cost of doing business would help strengthen competitiveness.
Canada	Moderately weaker	Tighter near-term fiscal policies as well as a medium-term fiscal consolidation plan would help in stabilizing debt and supporting external rebalancing; boost services exports and nonfuel goods exports through improved labor productivity, removal of nontariff trade barriers, promotion of FDI, and investment in R&D, physical capital, and green transformation.
China	Broadly in line	Accelerate market-based structural reforms—a further opening up of domestic markets, ensuring competitive neutrality between state-owned and private firms, scaling back wasteful and distorting industrial policies; shift fiscal policy support toward strengthening social protection to reduce high household savings and rebalance toward private consumption; gradually increase exchange rate flexibility to help the economy better absorb external shocks.
Euro Area	Broadly in line	Improve productivity through increased public investment, reskilling and upskilling of the labor force, and encouraging private investment and technology diffusion; strengthen the EU Single Market by harmonizing regulations, reducing administrative barriers, and streamlining trade procedures; avoid trade-distorting measures; see additional member country-specific recommendations on reducing internal and external imbalances.
France	Broadly in line	Maintaining the external position in line with medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies will require sustained fiscal consolidation efforts as well as structural reforms to support productivity and attract higher private investment to facilitate the green and digital transitions.
Germany	Stronger	Implement policies aimed at promoting investment and diminishing excess saving, including through higher fiscal deficits than currently planned in the medium term to ensure adequate public investment in the green transition, digitalization, and transport infrastructure. Implement structural reforms to foster innovation and enhance employability of older workers, which could also extend working lives and reduce the need for excess saving.
Hong Kong SAR	Broadly in line	Implement a gradual fiscal consolidation in the near term while taking measures to ensure fiscal sustainability over the medium to long term; maintain policies that support wage and price flexibility; continue to implement robust and proactive financial supervision and regulation.
India	Moderately stronger	Focus on raising investment by continuing to increase public investment and incentivize private investment. Reforms should include further liberalization of the investment regime; reductions in import tariffs, especially on intermediate goods; and implementation of measures to improve the business climate.
Indonesia	Broadly in line	Implement structural reforms to enhance productivity and facilitate post-COVID-19 sectoral adjustments, including higher infrastructure investment and higher social spending to foster human capital development and strengthen the social safety net, a reduction of restrictions on inward FDI and external trade, and promotion of greater labor market flexibility. Maintain flexibility of the exchange rate.
Italy	Weaker	Implement comprehensive structural reforms to encourage an increase in private investment; increase public sector saving, supported by a front- loaded fiscal adjustment program and improved budget efficiency, containing social benefit spending, undertaking comprehensive and progressive tax reform and fully implementing the National Recovery and Resilience Plan.
Japan	Broadly in line	Policies should focus on structural reforms and fiscal sustainability—a credible and specific medium-term fiscal consolidation plan. Priority should be given to labor market and fiscal reforms that support private demand, raise potential growth, and promote digital and green investment.
Korea	Moderately weaker	Implement restrictive monetary and fiscal policy stance in the short term. Over the medium term, implement policies to encourage an increase in aging-related precautionary savings and orderly deleveraging of private debt, and to mitigate risks arising from geopolitical tensions. Exchange rate flexibility, with intervention limited to preventing disorderly market conditions, would help the economy absorb external shocks.
Malaysia	Stronger	Implement medium-term policies to strengthen social safety nets and public health care; implement structural policies to encourage private investment and improve productivity growth; preserve exchange rate flexibility.

Annex Table 1.1.6	(continued)	
Economy	Overall 2023 Assessment	Policy Recommendations
Mexico	Moderately stronger	Implement structural reforms to address investment obstacles, including by encouraging female labor force participation and promoting financial deepening. Maintain a prudent fiscal stance. The floating exchange rate should continue to serve as a shock absorber, with FX interventions employed only in exceptional circumstances. The IMF's Flexible Credit Line with Mexico continues to provide an added buffer against global tail risks.
The Netherlands	Substantially stronger	Foster investment in physical and human capital, including by facilitating access to finance for small and medium-sized enterprises. Continue structural policies to safeguard energy security, allay housing market shortages, reinforce the education system, advance the climate transition, and further promote digitalization.
Poland	Stronger	Boost investment by easing regulatory hurdles to private investments in the energy sector. Strengthen the pension system in a financially sustainable manner to reduce pressures on precautionary savings for households.
Russia	Broadly in line	
Saudi Arabia	Weaker	Implement additional fiscal consolidation over the medium term, including through enhanced revenue mobilization and energy price reforms. Implement a structural reform agenda to diversify the economy, lift productivity, and boost the non-oil tradable sector.
Singapore	Substantially stronger	Execute the planned major green infrastructure projects; strengthen social safety nets; implement higher public investment over the medium term, including spending on health care, green and other physical infrastructures, and human capital.
South Africa	Broadly in line	Implement bold structural reforms and ambitious fiscal consolidation. Structural reform should focus on addressing the energy and logistics crises; improving governance, product market efficiency, and the functioning of labor markets; and bolstering worker skills. Fiscal consolidation should be expenditure based, while providing space for critical infrastructure investment and well-targeted social spending. A flexible rand exchange rate should remain the main shock absorber.
Spain	Moderately stronger	Implement sustained fiscal consolidation to rebuild fiscal space and raise aggregate saving. Implement structural reforms and investment in strategic areas to boost growth and raise aggregate investment. Continue efforts to enhance education outcomes, encourage innovation, and reduce energy dependence from abroad, including through adequate implementation of the Recovery, Transformation and Resilience Plan.
Sweden	Substantially stronger	Once inflation recedes, increase private and public investment in the green transition and the health sector.
Switzerland	Weaker	Fiscal policy should balance the need to avoid creating headwinds to growth, while creating fiscal space to address accumulating spending pressures. A comprehensive medium-term plan will be needed to address mounting structural spending needs on aging, climate, and defense. Monetary policy should remain data-dependent and avoid the risk of inflation settling at very low rates. Commitment to free trade and cooperation, as shown by abolition of industrial tariffs in 2024 and efforts to expand trade relations, should continue in order to build resilience.
Thailand	Stronger	Implement policies aimed at promoting investment, diminishing precautionary savings, and supporting domestic demand. Focus public expenditures on targeted social transfers to continue to support the most vulnerable, as well as infrastructure investment to support a green recovery and reorientation of affected sectors. Continue efforts to reform and expand social safety nets and address widespread informality.
Türkiye	Weaker	Tighten the monetary and fiscal policy stance; accelerate financial liberalization to reduce market distortions and improve monetary policy transmission. Enhance competition through open trade policies, including by removing discretionary credit allocation that favors exports. Collectively, these policies would improve confidence and help sustain capital inflows which would allow for a much-needed accumulation of international reserves.
United Kingdom	Weaker	Implement gradual fiscal consolidation while preserving key public services and protecting the vulnerable. Implement structural reforms to boost competitiveness, including by upgrading the labor skill base to support labor reallocation to fast-growing sectors. Continue to support an open trade environment, including by addressing remaining barriers to trade with the European Union.
United States	Broadly in line	Implement medium-term fiscal consolidation. Implement structural policies to increase competitiveness while maintaining full employment, including by upgrading infrastructure; enhancing the schooling, training, apprenticeship, and mobility of workers; supporting the working poor; and implementing policies to increase growth in the labor force. Roll back tariff barriers and resolve trade and investment disagreements supporting an open, stable, and transparent global trading system.
Source: IMF, 2023 Indivi Note: "" indicates the development.	idual External Balance Assessments. It data are not available or not applicat	ile. CFM = capital flow management measure; FDI = foreign direct investment; FX = foreign exchange; MCP = macroprudential measure; R&D = research and

References

- Adler, Gustavo, Kyun Suk Chang, Rui Mano, and Yuting Shao. 2024. "Foreign Exchange Intervention: A Data Set of Official Data and Estimates." *Journal of Money Credit and Banking*.
- Aiyar, Shekhar, Jiaqian Chen, Christian Ebeke, Roberto Garcia-Saltos, Tryggvi Gudmundsson, Anna Ilyina, and others. 2023. "Geoeconomic Fragmentation and the Future of Multilateralism." IMF Staff Discussion Note 2023/001, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Aizenman, Joshua, Hiro Ito, and Gurnain Kaur Pasricha. 2022. "Central Bank Swap Arrangements in the COVID-19 Crisis." *Journal of International Money and Finance* 122: 102555.
- Ajello, Andrea, Michele Cavallo, Giovanni Favara, William B.
 Peterman, John W. Schindler IV, and Nitish R. Sinha. 2023.
 "A New Index to Measure U.S. Financial Conditions." FEDS Notes, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, Washington, DC.
- Allen, Cian, Camila Casas, Giovanni Ganelli, Luciana Juvenal, Daniel Leigh, Pau Rabanal, Cyril Rebillard, and others. 2023.
 "2022 Update of the External Balance Assessment Methodology." IMF Working Paper 2023/047, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Anderson, Derek, Benjamin Hunt, Mika Kortelainen, Michael Kumhof, Douglas Laxton, Dirk Muir, Susanna Mursula, and others. 2013. "Getting to Know GIMF: The Simulation Properties of the Global Integrated Monetary and Fiscal Model." IMF Working Paper 2013/055, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Bahaj, Saleem, Marie Fuchs, and Ricardo Reis. 2024. "The Global Network of Liquidity Lines." CEPR Discussion Paper 19070, Centre for Economic Policy Research, Paris.
- Bernanke, Ben S. 2005. "The Global Saving Glut and the US Current Account Deficit." Speech at the Sandridge Lecture, Virginia Association of Economists, Richmond, VA, March 10.
- Caballero, Ricardo J., Emmanuel Farhi, and Pierre-Olivier Gourinchas. 2008. "An Equilibrium Model of 'Global Imbalances' and Low Interest Rates." *American Economic Review* 98: 358–93.
- Caballero, Ricardo J., Emmanuel Farhi, and Pierre-Olivier Gourinchas. 2016. "Safe Asset Scarcity and Aggregate Demand." *American Economic Review* 106: 513–18.
- Caballero, Ricardo J., Emmanuel Farhi, and Pierre-Olivier Gourinchas. 2017a. "Rents, Technical Change, and Risk Premia Accounting for Secular Trends in Interest Rates, Returns on Capital, Earning Yields, and Factor Shares." *American Economic Review* 107: 614–20.
- Caballero, Ricardo J., Emmanuel Farhi, and Pierre-Olivier Gourinchas. 2017b. "The Safe Assets Shortage Conundrum." *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 31: 29–46.
- Caballero, Ricardo J., Emmanuel Farhi, and Pierre-Olivier Gourinchas. 2021. "Global Imbalances and Policy Wars at the Zero Lower Bound." *Review of Economic Studies* 88: 2570–621.

- Carton, Benjamin, and Dirk Muir. Forthcoming. "GIMF-GVC: Introducing Global Value Chains into the Global Integrated Monetary and Fiscal Model and Their Impacts." International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Coppola, Antonio, Matteo Maggiori, Brent Neiman, and Jesse Schreger. 2021. "Redrawing the Map of Global Capital Flows: The Role of Cross-Border Financing and Tax Havens." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 136: 1499–556.
- Damgaard, Jannick, Thomas Elkjaer, and Niels Johannesen. 2024.
 "What Is Real and What Is Not in the Global FDI Network?" *Journal of International Money and Finance* 140: 102971.
- Denbee, Edward, Carsten Jung, and Francesco Paternò. 2016. "Stitching Together the Global Financial Safety Net." Financial Stability Paper 36, Bank of England, London.
- Gelos, Gaston, Lucyna Gornicka, Robin Koepke, Ratna Sahay, and Silvia Sgherri. 2022. "Capital Flows at Risk: Taming the Ebbs and Flows." *Journal of International Economics* 134: 103555.
- Goldberg, Linda S., and Fabiola Ravazzolo. 2022. "The Fed's International Dollar Liquidity Facilities: New Evidence on Effects." NBER Working Paper 29982, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA.
- Goldberg, Linda S., and Signe Krogstrup. 2023. "International Capital Flow Pressures and Global Factors." *Journal of International Economics* 146: 103749.
- Gopinath, Gita, Pierre-Olivier Gourinchas, Andrea Presbitero, and Petia B. Topalova. 2024. "Changing Global Linkages: A New Cold War?" IMF Working Paper 2024/076, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Hale, Galina, Bart Hobijn, Fernanda Nechio, and Doris Wilson. 2019. "How Much Do We Spend on Imports?" FRBSF Economic Letter 2019-01, Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco, San Francisco, CA.
- International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2015. "Assessing Reserve Adequacy—Specific Proposals." IMF Policy Paper, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2023. "Integrated Policy Framework—Principles for the Use of Foreign Exchange Intervention." IMF Policy Paper 2023/061, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Kumhof, Michael, Dirk Muir, Susanna Mursula, and Douglas Laxton. 2010. "The Global Integrated Monetary and Fiscal Model (GIMF)—Theoretical Structure." IMF Working Paper 10/34, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Lane, Philip R., and Gian Maria Milesi-Ferretti. 2018. "The External Wealth of Nations Revisited: International Financial Integration in the Aftermath of the Global Financial Crisis." *IMF Economic Review* 66: 189–222.
- Metzler, Lloyd A. 1968. "The Process of International Adjustment under Conditions of Full Employment: A Keynesian View." In *Readings in International Economics*, edited by Richard E. Caves and Harry G. Johnson. Homewood, IL: American Economic Association.

Obstfeld, Maurice. 2017. "Assessing Global Imbalances: The Nuts and Bolts." *IMF Blog*, June 26. https:// www.imf.org/en/Blogs/Articles/2017/06/26/ assessing-global-imbalances-the-nuts-and-bolts.

Perks, Michael, Yudong Rao, Jongsoon Shin, and Kiichi Tokuoka. 2021. "Evolution of Bilateral Swap Lines." IMF Working Paper 2021/210, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.

UN World Tourism Organization. 2024. "UNWTO World Tourism Barometer and Statistical Annex, January 2024." https://www.e-unwto.org/doi/abs/10.18111/ wtobarometereng.2024.22.1.1.

Commodity prices are subject to large and recurrent volatility. This chapter explores the external sector implications of energy price swings for the global economy and individual countries, differentiating among drivers behind the price swings as well as accounting for countries' energy importer or exporter status. Energy-importing countries bear the brunt of negative oil supply shocks. Nonetheless, they can resort to several policy tools to mitigate the adverse effects. Two newly emerging challenges arise from the clean energy transition and the possible shift in the correlation between the oil price and the US dollar.

Introduction

Commodity prices are one of the most volatile. Since 2000, real aggregate commodity prices have undergone three episodes of continuous rising by more than 30 percent.¹ Most recently, real commodity prices rose by about 150 percent between April 2020 and August 2022, led by a fivefold increase in the average price of energy commodities (oil, natural gas, coal).² This surge in energy prices was driven by the robust post-pandemic recovery and disruptions caused by Russia's invasion of Ukraine.

Commodity price swings carry broad implications for the global economy. Commodities, most notably energy commodities, account for a significant share of global trade, reflecting the fact that they are universally used and demanded while their production is geographically concentrated. Their price swings often exhibit a negative correlation with the US dollar (Figure 2.1).

The authors of the chapter are Lukas Boer, Jiaqian Chen (lead), Keiko Honjo, Ting Lan, Roman Merga, and Cyril Rebillard, with contributions by Geoffroy Dolphin, Rafael Portillo, and Pedro Rodriguez, under the guidance of Jaewoo Lee. Santiago Gomez, Jair Rodriguez, Xiaohan Shao, and Brian Hyunjo Shin provided research support and Jane Haizel provided editorial assistance. Christiane Baumeister was the external consultant. The chapter has also benefited from comments by Gian-Maria Milesi-Ferretti, Andrea Pescatori, Martin Stuermer, internal seminar participants, and reviewers.

¹Following the literature, real commodity prices are calculated by deflating the nominal price series from the IMF Primary Commodity Price System by the US consumer price index.

²See Box 2.1 for a discussion on the impact of the recent energy price shock on the EU manufacturing sector.

They are also key drivers of individual countries' terms of trade, which play a critical role for external adjustment as well as economic growth and business cycle fluctuations.³

Looking ahead, commodity-trading countries and the global economy will face two new challenges. The first is the clean energy transition, which requires a major transformation of the energy system with a shift away from fossil fuels to an increasing use of some critical metals, such as copper. The transition is expected to bring about permanent changes in the price of fossil fuels and critical metals and reshape trade flows, as the concentration in the production of most metals is even higher than that of fossil fuels. Second, the negative correlation between the oil price and the dollar has turned positive since 2020. If persistent, this shift in the correlation could carry substantial macroeconomic implications for the global economy and individual commodity-trading countries.

A better understanding of the causes and consequences of commodity price developments would improve the diagnosis of and responses to future volatile commodity price movements (see Chapter 1). With that aim, this chapter first documents the key characteristics of the price swings of 42 commodities. It then zooms in on energy price swings, the most volatile and prominent internationally traded group of commodities. Reflecting the prominence of oil among energy commodities, the chapter focuses on two key drivers of oil prices: global economic activity and oil supply shocks. The chapter examines their effects on the global economy and individual countries that are grouped into energy importers and exporters. For energy importers that face adjustment challenges due to limited international risk sharing, the chapter analyzes how their policies and country characteristics could mitigate

³For the impact of terms-of-trade shocks on growth, see Dehn (2000) and Collier and Goderis (2012). On business cycle fluctuations, see Mendoza (1995); Kose (2002); Aghion and others (2010); Fernández, Schmitt-Grohé, and Uribe (2017); and Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2018). On real exchange rate movements, see Chen and Rogoff (2003); Cashin, Céspedes, and Sahay (2004); and Ricci, Milesi-Ferretti, and Lee (2013). On international reserves, see Aizenman, Edwards, and Riera-Crichton (2012).



Figure 2.1. Commodity and the US Dollar

the adverse effects of energy price swings. Moreover, the chapter discusses the potential implications of a permanent shift to a positive correlation between the oil price and the US dollar on exchange rate policies and discusses potential effects of the clean energy transition on the exporters of fossil fuels and critical metals.

The chapter's main findings are as follows:

- Commodity prices exhibit substantial swings, most prominently for the group of energy commodities. For 42 commodities, the chapter identifies about 360 upswings and downswings since 1960. While price swings have comparable durations across commodities, the energy commodity group exhibits the most pronounced price swings, with prices almost tripling during a typical upswing and falling by as much during a downswing.
- The effects of energy price swings on individual economies vary both with an economy's importer/exporter status in energy trade and with the source of energy price changes. Higher energy prices are accompanied by current account improvements for energy exporters and deteriorations for energy importers, regardless of the source of energy price changes. However, when energy prices rise owing to stronger global economic activity or higher demand for oil consumption or inventories, output and consumption rise for both exporters and importers, despite the negative terms-of-trade effect for importers. When energy prices rise owing to a negative oil supply shock, exporters' output increases but importers' output and consumption fall, although some risk sharing occurs including via valuation gains in importers' net foreign assets.4
- Energy importers' exposure to shocks to energy prices varies with their economic characteristics, as well as with global financial conditions. The adverse effects of negative oil supply shocks on energy importers are mitigated by greater exchange rate flexibility, lower government debt, more anchored inflation expectations, stronger external positions, lower intensity of energy imports, and looser global financial conditions, which allow a smaller decline in consumption and a larger external borrowing (i.e., decline in the current account). Foreign investments



2000

95

200

150

100

50

ĭ992

Note: The real price index for a commodity group is the trade-weighted average of the global US dollar prices of the commodities in the group deflated by the US consumer price index. Energy commodity group includes oil, natural gas, and coal. Oil price refers to crude oil (petroleum), Brent, in US dollar. Commodity trade is the average of global gross commodity exports and imports. For panel 2, legend only displays selected commodities for clarity. The grey areas in panel 3 denote years when the US dollar and the real energy prices are positively correlated.

10

15

05

- 80

- 60

- 40

- 20

- 0

20

⁴It is left for future research to investigate the external implications of supply and demand shocks to nonenergy commodities. See, for example, Di Pace, Juvenal, and Petrella (forthcoming) and De Winne and Peersman (2021) for the effects of nonenergy commodity price shocks on economic activity.

in major oil-exporting economies represent another mitigating factor, which enables importing economies to partake of the economic improvement in exporting economies.

- Following two decades of negative correlations, the relationship between the US dollar and the oil price has turned positive since 2020. This change coincided with the shift of the United States from a net oil importer to a modest oil exporter in early 2020. It also coincides with periods of high global risk aversion, as well as a shift in foreign investor behavior: following an increase in the oil price, foreign investors tend to increase their holdings of US assets, in contrast to periods with a negative correlation. If permanent, this shift to a positive US dollar-oil price correlation could have several important implications. It would bring about, everything else being equal, larger terms-of-trade shocks due to oil prices for net oil importers with a floating exchange rate and greater financial stability risks for importers with short (net) exposure to the US dollar.
- The clean energy transition is likely to pose challenges for both fossil fuel and critical metal exporters. A permanently lower price for fossil fuel commodities brings about weaker GDP growth and initial improvement in the current account for exporters. A permanently higher price for critical metals would trigger an initial investment boom in exporting countries that worsens their current accounts and gradually improves output.

These findings add to the literature on macroeconomic analyses of oil prices in several dimensions. First, empirical evidence on the impact of oil supply and global economic activity shocks on an extensive list of macro and external sector variables is provided. In particular, the empirical literature on external sector effect provides mixed results. For instance, Kilian, Rebucci, and Spatafora (2009) find oil supply shocks to have opposite effects on current account balances of oil importers and exporters which are statistically significant only after four years, while Allegret, Mignon, and Sallenave (2015) find the effect to be of opposite sign for two net oil importers, China and the euro area, and Lebrand, Vasishtha, and Yilmazkuday (2024) find effects of the same sign for both importers and exporters. This chapter provides empirical evidence that is in line with the more consensual results derived from the theoretical literature, such as

Bodenstein, Erceg, and Guerrieri (2011), who analyze the repercussions of a negative oil supply shock on the United States (then a large net oil importer) using a two-country structural model. The chapter also illustrates the main transmission channels via multiregion model simulations for a set of key empirical findings. This chapter's econometric approach uses a large panel of exporters and importers to strengthen the estimation of the average impact of different drivers of oil prices. Last, this chapter explores how the impact varies across importers' structural characteristics and policy regimes in a comprehensive manner relative to the extant literature.

The rest of the chapter is structured as follows. The first section presents stylized facts on key features of commodity price swings. The second section estimates the impact of oil supply and global activity shocks two prominent drivers of energy price swings—on energy importers and exporters. The empirical analysis is complemented by model-based simulations, allowing for a fuller discussion of the transmission mechanisms. The third section discusses the correlation between the oil price and the US dollar, while also discussing the implications of the clean energy transition for fossil fuel and critical metal exporters, underscoring potential challenges and benefits for the latter. The final section concludes.

Features of Commodity Price Swings

This section documents real commodity price swings and their key features, including the duration and magnitude for all commodities from the IMF Primary Commodity Price System and four commodity groups (energy, metals, food, agricultural).⁵ The analysis adopts the standard business cycle (Burns and Mitchell 1946; Bry and Boschan 1971; Harding and Pagan 2002) and commodity price swings (Cashin and McDermott 2002) dating procedures to define the upswing and downswing phases with three modifications. First, the time series is not filtered to avoid the potential loss of some large, but short-lived, price fluctuations and to be independent of the filtering methods. Second, the analysis imposes no minimum duration, thereby capturing the sharp oil price

⁵Commodity group prices are calculated as the weighted average of individual commodity prices based on the average of global import share of 2014–16.



Figure 2.2. Real Oil Price Swings (*Index, 2016 = 100*)



Note: Real oil prices are calculated by deflating the nominal price series by the US consumer price index.

downswing during the global financial crisis, which lasted only six months. Third, as a consequence from the absence of a minimum duration, a larger window (± 24 months compared to around ± 5 months in the business cycle literature and ± 2 months in Cashin and McDermott 2002) is used to identify peaks and troughs.

Amid a strong co-movement among commodity prices, the energy commodity group displays the most pronounced swings. The chapter identifies 362 upswing and 363 downswing phases for 42 commodities over the period from 1960 to 2023 and documents strong co-movements between commodity prices (Box 2.2). While price swings have comparable durations across commodities, energy commodities stand out regarding the magnitude of price swings, which tend to be more pronounced than for other commodities. Energy prices typically triple during an upswing episode and fall almost as much in a downswing (Figure 2.2). In contrast, other commodity prices "only" double and nearly halve during upswings and downswings.⁶

Zooming In on Energy Price Swings

Empirical Analysis: Sources of Energy Price Swings and Impact

Energy prices are determined by the global interplay of supply and demand conditions. The effects of energy price changes on macroeconomic variables depend on their underlying drivers, as shown in the seminal paper by Kilian (2009) for oil prices. Following this literature (see, also, Kilian and Murphy 2014; Baumeister and Hamilton 2019; and Känzig 2021), the chapter focuses on the impact of underlying drivers of oil prices. The focus on oil prices is motivated by the observed strong co-movement between the prices of energy commodities (Box 2.2). Underlying drivers of oil prices are uncovered from the structural vector autoregression (VAR) for the global crude oil market in Baumeister and Hamilton (2019).⁷ The VAR is estimated with monthly data on global crude oil production, real oil prices, inventories, and global industrial production from January 1995 to May 2023.8 To identify the structural shocks, the VAR leverages insights from the economic theory on how its variables respond to a given structural shock (sign restrictions) and existing empirical estimates on oil demand and supply elasticity-how production and consumption respond to exogenous price changes (prior information; see Baumeister and Hamilton 2019 for further detail). It uncovers four structural drivers of oil prices: a global economic activity shock that alters the demand for all commodities, including oil; an oil consumption demand shock that could, for instance, capture changes in the preference for oil relative to other energy inputs; an oil inventory demand shock that reflects changes in demand due to precautionary concerns about future oil supply and demand condi-

⁸The data are adjusted to account for extreme observations during the COVID-19 pandemic (see Lenza and Primiceri 2022 and Online Annex 2.3 for more information).

⁶The magnitude of a commodity price increase (decrease) during a typical upswing (downswing) increases with the window size that is used to identify the upswing (downswing), as, typically, the larger the window size, the longer the average duration. However, the findings—that commodity price swings tend to display similar duration, and energy prices exhibit larger swings than other commodity prices—are robust to different window sizes.

⁷Most empirical analyses reported in this chapter are robust to the use of alternative global economic activity and oil supply shocks identified in the oil market VAR literature, including Baumeister and Hamilton (2023), Känzig (2021), and an updated identification along the lines of Kilian and Murphy (2014) as described by Zhou (2020) (see Online Annex 2.6). This chapter relies on Baumeister and Hamilton (2019) as the baseline, since it is the most recent comprehensive global oil market model estimated in the literature and relies on the global industrial production index instead of a freight rate index–derived measure for global economic activity, considering that the COVID-19 shock created a break in the historical relationship between global activities and freight rates.

tions; and an oil supply shock that is determined by an exogenous change in the production of oil.

The rest of the chapter focuses on two of the identified structural shocks. First, it focuses on global activity shocks, as those are highly correlated with the global factor that accounts for a significant share of the variation of a broader set of commodity prices (Box 2.2; Delle Chiaie, Ferrara, and Giannone 2022). Second, it focuses on oil supply shocks as they pose adjustment challenges for energy importers, which constitute the majority of world economies.⁹

A local projections (LP) approach is used to estimate normalized impulse responses to different drivers of energy price variation (Jordà 2005; Jordà, Schularick, and Taylor 2015; Stock and Watson 2018). This chapter's approach, detailed in the online annexes, uncovers impulse responses to the structural shocks that are scaled to increase the energy price by 10 percent on impact. In contrast to the conventional VAR practice, this approach directly regresses the macroeconomic variables at future horizons on the current (and lagged) shocks, instead of extrapolating them from estimated VAR coefficients, and normalizes the unit effect of the structural shock rather than its unit standard deviation.¹⁰

Responses of Real Energy Prices, Oil Production, and Global Industrial Production

The first set of regressions estimates the propagation of oil supply and global economic activity shocks to real energy prices, global oil production, and global industrial production over the 1996:Q1 to 2023:Q2 sample period.¹¹ The regression controls for four lags of the log changes in the global variable of interest, as well as for contemporaneous and one-quarter lag of the other shocks in the global oil market VAR. The results are presented in Figure 2.3.

The shocks have transitory, though persistent, effects on energy prices and other global variables. Following a positive global activity shock that increases the real energy price by 10 percent on impact, global industrial production increases by about ³/₄ percent on impact,

⁹The effects of oil consumption demand and inventory demand shocks on global variables and on energy exporters and importers are similar to those of global activity shocks and are reported in Online Annex 2.5.

¹⁰See Online Annexes 2.1, 2.2, and 2.3 for technical details, including on the use of instrumental variables local projections (LP-IV) for the unit effect normalization (Stock and Watson 2018). See Li, Plagborg-Møller, and Wolf (2024) for a discussion of advantages and disadvantages of LP vis-à-vis VAR.

¹¹Quarterly oil shock series are computed as averages of the monthly shocks following Kilian, Rebucci, and Spatafora (2009).





Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: Impulse responses show the effects of oil supply (in red) and global activity (in blue) shocks that increase real energy price by 10 percent on impact with 68 and 90 percent confidence intervals.

peaking after one year before converging to zero after another year. The strong global activity leads to a period of elevated energy prices, with the effect peaking three quarters after the shock and remaining (statistically) significant for about eight quarters. In response, oil production picks up gradually and remains positive and statistically significant for about six quarters. In contrast, a negative oil supply shock brings about a decline in global industrial production by 1 percent after eight quarters, following some uptick in the initial quarter.¹² Oil production falls somewhat more persistently, with the effects remaining statistically significant for three years, probably reflecting the long-lasting effect of supply disruptions. Nonetheless, the response of energy prices resembles the tapering (or hump-shaped) response as in the case of global activity shock, with the peak effect reached slightly earlier.

Given the transitory or tapering effects of underlying shocks on energy prices and production, exporters' current accounts can be expected to improve following an energy price increase, as saving would increase to smooth consumption, and vice versa for energy importers. This expectation is borne out in the subsequent empirical results.¹³

Impact on Exporters versus Importers

This subsection examines the impact of the two shocks on individual economies, grouped into energy exporters and importers.¹⁴ Adding a country fixed effect to the previous specification, the effects on real, external, and financial variables are estimated across a large sample of net energy exporters and importers covered by the IMF's External Balance Assessment. The substantial cross-sectional dimension helps tighten the estimation of average effects for exporters and importers.

When energy prices increase by 10 percent (on impact) owing to a positive global activity shock, the average of exporters' current account balances as a share of GDP improves by 1 percentage point after

¹²This initial uptick appears to be the combined outcome of energy exporters benefiting from favorable terms-of-trade effects and importers initially running down their inventories to mitigate the adverse effects of higher energy prices.

¹³In addition to these familiar effects of transitory shocks, classical intertemporal models imply that an exporter's current account balance could deteriorate initially if shocks were to have permanent positive effects on energy prices. For analogous examples discussed for permanent productivity shocks, see Obstfeld and Rogoff (1995) or Aguiar and Gopinath (2007). Arzeki, Ramey, and Sheng (2017) is a case of large oil discoveries.

¹⁴A country is classified as a net energy exporter (importer) if its median net energy export share over the sample period is above (below) zero. In total, our sample encompasses 11 net energy exporters and 33 net energy importers (see Online Annex Table 2.4.1 for the full list of sample countries). As a robustness check of the country group, the baseline local projection estimations are rerun using a sample of large (top 25th percentile) and small (bottom 25th percentile) net energy importers. The estimation results suggest the analysis is robust to a more selective criterion for importers. Specifically, the impact of an oil supply shock on importers is broadly proportional to the importer's net energy trade balance, with no evidence of nonlinearity (see Online Annex 2.4).

Figure 2.4. Effects of Global Activity Shocks on Energy Exporters and Importers



Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: Impulse responses show the effects of a global activity shock that increases real energy price by 10 percent on impact with 68 and 90 percent confidence intervals.

four quarters (Figure 2.4). Importers' current account balances gradually decline to reach a comparable size (-1 percentage point) in two years. Reflecting consumption smoothing, exporters' saving increases temporarily with higher export revenues, thereby offsetting the effects of gradually increasing investment on



Figure 2.5. Effects of Oil Supply Shocks on Energy Exporters and Importers

Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: Impulse responses show the effects of an oil supply shock that increases real energy price by 10 percent on impact with 68 and 90 percent confidence intervals. The exporter's nominal exchange rate is measured as the local currency against the US dollar, while the importer's nominal exchange rate is measured as the local currency against the Norwegian krone. Valuation changes are calculated as the difference between change in net international investment position (NIIP) and current account.

current account balances. Meanwhile, importers' saving changes little while consumption and investment increase gradually. Despite the contrasting responses in external balances, other macro variables that include real output, consumption, investment, inflation, and fiscal balances increase for exporters and importers alike. However, higher energy prices lead to a more modest increase in consumption, investment, and output for energy importers. Consequently, importers' interest rates rise to a lesser extent, resulting in depreciation of their exchange rates relative to energy exporters.

In contrast, when energy prices increase by 10 percent due to a negative oil-supply shock, importers bear the brunt of the shock, given the inelastic demand for energy and limited international risk sharing. Current account balance decreases (increases) for energy importers (exporters), reflecting the negative (positive) terms-of-trade effects. The average importer's current account balance as a share of GDP falls by about 0.5 percentage point two quarters after the shock, accompanied by a decline in saving that reflects consumption smoothing. Exchange rate depreciations help improve the nonenergy trade balance and bring about positive valuation effects on the net international investment position. Capital inflows to the private sector, in the form of portfolio debt, aid the adjustment, while capital inflows to the public sector decline despite a higher fiscal deficit. Despite several insulating channels against higher energy prices, importers' real consumption, investment, and output fall by about 1.5, 2.5, and, 0.8 percent, respectively, after two years. In contrast, exporters' consumption remains broadly unchanged for the first two years, indicating a limit to international risk sharing (Figure 2.5).

Energy Importers under Oil Supply Shocks

Given the significant adverse effects of oil supply shocks on importers, this subsection explores policy and economic factors that influence the ease of adjustment by energy importers. Following Ramey and Zubairy (2018) and Jordà (2023), a state-dependent local projection approach is used, allowing for differential responses evaluated at different policy and country characteristics. A wide range of policy and country characteristics can be explored, thanks to the large variation in the panel data.¹⁵ Considering that negative oil supply shocks could be associated with tighter global financial conditions, this subsection also explores how these effects differ under various financial conditions.

Tighter global financial conditions weaken importers' capacities to borrow, necessitating greater adjustments

¹⁵State-dependent responses are estimated either by splitting the sample into corresponding subgroups or by interacting energy price changes with the continuous variable of interest and evaluating the impulse responses using the variable's value at its 75th and 25th percentiles. Online Annex 2.2 reports details of the regression specification as well as additional results.

to the higher energy prices, including sharper reductions in consumption and investment. The current account deteriorates by less, reflecting the weaker domestic demand (Figure 2.6).¹⁶ Financial tightening associated with US monetary shocks leads to a more gradual downward adjustment in consumption and investment than financial tightening associated with higher global risk aversion, reflecting a more gradual transmission of monetary policy shocks (Online Annex 2.7).

Cross-border investment in energy-exporting countries allows importing economies to share the economic gains. Importers with higher foreign direct investment in energy-exporting countries are found to experience more positive valuation effects on their net foreign assets. This positive wealth effect allows importers to reduce consumption and investment by less, together with a larger decline in the current account (Figure 2.6).

Lower government debt allows greater borrowing for energy importers, facilitating a smoother adjustment to the higher energy prices, including a more moderate decline in consumption and investment. Importers with lower government debt experience a smaller increase in borrowing costs and higher capital inflows to both the private and the public sectors, keeping the credit to the nonfinancial sector broadly unchanged. The lower decline in consumption and investment is accompanied by a larger decline in the current account (Online Annex Figure 2.8.1).

More flexible exchange rate regimes allow the exchange rate to play a greater shock-absorbing role.¹⁷ Importers with more flexible exchange rate regimes exhibit a sharper currency depreciation, higher exports, and shallower declines in consumption and output. The central bank raises interest rates by less, helping reduce a decline in the credit to the nonfinancial sector (Online Annex Figure 2.8.1).

Better-anchored inflation expectations enable central banks to adopt a more accommodative policy stance, providing more support to the real economy. Higher energy prices increase importers' inflation both directly and indirectly via second-round effects. When inflation expectations are better anchored, second-round effects are better contained and the central bank can adopt a more accommodative policy stance. This supports investment and consumption better and allows the exchange rate to depreciate more to absorb the shock (Figure 2.6).

Importers with stronger external positions experience larger capital inflows, shallower declines in consumption and investment, and larger deteriorations in their current account balances. Stronger external positions, measured by the IMF staff current account gap greater or equal to -1 percent of GDP, can reduce financing risks associated with running more negative current account balances, thereby allowing importers to mitigate the impact of rising energy prices (Online Annex Figure 2.8.1).

Among other examined country characteristics, a lower dependence on energy imports mitigates the negative effects for importers.¹⁸ Importers with a lower dependence on energy imports experience smaller terms-of-trade effects and less deterioration in energy trade balance. Their consumption, investment, and real output decline less (Figure 2.6).

Model Simulations: Shocks and Price Swings

This subsection uses the IMF's Flexible System of Global Models (FSGM) to examine the impact of two structural shocks—an increase in global demand and a decrease in global oil supply—on the global economy and on a net oil exporter and importer. It also explores how two characteristics—lower government debt and less flexible exchange rate regimes—can change the effect of oil supply shocks on oil importers. The model-based simulations illustrate the main transmission channels and complement the analysis in the previous subsection, which empirically looks at the impact of these shocks.

FSGM is an annual multiregion model of the global economy that combines micro-founded and reducedform formulations of economic sectors and relationships. The analysis presented in this chapter uses the G20MOD module of the FSGM, which includes every Group of Twenty (G20) economy and five additional regions to cover the remaining countries in the world.

¹⁶Following Juvenal and Petrella (2024), this analysis uses BAA spread as an indicator of global financial conditions. It measures the difference between the yield of 10-year US treasuries and Baa-rated corporate bonds.

¹⁷Using a measure of exchange rate flexibility developed by Ilzetzki, Reinhart, and Rogoff (2019), an importer is categorized as having a flexible exchange rate if its currency floats freely. The analysis reclassifies euro area countries as having a flexible exchange rate regime. Importers who are using the US dollar as a currency anchor are excluded from the analysis.

¹⁸This chapter explores a range of other characteristics for which no conclusive results are obtained. These characteristics include income per capita, institutional quality, default risks, external debt, and bond yields.



Figure 2.6. Effects of Oil Supply Shocks and Selected Country Characteristics

Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: Impulse responses show the effects of an oil supply shock that increases real energy price by 10 percent on impact with 68 and 90 percent confidence intervals. High/low BAA spread represents the impact of an oil supply shock evaluated with BAA spread at its 75th/25th percentile. High FDI in energy-exporting countries refers to importers with FDI in Saudi Arabia as a share of GDP above the median of all importers. Valuation changes due to asset prices and other statistical changes reflect the change in valuation excluding changes due to exchange rate movements (see Allen, Gautam, and Juvenal 2023). Better/less anchored inflation expectations refer to energy importers with their measure in Bems and others (2021) at the 75th/25th percentile. High/low dependence denotes importers with their median energy import share at the 75th/25th percentile of the sample median. FDI = foreign direct investment.

The following model features are particularly relevant for the chapter's analysis (see Andrle and others 2015 for a detailed discussion of the FSGM).

- *Commodity sector.* The model incorporates three types of commodities—oil, food, and metals, whose prices are determined by global supply and demand conditions. Commodity prices affect real economic activity primarily through three channels: (1) higher commodity prices lead to higher inflation which deflates real household income and wealth, (2) higher commodity prices increase cost of production and decrease hiring by firms, and (3) higher commodity prices can trigger second-round effects, leading central banks to tighten monetary policy. Commodities are priced in US dollars.
- *Monetary authorities and interest rates.* For most countries, monetary policy is represented by an interest rate reaction function (an inflation-forecast-based rule), operating under a flexible exchange rate regime. The reaction function can be also adjusted to replicate less flexible exchange rate regimes. Interest rates, including those relevant for consumption and investment, are related to the monetary policy rate but subject to various risk premiums.
- *External sector.* Domestic and foreign trading partners' demand and exchange rate determine exports and imports. Investment decisions of firms, saving decisions of households, and fiscal policy determine the current account. Exchange rates are determined by the interest rate parity condition in the short run and by external sustainability in the long run.

The model simulations consider a temporary shock to private domestic demand that is applied equally to all countries and an exogenous temporary reduction in oil supply that is applied equally to all oil-producing countries, leading to a temporary increase in oil prices. Both shocks are calibrated such that real global oil prices increase by 10 percent on impact. Figure 2.7 presents the simulation results on key variables for an oil exporter and importer, both with a flexible exchange rate regime.

The global activity shock is associated with an increase in output for both exporters and importers, while raising oil prices. Higher oil prices improve the current account of oil exporters and initially deteriorate the current account of oil importers, while output and consumption of both exporters and importers increase on the force of global activity (demand) shock. Higher aggregate demand raises inflation, prompting monetary

Figure 2.7. Impulse Responses to an Oil Supply and a Global Activity Shock in the Flexible System of Global Models



Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: The panels depict the impact of oil supply and global activity shocks on real oil prices, world real output, and on a representative oil exporter and importer. Moreover, the impact of oil supply shocks on importers with lower government debt and more fixed exchange rate regime (managed floating) are illustrated in panels 7 and 8.

authorities to raise policy rates. For oil importers, however, higher oil prices lead to a more moderate improvement in consumption, investment, and output. Their exchange rates depreciate vis-à-vis oil exporters, because their interest rates rise less. The depreciation improves the non-oil trade balance of importers, albeit falling short of offsetting the decline in the oil trade balance.

A negative shock to oil supply raises oil prices while lowering global output, thereby creating a divergence between oil importers and exporters. Faced with a higher headline inflation and a weaker terms of trade, oil importers experience a decline in household real income and consumption, lower investment by firms, and a negative output gap. The central bank eases in response to economic downturn, also reflecting a limited pass-through of oil prices to core inflation. Despite the currency depreciation and weak growth that help with net exports, the current account balance deteriorates due to a higher energy import bill. In contrast, higher oil prices bring about increased consumption, investment, output, and current account in oil-exporting countries.

An importer with lower government debt tends to experience tapered adverse effects following negative oil supply shocks. Faced with lower borrowing costs (reflecting lower risk premiums due to lower government debt), firms reduce investment and employment to a lesser extent, resulting in higher real wages and household consumption than those with higher government debt. Consequently, the stronger domestic demand, compared with importers that have higher government debt, leads to higher inflation and monetary tightening, which in turn appreciates the currency. The stronger currency and domestic demand dampen exports and strengthen imports, worsening net exports and expanding external borrowing.

Importers with less flexible exchange rate regimes (managed floating) are associated with larger adverse effects. In response to the exchange rate depreciation following oil supply shocks, the central banks raise policy rates to stabilize the exchange rate. Higher interest rates dampen consumption and output and reduce the depreciation of importer currency, with the latter reducing the medium-term improvement in the current account.

The econometric and model analyses illustrate the policies that importers can use to mitigate some adverse spillovers from energy price swings (see also Box 2.1). More anchored inflation expectations and a more flexible exchange rate regime enable central banks to implement a more accommodative monetary policy and allow the exchange rate to act more forcefully as a shock absorber that provides support to the domestic economy. Lower government debt and stronger external positions help maintain investors' confidence, thereby enhancing importers' ability to borrow and mitigate the adverse effect on consumption and investment, with less need to curtail domestic demand. Finally, policies aimed at reducing energy imports, such as improvements to energy efficiency, would help limit importers' exposure to energy price swings.

Looming Challenges

Energy price swings have traditionally been posing a greater adjustment challenge for energy importers than for exporters. While importers had to grapple with limiting the adverse consequences of negative supply shocks, exporters have benefited from the boost to prices that added to their buffers. In the coming years, however, two emerging changes could alter the landscape of the global energy and critical metal markets, potentially posing new adjustment challenges to exporters of these commodities as well as to importers. One is the reversal of the traditional negative correlation between the oil price and the US dollar, which would most likely amplify the volatility of terms of trade resulting from energy price swings, as energy commodities are priced primarily in US dollars. The other is the clean energy transition that can have lasting effects on the exporters of fossil fuels and several critical metals. This section discusses several leads on external sector developments and potential policy implications of these two emerging changes, while they harbor large uncertainty and would be intertwined with individual country characteristics, calling for further analysis.

Oil Price and the US Dollar

Following two decades of stable and negative correlation, the correlation between the oil price and the US dollar has turned positive since 2020 (Figure 2.8). The observed change can be related to three developments without excluding complementary or alternative explanations (Box 2.3).¹⁹ First, the shift of the United

¹⁹Another possible explanation could be related to the strong US economy in the recent period, which has led to higher interest rates and a stronger US dollar, while the strong US economy could have contributed to raising oil prices via positive spillovers to the global economy.

Figure 2.8. US Oil Trade Balance and Rolling Correlations between Oil Price and the US Dollar



Sources: Federal Reserve Board; IMF, Primary Commodity Price System database; Trade Data Monitor; and IMF staff calculations.

Note: The red line illustrates the rolling correlation between oil price and the US dollar with a 36-month window spanning from January 2000 to May 2023. The blue line represents the US oil trade balance.

States to a net exporter of oil since early 2020 offers one potential explanation. Second, the BAA spread also helps to account for the positive correlation since 2020, suggesting a relevant role of global risk aversion. Another contributing factor (potentially related to the second) can be found in the change in foreign investors' purchases of US assets. Since 2020, foreign investors tended to increase their holdings of US assets-predominantly US treasuries-following an oil price increase. This increase in the demand for US assets can exert upward pressure on the US dollar, all else being equal. If this change in investment behavior were due to the heightened risk aversion following the COVID-19 pandemic, its effect on the positive correlation could dissipate, while there could be other more persistent causes of the change in investment behavior. In contrast, the transition of the United States to a net energy exporter would likely have a more persistent effect.

If the shift to a positive correlation between the US dollar and the oil price were to be permanent, it could strengthen the stabilizing role of the exchange rate for an oil exporter that pegs its currency to the dollar. As the currency appreciates with the oil price increases, it helps cool the economy and stave off inflation pressure. There arises less need for fiscal tightening. The reverse channel operates when the oil price decreases. While the strength of this channel depends on country characteristics, including the degree of economic

diversification, the change in the correlation will likely add the stabilizing role to the traditional benefit of pegging in terms of providing a robust nominal anchor (Frankel 2019).

On the downside, the shift in the US dollar–oil price correlation from negative to positive numbers could call for a reassessment on the currency composition of government's external assets and liabilities, in terms of the trade-off among multiple objectives. For countries with sovereign wealth funds long on the US dollar, owing to the higher share of dollar-denominated assets, the valuation change of their external wealth moves in the same direction as the oil price, which will likely increase the cost (in US dollar terms) of fiscal stimulus when the oil price falls (compared to the situation with a negative correlation between the US dollar and the oil price).²⁰

For net oil importers with a floating exchange rate, the positive US dollar–oil price correlation would amplify the terms-of-trade shock due to oil prices. They face the dual challenge of rising oil prices (in US dollar terms) and a weaker local currency vis-à-vis the dollar. A tighter monetary policy than under a negative US dollar–oil price correlation could be needed to head off higher inflation in spite of larger real income falls. The negative consequences on output are likely to be larger in countries with larger second-round effects that would require tighter monetary policy (see Chapter 2 of the October 2022 *World Economic Outlook*).

Downward pressure on activity will be partly offset by the export stimulus coming from the depreciated currency (vis-à-vis the dollar), especially if exports are priced in the producer currency. This offset via exports will be curtailed if exports are predominantly priced in the US dollar. On the other hand, the import-reducing effect of the depreciated currency would be larger if imports are priced in the US dollar rather than in local currency or non-US-producer currency (Gopinath and Itskhoki 2022).

For oil importers with short (net) exposure to the US dollar, the positive US dollar–oil price correlation means that a depreciation of the local currency (visà-vis the dollar) will tend to have a negative valuation effect, leading to a higher cost of servicing foreign currency–denominated liabilities (Krugman 1999). These negative balance sheet effects can also threaten

²⁰For some of the Gulf Cooperation Council countries (Kuwait, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, United Arab Emirates) and other oil exporters (Iraq, Libya) during oil price drops in 1978, 2008, and 2014, fiscal policies turned procyclical due to lack of fiscal space (see Mazarei 2024).

financial stability (Bruno and Shin 2015). According to Allen, Gautam, and Juvenal (2023) and the 2023 *External Sector Report*, the share of emerging markets falling in this category, on the basis of aggregate balance sheets, has been shrinking over the past two decades. However, vulnerabilities remain in some countries, in particular with currency mismatches in portfolio debt. For net oil importers with their currency pegged to the US dollar, the positive correlation will hamper the exchange rate's ability to cushion the effects from oil price swings.

Clean Energy Transition

The clean energy transition requires a major transformation of the energy system from fossil fuels to renewable energy. Global fossil fuel production and consumption would need to decrease substantially to limit global temperature increases below 2 degrees Celsius by 2050. At the same time, the clean energy transition would substantially boost the demand for critical metals such as copper, nickel, cobalt, and lithium, which are key materials for renewable energy facilities and electric cars (see, for example, Chapter 3 of the October 2023 *World Economic Outlook*).

The transition would entail a mix of policies that constitute shocks to commodity markets. Given the large uncertainty around policies and technological changes, a stylized analysis in Box 2.4 models the energy transition as a permanent change in the relative price of fossil fuels and critical metals, which results from a mix of policies that reduce the demand for fossil fuels and increase demand for critical metals. The clean energy transition is likely to bring about initially stronger current account balances and gradually weakening economic performance for fossil fuel (for example, oil) exporters and the opposite effects for critical metal (for example, copper) exporters.

In light of major shifts in energy-related global commodity trade arising from the clean energy transition, exporters need to formulate adequate policy responses to address the economic consequences. For fossil fuel exporters, the transition will involve a reallocation of resources across sectors, as the extractive industries, as well as those that rely heavily on carbon-intensive inputs, would be the most affected (Chen and others 2020). Policymakers will need to facilitate this reallocation of resources, including via active labor market policies focused on job search assistance and retraining to help workers in the fossil fuel industry transition to new sectors. More generally, structural reforms to create a policy environment in which the private sector can respond more dynamically to opportunities would facilitate the growth of private businesses in other less-carbon-intensive and emerging green sectors (see Budina and others 2023; Mesa Puyo and others 2024 for further discussion). Critical mineral exporters, on the other hand, should mitigate the risks of the resource curse by improving their fiscal capacity to prudently manage the windfalls from higher commodity exports and reducing structural barriers to promote economic diversification (IMF 2012; Chapter 4 of the April 2012 *World Economic Outlook*).

Conclusion

This chapter documents the key characteristics of commodity price swings and takes an in-depth look into the consequences of shocks to energy prices, given their high volatility and the critical role of energy commodities in the global economy. While commodities generally experience comparable durations of price swings, energy commodities exhibit more pronounced swings, with prices nearly tripling during a typical upswing and falling by as much during a subsequent downswing. Many countries rely on imports for their critical need for energy, given its high geographic concentration of production. As a result, shocks to energy prices have appreciable effects on the global economy and the adjustment in external balances.

The effect of energy price swings varies both with the source of shocks to energy prices and with the characteristics of individual economies. When hit by a negative oil supply shock, energy prices increase, and energy importers face the unenviable challenge of cushioning the adverse effects on the economy and trade balances. Possible mitigating policy responses include greater exchange rate flexibility, lower government debt, and having a stronger external buffer, among others. Policies that promote greater financial integration, including strengthening the global financial safety net, could foster greater international risk sharing and reduce the adverse effects on energy importers. When hit by other shocks that increase energy prices, such as stronger global activity, importers fare worse than exporters but do not face as large adverse consequences, with output and consumption still rising, though less than those of exporters.

Going forward, close attention is warranted for the evolving correlation between the US dollar and the

oil price and for the implications of the clean energy transition for affected commodity exporters. Were the correlation between the US dollar and the oil price to permanently change to a positive one (in a break from the negative correlation over the last two decades), dollar-pegging oil exporters could see a marginal increase in the cost of conducting countercyclical fiscal policies during a decline in oil prices. Oil importers would experience larger terms-of-trade shocks due to oil prices and be subject to larger financial stability risks in countries with net short exposure to the US dollar. Were the clean energy transition to proceed at the desired speed, fossil fuel exporters would need to facilitate the reallocation of resources toward lowcarbon sectors, while critical mineral exporters should enhance their fiscal capacity to manage windfalls from higher commodity exports, complemented by structural policies to promote economic diversification.

Box 2.1. Impact of the Recent Energy Price Shock on the EU Manufacturing Sector

The European Union, as a significant net energy importer, faced a monumental challenge when Russia's invasion of Ukraine triggered an unprecedented increase in energy prices amid supply disruptions. At their peak in August 2022, the wholesale prices of natural gas, coal, and electricity skyrocketed by 1,100 percent, 600 percent, and 1,600 percent, respectively, compared to their 2019-21 average (Figure 2.1.1). This box delves into the repercussions of this energy price upheaval on the energy costs-measured by the share of energy expenditures in gross value added-of the manufacturing sector-one of the sectors most profoundly affected by such shocks-across a multitude of European economies. This box makes a compelling case study to explore the ramifications of supply-driven energy price swings on a major net energy importer.

The impact goes through several steps and depends on various factors, including energy mix and intensity, which vary across countries and sectors, thereby having differential effects on manufacturing output (André and others 2023). The first step is the pass-through from wholesale to retail energy prices. In the case of natural gas, the correlation between contemporary wholesale and (pretax) retail prices is 0.81 in our sample of European countries. The second step is how the differences



Sources: Argus Media; Ember; Haver Analytics; and IMF staff calculations.

Note: Natural gas refers to the Dutch TTF natural gas forward index; electricity refers to the average wholesale price of electricity in Central Western Europe; oil refers to Brent Crude Oil: coal refers to coal ARA 6000 kcal NAR cif London close (midpoint) contract.

This box was prepared by Geoffroy Dolphin.

Figure 2.1.2. Energy Cost in European Manufacturing (US dollars per unit of gross value added)





Sources: International Energy Agency (2023a, 2023b, 2023c); and IMF staff calculations. Note: The calculation of the energy cost accounts for the

composition of the energy mix and the energy intensity of a sector. Energy prices used in the calculation are end-use (after-tax) prices for industry. Data for the "chemicals" and "paper" sectors in Japan are unavailable.

in taxes and levies impact the after-tax retail energy prices (Sato and others 2019). For instance, for electricity in 2021, taxes and charges represented 4 percent of retail prices in the United Kingdom and 48 percent in Germany. The final step is to combine information on the retail energy price with that on energy consumption mix and energy intensity to calculate the energy cost of manufacturing sectors (Figure 2.1.2, panel 1).

Box 2.1 (continued)

Energy cost in European countries increased by 3 percentage points on average in 2022 from 7 percent of the gross value added in 2021. Natural gas and electricity prices were the main drivers, mainly reflecting their high share in the manufacturing energy mix. For instance, they together account for 70 and 80 percent of energy consumed by manufacturing sectors in France and Germany, respectively.

There is a large heterogeneity across manufacturing subsectors and countries (Figure 2.1.2, panel 2). Subsectors such as basic metals production, characterized by high energy intensity, incur significantly higher energy costs, amounting to 60 to 70 percent of the gross value added. Likewise, the increase in energy costs also varies across countries. For example, the German manufacturing sector experienced the largest increase (pretax), while the smallest was observed in France. Government interventions played a role in mitigating the impact of the energy price shock. Despite the much larger energy price increase in Europe, the average increase in manufacturing sector energy costs is broadly comparable with that of other non-EU countries. Reductions in taxes alleviated the burden on manufacturing firms, attenuating the overall impact.

Historically, taxes account for a sizable share of the increase in the energy cost incurred by European manufacturing firms. In 2021, the cost incurred as a result of taxes and fees ranged between 4 percent (United Kingdom) and 40 percent (Germany) of the total energy cost. These values reduced to 3 to 10 percent in 2022–23 as governments reduced taxes and introduced other mechanisms to help manufacturing sectors cope with the increased energy prices. The fiscal measures provided important short-term relief, but—if sustained—would reduce firms' incentives to improve their energy efficiency.

Box 2.2. Co-Movements between Commodity Prices

This box provides new empirical evidence on the co-movement between commodity prices. To investigate commodity price co-movements, the box employs a principal components analysis (PCA) of 39 monthly real commodity prices over the period from 1980 to 2023.1 The first two components explain a significant share of the variance of commodity prices: 40 percent for the first component alone and 60 percent for the first two components. This result holds across commodity subgroups (food versus other commodities) and over subperiods. In particular, unlike Delle Chiaie, Ferrara, and Giannone (2022), who focus on pre- versus post-2000, we do not find a trend increase in co-movement over time, noting the co-movement between commodity prices is sensitive to the selection of the sample period (Figure 2.2.1).

Further, we characterize the first component of the principal components analysis through simple correlations. As shown in Figure 2.2.2, we find that the first component is highly correlated with energy prices (0.79 on average), with metals prices (0.74 on average), and with food prices (0.50). In contrast, other components are much less correlated with commodity prices. Moreover, the first factor displays the highest correlation with the global activity

Figure 2.2.1. Cumulative Explanatory Power of



Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: The vertical axis displays percentage of the model explained by the principal component analysis. The horizontal axis displays the number of components used in the model.

This box was prepared by Cyril Rebillard.

¹Excluding natural gas, not available before 1992; coal, not available before 1990; and fish meals, not available after 2018.



shocks followed by oil consumption demand, oil inventory demand, and oil supply shock. There are several reasons why commodity prices co-move:

- Energy is a crucial input for production and transportation of all commodities. Agriculture and mining are now mostly mechanized. At the global level, oil, natural gas, and coal represent around 80 percent of total energy consumption. In addition, natural gas is a key input for the production of fertilizer and most chemical products. Therefore, changes in the price of energy commodities (oil, natural gas, coal) prices tend to pass through to other commodity prices.
- Substitution effects between similar commodities (such as oil and natural gas or wheat and corn) tend to equalize prices between these commodities. Competition between uses can have the same effect: land can be used to grow crops for either food or bio-fuel demand, creating a transmission channel between oil and crop prices (see, for example, Baumeister and Kilian 2014).
- Commodity prices share common drivers, namely global activities. For instance, China's demand in particular has played a growing role, given its rapid development and urbanization, which has resulted in higher demand for many commodities such as oil, copper, and iron ore (see, for example, Gauvin and Rebillard 2018).
- Finally, commodities have been increasingly used as financialized assets (Tang and Xiong 2012). Index investment into commodities has triggered an increase in correlation across commodity prices (for those commodities included in the index).

Box 2.3. The Evolving Correlation between the US Dollar and the Oil Price

This box evaluates the evolving correlation between the US dollar and the oil price and explores potential factors that contributed to the observed positive correlation since early 2020 and, occasionally, before 2000. Three factors are offered as potential explanations that warrant further investigation, without precluding alternative or complementary explanations.

The (monthly) correlation between the US dollar and the oil price has varied over the last five decades. From the 1970s to the 1990s, the correlation alternated between positive and negative signs. Since the 2000s, the correlation remained negative for two decades, wherein a rise (fall) in oil prices coincided with a depreciation (appreciation) of the US dollar. Recently, however, this long-standing negative correlation has shifted, turning positive since the early 2020s (Figure 2.3.1).

The changing correlations between the US dollar and the oil price can be examined through the prism of the distinct response of the US dollar to oil price shocks, mimicking a regime change. Using monthly data spanning from January 1975 to May 2023, this box estimates the US dollar response to the four structural shocks identified from Baumeister and Hamilton (2019)—oil supply shocks, oil consumption demand shocks, oil inventory demand shocks, and global economic activity shocks—on a rolling sample with a 36-month window.¹

During periods of positive correlation between the US dollar and the oil price, the US dollar appreciates in response to negative oil supply shocks that lead to an oil price increase, while the US dollar shows no significant response to the other three shocks. In contrast, during periods of negative correlation, the US dollar depreciates in response to any of the four structural shocks that increases the oil price. Figure 2.3.2 illustrates this contrast for the US dollar response to oil supply and global activity shocks over two subperiods with negative (2000–19) Figure 2.3.1. US Oil Trade Balance and Rolling Correlations between Oil Price and the US Dollar



Sources: Federal Reserve Board; IMF, Primary Commodity Price System database; IMF, World Economic Outlook database; Trade Data Monitor; and IMF staff calculations.

and positive (2020:M1 to 2023:M5, post-2020) US dollar–oil correlations.²

These patterns of correlations are associated with three factors as potential explanations, with no claim of being conclusive or exclusive: for the post-2020 correlation, the shift of the United States from a net oil importer to a net exporter; and for the longer sample period, bouts of high global risk aversion and changes in foreign investors' purchase of US assets.

First, the shift of the correlation observed in early 2020 coincided with the United States transitioning from a net oil importer to a net oil exporter, which is consistent with the historically estimated response of oil exporter and importer currencies to negative supply shocks. This interpretation is also supported by the rolling window regressions that control for the US net oil import share, which find the dollar responding less to negative oil supply shocks, with the strongest effect estimated in the post-2020 samples (Online Annex Figure 2.9.1).

This box was prepared by Ting Lan.

¹A rolling window time series instrumental variables local projections is estimated using a rolling sample with a 36-month window (see Online Annex 2.2 for technical details). The results are robust to alternative window sizes.

Note: The red line illustrates the rolling correlation between oil price and the US dollar with a 36-month window spanning from January 1973 to May 2023. The blue line represents the US oil trade balance. Monthly US oil trade balance data are available from 1990. Prior to 1990, annual US oil trade balance data are used.

²The US dollar's response to oil consumption and inventory demand shocks mirrors its response to global economic activity shocks.

Box 2.3 (continued)

Figure 2.3.2. Impact of Oil Price Shocks on the US Dollar over Different Sample Periods (Percent)



Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: Impulse responses show the effects of an oil supply shock or a global activity shock that increases oil price by 10 percent on impact with 68 and 90 percent confidence intervals in a time series local projections exercise, using different sample periods.

Second, the increase in global risk aversion can also be a potential contributing factor to the positive correlation. Comparison of rolling regressions indicates that during periods with a positive US dollar–oil correlation (such as 1976, 1987, 1997, and post-2020), the US dollar appreciates less in response to a negative oil supply shock, after controlling for the global risk aversion—measured by the residual obtained from regressing BAA spreads on US monetary policy shocks³ (Online Annex Figure 2.9.2).

Figure 2.3.3. Responses of Foreign Investors' Net Purchase of US Assets Following Negative Oil Supply Shocks (Percent of US GDP)



Sources: Federal Reserve; and IMF staff calculations. Note: The panels illustrate the foreign investors' net purchase of the US assets for the first three months following a negative oil supply shock that increases real oil price by 1 percent on impact, during positive and negative correlation periods, respectively.

Another potential explanation can be found in the change in foreign investors' purchase of US assets, which turned from net sales to net purchases during the periods of positive correlation between the US dollar and the oil price (Figure 2.3.3). During the positive correlation periods, foreign net purchase of US assets was estimated to be positive in response to a negative oil supply shock while having had little responses to the other three shocks. This increased demand for US assets can exert upward pressure on the US dollar, all else

³The result is robust to alternative measures of global risk aversion, including short-term volatility indexes and the high-yield corporate bond spread.

Box 2.3 (continued)

being equal.⁴ During negative correlation periods, including most of the 2000s, foreign net purchase of US assets was negative in response to all four types of shocks that increase the oil price.

These three factors are neither mutually exclusive nor exhaustive. The change in foreign investor

⁴Several papers have shown that changes in the relative demand for US assets can affect asset prices, including exchange rate and government bond yields under segmented market assumptions (for example, Greenwood and Vayanos 2014 and Koijen and Yogo 2020). It should also be noted that the United States shifting to a net energy exporter could be one reason for this change in investment behavior. behavior could be associated with the heightened global risk aversion, as foreign investors seek the relative safety of US assets. Nor do they preclude other contributing factors. For example, investor behavior changes can be associated with other macroeconomic developments, such as a larger interest rate differential due to relatively tight US monetary policy. More generally, the wellknown challenge of accounting for exchange rate movements applies to this question about the US dollar–oil price correlation, calling for further investigation of other channels and statistical evidence.

Box 2.4. Macroeconomic Impact of Energy Transition: The Case of Commodity Exporters

This box draws on IMF's Flexible System of Global Models (FSGM) to explore the potential macroeconomic and external sector effects of a global transition to clean energy technologies on commodity exporters, differentiating between exporters of fossil fuels (an input of the old emission intensive technology) and exporters of critical metals (an input of the new and clean technology).

The energy transition is considered heuristically as policies (for example, carbon taxation or subsidies for electric cars) that reduce the demand for fossil fuels relative to the demand for critical metals. The resulting energy transition is simulated in a stylized manner as a permanent 20 percent decline in the real price of oil and a permanent 20 percent increase in the real price of copper—a critical metal for green transition. The findings of the box are broadly consistent with other, more structural analyses (Carton and others 2023; Chapter 3 of the October 2022 World Economic Outlook), which used alternative global structural models to directly analyze the effects of a set of mitigation policies, including carbon taxation and green subsidies to the renewable sector. However, this box goes beyond these studies to highlight the potential implications for a major copper exporter.

Macroeconomic impact on exporters of fossil fuels. The impact on oil exporters is analyzed using G20MOD, a version of FSGM that includes a bloc of representa-

This box was prepared by Jiaqian Chen, Rafael Portillo, and Pedro Rodriguez.

tive major oil exporters. Figure 2.4.1 shows results in percent deviations from the current World Economic Outlook baseline. Permanently lower oil prices reduce the return on capital, leading firms to cut investment sharply and for an extended period of time until a lower desired level of capital is reached. These firms also cut their demand for labor, reducing household income and consumption. Central banks cut the interest rate to support the economy, while the real exchange rate depreciates to facilitate the adjustment. As such, real exports of noncommodities improve and real imports fall. The large drop in investment implies an improvement in the current account balance, while output declines incrementally.

Macroeconomic impact on exporters of metals. The impact on exporters of metals is analyzed using a version of FSGM for Latin America. Simulations are shown for Chile, which is the largest world exporter of copper, one of the metals that stands to gain the most from the clean energy transition. As in the previous simulation, results are shown in percent deviation from the current World Economic Outlook baseline (Figure 2.4.2). In response to permanently higher copper prices, the exporter's current account turns sharply negative, driven by a large investment boom in the copper-producing industry. In addition to higher investment, firms hire more workers, resulting in higher consumption and rising real output in combination with the investment boom. Central bank hikes interest rates and real exchange appreciates, contributing to weaker real exports and trade balance.

Box 2.4 (continued)

Figure 2.4.1. Impulse Response to a Permanent Decline in Global Real Oil Prices in the Flexible System of Global Models



Figure 2.4.2. Impulse Response to a Permanent Increase in Global Real Copper Prices in the Flexible System of Global Models



Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: The panels depict the impact of a permanent decline in real oil prices on a group of representative oil exporters.

Source: IMF staff calculations.

Note: The panels depict the impact of a permanent increase in real copper prices in Chile.
References

- Aghion, Philippe, George-Marios Angeletos, Abhijit Banerjee, and Kalina Manova. 2010. "Volatility and Growth: Credit Constraints and the Composition of Investment." *Journal of Monetary Economics* 57 (3): 246–65.
- Aguiar, Mark, and Gita Gopinath. 2007. "Emerging Market Business Cycles: The Cycle Is the Trend." *Journal of Political Economy* 115 (1): 69–102.
- Aizenman, Joshua, Sebastian Edwards, and Daniel Riera-Crichton. 2012. "Adjustment Patterns to Commodity Terms-of-Trade Shocks: The Role of Exchange Rate and International Reserves Policies." *Journal of International Money* and Finance 31 (8): 1990–2016.
- Allegret, Jean-Pierre, Valérie Mignon, and Audrey Sallenave. 2015. "Oil Price Shocks and Global Imbalances: Lessons from a Model with Trade and Financial Interdependencies." *Economic Modelling* 49 (C): 232–47.
- Allen, Cian, Deepali Gautam, and Luciana Juvenal, 2023. "Currencies of External Balance Sheets." IMF Working Paper 2023/237, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- André, Christophe, Hélia Costa, Lilas Demmou, and Guido Franco. 2023. "Rising Energy Prices and Productivity: Short-Run Pain, Long-Term Gain?" OECD Economics Department Working Paper 1755, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris.
- Andrle, Michal, Patrick Blagrave, Pedro Espaillat, Keiko Honjo, Benjamin L. Hunt, Mika Kortelainen, René Lalonde, and others. 2015. "The Flexible System of Global Models– FSGM." IMF Working Paper 15/64, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Arezki, Rabah, Valerie A. Ramey, and Liugang Sheng. 2017. "News Shocks in Open Economies: Evidence from Giant Oil Discoveries." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 132 (1): 103–55.
- Baumeister, Christiane, and James D. Hamilton. 2019. "Structural Interpretation of Vector Autoregressions with Incomplete Identification: Revisiting the Role of Oil Supply and Demand Shocks." *American Economic Review* 109 (5): 1873–910.
- Baumeister, Christiane, and James D. Hamilton. 2023. "A Full-Information Approach to Granular Instrumental Variables." Working Paper, University of California, San Diego.
- Baumeister, Christiane, and Lutz Kilian. 2014. "Do Oil Price Increases Cause Higher Food Prices?" *Economic Policy* 29 (80): 691–747.
- Bems, Rudolfs, Francesca Caselli, Francesco Grigoli, and Bertrand Gruss. 2021. "Expectations' Anchoring and Inflation Persistence." *Journal of International Economics* 132: 103516.
- Bodenstein, Martin, Christopher J. Erceg, and Luca Guerrieri. 2011. "Oil Shocks and External Adjustment." *Journal of International Economics* 83 (2): 168–84.
- Bruno, Valentina, and Hyun Song Shin, 2015. "Cross-Border Banking and Global Liquidity." *The Review of Economic Studies* 82 (2): 535–64.
- Bry, Gerhard, and Charlotte Boschan. 1971. "Cyclical Analysis of Time Series: Selected Procedures and

Computer Programs." National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA.

- Budina, Nina, Christian H. Ebeke, Florence Jaumotte, Andrea Medici, Augustus J. Panton, Marina Mendes Tavares, and Bella Yao. 2023. "Structural Reforms to Accelerate Growth, Ease Policy Trade-Offs, and Support the Green Transition in Emerging Market and Developing Economies." IMF Staff Discussion Note 2023/007, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Burns, Arthur F., and Wesley C. Mitchell. 1946. "Measuring Business Cycles." National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA.
- Carton, Benjamin, Christopher Evans, Dirk V. Muir, and Simon Voigts. 2023. "Getting to Know GMMET: The Global Macroeconomic Model for the Energy Transition." IMF Working Papers 2023/269, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Cashin, Paul, Luis F. Céspedes, and Ratna Sahay. 2004. "Commodity Currencies and the Real Exchange Rate." *Journal of Development Economics* 75 (1): 239–68.
- Cashin, Paul, and C. John McDermott. 2002. "The Long-Run Behavior of Commodity Prices: Small Trends and Big Variability." *IMF Staff Papers* 49 (2): 175–99.
- Chen, Jiaqian, Maksym Chepeliev, Daniel Garcia-Macia, Dora M. Iakova, James Roaf, Anna Shabunina, Dominique van der Mensbrugghe, and Philippe Wingender. 2020. "EU Climate Mitigation Policy." IMF Departmental Paper 2020/013, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Chen, Yu-chin, and Kenneth Rogoff. 2003. "Commodity Currencies." *Journal of International Economics, Special Issue, Empirical Exchange Rate Models* 60 (1): 133–60.
- Collier, Paul, and Benedikt Goderis. 2012. "Commodity Prices and Growth: An Empirical Investigation." *European Economic Review* 56 (6): 1241–60.
- De Winne, Jasmein, and Gert Peersman. 2021. "The Adverse Consequences of Global Harvest and Weather Disruptions on Economic Activity." *Nature Climate Change* 11 (8): 665–72.
- Dehn, Jan. 2000. "Commodity Price Uncertainty and Shocks: Implications for Economic Growth." CSAE Working Paper 2000-10, Centre for the Study of African Economies, University of Oxford, Oxford UK.
- Delle Chiaie, Simona, Laurent Ferrara, and Domenico Giannone. 2022. "Common Factors of Commodity Prices." *Journal of Applied Econometrics* 37 (3): 461–76.
- Di Pace, Federico, Luciana Juvenal, and Ivan Petrella. Forthcoming. "Terms-of-Trade Shocks Are Not All Alike." *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics.*
- Fernández, Andrés, Stephanie Schmitt-Grohé, and Martín Uribe. 2017. "World Shocks, World Prices, and Business Cycles: An Empirical Investigation." *Journal of International Economics* 108: S2–14.
- Frankel, Jeffrey. 2019. "The Currency-plus-Commodity Basket: A Proposal for Exchange Rates in Oil-Exporting Countries to Accommodate Trade Shocks Automatically." In *Institutions and Macroeconomic Policies in Resource-Rich Arab Economies*, edited

by Hoda Selim, Jeffrey B. Nugent, and Kamiar Mohaddes, 149–82. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Gauvin, Ludovic, and Cyril C. Rebillard. 2018. "Towards Recoupling? Assessing the Global Impact of a Chinese Hard Landing through Trade and Commodity Price Channels." *World Economy* 41 (12): 3379–415.

Gopinath, Gita, and Oleg Itskhoki. 2022. "Dominant Currency Paradigm: A Review." In *Handbook of International Economics*, vol. 6, edited by Gita Gopinath, Elhanan Helpman, and Kenneth Rogoff, 45–90. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: North-Holland.

Greenwood, Robin, and Dimitri Vayanos. 2014. "Bond Supply and Excess Bond Returns." *Review of Financial Studies* 27 (3): 663–713.

Harding, Don, and Adrian Pagan. 2002. "Dissecting the Cycle: A Methodological Investigation." *Journal of Monetary Economics* 49 (2): 365–81.

Ilzetzki, Ethan, Carmen M. Reinhart, and Kenneth S. Rogoff. 2019. "Exchange Arrangements Entering the 21st Century: Which Anchor Will Hold?" *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 134 (2): 599–646.

International Energy Agency (IEA). 2023a. "Energy and Emissions per Value Added Database." Paris, France.

International Energy Agency (IEA). 2023b. "World Energy Balances." Paris, France.

International Energy Agency (IEA). 2023c. "Energy Prices and Taxes for OECD Countries." Paris, France.

International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2012. "Fiscal Regimes for Extractive Industries-Design and Implementation." IMF Policy Paper, Washington, DC.

Jordà, Òscar. 2005. "Estimation and Inference of Impulse Responses by Local Projections." *American Economic Review* 95 (1): 161–82.

Jordà, Òscar. 2023. "Local Projections for Applied Economics." Working Paper 2023-16, Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco.

Jordà, Òscar, Moritz Schularick, and Alan M. Taylor. 2015. "Betting the House." *Journal of International Economics* 96 (S1): S2–S18.

Juvenal, Luciana, and Ivan Petrella. 2024. "Unveiling the Dance of Commodity Prices and the Global Financial Cycle." *Journal of International Economics* 150: 103913.

Känzig, Diego R. 2021. "The Macroeconomic Effects of Oil Supply News: Evidence from OPEC Announcements." *American Economic Review* 111 (4): 1092–125.

Kilian, Lutz. 2009. "Not All Oil Price Shocks Are Alike: Disentangling Demand and Supply Shocks in the Crude Oil Market." *American Economic Review* 99 (3): 1053–69.

Kilian, Lutz, and Daniel P. Murphy. 2014. "The Role of Inventories and Speculative Trading in the Global Market for Crude Oil." *Journal of Applied Econometrics* 29 (3): 454–78.

Kilian, Lutz, Alessandro Rebucci, and Nikola Spatafora. 2009."Oil Shocks and External Balances." *Journal of International Economics* 77 (2): 181–94.

Koijen, S. J. Ralph, and Motohiro Yogo. 2020. "Exchange Rates and Asset Prices in a Global Demand System." NBER Working Papers 27342, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA. Kose, Ayhan. 2002. "Explaining Business Cycles in Small Open Economies: 'How Much Do World Prices Matter?" *Journal of International Economics* 56 (2): 299–327.

Krugman, R. Paul. 1999. "Balance Sheets, the Transfer Problem, and Financial Crises." *International Tax and Public Finance* 6: 459–72.

Lebrand, Mathilde, Garima Vasishtha, and Hakan Yilmazkuday. 2024. "Energy Price Shocks and Current Account Balances: Evidence from Emerging Market and Developing Economies." *Energy Economics* 129: 107209.

Lenza, Michele, and Giorgio E. Primiceri. 2022. "How to Estimate a Vector Autoregression after March 2020." *Journal of Applied Econometrics* 37 (4): 688–99.

Li, Dake, Mikkel Plagborg-Møller, and Christian K. Wolf. 2024. "Local Projections vs. VARs: Lessons from Thousands of DGPs." *Journal of Econometrics* 105722.

Mazarei, Adnan. 2024. "Why Do Oil Producers in the Middle East and North Africa Still Fix Their Currencies?" In *Floating Exchange Rates at Fifty*, edited by Douglas A. Irwin and Maurice Obstfeld, 237–50. Washington, DC: Peterson Institute for International Economics.

Mendoza, Enrique G. 1995. "The Terms of Trade, the Real Exchange Rate, and Economic Fluctuations." *International Economic Review* 36 (1): 101–37.

Obstfeld, Maurice, and Kenneth Rogoff. 1995. "The Intertemporal Approach to the Current Account." In *Handbook of International Economics*, vol. 3, edited by Gene M. Grossman and Kenneth Rogoff. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: North-Holland.

Ramey, Valerie A., and Sarah Zubairy. 2018. "Government Spending Multipliers in Good Times and in Bad: Evidence from US Historical Data." *Journal of Political Economy* 126 (2): 850–901.

Ricci, Luca Antonio, Gian Maria Milesi-Ferretti, and Jaewoo Lee. 2013. "Real Exchange Rates and Fundamentals: A Cross-Country Perspective." *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking* 45 (5): 845–65.

Sato, Misato, Gregor Singer, Damien Dussaux, and Stefania Lovo. 2019. "International and Sectoral Variation in Industrial Energy Prices 1995–2015." *Energy Economics* 78: 235–58.

Schmitt-Grohé, Stephanie, and Martín Uribe. 2018. "How Important Are Terms-of-Trade Shocks?" *International Economic Review* 59 (1): 85–111.

Stock, James H., and Mark W. Watson, 2018. "Identification and Estimation of Dynamic Causal Effects in Macroeconomics Using External Instruments." *Economic Journal* 128 (610): 917–48.

Tang, Ke, and Wei Xiong. 2012. "Index Investment and the Financialization of Commodities." *Financial Analysts Journal* 68 (6): 54–74.

Mesa Puyo, Diego, Augustus J. Panton, Tarun Sridhar, Martin Stuermer, Christoph Ungerer, and Alice Tianbo Zhang. 2024.
"Key Challenges Faced by Fossil Fuel Exporters during the Energy Transition." IMF Staff Climate Note 2024/001, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.

Zhou, Xiaoqing. 2020. "Refining the Workhorse Oil Market Model." *Journal of Applied Econometrics* 35 (1): 130–40.

Methodology and Process

The individual economy assessments use a wide range of methods to form an integrated and multilaterally consistent view of economies' external sector positions. These methods are grounded in the latest vintage of the External Balance Assessment (EBA), developed by the IMF's Research Department to estimate desired current account balances and real exchange rates.¹ Model estimates and associated discussions on policy distortions (see Box 3.1 for an example) are accompanied by a holistic view of other external indicators, including capital and financial account flows and measures, foreign exchange intervention and reserves adequacy, and foreign asset or liability positions.² The policy discussion in the individual economy assessments highlights policies and reforms that contribute to supporting convergence toward (or maintenance of) external balance, in the context of a summary of the overall policy advice.

The EBA models provide numerical inputs for the identification of external imbalances but, in some cases, may not sufficiently capture all relevant economic characteristics and potential policy distortions. In such cases, the individual economy assessments may need to be complemented by analytically grounded judgment and economy-specific insights in the form of adjustors. IMF staff members estimate an economy's current account gap by combining the EBA model's current account gap estimate with adjustors. The IMF staff estimates the real effective exchange rate (REER) gap consistent with the staff current account gap by applying a country-specific elasticity, although in some cases additional information is used, such as the EBA REER regression models and unit-labor-cost-based measures to arrive at the staff REER gap estimate. To integrate country-specific judgment in an objective, rigorous, and evenhanded manner, a process was developed for multilaterally consistent external assessments for the 30 largest economies, representing about 90 percent of global GDP. These assessments are also discussed with the respective authorities as part of bilateral surveillance.

External assessments are presented in ranges, in recognition of inherent uncertainties, and in different categories generally reflecting deviations of the overall external position from fundamentals and desired policies. As reported in Annex Table 1.1.2 (Chapter 1), the ranges of uncertainty for IMF staff-assessed current account gaps are based on country-specific estimated measures. For the REER, the ranges of uncertainty vary by country, reflecting country-specific factors, including different exchange rate semi-elasticities applied to the staff-assessed current account gaps. Overall external positions are labeled as either "broadly in line," "moderately weaker (stronger)," "weaker (stronger)," or "substantially weaker (stronger)." (See Table 3.A) The criteria for applying the labels to overall external positions are multidimensional.

Regarding the wording to describe the current account and REER gaps, (1) when comparing the cyclically adjusted current account with the current account norm, the wording "higher" or "lower" is used, corresponding to positive or negative current account gaps, respectively; (2) a quantitative estimate of the IMF staff's view of the REER gap is generally reported as () percent "over" or "under" valued. External positions that are labeled as being "broadly in line" are consistent with current account gaps in the range of ± 1 percent of GDP as well as REER gaps in a range that reflects the country-specific exchange rate semi-elasticity (for example, ± 5 percent based on an elasticity of -0.2).

Selection of Economies

The 30 systemic economies analyzed in detail in this report and included in the individual economy assessments are listed in Table 3.B. They were generally chosen on the basis of a set of criteria, including each economy's global rank in terms of purchasing power GDP, as reported in the IMF's *World Economic Outlook*, and in terms of the level of nominal gross trade and degree of financial integration.

¹See Allen and others (2023) for a complete description of the EBA methodology and for a description of the most recent refinements.

²The individual economy assessments for 2023 are based on external sector data as of May 20, 2024 and IMF staff projections in the April 2024 *World Economic Outlook.*

CA Gap	REER Gap (Using Elasticity of -0.2)	Description in Overall Assessment
>4%	<-20%	substantially stronger
2%, 4%	-20%, -10%	stronger
1%, 2%	-10%, -5%	moderately stronger
-1%, 1%	-5%, 5%	The external position is broadly in line with fundamentals and desirable policies.
-2%, -1%	5%, 10%	moderately weaker
-4%, -2%	10%, 20%	weaker
<-4%	> 20%	substantially weaker

Table 3.B. Economies Covered in the External Sector Report

Argentina	Euro area	Italy	Poland	Sweden
Australia	France	Japan	Russia	Switzerland
Belgium	Germany	Korea	Saudi Arabia	Thailand
Brazil	Hong Kong SAR	Malaysia	Singapore	Türkiye
Canada	India	Mexico	South Africa	United Kingdom
China	Indonesia	The Netherlands	Spain	United States

Box 3.1. Assessing Imbalances: The Role of Policies—An Example

A two-country example: To clarify how to analyze policy distortions in a multilateral setting and how to distinguish between domestic policy distortions, which may require a country to take action to reduce its external imbalance, and foreign policy distortions, which require no action by the home country (but for which action by the other would help reduce the external imbalance), consider a stylized example of a two-country world.

- Country A has a large *current account deficit* and a large fiscal deficit, as well as high public and external debt.
- Country B has a *current account surplus* (matching the deficit in Country A) and a large creditor position but has no policy distortions.

Overall external assessment: The analysis would show that Country A has an external imbalance reflecting its large fiscal deficit. Country B would have an equal and opposite surplus imbalance. Country A's exchange rate would look overvalued and Country B's undervalued.

Policy gaps: The analysis of policy gaps would show that Country A has a domestic policy distortion that needs adjustment. The analysis would also show that there are no domestic policy gaps in Country B instead, adjustment by Country A would automatically eliminate the imbalance in Country B.

Individual economy write-ups: While the estimates of the needed *current account adjustment* and associated *real exchange rate change* would be equal and opposite in both cases (given there are only two economies in the world), the individual economy assessments would identify the different issues and risks facing the two economies.

- In the case of Country A, the *capital flows and foreign asset* and *liability position* sections would note the vulnerabilities arising from international liabilities, and the *potential policy response* section would focus on the need to rein in the *fiscal deficit* and limit *financial excesses*.
- For Country B, however, as there were no domestic policy distortions, the write-up would find no fault with policies and would note that adjustment among other economies would help reduce the imbalance.

Implications: It remains critical to distinguish between domestic and foreign fiscal policy gaps. The elimination of the fiscal policy gap in a systemic deficit economy would help reduce excessive surpluses in other systemic economies. More generally, policy actions that contribute to addressing external imbalances relate to the determinants of current account balances, namely the private and public saving-investment balances. Structural or policy distortions can contribute to excessive or inadequate saving and investment, and the policy advice in the individual economy assessments highlights reforms and policy changes that can contribute to addressing these gaps. Policy advice also seeks to address vulnerabilities associated with external stock positions, including reserves, as well as foreign exchange intervention policies.

Abbreviations and Acronyms

Adj.	adjusted
ARA	assessing reserve adequacy
CA	current account
CFM	capital flow management
COVID-19	Coronavirus disease 2019
CPI	consumer price index
Cycl.	cyclically
EBA	External Balance Assessment
EU	European Union
FDI	foreign direct investment
FX	foreign exchange
GDP	gross domestic product
Liab.	liabilities
NEER	nominal effective exchange rate
NIIP	net international investment position
REER	real effective exchange rate
Res.	residual
SDR	special drawing right
TARGET2	Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross Settlement Express Transfer System
ULC	unit labor cost

Table 3.1. Argentina: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment based holistically of	it: The external position in n elevated external debt	in 2023 was weaker tha vulnerabilities, depleted	n the level implied by m I international reserves a	edium-term fundame and no access to inte	entals and desirable policie rnational capital markets.	es, an assessment
Policy Responses: Continued implementation of the ambitious stabilization plan, centered on a strong fiscal anchor, relative price corrections and structural reforms, is necessary to strengthen the trade balance, support FDI and capital repatriation, rebuild international reserves, regain market access, and safeguard external sustainability. As stability is reestablished, a gradual conditions-based easing of CFM measures will be needed, while remaining multiple currencies practices (MCP) and exchange restrictions should be phased out as early as possible.						
Foreign Asset and Liability Position and Trajectory	 Background. Argentina's NIIP doubled in USD terms during 2016-19 reflecting a large increase in private sector foreign assets, which was partly offset (and likely triggered) by an increase in the public sector's external liability (over US\$60 billion). Since 2019, the external position has remained positive and relatively stable (at around US\$110 billion), although gross assets and liabilities moved substantially. In the case of the public sector, significant declines in reserve assets (US\$22 billion) were balanced by a decline in privately held debt.¹ Meanwhile, the generally unchanged private sector external position reflects increases in private deposits abroad (about US\$60 billion)², offset by increases in private liabilities in the form of trade credit. Assessment. Argentina has a large positive NIIP, mostly reflecting households' holdings of external assets, while the government's foreign position remains in deep negative territory (US\$130 billion) with rising trade credit adding to vulnerabilities.³ 					
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 17.0	Gross Assets:	68.1 Res. Ass	sets: 3.6	Gross Liab.: 51.2	Ext. Debt.: 44.5
Current Account	 Background. The CA reached a deficit of 3.4 percent of GDP in 2023, compared to a deficit of 0.7 percent in 2022, on account of a sharp reduction in exports (due to the drought) and an insufficient compression in imports. The CA balance is projected to reach a surplus of 0.6 percent in 2024, driven by a recovery in grain exports and a significant demand compression. In the medium term, the CA is expected to reach a surplus of about 1.5 percent of GDP supported by a competitive exchange rate, and stronger energy balance. Assessment. The cyclically adjusted CA balance reached a deficit of 3.6 percent of GDP in 2023, before accounting for the transitory impact from the drought (about 2.4 percent of GDP).⁴ Considering Argentina's weak reserve coverage and heightened external liabilities, external sustainability considerations suggest a CA norm of 1.5 percent of GDP, which would be consistent with bringing reserves near 100 percent of 					
2023 (% GDP)	CA: -3.4	Cycl. Adj. CA: –3.6	EBA Norm: 0.4	EBA Gap: –3.9	Staff Adj. ⁵ : 1.3	Staff Gap: -2.6
Real Exchange Rate	 Background. The REER, after depreciating by more than 25 percent between end-2016 and end-2019, appreciated by over 30 percent through end-2022 and an additional 17 percent through end-November 2023. In mid-December, a step devaluation (about 120 percent against the USD) was implemented to correct the large exchange rate misalignment. Since then, the REER has appreciated by over 40 percent through end-March, bringing it broadly in line with IMF staff's estimate of the equilibrium level. Assessment. Staff-assessed CA gap implies a REER gap of about 22 percent in 2023 (with an estimated elasticity of 0.12 applied).⁶ Overall, staff assesses the REER gap to have been in the range of 33 to 38 percent just before the December 2023 step devaluation, and in the range of 20 to 25 percent on average in 2023 (also consistent with the EBA REER index model). 					
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	 Background. Exchange restrictions, CFM and MCP measures were introduced in late 2019 and were intensified further in 2023, including through (i) incentives to encourage export liquidation, (ii) taxes on FX access for imports, and (iii) financing requirements for imports, which led to an unprecedented rise in private commercial debt. Since mid-December, the previous opaque system of administrative import controls has been replaced by a more transparent system, with a shorter delay in FX access (45 days on average), and a large share of excess commercial debt backlog has been reprofiled or resolved. Assessment, While CFMs are not a substitute for sound macroeconomic policies, they may be needed in the near term as imbalances are 					
	being addressed. That	said, more distortive exc	hange restrictions and I	MCP measures shoul	d be phased out as early a	s possible.
FX Intervention and Reserves	Background. Gross into since 2004. Meanwhile,	ernational reserves fell s NIR reached \$–8.5 billion	sharply (by over US\$20 b n. Since December 10, th	billion) last year, reac le BCRA has purchase	hing US\$23 billion by end- d over US\$15 billion in FX a	2023, their lowest level assets through end-April.
Levei	Assessment. Reserve of IMF's composite metric	coverage remains inadeq by end-2023.	uate. Gross internationa	l reserves are estima	ted to have fallen to only a	round 30 percent of the

Table 3.2. Australia: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was broadly in line with the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The CA surplus expanded marginally from 1.1 percent of GDP in 2022 to 1.2 percent of GDP in 2023, as service exports continue their recovery from the pandemic while the effect of lower prices on commodity exports was partly offset by lower dividend outflows. In the medium term, the CA is projected to return to a slight deficit as commodity prices further decline, savings return to historical levels, and investment picks up.

Potential Policy Responses: Given the positive output gap in the near term and still elevated inflation, fiscal and monetary restraint remains warranted for Australia. While the closing of the output gap will push the CA surplus higher, this should be offset by structural policies that boost investment (rebalancing taxes from direct to indirect taxes, executing planned infrastructure investment, streamlining product market regulation, promoting research and development and innovation investment). Australia's commitment to a floating exchange rate should help keep the external position in line with fundamentals going forward. Australia should continue to support an open trade environment, including in regional and multilateral trade agreements.

Foreign Asset	Background. Australia's NIIP improved to -31.9 percent of GDP at the end of 2023, from -38.0 percent of GDP in 2022, driven by the CA
and Liability	surplus, revaluation effects of foreign equities, and rising interest rates that have reduced the market value of external debt. While 61 percent
Position and	of Australia's gross liabilities are debt obligations, around half of the debt liabilities are denominated in domestic currency, while assets are
Trajectory	largely denominated in foreign currency. Foreign liabilities are composed of about one-quarter FDI, one-half portfolio investment (principally
	banks' borrowing abroad and foreign holdings of government bonds), and one-quarter other investments and derivatives.

Assessment. The NIIP level and trajectory are sustainable. The structure of Australia's external balance sheet reduces the vulnerability associated with its negative NIIP. With a positive net foreign currency asset position, a nominal depreciation tends to strengthen the external balance sheet, all else being equal. The banking sector's net foreign currency liability position is mostly hedged, and the maturity of banks' external funding has lengthened since the global financial crisis. The government's balance sheet remains strong and can provide credible support in a tail-risk event in which domestic banks suffer a major loss.

2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: -31.9	Gross Assets: 148.6	Debt As	sets: 37.2	Gros	ss Liab.: 180.5	Debt Liab.: 80.1
Current Account	Background. After decades of CA deficits, the CA balance has been in surplus since 2019, due to an upswing in export commodity prices. In 2023, the CA balance remained close to its 2022 level, at 1.2 percent of GDP, reflecting stable aggregate savings and investment ratios. The merchandise trade balance moderated from 6.5 percent of GDP in 2022 to 4.8 percent of GDP in 2023, as terms of trade have deteriorated. The trade surplus is partially offset by a 3.5 percent of GDP deficit in the primary income balance (due to dividend payments on Australia's equity liabilities, especially in the mining sector), while the services balance recorded a small surplus of 0.1 percent of GDP (as tourism and education service exports continue to recover from the pandemic-related decline). The CA surplus is largely explained by cyclical factors and is expected to gradually return to a small deficit over the medium term as commodity prices decline while investment picks up.						
	Assessment. The EBA model estimates a cyclically adjusted CA balance of 0.3 percent of GDP compared with a CA norm of -0.6 percent of GDP, suggesting a model-based CA gap of 0.9 percent of GDP. The small CA gap is largely explained by the negative domestic credit gap and by tighter fiscal policy relative to the rest of the world.						
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 1.2	Cycl. Adj. CA: 0.3 EE	A Norm: –0.6	EBA Gap	: 0.9	Staff Adj.: 0	Staff Gap: 0.9
Real Exchange Rate	Background. In 2023, the Australian dollar depreciated slightly against the US dollar, possibly reflecting a decline in iron ore prices and th interest rate differential. In real effective terms, the exchange rate was broadly stable and slightly higher than the average level of the pas five years. As of April 2024, the REER was 1.8 percent above the 2023 average.				n iron ore prices and the average level of the past		
	Assessment. Staff's CA gap implies a REER gap of -5.3 percent (applying an estimated elasticity of 0.17). The EBA REER level model points to an overvaluation of 20.6 percent, while the index model points to an undervaluation of 10.6 percent. Consistent with the CA gap, staff assesses the REER gap to be in a range of -8.7 to -1.9 percent, with a midpoint of -5.3 percent.						
Capital and Financial	Background . The financial account recorded net outflows in 2023, driven by a net outflow in financial derivatives and portfolio investment. Net FDI and other investment inflows turned positive in 2023.						
Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	Assessment. Vulnerabilit rate.	es related to the financial a	count remain co	ntained, suppor	rted by a c	credible commitmer	t to a floating exchange
FX Intervention and Reserves	Background. The currency The value of reserve asset	has been free-floating since s recorded a slight increase i	1983. The central 2023 to A\$94 bil	bank has not ir lion, from A\$85	ntervened billion at t	in the FX market sin the end of 2022.	ce the global financial crisis.
Level	Assessment. The authorities are strongly committed to a floating regime, which reduces the need for reserve holdings. Although domestic banks' external liabilities remain sizable, they are either in local currency or herdred. Hence, reserve needs for prudential reasons are also limited						

Table 3.3. Belgium: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: Belgium's external position in 2023 was weaker than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The CA balance remained in deficit of -1.0 percent of GDP in 2023, after a swing to deficit from surplus position in 2022 because of a sharp deterioration of the trade balance driven by an increase in net imports of mineral fuels and decline in pharmaceutical exports. The CA deficit is expected to narrow in the medium term as external demand recovers and competitiveness improves, but the outlook remains marred with uncertainty.

Potential Policy Responses: Successive shocks have increased Belgium's structural fiscal deficits and public debt. In addition, given mounting spending pressures from an aging population, policies in the near and medium terms should focus on rebuilding fiscal buffers through a credible, expenditure-led consolidation that also creates space to support green and digital transformation. Public investment should be preserved or increased to mitigate growth impacts of fiscal consolidation. Policies should also focus on strengthening competitiveness through significant structural reforms, including of the wage indexation system, pension and social benefits, tax, and the labor and product markets. These steps are expected to bring the external position closer in line with medium-term fundamentals and desirable policy settings.

Foreign Asset	Background. Belgium's NIIP increased to 65 percent of GDP at the end of 2023, from 58 percent of GDP in 2022. The improvement
and Liability	comprised of a modest increase in gross foreign assets of 3 percentage points of GDP from 2022 and a decline in gross foreign liabilities of
Position and	4 percentage points of GDP. Net portfolio investment remained the main component of the positive NIIP and was stable at 36 percent of GDP
Trajectory	in 2023, supported by strong positive price effects. Higher market valuations for FDI also caused the net direct investment to increase to
	30 percent of GDP (up 0.3 percentage point of GDP). Net other investment liabilities dropped to 7.3 percent of GDP at the end of 2023 from a
	high of 13 percent of GDP in 2022, due to positive income flows driven by an increase in Belgian foreign investment.

Assessment. Based on the projected CA deficit and growth paths, the NIIP-to-GDP ratio is expected to decline. This trajectory does not raise sustainability concerns given the large and positive NIIP. Belgium's large gross international asset and liability positions are elevated by the presence of corporate treasury units, which do not appear to create macro-relevant mismatches.

2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 65	Gross Assets: 423	Debt As	sets: 132	Gro	oss Liab.: 358	Debt Liab.: 15	4
Current Account	Background. The CA balance was a deficit of 1.0 percent of GDP in 2023, unchanged from 2022. The effect of higher inflation on wages and social benefits due to indexation, and higher outlays due to the aging population weighed on public net savings in 2023. This was however offset by weakening residential property investment. While the trade deficit remained unchanged at 1.6 percent of GDP in 2023, the decline in goods deficits to 0.6 percent of GDP (from a record high of 1.4 percent of GDP in 2022) was offset by an increase in services deficits to 1.0 percent of GDP (from 0.2 percent of GDP in 2022). The primary income balance increased by 0.5 percentage point of GDP to 2.0 percent of GDP and current transfers declined to -1.4 percent of GDP in 2023. Overall, volatility in the trade and primary income balances is driven in part by sizable operations of multinationals in Belgium and large data revisions. Assessment. The EBA model estimates a CA norm of 3 percent of GDP, against a cyclically adjusted CA balance of -0.6 percent of GDP, implying a gap of -3.6 percent of GDP. This is within a range estimated by IMF staff for the CA gap of between -4.0 and -3.2 percent of GDP, applying the standard error of the CA norm estimated at ± 0.4 percent of GDP.							
2023 (% GDP)	CA: -1.0 C	ycl. Adj. CA: –0.6 EE	A Norm: 3.0	EBA Gap:	-3.6	Staff Adj.: 0	Staff Gap: -	-3.6
Real Exchange Rate	 Background. Both the REER based on CPI and ULC continued to appreciate in 2023, respectively, by 1.3 percent and 2.9 percent (year over year), with a cumulative appreciation during 2019–23 of 2.5 percent and 6.4 percent, respectively. The stronger appreciation of the ULC-based REER reflected more rapid and higher wage increases due to automatic wage indexation in Belgium. As of April 2024, the CPI-based REER (ULC-based REER) was 0.8 percent (1.1 percent) above its 2023 average. Assessment. The IMF staff–assessed CA gap implies a REER overvaluation in the range of 4.6 to 5.8 percent, with a midpoint of 5.2 percent (applying an estimated elasticity of the CA balance to the REER of 0.69). The EBA REER index model points to an overvaluation of 8.8 percent, while level model points to an appreciation of 20.6 percent 							
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	 Background. The balance-of-payments financial account balance was negative in 2023, with flows of foreign liabilities exceeding flows of foreign assets by about €6.5 billion (-1.1 percent of GDP). The portfolio investment balance was strongly negative at €21.9 billion (-3.8 percent of GDP) because of purchases of Belgian government bonds by nonresidents. The direct investment balance turned negative for the first time since 2019 at -€8.8 billion (-1.5 percent of GDP), as both assets and liabilities were reduced due largely to the repayment of outstanding loans. The balance of other investment was strongly positive at €26.4 billion (4.5 percent of GDP), as gross assets and liabilities increased owing to financial transactions in the banking sector, with a more pronounced increase on the assets side. Short-term external debt increased marginally to 32 percent of gross external debt in 2023 (from an average of 28 percent in 2018–22). Belgium has an open capital account. Assessment. Belgium remains exposed to financial market risks and vulnerabilities associated with high external public debt. Vulnerabilities 							
FX Intervention	Background. The euro has	the status of a global rese	ve currency.					
and Reserves	Assessment. Reserves held	d by the euro area are typic	ally low relative	to standard me	etrics, but	the currency is free	floating.	

Table 3.4. Brazil: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was broadly in line with the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The CA deficit narrowed to 1.4 percent of GDP in 2023 and is expected to remain around 1.5 percent of GDP over the medium term as oil exports increase and net public savings improve. Risks to Brazil's external position over the medium term relate to uncertainties to global financial conditions and insufficient progress on domestic reforms.

Potential Policy Responses: Policies that would help keep the CA in line with its norm include efforts to raise national savings, providing room for a sustainable expansion in investment. Fiscal consolidation should continue contributing to increase net public savings. Structural reforms that improve efficiency and reduce the cost of doing business would help strengthen competitiveness. Industrial policies should remain narrowly targeted to specific objectives where externalities or market failures prevent effective market solutions, avoid increasing barriers to trade and investment, and not favor domestic producers over imports.

Foreign Asset	Background. Brazil's NIIP dropped to -44.9 percent of GDP in 2023, from -42.2 percent of GDP in 2022, partly reflecting continued FDI and
and Liability	portfolio inflows. The NIIP is projected to be below -40 percent of GDP over the medium term, in line with projected CA deficits offset by
Position and	robust nominal GDP growth. FDI will continue to account for more than half of all liabilities. At the end of 2023, external debt declined to
Trajectory	33.7 percent of GDP and 208 percent of exports, from around 35 percent of GDP and 200 percent of exports in 2022.
	Assessment The NIIP has been negative since the series was first nublished in 2001. Over the medium term, pross external financing need

Assessment. The NIIP has been negative since the series was first published in 2001. Over the medium term, gross external financing needs are moderate at below 10 percent of GDP annually, with capital flows and the exchange rate sensitive to global financing conditions.

2023 (% GDP) NIIP: -44.9 Gross Assets: 46.5 Res Assets: 16.3 Gross Liab.: 91.4 Debt Liab.: 33.7

Background. The CA d of 3.7 percent of GDP (and lackluster imports) primary income related of the public sector part 1.5 percent of GDP over Assessment. In 2023 t of -1.9 percent of GDP GDP. EBA-identified pol policy stances in Brazi	eficit narrowed to 1.4 pe compared with 2.3 perce) reflected partly the stru 1 to profits and dividends rtially offset by the savin er the medium term, supp the cyclically adjusted CA 2 IMF staff estimate the C licy gaps are estimated a I relative to trading partn	rcent of GDP in 2023 fro ent in 2022). The record- ictural change in the exp s. From a saving-investin g-investment surplus of ported by higher oil expo A balance was -1.7 perc CA gap to be in the rang at -0.4 percent of GDP, r iters.	om 2.5 percent in 2022, -high trades surplus (ow bort sector and was offs nent perspective, the CA i the private sector. The borts and improved net put sent of GDP, and EBA est e of -0.4 and 0.7 percent effecting positive credit	on the back of a sizable ving to strong agriculture et by high deficits in tran a deficit reflects the savir CA deficit is expected to ublic savings. imates suggest a cyclica nt of GDP, with a midpoir growth and the more ex	trade balance surplus e and oil exports nsport services and ng-investment deficit remain at around ally adjusted CA norm nt of 0.2 percent of pansionary fiscal
CA: -1.4	Cycl. Adj. CA: –1.7	EBA Norm: -1.9	EBA Gap: 0.2	Staff Adj.: 0.0	Staff Gap: 0.2
 Background. Continuing the appreciation trend in 2020–22 (by around 8 percent), the REER appreciated by 4.6 percent in 2023 compared to the 2022 average, below the NEER appreciation of 11.6 percent, reflecting relatively low inflation in Brazil compared with its major trading partners. As of April 2024, the REER had depreciated by 0.5 percent relative to the 2023 average. Assessment. The IMF staff CA gap implies a REER gap of –1.7 percent in 2023 (applying an estimated elasticity of 0.12). The REER index model suggests a REER gap of –11.2 percent, while the REER level model suggests a REER gap of –11.2 percent. Consistent with the staff 					
 Background. Brazil continues to attract sizable capital flows. Net FDI flows continued to finance the CA deficit, averaging 2.6 percent of GDP during 2015–22 (when CA deficits averaged 2.8 percent) before dropping to 1.7 percent of GDP in 2023. Portfolio investment registered net inflows of 0.3 percent of GDP. Assessment. The composition of capital flows is expected to have a favorable risk profile over the medium term, with positive net FDI inflows (above 1.5 percent of GDP) outweighing negative portfolio outflows (around 0.2 percent of GDP) and debt liabilities increasingly denominated by FDI liabilities. Nevertheless, uncertainties related to tighter global financial conditions and insufficient progress on reforms pose downside risks to capital flows. 					
pose downside risks to capital flows. Background. Brazil has a floating exchange rate. While FX interventions in 2022 relied on spot, repo, and FX swap markets to ensure smooth market functioning, the authorities did not intervene in the FX markets in 2023 amid resilient FX performance. The outstanding stock of the FX swap, a nondeliverable future settled in local currency, stayed around US\$100 billion since 2022. International reserves increased by US\$30 billion and reached US\$355 billion at the end of 2023, mostly owing to valuation effects. Assessment. The flexible exchange rate has been an important shock absorber. Reserves remain adequate relative to various criteria, including the IMF's reserve adequacy metric (130 percent as of the end of 2023) and serve as insurance against external shocks.					
	 Background. The CA d of 3.7 percent of GDP (Background. The CA deficit narrowed to 1.4 peof 3.7 percent of GDP (compared with 2.3 percentand lackluster imports) reflected partly the strupprimary income related to profits and dividendsof the public sector partially offset by the savin1.5 percent of GDP over the medium term, suppAssessment. In 2023 the cyclically adjusted CAof -1.9 percent of GDP. IMF staff estimate the CGDP. EBA-identified policy gaps are estimated apolicy stances in Brazil relative to trading partinCA: -1.4Cycl. Adj. CA: -1.7Background. Continuing the appreciation trendthe 2022 average, below the NEER appreciationpartners. As of April 2024, the REER had deprectAssessment. The IMF staff CA gap implies a REmodel suggests a REER gap of -25.1 percent, inCA gap, staff assesses the REER gap to be in theBackground. Brazil continues to attract sizableduring 2015-22 (when CA deficits averaged 2.6inflows (above 1.5 percent of GDP)outweighingdenominated by FDI liabilities. Nevertheless, unpose downside risks to capital flows.Background. Brazil has a floating exchange ratmarket functioning, the authorities did not interFX swap, a nondeliverable future settled in locaUS\$30 billion and reached US\$355 billion at theAssessment. The flexible exchange rate has be	Background. The CA deficit narrowed to 1.4 percent of GDP in 2023 froof 3.7 percent of GDP (compared with 2.3 percent in 2022). The recordand lackluster imports) reflected partly the structural change in the expprimary income related to profits and dividends. From a saving-investmentof the public sector partially offset by the saving-investment surplus of1.5 percent of GDP over the medium term, supported by higher oil expAssessment. In 2023 the cyclically adjusted CA balance was -1.7 percof -1.9 percent of GDP. IMF staff estimate the CA gap to be in the rangGDP. EBA-identified policy gaps are estimated at -0.4 percent of GDP, rpolicy stances in Brazil relative to trading partners.CA: -1.4Cycl. Adj. CA: -1.7EBA Norm: -1.9Background. Continuing the appreciation trend in 2020-22 (by aroundthe 2022 average, below the NEER appreciation of 11.6 percent, reflectpartners. As of April 2024, the REER had depreciated by 0.5 percent relAssessment. The IMF staff CA gap implies a REER gap of -1.7 percentmodel suggests a REER gap of -25.1 percent, while the REER level moCA gap, staff assesses the REER gap to be in the range of -5.9 to 2.5 pBackground. Brazil continues to attract sizable capital flows. Net FDI fduring 2015-22 (when CA deficits averaged 2.8 percent) before droppiinflows (above 1.5 percent of GDP)Assessment. The composition of capital flows is expected to have a fainflows (above 1.5 percent of GDP)outweighing negative portfolio outfidenominated by FDI liabilities. Nevertheless, uncertainties related to tigpose downside risks to capita	Background. The CA deficit narrowed to 1.4 percent of GDP in 2023 from 2.5 percent in 2022, of 3.7 percent of GDP (compared with 2.3 percent in 2022). The record-high trades surplus (ow and lackluster imports) reflected partly the structural change in the export sector and was offs primary income related to profits and dividends. From a saving-investment perspective, the CA of the public sector partially offset by the saving-investment surplus of the private sector. The 1.5 percent of GDP over the medium term, supported by higher oil exports and improved net pu Assessment. In 2023 the cyclically adjusted CA balance was -1.7 percent of GDP, and EBA est of -1.9 percent of GDP. IMF staff estimate the CA gap to be in the range of -0.4 and 0.7 perce GDP. EBA-identified policy gaps are estimated at -0.4 percent of GDP, reflecting positive credit policy stances in Brazil relative to trading partners.CA: -1.4Cycl. Adj. CA: -1.7EBA Norm: -1.9EBA Gap: 0.2Background. Continuing the appreciation trend in 2020-22 (by around 8 percent), the REER ap the 2022 average, below the NEER appreciation of 11.6 percent, reflecting relatively low inflati partners. As of April 2024, the REER had depreciated by 0.5 percent relative to the 2023 average Assessment. The IMF staff CA gap implies a REER gap of -1.7 percent in 2023 (applying an es model suggests a REER gap of -25.1 percent, while the REER level model suggests a REER gap CA gap, staff assesses the REER gap to be in the range of -5.9 to 2.5 percent, with a midpoint Background. Brazil continues to attract sizable capital flows. Net FDI flows continued to finance during 2015-22 (when CA deficits averaged 2.8 percent) before dropping to 1.7 percent of GDP inflows of 0.3 percent of GDP.Assessment. The composition of capital flows is expected to have a favorable risk profile over inflows (above 1.5 percent	Background. The CA deficit narrowed to 1.4 percent of GDP in 2023 from 2.5 percent in 2022, on the back of a sizable of 3.7 percent of GDP (compared with 2.3 percent in 2022). The record-high trades surplus (owing to strong agriculture and lackluster imports) reflected partly the structural change in the export sector and was offset by high deficits in trad primary income related to profits and dividends. From a saving-investment perspective, the CA deficit reflects the savin of the public sector partially offset by the saving-investment surplus of the private sector. The CA deficit reflects the savin of the public sector partially offset by the saving-investment surplus of the private sector. The CA deficit reflects the savin of the public sector partially offset by the saving-investment surplus of the private sector. The CA deficit reflects the savin of the public sector partially offset by the saving-investment surplus of the private sector. The CA deficit reflects the savin of the public sector partially offset by the saving-investment surplus of the private sector. The CA deficit reflects the saving of the public sector partially offset by the saving-investment surplus of the private sector. The CA deficit reflects the savin of the public sector partially offset by the saving-investment surplus of the private sector. The CA deficit reflects the saving of -0.4 and 0.7 percent of GDP. With a midpoint GP EBA-identified policy gaps are estimated at at -0.4 percent of GDP, reflecting positive credit growth and the more expolicy stances in Brazil relative to trading partners. CA: -1.4 Cycl. Adj. CA: -1.7 EBA Norm: -1.9 EBA Gap: 0.2 Staff Adj:: 0.0 Background. Continuing the appreciation trend in 2020-22 (by around 8 percent), the REER appreciated by 4.6 percent the 2022 average, below the NEER appreciated by 0.5 percent relative to the 2023 average.

Table 3.5. Canada: Economy Assessment

Dverall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was moderately weaker than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The CA deficit widened slightly in 2023, mainly reflecting worsened terms of trade as energy and commodity prices normalized following the start of Russia's war in Ukraine. The widening of the CA deficit occurred despite a moderation in domestic demand reflected in lower imports (–0.8 percent decrease), higher exports reflecting stronger US demand, and a weakening in the real exchange rate.								
Potential Policy Res export markets. The physical capital, (4) targeted to specific Tighter near-term fi	sponses: Policies should ese policies include (1) int investing in the green tra objectives where externa scal policies as well as a	aim to boost Canada's roducing measures to insformation, and (5) p ilities or market failure medium-term fiscal co	competitiveness in nonf improve labor productivi romoting FDI. Further, in s prevent effective mark onsolidation plan would a	uel goods exports and in ity, (2) removing nontari dustrial policies should iet solutions, and aim to also help in stabilizing d	n services exports and to ff trade barriers, (3) inves be pursued cautiously, re minimize trade and inve lebt and supporting exter	o diversify Canada's sting in R&D and emain narrowly estment distortions. rnal rebalancing.		
Foreign Asset and Liability Position and Trajectory	Background . Canada's NIIP position rose sharply to 57.7 percent of GDP in 2023 from 38.9 percent of GDP in 2022 (and up also from the five-year average of 40.7 percent of GDP), reflecting a rise in global equity prices (in the context of a somewhat weaker currency). Gross external debt increased to 143.4 percent of GDP (from 134.9 percent of GDP in 2022), of which around 41 percent is short term.							
	currency depreciation. T	he NIIP level and trajed	ctory are sustainable.					
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 57.7	Gross Assets: 3	310.3 Debt Ass	ets: 84.0 Gro	ss Liab.: 252.5	Debt Liab.: 143.4		
Current Account	Background. The estimated CA deficit reached 0.7 percent of GDP in 2023, slightly higher than the 0.4 percent of GDP deficit in 2022, mainly on account of lower energy prices (terms of trade fell by 6 percent year over year). But with savings somewhat higher than—and investment broadly in line with—the 2019–22 average, the CA deficit in 2023 was somewhat smaller than the average CA deficit of 1.1 percent of GDP during 2019–22. The CA is expected to remain in slight deficit over the medium term. Export growth is projected to slow, whereas import growth is projected to pick up on the back of recovering domestic demand, which is supported by a slightly expansionary near-term fiscal stance.							
	implying a gap of -3.3 g earnings. ¹ Taking these midpoint of -1.8 percen	hiry adjusted CA was – bercent of GDP for 2023 factors into account, IN it of GDP.	3. Part of this gap, howe MF staff assess the CA g	ver, is explained by bias ap to be in the range be	es in measuring inflatior tween –2.2 and –1.3 pe	and retained ercent of GDP, with a		
2023 (% GDP)	CA: -0.7	Cycl. Adj. CA: -1.0	EBA Norm: 2.3	EBA Gap: –3.3	Staff Adj.: 1.5	Staff Gap: -1.8		
Real Exchange Rate	Background. The average in 2023 was around 2 pe 2023 average.	je REER for 2023 was a ercent weaker than the	3.6 percent below the 20 e 2019–22 average. As o)22 average, largely refl f April 2024, the REER h	ecting the strength of the ad depreciated by 1.3 pe	e US dollar. The REER ercent relative to the		
	Assessment. The EBA REER index model points to an overvaluation of 0.5 percent in 2023, while the REER level model suggests an undervaluation of 12.9 percent. Consistent with the staff CA gap, staff assess the REER to be overvalued by between 5.1 and 8.3 percent, with a midpoint of 6.7 percent (with a semi-elasticity of the CA with respect to the REER at 0.27).							
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	andBackground. The financial account recorded net inflows due to other investments, moderated by outflows in FDI and portfolio investments.alSpecifically, FDI saw net outflows of 1.6 percent of GDP in 2023 (comparable with levels in 2022 and 2021) as did net portfolio flows ofts: Flowsaround 0.7 of GDP, moving from inflows of around 5.3 percent of GDP in 2022. This was offset by other investments which recorded inflowsicyof around 3.2 percent of GDP as opposed to net outflows in 2022 of around 3 percent of GDP. Errors and omissions were small at 0.2 percentesof GDP.							
	Assessment. Canada ha	s an open capital acco	ount. Vulnerabilities are li	mited by a credible con	mitment to a floating ex	change rate.		
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background. Canada ha for participating in joint arrangements with the l	s a free-floating excha interventions with othe JS Federal Reserve and	ange rate regime and has er central banks). Canada d four other major centra	s not intervened in the F a has limited reserves, I al banks. (The Bank of C	X market since Septemb out its central bank has s anada has not drawn on	per 1998 (except standing swap ı these swap lines.)		
	Assessment. Policies in regime which, together	this area are appropria with the swap arrange	ate to the circumstances ments, reduces the need	s of Canada. The authori I for reserve holdings.	ties are strongly commit	ted to a floating		

Table 3.6. China: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 is assessed to be broadly in line with the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The CA surplus declined to 1.4 percent of GDP in 2023 as exports declined on the back of both weakness in global demand as well as the unwinding of the COVID-19-related export boom. Rising services imports due to a normalization of outbound tourism also contributed to the lower CA surplus. Over the medium term, the CA surplus is projected to narrow further and gradually converge to the CA norm, mostly reflecting rising social spending pressures as population ages.

Potential Policy Responses: Policies to ensure that the external position remains broadly in line with fundamentals include (1) accelerating market-based structural reforms—a further opening up of domestic markets, ensuring competitive neutrality between state-owned and private firms, scaling back wasteful and distorting industrial policies, and increasing reliance on market forces to improve resource allocation—to boost potential growth; (2) shifting fiscal policy support toward strengthening social protection to reduce high household savings and rebalance toward private consumption; and (3) gradually increasing exchange rate flexibility to help the economy better absorb external shocks

tiexibility to help the	e economy better absorb	external snocks.							
Foreign Asset and Liability	Background. The NIIP reached 16.5 percent of GDP in 2023, from 13.6 percent in 2022 and significantly below the peak of 30.4 percent in 2008. The increase largely reflects the CA surplus.								
Position and Trajectory	Assessment. The NIIP-to CA surplus. Increasing p liabilities further. The NII 2023, 19.5 percent of GE	ssessment. The NIIP-to-GDP ratio is expected to remain positive and increase modestly over the medium term in line with the narrowing A surplus. Increasing portfolio investment, on the back of China's gradual financial opening, is expected to diversify its foreign assets and abilities further. The NIIP is not a major source of risk, as assets remain high—reflecting large foreign reserves (\$3.4 trillion as of the end of 023, 19.5 percent of GDP)—and liabilities are mostly related to FDI.							
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 16.5	Gross Assets:	54.3	Debt Ass	sets: 15.9	Gro	ss Liab.: 37.8		Debt Liab.: 13.0
Current Account	Background. Following the increase since 2019, the CA surplus declined to 1.4 percent of GDP in 2023 as domestic saving declined to its pre-pandemic level. The lower CA surplus reflects lower goods and services balances. After a post-reopening increase in trade in 2023:Q1, exports declined amid weak global demand and the unwinding of the COVID-19-related surge in goods exports. Imports evolved in line with domestic demand, sequentially weakening in 2023:Q2–23:Q3 and partially rebounding in 2023:Q4. Taken together, the trade balance declined to 3.3 percent of GDP (from 3.7 percent of GDP in 2022) as exports weakened more than imports. The 2023 services deficit increased to 1.2 percent of GDP (from 0.5 percent of GDP in 2022) as outbound tourism partially recovered. Over the medium term, domestic saving is expected to decline faster than investment, due to rapid population aging and the associated rising social spending pressures further reducing the CA surplus.								
	midpoint of –0.1 percen EBA-identified policy gap looser fiscal policy than	t. As the travel balance ps are estimated at –0 in other countries (–0.	continues to 6 percent of 2 percent of	GDP, driver GDP, driver GDP).	pre-COVID-19 by relatively f	levels, an avorable o	adjustor of –0.4 p credit conditions (–	ercent 0.3 per	is applied to the CA. rcent of GDP) and
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 1.4	Cycl. Adj. CA: 1.2	EBA Noi	m: 0.9	EBA Gap	: 0.3	Staff Adj.: -0.4	t	Staff Gap: –0.1
Real Exchange Rate	Background. In 2023, th lower inflation in China. of 7 percent during 2015 Assessment. The IMF st 5.1 percent, and the EBA assesses the REER to be	e REER depreciated by The REER depreciation 5–19. As of April 2024, aff CA gap implies a RI A REER level regression a in the range of3 6 t	8.2 percent more than r the REER had EER gap of 0. estimates th	from the 2 eversed the d depreciat 7 percent. he REER ga t with a mit	022 average, fa e appreciation of ed by 2.7 perce The EBA REER p to be 3.4 per dooint of 0.7 pe	ester than of 5 percent ent relative index regr cent. Cons arcent (with	the NEER deprecia nt in 2020–21, whi e to the 2023 avera ression estimates t sistent with the IMI th an estimated ela	tion (3.4 ch follo ige. he REE ⁻ staff (sticity (4 percent) reflecting wed a depreciation R gap in 2023 to be CA gap, the IMF staff 0 14 applied)
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	 Background. The 2023 financial account (excluding net errors and omissions) reached -1.2 percent of GDP (-1.4 percent of GDP in 2022) as capital outflow pressures reemerged in 2023:H2, while inward FDI reached a historically low level (0.2 percent of GDP) and portfolio investment remained subdued (0.1 percent of GDP). Net errors and omissions declined in absolute terms to -0.2 percent of GDP in 2023 (from the 2015–20 average of -1.4 percent of GDP). The authorities raised the cross-border financing macroprudential adjustment parameter for financial institutions and enterprises from 1.25 to 1.5 (relaxation of an inflow CFM measure) in July 2023. The authorities cut FX reserve requirements from 6 to 4 percent in September. As of the end of May 2024, the total Qualified Domestic Institutional Investor quota stood at \$167.8 billion.¹ Assessment. Substantial net outflow pressures resurfaced with the divergence of China's monetary policy from that in advanced economies, expectations for weakening economic prospects as well as market-perceived geopolitical risk and economic policy uncertainty. Over the medium term, further capital account opening is likely to create substantially larger two-way gross flows. The sequencing of capital account opening consistent with exchange rate flexibility should carefully consider domestic financial stability, while addressing the faster pace of private sector accumulation of foreign assets with respect to norresident accumulation of Chinese assets. CFMs should not be used to protect accumulation of Chinese assets. 								
	actively manage the cap term, China should grad reforms.	ital flow cycle or subst ually phase out CFM m	itute for war easures in a	ranted mad sequence	consistent with	ljustment a greater e	and exchange rate xchange rate flexib	flexibil ility an	ity. Over the medium d accompanying
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background. FX reserve a partial recovery in cap offset losses in the first	es increased (by about s ital flows, including FD three quarters of the y	\$110 billion) I, and favora ear.	and reache ble valuatio	ed \$3.3 trillion a on effects contr	as of the e ributed to	nd of 2023. In the an increase in FX r	last qua eserves	arter of 2023, s that more than
	Assessment. The end-of	f-2023 reserve assets,	including gol	d, at \$3.4 t	rillion—69 per	cent of the	e IMF's standard co	mposit	e metric at the end

Assessment. The end-of-2023 reserve assets, including gold, at \$3.4 trillion—69 percent of the IMF's standard composite metric at the end of 2023 (68 percent in 2022) and 112 percent of the metric adjusted for capital controls (110 percent in 2022)—are assessed to be adequate. Temporary FX intervention could be considered in the event of large capital outflows that pose significant risks to macroeconomic and financial stability, including if markets turn disorderly.

Table 3.7. Euro Area: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was broadly in line with the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The CA balance increased to 1.7 percent of GDP in 2023 from –0.6 percent of GDP in 2022, due to the reversal of the negative terms of trade shock. Over the medium term, the euro area's CA balance is projected to increase further (though still below its historical average) as external demand improves and structural reforms to improve competitiveness are implemented. National external imbalances are expected to remain sizable.

Potential Policy Responses: Improving productivity—through increased public investment, reskilling and upskilling of the labor force, and structural reforms to foster a business environment that encourages private investment and technology diffusion—will help build resilience and lift growth potential, mitigating the headwind from aging. Strengthening the EU single market—by harmonizing regulations, reducing administrative barriers, and streamlining trade procedures—will create a more resilient domestic economy, thereby helping address challenges from an increasingly shock-prone and fragmented global economy. It is also critical to avoid a trade-distorting, fiscally costly subsidy race and other trade-distorting measures, which would undermine resource allocation and productivity. Trade and investment disagreements with other countries should be resolved in a manner that supports an open, stable, and transparent rules-based trading system. As historical policy gaps at the national level in the European Union are projected to persist, countries with excess CA surpluses should increase investment, while countries with weak external positions should undertake reforms to raise productivity, reduce structural and youth unemployment, and commence growth-friendly fiscal consolidation. Euro-area-wide initiatives to make the currency union more resilient (for example, completing the banking and capital markets unions and establishing the central fiscal capacity for some common public goods) would deepen public and private sector risk sharing, supporting external stability of high-debt countries.

Foreign Asset
and LiabilityBackground. After falling to -20.5 percent of GDP in 2009, the NIIP of the euro area rose substantially to 4.1 percent of GDP by the end of
2023, reflecting accumulated CA surpluses. Relative to 2022, the NIIP increased in 2023 by 0.8 percentage point of GDP, primarily reflecting
valuation effects from the weaker euro and improvement in the CA balance. Gross portfolio investment assets and liabilities have both
declined sharply, reflecting impact of higher interest rates and financial market repricing. Direct investment assets and liabilities have also
declined though more moderately. The gross values of derivative positions have increased with higher financial market volatility. Gross
foreign assets were 243.0 percent of GDP and liabilities 238.9 percent of GDP as of the end of 2023. Net external assets (including those
vis-à-vis other euro area member states) remain elevated in external creditor countries (for example, Germany), whereas net external
liabilities remain high in debtor countries (for example, Portugal and Spain).

Assessment. Projections of continued CA surpluses over the medium term suggest that the NIIP-to-GDP ratio will rise further, at a moderate pace. While the region's overall NIIP financing vulnerabilities appear low in aggregate, large net external debtor countries bear an elevated risk of a sudden stop of gross inflows.

2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 4.1 Gross Assets: 243.0 Debt Assets: 89.7 Gross Liab.: 238.9 Debt Liab.: 86.6								
Current Account	Background. The CA balance for the euro area increased to 1.7 percent of GDP in 2023 from -0.6 percent of GDP in 2022. The improvement is driven by a significant improvement in the goods balance (from declines in import prices especially of natural gas and oil) and, to a lesser extent, an increase in the income balances, which more than offset the reduction in the services surplus. Large creditor countries, such as Germany and The Netherlands, continued to have sizable surpluses, reflecting high corporate and household saving and weak investment. Assessment. The EBA model estimates a CA norm of 0.7 percent of GDP, against a cyclically adjusted CA of 1.7 percent of GDP. This implies a gap of 1 percent of GDP. Adjustments of -0.4 percent of GDP were made to the underlying CA reflecting CA measurement issues in Ireland and The Netherlands to account for activities of multinational enterprises and portfolio retained earnings bias, respectively. Considering these factors and uncertainties in the estimates, including the cyclical adjustment, staff assesses the CA gap to be 0.6 percent of GDP in 2023, with a range of 0 to 1.2 percent of GDP (considering a standard error of 0.6).								
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 1.7 Cycl. Adj. CA: 1.7 EBA Norm: 0.7 EBA Gap: 1 Staff Adj.: -0.4 Staff Gap: 0.6								
Real Exchange Rate	 Background. The euro area CPI-based REER appreciated by 4.5 percent between 2015 and 2021 following a depreciation of nearly 20 percent in the post-global financial crisis period. In 2023, the CPI-based REER appreciated by 3.5 percent compared to 2022, reflecting an appreciation of 3 percent against the US dollar. The ULC-based REER appreciated by 4.4 percent. As of April 2024, the CPI-based REER was 0.4 percent below its 2023 average. Assessment. Consistent with the IMF staff CA gap, the IMF staff assesses the REER gap to be -1.7 percent in 2023, with a range of -3.4 to 0 percent, based on the estimated CA-REER elasticity of 0.35.¹ As with the CA gap, the aggregate REER gap masks a large degree of heterogeneity in REER gaps across euro area member states, ranging from an undervaluation of 7.5 percent in Germany to an overvaluation of about 11.5 percent in Italy. The ERA REER and the every models suggest overvaluations of 5.5 percent and 3.9 percent respectively. 								
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	 Background. The euro area experienced a capital account surplus of 0.3 percent of GDP and a financial account surplus of 1.9 percent of GDP in 2023, mirroring the CA surplus. Assessment. Gross external indebtedness of euro area residents decreased by 7.4 percentage points of GDP in 2023 as lower external debt of the Eurosystem, and the nonfinancial sector has offset higher debt of deposit-taking institutions and governments. 								
FX Intervention	Background. The euro has	the status of a global	reserve currency.						
Level	Assessment. Reserves hel	a by euro area econom	nes are typically low	relative to stan	dard metrics, but	the currency	is free floating.		

Table 3.8. France: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was broadly in line with the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The CA deficit declined to 0.7 percent of GDP in 2023, driven by the unwinding of the terms-of-trade shock and strong non-oil goods export performance. Over the medium term, the CA deficit is expected to continue to shrink as fiscal consolidation and structural reforms to improve competitiveness of the economy are implemented.

Potential Policy Responses: Maintaining the external position in line with medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies will require sustained fiscal consolidation efforts as well as structural reforms to support productivity and attract higher private investment to facilitate the green and digital transitions. Industrial policies should be deployed cautiously, remain targeted to specific objectives where externalities or market failures prevent effective market solutions, and avoid favoring domestic producers over imports to minimize trade and investment distortions.

Foreign Asset and Liability Position and Trajectory	Background. The NIIP s -26 percent of GDP). Th investment. While the n of which banks' non-FD 364.1 percent of GDP in by the public sector). At balance in 2023 was ab	tood at -29.2 percent of 0 te NIIP worsened by 5.5 pe et position is moderately r I-related assets accounted 2023, of which external d pout three-quarters of Frar iout €120.5 billion.	IDP in 2023, slightly i ercent of GDP since t legative, gross positi 1 for about 46.2 perc ebt was about 227.5 lice's external debt lia	above the range he end of 2022, ons are large. G ent, reflecting t percent of GDF abilities are der	e observed during largely driven by ross assets stood heir global activit (58 percent acc ominated in dom	y 2014–19 (bet v a decrease in d at 334.9 perc ies. Gross liabi ounted for by b estic currency.	ween –15 and direct and portfolio ent of GDP in 2023, lities increased to anks and 24 percent The average TARGET2
	Assessment. The NIIP is vulnerabilities coming fi banks' short-term debt	s negative, but its size and rom the large public extern securities was €149 billion	projected stable traj nal debt (53.7 percen n in 2023 (5.3 percen	jectory do not r it of GDP in 202 it of GDP), and 1	aise sustainability 3) and banks' gro inancial derivativ	y concerns. How oss financing n es stood at abo	wever, there are eeds—the stock of out 47.7 percent of GDP.
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: -29.2	Gross Assets: 334	.9 Debt Ass	ets: 190.7	Gross Liab.:	364.1	Debt Liab.: 227.5
Current Account	Background. The CA de terms-of-trade shock ar energy imports from on savings given still high 2022. The CA deficit is a and automobile sectors. France's competitiveness Assessment. The 2023 0 percent. On this basis -1.6 percent of GDP in of GDP is a positive creat negative domestic gap	ficit declined to 0.7 perceind a strong export perform going price corrections. Guuncertainty around the ext expected to decrease sligh . Over the medium term, this ss start to pay off. Fiscal c cyclically adjusted CA bala , the IMF staff assesses the 2022), with a midpoint of dit gap of 0.4 percent, whi of 1.2 percent.	nt of GDP in 2023 (fro nance by the aeronau ross national savings ternal outlook, while tly to about 0.6 perc ne CA deficit is projec onsolidation will also ance is estimated at the CA gap in 202 -0.9 percent of GDP. le the health expendit	om a deficit of 2 titics, naval, and continued to ir domestic inves ent of GDP in 20 cted to shrink to help reduce th -0.9 percent of 3 is between - The main contr iture gap is -0.	2 percent in 2022 textile sectors an icrease in 2023 b timent declined so D24, driven by the o a small deficit b e CA deficit over GDP compared w 1.3 and -0.5 per ibutor to the over 3 percent. The fis), driven by the nd in capital go y 0.4 percent o omewhat after a continued rec by 2029 as rece the medium te vith an EBA-est cent of GDP (co all positive poli- ccal policy gap	e unwinding of the large bods as well as lower of GDP, driven by private reaching a peak in covery in the aeronautics ent reforms to improve rrm. timated norm of ompared with -2.5 and icy gap of 0.1 percent is 0 percent despite a
2023 (% GDP)	CA: -0.7	Cycl. Adj. CA: –0.9	EBA Norm: 0.0	EBA Gap:	–0.9 St	aff Adj.: 0.0	Staff Gap: -0.9
Real Exchange Rate	Background. The ULC-t As of April 2024, the UL average. From a longer- in the early 2000s (whil its reform agenda with	based and CPI-based REER C-based REER was 0.6 per term perspective, France e the export market share emphasic on bariantal of	s continued to appre reent below the 2023 has not managed to of the euro area rem	ciate in 2023, b average, while regain the loss nained broadly s	y 4.1 and 1.9 per the CPI-based m of about one-thin stable between 2	rcent, respectiv leasure was ab d of its export i 000 and 2023).	vely, compared to 2022. Jout 0.5 below the 2023 market share registered France should advance
	Assessment. The CA ga 0.27). The EBA REER inc Consistent with the IMF 3.3 percent.	p, as assessed by IMF sta lex model points to a REEI staff CA gap, the IMF staf	forts to support com ff, implies a REER ga R gap of –5.1 percen f assesses the REER	petitiveness an p of 3.3 percen t, while the EB/ to be overvalue	d foster efficient t in 2023 (applyin A REER level mod A d in the range of	investment allo g an estimated el points to a R 1.7 to 5 perce	ocation. I semi-elasticity of REER gap of 2.9 percent. nt, with a midpoint of
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows	Assessment. The CA ga 0.27). The EBA REER inc Consistent with the IMF 3.3 percent. Background. After a por (from 3.8 to 0.7, and fro financing needs have in	emphasis of nonzontal en p, as assessed by IMF sta- dex model points to a REEI staff CA gap, the IMF staf stpandemic normalization m 4.2 to 2.2 percent of GE icreased in 2023.	forts to support com ff, implies a REER ga R gap of –5.1 percen f assesses the REER in 2021–22, inward a DP, respectively). The	petitiveness an p of 3.3 percen t, while the EB/ to be overvalue and outward for financial accou	d foster efficient t in 2023 (applyin A REER level mod d in the range of reign direct inves nt is open. Public	investment allo g an estimated el points to a R 1.7 to 5 perce tment declined external debt	ocation. I semi-elasticity of REER gap of 2.9 percent. nt, with a midpoint of significantly in 2023 and banks' gross
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	Assessment. The CA ga 0.27). The EBA REER ind Consistent with the IMF 3.3 percent. Background. After a por (from 3.8 to 0.7, and fro financing needs have in Assessment. France rec	stpandemic normalization m 4.2 to 2.2 percent of GE creased in 2023.	forts to support com ff, implies a REER ga 3 gap of –5.1 percen f assesses the REER in 2021–22, inward a 0P, respectively). The market risks owing	petitiveness an p of 3.3 percen t, while the EB/ to be overvalue and outward for financial account to the large ref	d foster efficient t in 2023 (applyin A REER level mod d in the range of reign direct inves nt is open. Public inancing needs o	investment allo g an estimated el points to a R 1.7 to 5 perce tment declined external debt f the sovereign	bocation. If semi-elasticity of REER gap of 2.9 percent. Int, with a midpoint of significantly in 2023 and banks' gross and banking sectors.
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures FX Intervention	Assessment. The CA ga 0.27). The EBA REER inc Consistent with the IMF 3.3 percent. Background. After a por (from 3.8 to 0.7, and fro financing needs have in Assessment. France rel Background. The euro f	stpandemic normalization m 4.2 to 2.2 percent of GE creased in 2023. mains exposed to financia	forts to support com ff, implies a REER ga R gap of –5.1 percen f assesses the REER in 2021–22, inward a IR, respectively). The market risks owing reserve currency.	petitiveness an p of 3.3 percen t, while the EB/ to be overvalue and outward for financial account to the large ref	d foster efficient t in 2023 (applyin A REER level mod d in the range of reign direct inves nt is open. Public inancing needs o	investment allo g an estimated el points to a R 1.7 to 5 perce tment declined e external debt f the sovereign	bocation. I semi-elasticity of REER gap of 2.9 percent. Int, with a midpoint of significantly in 2023 and banks' gross and banking sectors.

Table 3.9. Germany: Economy Assessment

C

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was stronger than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. In 2023, the CA strengthened versus 2022 mainly due to a normalization in the prices of energy imports, which had previously risen significantly in the wake of Russia's invasion of Ukraine. In 2024, the CA is expected to strengthen slightly from improved terms of trade and as demand from Asia recovers. Over the medium term, the CA is projected to taper slightly as higher wage growth pushes up imports.

Potential Policy Responses: Policies aimed at promoting investment and diminishing excess saving would support external rebalancing and a further reduction of the CA balance toward its norm. Over the medium term, higher fiscal deficits than currently planned are likely to be needed to ensure adequate public investment in the green transition, digitalization, and transport infrastructure. Structural reforms to foster innovation, including strengthening of venture capital financing for start-up companies and streamlining of administrative procedures to start a business, would also stimulate investment. Training to enhance employability of older workers with outdated skills could also extend working lives and reduce the need for excess saving. Industrial policies should be deployed cautiously, remain targeted to specific objectives where externalities or market failures prevent effective market solutions, and avoid favoring domestic producers over imports to minimize trade and investment distortions.

Foreign Asset	Background. The NIIP was largely unchanged at 70 percent of GDP in 2023 versus 2022. This was despite the year's CA surplus because of
and Liability	valuation losses on Germany's external assets versus liabilities over the course of the year. Germany's external assets include holdings of
Position and	sovereign securities, whose market prices fell in response to global policy rate tightening. Germany's TARGET2 claims on the Eurosystem fell
Trajectory	to €1.1 trillion at the end of 2023, down from €1.3 trillion at the end of 2022 as the European Central Bank initiated its quantitative tightening program from March 2023 onwards. Between 2017 and 2023, the NIIP increased by some 24 percent of GDP, lifting the primary income balance going forward.

Assessment. Germany's exposure to the Eurosystem remains large.

	2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 70	Gross Assets: 302	Debt Assets: 157	Gross Liab.: 232	Debt Liab.: 148
--	--------------	----------	-------------------	------------------	------------------	-----------------

Irrent Account	Background. The CA surplus came in at 5.9 percent of GDP in 2023, compared with 4.2 percent in 2022 and 8.0 percent on average over
	2017–19. The strengthening of the CA in 2023 was driven mainly by a significant increase in the goods balance, as the cost of commodity
	imports (mainly natural gas and other energy sources) declined sharply, even though goods exports weakened slightly. The increase in the
	goods balance was partially offset by a significant decrease in the services balance, mainly due to a normalization of travel, transport, and
	vaccine-related intellectual property exports after the pandemic. Primary and secondary income accounts were largely unchanged. The
	increase in the CA surplus reflected a sharp increase in Germany's CA surplus with non-euro area countries. With Asia, Germany's trade
	balance increased, reflecting, in particular, a reduced deficit with China, as both exports and imports contracted, the latter more sharply.
	The government's savings-investment balance increased slightly, in line with the tight fiscal stance. The savings-investment surpluses of
	households and firms also increased slightly, especially given lower inventory accumulation than in the previous year.

Assessment. The cyclically adjusted CA balance is estimated by the EBA model to be 5.9 percent of GDP in 2023. IMF staff assess the CA norm to be between 2.6 and 3.6 percent of GDP, with a midpoint of 3.1 percent of GDP, in line with the EBA model. The difference between the cyclically adjusted CA and the CA norm implies that the CA gap for 2023 was in the range of 2.2-3.2 percent of GDP, with a midpoint of 2.7 percent of GDP.

2023 (% GDP)	CA: 5.9	Cycl. Adj. CA: 5.9	EBA Norm: 3.1	EBA Gap: 2.7	Staff Adj.: 0.0	Staff Gap: 2.7
Real Exchange	Background. Despite a	a strong REER depreciati	on during the energy cri	sis (early 2021 to mid-2	022), the REER has reco	vered to prepandemic

levels. The REER based on consumer prices appreciated by 3.5 percent in 2023, driven by real appreciation against China and Japan. As of Rate April 2024, the REER was 0.5 percent below the 2023 average.

Assessment. The IMF staff CA gap implies a REER gap of -7.5 percent in 2023 (with an estimated elasticity of 0.36 applied). The EBA REER level and index models suggest an undervaluation of 9.3 percent and an overvaluation of 8.0 percent, respectively. Consistent with the staff CA gap, the staff assesses the REER to be undervalued, with a midpoint of 7.5 percent and a range of uncertainty of ±1.4 percent.

Capital and Background. In 2023, significant capital exports corresponding to the CA surplus were largely in the "other investments" category due to Financial transactions via the accounts of monetary and financial institutions by firms, households, and governments, as FDI and portfolio investment **Accounts: Flows** were muted, while derivatives transactions were largely unchanged. Foreign institutions reduced deposits with German banks, reflecting in and Policy part a decline in excess liquidity in the euro area. FDI (both inward and outward) as well as portfolio investment declined versus the previous Measures year, in part due to the global rate tightening environment, especially during the first three quarters of 2023. This led to reduced demand for listed and unlisted equities and higher demand for highly rated sovereign securities, with German investors buying euro area securities and foreign investors buying German securities. Assessment. Risks are limited, given Germany's safe-haven status and the strength of its external position.

FX Intervention Background. The euro has the status of a global reserve currency. and Reserves

Assessment. Reserves held by euro area economies are typically low relative to standard metrics. The currency floats freely. Level

Table 3.10. Hong Kong Special Administrative Region: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was broadly in line with the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The CA surplus (in percent of GDP) narrowed in 2023 as the goods balance deficit widened due to weaker external demand while the services balance registered a subdued recovery from COVID-era disruptions as slower growth in key markets impacted the performance of the tourism sector. The CA surplus is expected to decline moderately over the medium term with the recovery in domestic demand broadly offsetting the impact of improved external conditions. Under the Linked Exchange Rate System (LERS), short-term movements in the REER largely reflect US dollar developments. The credibility of the currency board arrangement has been ensured by a transparent set of rules governing the arrangement, large fiscal and FX reserves, strong financial regulation and supervision, the flexible economy, and a prudent fiscal framework.

Potential Policy Responses: A gradual pace of fiscal consolidation in the near term to secure a balanced recovery, while taking measures to ensure fiscal sustainability over the medium to long term given the rapidly aging population, would help ensure that the external position will remain broadly in line with fundamentals. Maintaining policies that support wage and price flexibility is crucial to preserving competitiveness under the currency board arrangement. Robust and proactive financial supervision and regulation, prudent fiscal management, flexible markets, and the LERS have worked well, and continuation of these policies will help keep the external position broadly in line with fundamentals.

Foreign Asset and Liability Position and Trajectory	Background . The NIIP decreased to 468 percent of GDP in 2023 from 492 percent in 2022. There were significant decreases in both gross assets (by 68 percentage points of GDP), and gross liabilities (44 percentage points of GDP). Both gross assets and liabilities are high, reflecting Hong Kong Special Administrative Region's status as an international financial center. Valuation effects in 2023 were sizable as the change in the NIIP (–24 percentage points of GDP) far exceeded the financial account balance (–9.2 percent of GDP).								
	Assessment. Vulnerabilities of GDP at the end of 2023) a while only 10.9 percent of g	are low given the positive and direct investments acc ross liabilities are portfolio	and sizable NIIP ount for a large s investments.	and its favorableshare of gross as	e composit ssets and li	tion. FX reserves rem iabilities (36 and 53 p	ain large (111 percent percent, respectively)		
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 468 Gross Assets: 1,620 Debt Assets ¹ : 390 Gross Liab.: 1,152 Debt Liab. ¹ : 211								
Current Account	Background. The CA surplu decline in exports due to the of COVID restrictions, which However, the income balance balance is projected to cont impact of improved external	Background. The CA surplus narrowed to 9.2 percent of GDP in 2023 from 10.2 percent in 2022. The goods deficit widened, driven by a decline in exports due to the economic slowdown in Mainland China. The services recovery moderated in part due to the lingering impact of COVID restrictions, which remained in place until late-2022, leaving the services surplus stable but well below the pre-pandemic level. However, the income balance rose strongly, driven by higher investment income flows, in part reflecting higher global interest rates. The CA balance is projected to continue to gradually decline over the medium term with the recovery in domestic demand broadly offsetting the impact of improved external conditions.							
	Assessment. After adjusting for cyclical and other temporary factors, ² the CA surplus is estimated to be 9.5 percent of GDP in 2023, compared to the mid-point of the staff assessed range for the norm of 10.4 percent of GDP (9.5 to 11.3 percent of GDP). The IMF staff-assessed CA gap range hence is between -1.8 to 0 percent of GDP, with an estimated mid-point of -0.9 percent of GDP. Since Hong Kong Special Administrative Region is not in the EBA sample, the CA norm was estimated by applying EBA-estimated coefficients to Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and was adjusted for measurement issues related to the large valuation effects in the NIIP and the discrementies between the temporary for the staff of the staf								
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 9.2 C	ycl. Adj. CA: 8.8 EB	A Norm: —	EBA Gap: -	_	Staff Adj.: —	Staff Gap: -0.9		
Real Exchange Rate	Background. Under the currency board arrangement, REER dynamics are largely determined by U.S. dollar developments and inflation differentials between the United States and Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. The REER appreciated by 2.6 percent in 2023, somewhat slower than the 3.7 percent appreciation in 2022. As of April 2024, the REER had appreciated by 2.6 percent relative to the 2023 average.								
	REER gap range of 0 to 4.5	percent and based on the a	average CA-REEF	R elasticity of abo	out 0.4). ⁴				
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	Background. As an international financial center, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region has an open capital account. The net outflow in non-reserve financial flows moderated to 11.9 percent of GDP in 2023, well below the 22.9 percent recorded in 2022, driven by net portfolio and other investment outflows. The financial account is typically very volatile, reflecting financial conditions in Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and Mainland China (transmitted through growing cross-border financial linkages), ⁵ shifting expectations of U.S. monetary policy, and related arbitraging in the FX and rates markets.								
	Assessment. Large financial resources, proactive financial supervision and regulation, and deep and liquid markets should help limit the risks from potentially volatile capital flows. The greater financial exposure to Mainland China could also pose risks to the financial sector through real sector linkages, particularly trade and tourism, credit exposures of the banking sector, and fundraising by Chinese firms in local financial markets. However, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region's banking system, with its high capital buffers and profitability, is assessed to be broadly resilient to macro-financial shocks.								
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background . The Hong Kon conducted FX operations as Total reserve assets decreas end of 2022.	g dollar has continued to the part of the currency board sed to 111 percent of GDP	ade in a smooth operations, selli at the end of 202	and orderly mar ing US\$6.6 billion 23 (or 1.8 times t	nner within n, substanti the moneta	the Convertibility Zo ially less than US\$30 ary base) from 118 pe	ne in 2023. The HKMA .8 billion sold in 2022. ercent of GDP at the		
	Assessment. FX reserves an adjustment inherent in the o significant fiscal reserves (a	re currently adequate for p currency board system. Des about 25 percent of GDP at	recautionary pur spite a large fisc the end of 2023	poses and shoul al deficit in 2023) built up through	d continue 3, Hong Kon h strong fis	to evolve in line with ng Special Administra scal discipline in prev	the automatic tive Region still holds ious years.		

Table 3.11. India: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment fundamentals and of prospects, demogra global financial com- than its estimated m and the liberalization relatively restricted,	t: The external position in fis lesirable policies, suggesting phic trends, and developmen ditions and commodity prices form in fiscal year 2024/25 b n of FDI and portfolio flows, v weighing on both exports ar	cal year 2023/24 (ending in I that the CA deficit was some it needs. External vulnerabilit s. In part reflecting buoyant s ut converge to it over the me which enabled India's inclusi ind imports.	March 2024) was moderately ewhat smaller than implied b ties stem from weakening de services exports and steady o edium term. The authorities h on in global bond indices, bu	stronger than the level impli- y India's level of per capita ir mand in some partner countr- il prices, the CA deficit is pro- ave made some progress in e t India's trade and capital acc	ed by medium-term icome, favorable growth ies and potentially volatile jected to remain smaller external trade promotion count regimes remain		
Potential Policy Res contribute to raising and negotiation of fr liberalization and a induce private invest be pursued cautious trade and investment	ponses: In the near term, the the CA deficit, thereby reduci ee trade agreements with ma reduction in import tariffs, esp tment, and deepening integra ly, remain narrowly targeted to th distortions. Exchange rate fi	government's additional infra ng the positive CA gap. To fac in trading partners to provide ecially on intermediate goods tion into global value chains a to specific objectives where e lexibility should act as the ma	astructure spending, along wit illitate external rebalancing ov a sustainable boost to export s. Structural reforms should ai and attracting FDI, hence mitig xternalities or market failures in shock absorber, with interv	h the expected strengthening ter the medium term, develop is should be accompanied by m at improving the business jating external vulnerabilities. prevent effective market solu ention limited to addressing o	of private consumption, will ment of export infrastructure further investment regime environment, aiming to Industrial policies should tions, and aim to minimize lisorderly market conditions.		
Foreign Asset and Liability Position and Trajectory	Background. As of the end 2022, reflecting valuation cl increased to 27.9 percent of from 37.2 percent of GDP at included mostly debt and FI	of 2023, India's NIIP had imp nanges and a base effect of f f GDP (from 26.1 percent of C t the end of the previous year DI.	roved marginally to –10.6 pe fast nominal GDP growth mor GDP at the end of 2022), whil r. The bulk of assets were in	rcent of GDP, from -11.1 per e than offsetting the CA defic e gross foreign liabilities rose the form of official reserves a	cent of GDP at the end of it. Gross foreign assets to 38.5 percent of GDP, and FDI, whereas liabilities		
	Assessment. With the CA do ratio is expected to remain resulting from the projected rollover risks are limited. The including focus on attraction	eficit projected to remain bel broadly unchanged over the I CA deficits. India's external le moderate level of foreign I g FDI.	ow its medium-term norm in medium term, as robust nom debt liabilities are relatively iabilities reflects India's incre	2024 and converge to it by 2 inal GDP expansion will offse low compared with those of i mental approach to capital a	029, the NIIP-to-GDP t the nominal NIIP decline ts peers, and short-term .ccount liberalization,		
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: -10.6	Gross Assets: 27.9	Debt Assets: 3.1	Gross Liab.: 38.5	Debt Liab.: 17.1		
Current Account	Background. The CA deficit is previous year, supported by in savings from 31 to 32.5 perce (in part reflecting India's proa deficit. Trade restrictions—in on both exports and imports. domestic demand. Over the n Assessment. The EBA cyclic norm of -2.2 percent of GDP to be 1.7 percent of GDP, wit balance and changes in FX to In IMF staff's judgment, a C/ public and private external to	s estimated to have narrowed mproving terms of trade and fi- ent of GDP, while gross domest ctive diversification of oil impo- cluding food export restrictions. The CA deficit is projected to i nedium term, the CA deficit is sally adjusted CA balance store?, with a standard error of 0.6 thin a range of 1.1 to 2.3 perce- reserves amid elevated capita A deficit of up to 2½ percent porrowing, and portfolio flows	to about 0.8 percent of GDP in scal consolidation. From the di tic investment grew modestly is rt sources), buoyant services of s and an information technolog ncrease to about 1.4 percent of projected to converge to its no od at -0.5 percent of GDP in percent, implying a CA gap of cent of GDP. Positive policy co al controls, while negative co of GDP is financeable in the no s, though the latter may remain	fiscal year 2023/24, from 2.0 p pomestic perspective, it correspondences from 33 to 33.3 percent of GDP exports increasingly offset the ty hardware import management of GDP in fiscal year 2024/25, la rm of about 2.2 percent of GDF fiscal year 2023/24. The EBA of 1.7 percent of GDP. IMF stat ntributions to the CA gap ster intributions come mostly from nedium term by a combination in susceptible to changes in g	ercent of GDP in the onded to an increase in gross Amid steady oil prices contained merchandise trade nt system—are weighing urgely reflecting rebounding 2. CA regression estimates a if thus assesses the CA gap n mostly from the fiscal the domestic credit gap. n of steady FDI inflows, Jlobal risk appetite.		
2023 (% GDP)	CA: -0.8 Cy	rcl. Adj. CA: –0.5 EBA N	Norm: –2.2 EBA Gap	: 1.7 Staff Adj.: 0.0	Staff Gap: 1.7		
Real Exchange Rate	Background. In early 2023, on the rupee. These pressur of 2023 and early 2024. The 1.8 percent above the 2023 Assessment. The IMF staff models suggest an overvalu assesses the REER gap to b	policy tightening in advance es abated and reversed whe e average REER in 2023 depre average. CA gap implies a REER gap o lation of 5.9 percent and 5.2 e in the range of –12.7 to –6	d economies and portfolio in n the CA deficit narrowed an eciated by about 1.6 percent f –9.4 percent (with an estin percent, respectively. Consis 5.1 percent, with a midpoint of	vestment outflows resulted in d global investor sentiment in from its 2022 average. As of nated elasticity of 0.18). EBA tent with the staff CA gap, ho of –9.4 percent, for fiscal yea	depreciation pressures nproved in the second half April 2024, the REER was REER index and level wever, the IMF staff rr 2023/24.		
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	 Background. In fiscal year 2023/24, net FDI inflows decreased to about 0.3 percent of GDP, mostly reflecting rising repatriations and disinvestment. Net portfolio investment inflows strengthened to about 1.2 percent of GDP in anticipation of India's inclusion in global bond indices. Other investments, reflecting mostly debt-creating inflows, remained at about 1.1 percent of GDP. During the year, the Indian authorities made further steps toward capital account liberalization by widening the scope of government bonds available for foreign investors, which should help moderate the interest costs associated with financing the CA deficit. Assessment. While net FDI inflows covered most of the CA deficit in fiscal year 2023/24, the decline in FDI inflows as share of GDP warrants further structural reforms and improvement of the investment regime to promote FDI. Volatile portfolio flows are sensitive to changes in global financial conditions and country risk premia. The planned inclusion of India in international bond indices has significantly increased foreign anticipation in India's hourd market (though from a low base) and supported net portfolio inflows that more than covered the CA deficit 						
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background. Official FX rest and valuation changes. Duri contributed to the rupee's ex Assessment. Various criteri represented about 219 perc exchange rate arrangement generally deep and liquid FX	erves increased in 2023 and ng this time, the Reserve Ban kchange rate stability. Reserv a confirm that the official FX ent of short-term debt (on re), ¹ and more than eight mont K markets, limited FX mismat	early 2024, reflecting a decre ik of India's FX interventions es stood at \$623.2 billion at i reserves are adequate for pr sidual maturity), 109 percent ths of import coverage. In vie tches, well-anchored inflatior	asing CA deficit, FDI and port aimed to smooth excessive m the end of 2023 and \$645.6 b recautionary purposes. As of to f the IMF's composite metr w of India's moderately stron expectations, and adequate	olio investment inflows, arket volatility and illion at end-March 2024. the end of 2023, they ic (for a <i>de facto</i> stabilized g external position, reserves level, Integrated		
	Policy Framework analysis i	indicates that FX intervention	is should be limited to addres	ssing disorderly market cond	tions.		

Table 3.12. Indonesia: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was broadly in line with the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. In the medium term, exchange rate flexibility and structural policies are expected to contain the CA deficit. Although external financing needs appear sustainable, Indonesia's reliance on foreign portfolio investment exposes the economy to sharp swings in market sentiment and risk premiums, and to fluctuations in global financial conditions.

Potential Policy Responses: The projected fiscal expansion in the coming years may support import growth and increase the CA deficit. Maintaining external balance will thus require structural reforms to enhance productivity and facilitate post-COVID-19 sectoral adjustments. Reforms should include (1) higher infrastructure investment and higher social spending to foster human capital development and strengthen the social safety net; (2) a reduction of restrictions on inward FDI and external trade, including by moving away from nontariff barriers, (as discussed in the 2023 Article IV consultation); and (3) promotion of greater labor market flexibility. Flexibility of the exchange rate should continue to support external stability with the ongoing structural transformation of the Indonesian economy.

Foreign Asset and Liability Position and Trajectory	Background. Indonesia's NIIP remained unchanged at –19.0 percent of GDP at the end of 2023, reflecting an increase of 1.1 percentage points in gross external assets and liabilities, respectively to 35.3 and 54.3 percent of GDP. The increase in gross external assets was supported by higher FDI abroad, portfolio investment, and reserve assets. In turn, the increase in gross external liabilities reflected fully the increase in FDI inflows. Indonesia's gross external debt remained moderate at 29.8 percent of GDP at the end of 2023, declining marginally from 30.1 percent of GDP in 2022. External rollover risks in the short term are contained as reflected in the large share of long-term debt. Assessment. The level and composition of the NIIP and gross external debt indicate that Indonesia's external position is sustainable and subject to limited rollover risk. But the relatively high dependence on foreign portfolio investment (20.1 percent of GDP in 2023) makes Indonesia highly vulnerable to swings in global financial market sentiment. The NIIP as a percent of GDP is projected to stabilize at current levels in the medium term, as robust nominal GDP growth offsets the projected small CA deficits.							
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: -19.0 Gross Assets: 35.3 Res. Assets: 10.7 Gross Liab.: 54.3 Debt Liab.: 29.8							
Current Account	Background. The CA balance posted a small deficit of 0.1 percent in 2023, after two consecutive years of surpluses (1.0 percent in 2022). The deficit in 2023 was primarily driven by the non-oil and gas trade balance, reflecting weaker growth in major trading partners, and a broad-based decline in commodity prices. The resilience in domestic demand translated into a smaller decline in imports relative to exports. On the savings-investment side, higher government revenue was broadly offset by lower private savings and higher private investment. The CA deficit is expected to widen moderately in 2024 due to lower commodity prices, while robust domestic demand will support import growth. The CA deficit is expected to remain close to the norm throughout the projection horizon. Assessment. Staff estimates a CA gap of 0.8 percent of GDP for 2023, consistent with an estimated cyclically adjusted CA deficit of -0.3 percent of GDP, a staff assessed norm of -0.8 percent of GDP, and an adjustor of 0.3 percentage point for demographics. ¹ Considering the uncertainty in the estimation of the norm, the CA gap for 2023 is in the range of 0.3 to 1.3 percent of GDP. EBA-identified policy gaps are estimated at 1.7 percent of GDP, driven by a tighter fiscal stance than in other countries (1.3 percent) and underspending on health care							
2023 (% GDP)	CA: -0.1 Cycl. Adj. CA: -0.3 EBA Norm: -0.8 EBA Gap: 0.5 Staff Adj.: 0.3 Staff Gap: 0.8							
Real Exchange Rate	 Background. The average REER depreciated by 3.7 percent in 2023 compared to the average level in 2022 (or 3.2 percent relative to the pre-COVID-19 2016–19 average). The depreciation materialized on the back of the rapid tightening in global monetary policy and high volatility in global financial markets. The rupiah managed to recover some of the losses against major currencies toward the end of 2023, as a result of easier global financial conditions, and Bank Indonesia's policy responses (including a one-off interest rate hike). As of the end of April 2024, the REER was 2.4 percent below its 2023 average. Assessment. The staff CA gap estimate of 0.8 percent of GDP implies a REER gap of –5.0 percent (applying an estimated elasticity of 0.16). The REER index and level models point to REER gaps of 0.8 percent and –15.9 percent, respectively. Consistent with the staff CA gap, staff assesses the REER gap in the range of –7.9 to –2.1 percent, with a midpoint of –5.0 percent. 							
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	 Background. Net capital and financial flows returned to positive territory in 2023 (0.6 percent of GDP), after negative net flows of -0.7 percent of GDP in 2022. The recovery in financial inflows was driven by portfolio investment, particularly concentrated in the last quarter of 2023, reflecting the introduction of several open market instruments by Bank Indonesia to attract capital flows to support international reserves. Net FDI inflows continued to decline, to 1.1 percent of GDP in 2023 (1.4 percent in 2022 and 1.5 percent in 2021). The share of nonresident holdings of rupiah-denominated government bonds ticked up by 0.6 percentage point to 14.9 percent in 2023, but remain considerably below the 39 percent share in 2019. Assessment. The recovery in portfolio investment flows in 2023 helped support the small negative CA deficit in 2023. Continued strong policies, focused on safeguarding the fiscal position, advancing financial deepening, and easing broad-based structural reforms that promote an enabling business environment, should help sustain capital inflows in the medium term. particularly in periods of high market volatility. 							
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background. Since mid-2013, Indonesia has had a more flexible exchange rate policy framework. Official foreign reserves increased to US\$146 billion in 2023, from US\$137 billion in 2022, reflecting the increase in deposits abroad and the withdrawal of government's foreign loans during the year, which more than offset the decline in securities from FX intervention.							
	Assessment. The current level of reserves (10.7 percent of GDP, 123 percent of the IMF's reserve adequacy metric, and 6.1 months of prospective imports) should provide a sufficient buffer against external shocks. Predetermined drains also seem manageable, although they have increased related to short positions on financial derivatives. In line with the Integrated Policy Framework, the use of FX interventions remains appropriate under certain shocks and circumstances, particularly when shocks trigger spikes in market premia given shallow FX markets, while remaining mindful of preserving reserve buffers.							

Table 3.13. Italy: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external sector position in 2023 was weaker than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The CA balance increased by 2.1 percentage points to a surplus of 0.5 percent of GDP, largely on the fall in the energy import bill. The capital account maintained a surplus of 0.8 percent of GDP on inflows of NextGenerationEU grants. The rise in the external position reflected a 2.2 percentage point decrease in the investment rate mainly on large inventory decumulation by the private sector in response to the easing of global supply and energy terms of trade shocks. The saving rate declined modestly. Chronic weak productivity, rapid population aging, and uncertain medium-term growth prospects could depress investment once tax credits and fiscal programs under the National Recovery and Resilience Plan are completed, with the CA rising toward its norm.

Potential Policy Responses: Comprehensive structural reforms are needed to encourage an increase in private investment in order to modernize the capital stock and boost potential growth. Simultaneously strengthening the external position will require an increase in public sector saving, supported by a frontloaded fiscal adjustment program. Vulnerabilities associated with rollover of public debt would be reduced through a frontloaded fiscal adjustment, including improved budget efficiency, containing social benefit spending, undertaking comprehensive and progressive tax reform and fully implementing the National Recovery and Resilience Plan. Industrial policies should be deployed cautiously, remain targeted to specific objectives where externalities or market failures prevent effective market solutions, and avoid favoring domestic producers over imports to minimize trade and investment distortions.

Foreign Asset
and LiabilityBackground. Italy's NIIP increased to 7.4 percent of GDP at the end of 2023, reflecting the modest CA and capital account surpluses and
small valuation gains. Gross foreign assets and liabilities decreased to 169.4 and 162.0 percent of GDP, respectively. TARGET 2 liabilities
declined notably from their peak of 36 percent of GDP in 2022 to 25 percent of GDP at the end of 2023, driven mainly by the rebound in net
foreign financial inflows (mainly residents' repatriation of foreign assets), while foreign liabilities fell. Over half of external debt is attributed
to the public sector (general government and Bank of Italy), and nearly 40 percent of debt is short term. External debt owed by the Bank of
Italy (30 percent of GDP) relates to its Target 2 liabilities to other Eurosystem central banks, which are short term and remunerated at the
European Central Bank policy rate.

Assessment. Further strengthening public balance sheets and undertaking structural reforms would lessen vulnerabilities associated with the high public debt, reinvigorate economic growth, and reduce the potential for negative feedback loops between the debt stock and debt-servicing costs.

2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 7.4	Gross Assets: 1	169.4 Debt As	sets: 44.2	Gross Liab.: 162.0		Debt Liab.: 121.8		
Current Account	due to the adverse energy price shock. The CA balance shifted from a deficit of 1.6 percent of GDP in 2022 to a surplus of 0.5 percent of GDP in 2023, primarily due to a sharp reduction in energy imports on the abatement of the previous energy terms-of-trade shock. While exports to non-EU countries grew strongly, overall performance weakened on the decline in exports to other EU members, leading to a 1.8 percentage point drop in the goods exports to GDP ratio. The primary income balance declined by more than 1 percent of GDP largely on the increase in interest payments on TARGET 2 liabilities. From a saving-investment perspective, the CA improvement was supported by a large reduction in private investment, mainly due to inventory decumulation. Over the forecast horizon, the CA is expected to gradually increase, but remain somewhat below the norm on account of high EU-financed public investment and a slow improvement in government saving. Assessment. The cyclically adjusted CA is estimated at 0.8 percent of GDP for 2023, 3.0 percentage points below the EBA-estimated CA norm of 3.8 percent of GDP. Taking into account uncertainty around the estimate, the IMF staff assesses the CA gap to be in the range of -3.7 to -2.3 percent of GDP, with a midpoint of -3.0 percent of GDP. The fiscal policy gap and credit policy gap contributed -1.2 percent of GDP and 1.0 percent of GDP to the total policy gap (-0.2 percent of GDP), reflecting the sizable fiscal deficit and the longstanding credit shortfall.								
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 0.5	Cycl. Adj. CA: 0.8	EBA Norm: 3.8	EBA Gap:	-3.0 Staff Adj	.: 0.0	Staff Gap: -3.0		
Real Exchange Rate	Background. During 2017–22, the CPI-based REER depreciated by 2.5 percent, while the ULC-based REER depreciated by 1.1 percent. During 2023, the CPI-based REER appreciated by 2.8 percent due to the strengthening of the euro, but partly offset by Italy's relatively lower inflation than its trading partners. As of April 2024, the CPI-based REER depreciated by 1.7 percent relative to the 2023 average. Assessment. The IMF staff CA gap implies a REER gap of 11.5 percent in 2023 (with an estimated elasticity of 0.26 applied). The level and index CPI-based REER models suggest an overvaluation in 2023 of 10.8 percent and 8.9 percent, respectively. Based on the IMF staff CA gap, the staff assesses a BEER gap to be in the range of 8.8 to 14.2 percent with a midpoint of 11.5 percent								
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	 Background. The capital account balance recorded a surplus of 0.8 percent of GDP in 2023 (higher than in 2022) due to receipt of NextGenerationEU grants. The financial account posted net outflows of 1.7 percent of GDP in 2023, as the reduction in TARGET 2 liabilities by €165 billion was partly offset by repatriation of foreign assets by the resident nonfinancial sector. Assessment. The tightening of monetary policy through September 2023 pushed up yields on government bonds, which have since decreased on expectations of monetary policy loosening. Large refinancing needs of the sovereign and the banking sector suggest Italy remains vulnerable to market volatility. 								
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background. The euro h Assessment. Reserves	as the status of a glob neld by the euro area a	al reserve currency. Ita re typically low relative	ly's reserves rei e to standard me	mained largely unchang etrics, but the currency	ed in 202 is freely fl	3. oating.		

Table 3.14. Japan: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 is assessed as broadly in line with the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The CA surplus increased to 3.6 percent of GDP in 2023 from 2.1 percent in 2022. The lower primary income surplus is more than offset by higher inbound tourism and auto exports (as supply disruptions fade) and reduced imports from lower commodity prices. Japan's CA surplus is expected to continue over the medium term, mainly driven by its primary income surplus, arising from a large positive NIIP and a high rate of return on net foreign assets.

Potential Policy Responses: Policies focused on structural reforms and fiscal sustainability (a credible and specific medium-term fiscal consolidation plan) are needed to maintain an external position consistent with medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. These "desirable" policies will help shift the drivers of the economy from an unsustainable public saving-investment position to one where investment is driven by the private sector, which would raise Japan's potential growth over the medium term. Priority should be given to labor market and fiscal reforms that support private demand, raise potential growth, and promote digital and green investment. While fiscal consolidation will push the CA surplus higher, this would be offset by higher investment and a decrease in private savings from pandemic-era highs and due to demographic-related declines. Industrial policies should be pursued cautiously and remain narrowly targeted to specific objectives where externalities or market failures prevent effective market solutions and aim to minimize trade and investment distortions. Japan's global leadership role to promote more open, stable, and transparent trade policies in regional/multilateral trade agreements should be prioritized.

9 · · · · · · · · · ·	The second se				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
Foreign Asset and Liability Position and Trajectory	Background. Japan's NIIP rose to 80 percent of GDP at the end of 2023, from 72.6 percent in 2022, and significantly higher than the pre-pandemic (2016–19) average of 61.7 percent. This was driven by an increase in both net FDI and portfolio outflows and the positive valuation effects from yen depreciation. Japan holds the world's largest stock of net foreign assets, valued at \$3.4 trillion at the end of 2023. Assessment. Japan's foreign asset holdings are well diversified, both by geography and risk classes. As of the end of 2023, gross foreign assets largely comprised portfolio investment accounting for about 41 percent of the total, followed by FDI with 21 percent. Of that portfolio investment, about 20 percent was yen denominated and 56 percent dollar denominated. In the event of yen appreciation against the dollar, the risk of negative valuation effects could materialize. Vulnerabilities associated with liabilities are contained, given that equity and direct investment account for about 33 percent of gross foreign liabilities. Owing to the continued depreciation of the yen, the NIIP continued to generate a net annual investment income return of 7.4 percent in 2023, lower than 8.7 percent in 2022, but still significantly larger than the pre-pandemic (2016–19) average of 6.3 percent. Japan's large positive NIIP is partly related to the asset accumulation for old-age consumption: a gradual decumulation of such assets is expected over the long term.								
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 80.0	Gross Assets: 24	47.5 Debt Ass	sets: 88.2	Gross Liab.: 167.5		Debt Liab.: 96.1		
Current Account	Background. Japan's CA surplus reflects a sizable primary income balance owing to its large net foreign asset position. The CA surplus increased to 3.6 percent of GDP in 2023 from 2.1 percent in 2022, supported by higher net savings by the private sector which more than offset the decline in net savings by the public sector. The merchandise trade deficit improved from –2.7 percent of GDP in 2022 to –1.1 percent in 2023, driven by lower prices for commodity imports. Offshoring of production over the years has limited the positive impact of yen depreciation on exports, while auto exports have surged on the back of supply-side improvements. The surge in inbound tourism also boosted the services balance which improved from a deficit of 1 percent in 2022 to 0.5 percent in 2023. The primary income balance declined to 5.9 percent from a historic high of 6.3 percent of GDP in 2022. The lower primary income balance is more than offset by a 2 percent of GDP improvement in the overall trade (good and services) balance. In the medium term, the CA balance is projected to average 3.5 percent. Assessment. The 2023 cyclically adjusted CA is 3.7 percent of GDP, and the cyclically adjusted CA norm is 4 percent of GDP (with a range between 2.9 and 5.1 percent of GDP). The 2023 CA gap midpoint is assessed at –0.3 percent of GDP, with a range between –1.4 and 0.8 percent of GDP. The EBA-identified policy gaps reflect relatively greater medium-term fiscal consolidation needs, as well as a positive credit gap, in relation to medium-term desired policy. ¹ The unexplained residual of the assessment potentially reflects structural impediments and exprise and								
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 3.6	Cycl. Adj. CA: 3.7	EBA Norm: 4.0	EBA Gap:	–0.3 Staff Adj	: 0.0	Staff Gap: -0.3		
Real Exchange Rate	 Background. The REER continued to depreciate in 2023 by close to 5 percent, following a depreciation of 14 percent in 2022. This reflects relatively higher inflation in Japan's major trading partners combined with the yen's nominal depreciation against major currencies as a result of widening real interest rate differentials amid global monetary tightening. As of April 2024, the REER was 6.9 percent below the 2023 average. Assessment. The IMF staff CA gap implies a REER gap of 1.7 percent in 2023 (with an estimated elasticity of 0.18 applied). The EBA REER level and index models deliver gaps of -31.7 and -35.5 percent, respectively. Consistent with the IMF staff CA gap, the REER gap is assessed to be in the range of								
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	Background. The financial account recorded net outflows in 2023, mirroring the CA surplus, and increased to 3.9 percent of GDP in 2023 from 1.1 percent in 2022. Net FDI outflows at 3.8 percent of GDP are primarily driven by outward FDI flows to Asia, Europe, and North America. Net portfolio outflows at 4.7 percent of GDP, in comparison to net inflows of 3.4 percent of GDP in 2022, reflect lower demand for yen-denominated assets due to divergence in monetary policy. Assessment. Vulnerabilities are limited. Inward investment tends to be equity based, and the home bias of Japanese investors is strong.								
FX Intervention and Reserves	Background. Reflecting le	egacy accumulation, re	eserves stood at \$1.1 tr	rillion, or about	26 percent of GDP, at th	e end of 20	22. They remained		
Level	Assessment. The exchance circumstances such as di exposures, shallow marke	ge rate is free floating, sorderly market condites, or because inflatio	and there were no FX tions or when economic n expectations are at ri	interventions in es are vulnerat isk of de-ancho	n 2023. FX interventions ole to sharp currency flu pring.	should be l ctuations be	limited to exceptional ecause of unhedged		

Table 3.15. Korea: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was moderately weaker than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. While lower import values due to declining commodity prices contributed to an increase in the CA surplus in 2023 relative to 2022, other factors prevented a larger improvement, notably weaker semiconductor exports reflecting a downturn in the global semiconductor cycle. The strong recovery of semiconductor exports is expected to significantly increase the CA surplus in 2024 and in the medium term. Risks from geopolitical tensions, if they materialized, could impede trade and investment.

Potential Policy Responses: The restrictive monetary and fiscal policy stance is appropriate and will contain domestic demand and import growth, supporting Korea's external position in the near term. Over the medium term, an increase in precautionary savings in light of the aging-related rise of spending on healthcare and pension, orderly deleveraging of private debt and policies to mitigate risks arising from geopolitical tensions would help to keep external position strong. Exchange rate flexibility, with intervention limited to preventing disorderly market conditions, would help the economy absorb external shocks. Industrial policies should remain narrowly targeted to specific objectives and aim to minimize trade and investment distortions.

Foreign Asset and Liability Position and Trajectory	Background. The NIIP has been positive and has significantly increased in the past decade. In 2023, the nominal value of NIIP improved slightly (\$8.5 billion) while the NIIP-to-GDP ratio decreased modestly (by about 0.5 percent of GDP reflecting the denominator effect) to 45.5 percent. The NIIP is projected to rise further in the medium term, to about 60 percent of GDP in 2029, on the back of increasing CA surpluses.								
	Assessment. The large and positive NIIP is a key factor supporting external sustainability. Foreign asset holdings are diversified, with about 35 percent in equity or debt securities. About 60 percent of foreign assets are denominated in dollars, implying that depreciation of the won can have large positive valuation effects in aggregate. The structure of liabilities further limits vulnerabilities, with direct investment and long-term loans together accounting for 55 percent of liabilities and 70 percent of liabilities denominated in Korean won.								
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 45.5 Gross Assets: 133.5 Debt Assets: 60.0 Gross Liab.: 88.0 Debt Liab.: 38.7								
Current Account	Background. The CA surplus increased from 1.5 percent of GDP in 2022 to 2.1 percent of GDP in 2023, with lowered commodity imports and the improvements in primary income more than offsetting the decline in semiconductor exports and service balances. From a saving-investment perspective, a drop in the investment rate drove the increase in surplus in 2023 despite a decline in the saving rate from pandemic-era highs. Since the pandemic, the developments in CA have been driven significantly by the global semiconductor cycle. Following a surge during 2021-22, semiconductor exports decreased sharply by about 2 percent of GDP in 2023. But a strong recovery is ongoing, with semiconductor exports already up by about 50 percent (y/y) in the first quarter of 2024, and the recovery is expected to continue in 2024. Sustained growth in semiconductor exports over the medium term, coupled with the expected stabilization of commodity import prices, is projected to increase the CA surplus to 4.5 percent of GDP in 2029. In the first quarter of 2024, the CA surplus already reached \$16.8 billion, equivalent to about 1 percent of GDP.								
	Assessment. The EBA CA model estimates a sizeable gap between the cyclically adjusted CA of 2.3 percent of GDP and the CA norm of 4.4 percent of GDP (with a standard error of 0.9 percent of GDP), while the 2023 surplus was already at a level that would maintain the NIIP at its current level. Based on the CA model, the IMF staff estimates the 2023 CA gap midpoint at -2.0 percent of GDP, with a range of -2.9 to -1.2 percent of GDP. A large unexplained residual potentially reflects country-specific factors not included in the model. The net contribution of the relative policy gap is 0.6 percent of GDP, with contributions from a lower health spending and tighter fiscal stance outweighing a more positive credit gap compared to the rest of the world.								
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 2.1 Cycl. Adj. CA: 2.3 EBA Norm: 4.4 EBA Gap: –2.0 Staff Adj.: 0 Staff Gap: –2.0								
Real Exchange Rate	 Background. The REER appreciated by about 2.1 percent in 2023 on average relative to 2022, reversing the sustained depreciation (11.4 percent accumulated) during 2019-2022. The REER appreciation in 2023 was mainly driven by won appreciation against currencies of some major trading partners, notably the Japanese Yen and Chinese Yuan. As of April 2024, the REER depreciated by about 2 percent relative to the 2023 average. Assessment. The EBA CA gap implies a REER overvaluation of 6.1 percent (with an estimated elasticity of 0.33 applied). However, the EBA 								
	REER index model estimates an undervaluation of 4.1 percent, while the EBA level model estimates a 3.1 percent undervaluation. Consistent with the staff CA gap, staff assesses the REER gap to be in the range of 3.4 to 8.7 percent, with a midpoint of 6.1 percent. Given the wide range of estimates from different approaches, the estimated REER gap should be interpreted with caution.								
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows	Background. Net capital outflows, which have been on a declining trend since 2016, further reduced to 2 percent of GDP in 2023 from 3.3 percent of GDP in 2022. Both net FDI and portfolio outflows dropped by about 1.2 percent of GDP, reflecting a reduction of residents' outbound direct investment and the resumption of foreigners' net purchases of equity securities.								
and Policy Measures	Assessment. Amid multiple global shocks in recent years, Korea has demonstrated remarkable resilience in weathering short-term capital flow volatility. The present configuration of capital flows appears sustainable over the medium term, mirroring the projected increase in the CA surplus and NIIP.								
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background . Korea has a floating exchange rate. Based on IMF staff estimates and published data, FX intervention since 2015 has been two-sided. In 2023, FX intervention significantly reduced from net sales of \$45.9 billion (2.8 percent of GDP) in 2022 to \$9.6 billion (0.6 percent of GDP), mostly conducted in the second and third quarters during periods of heightened exchange rate volatility. As of the end-2023, reserves stood at \$420 billion, lower than \$423 billion as of end-2022.								
	Assessment. Exchange rate volatility generally does not pose significant economic challenges for Korea, given limited currency mismatches and manageable passthrough to consumer prices. FX market depth, while ranking higher than in most emerging markets, still lags advanced economy peers. In periods of high global financial market uncertainty, there could be herding behavior amid temporarily shallow markets, leading to sharp FX movements and impaired market functioning. Intervention should thus remain limited to preventing disorderly market conditions. As of end-2023, FX reserves were about 25 percent of GDP, 2.2 times short-term debt, 6.6 months of imports, or 14 percent of M2. Systemwide stress tests also show that reserves provide sufficient FX liquidity buffers under a wide range of plausible shocks.								

Table 3.16. Malaysia: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: Malaysia's external position in 2023 is assessed to be stronger than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The CA surplus, after strengthening due to pandemic-related exports, narrowed significantly in 2023 due to a moderation in external demand and a high primary income deficit. Over the medium term, the CA surplus is projected to widen as the services balance improves due to a recovery in tourism and as imports moderate.

Potential Policy Responses: In the near term, flexibility of exchange rate should be preserved to facilitate external adjustments that are driven by fundamentals. Over the medium term, policies should be implemented to strengthen social safety nets and public health care, including through a reorientation of fiscal spending. Structural policies should be implemented to encourage private investment and improve productivity growth, including through a reduction in the skills mismatch, improvements in the quality of education, and measures to improve access to credit for small and medium enterprises. Industrial policy should remain narrowly targeted to specific objectives where market solutions cannot deliver due to the presence of externalities or other market imperfections and should avoid discriminatory measures that distort trade and investment flows.

Foreign Asset
and LiabilityBackground. Malaysia's NIIP has averaged about 1 percent of GDP over the last decade, increasing to 5.8 percent at the end of 2021,
supported by strong CA surpluses during the pandemic that increased reserve assets. As of the end of 2022, NIIP declined to 3.0 percent
of GDP; however, it increased to 6.8 percent of GDP by the end of 2023 due to an increase in the acquisition of assets abroad in the form
of portfolio and direct investments. Total external debt remains manageable, increasing to 68 percent of GDP at the end of 2023, from
64 percent at the end of 2022. One-third of external debt is ringgit-denominated, hence, not exposed to valuation risks. Short-term external
debt, accounting for 42 percent of external debt, is also manageable, as most of it is either in the form of largely stable intragroup borrowing
or trade credits.

Assessment. Malaysia's NIIP is expected to increase over the medium term, supported by the projected CA surpluses. Malaysia's balance sheet strength, along with exchange rate flexibility and increased domestic investor participation, would help support resilience to a variety of shocks, including outflows associated with external liabilities.

2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 6.8	Gross Assets: 13	32.0 Debt Ass	ets: 28.6	Gross	s Liab.: 125.2	Debt Liab.: 24.6	
Current Account	 Background. Malaysia's CA surplus averaged 3.2 percent over the last five years, supported by robust external goods demand. During the pandemic, despite a decline in travel receipts, external demand for pandemic-related goods and electrical and electronic products strengthened the CA balance. CA surplus declined to 1.5 percent of GDP in 2023, the lowest in over two decades. This decline was driven by a moderation in external demand, because of a slowdown in major trading partners and a decline in demand for electrical and electronic products amid a global technology downcycle. The declining trend in the CA surplus over the past five years is also reflective of the narrowing savings-investment gap, mainly driven by an increase in private investment and decline in public savings. The CA surplus is expected to grow over the medium term, as tourism recovers and improves the services balance. Assessment. The EBA CA model estimates a cyclically adjusted CA balance of 1.8 percent of GDP and a norm of -0.3 percent, implying a model-assed CA gap of 2.1 percent. Staff assess a CA gap in the range of 1.6 to 2.7 percent, with a midpoint estimate of 2.1 percent. Identified policy gaps partly explain the CA gap, with weaker social safety nets, proxied by health care expenditure, and looser fiscal policie adopted by the rest of the world relative to Malaysia contributing positively (0.6 percent each) to the excess surplus, and decline in balance of a norm traceast and objection of the contributing positively (0.4 percent recovering). 							
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 1.5	Cycl. Adj. CA: 1.8	EBA Norm: –0.3	EBA Gap	: 2.1	Staff Adj.: 0.0	Staff Gap: 2.1	
Real Exchange Rate	 Background. The ringit faced depreciation pressures during most of 2023, weakening by almost 5 percent against the US dollar as of the end of 2023 relative to the end of 2022. Over the same period, the REER depreciated by 5.4 percent, while the NEER depreciated by 4.3 percent, as inflation in Malaysia was lower compared to its major trading partners. As of April 2024, the REER depreciated by 2.7 percent relative to the 2023 average. Assessment. Using a semi-elasticity of 0.5, the staff assessed CA gap implies a REER undervaluation of 4.1 percent in 2023. The REER index and level models estimate Malaysia's REER to be undervalued by 27.2 percent and 30.1 percent, respectively. This implies that, over the medium term, Malaysia's REER needs to appreciate to narrow the CA gap. Staff assess the REER to be undervalued in the range of 3.1 to 							
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	Background. Over the p out of the local-currency the financial account ba Assessment. Continued in response to capital flo	ast five years, Malaysia debt market, in respons lance and portfolio inves exchange rate flexibility w volatility. CFM measu	has experienced signif se to changes in globa stments averaged –2.3 and warranted macro res should be gradual	icant volatility I financial cond and –1.9 perc economic polic y phased out, v	in capital f ditions and cent of GDF cy adjustme with due re	flows, largely driver domestic factors. E ? respectively. ents should continu egard for market co	by portfolio flows in and Between 2019 and 2023, the to play the central role inditions.	
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background. Malaysia h relative to US\$114.7 bill recovered during the las	as a floating exchange ı on at the end of 2022. lı t two months of the yea	rate regime. Gross inte n 2023, against the ba r, as external pressure	rnational reser ckdrop of exter s eased.	ves decline nal pressu	ed to US\$113.5 billi res, reserves decre	on at the end of 2023, ased through October, but	
	recovered during the last two months of the year, as external pressures eased. Assessment. Based on the IMF's composite ARA metric, reserves declined to 114 percent of ARA at the end of 2023, above the adequacy threshold of 100 percent, but marginally lower than 116 percent at the end of the previous year. This decline is partly driven by an increase in the short-term external debt. The reserve coverage declined to 4.8 months of prospective imports of goods and services, or about 81 percent of short-term debt. Staff assess that Bank Negara Malaysia engaged in largely two-sided FX interventions over the year. There is a role for FX interventions to address disorderly market conditions. Integrated Policy Framework analysis suggests that, in the context of Malaysia's shallow FX market, the use of FX interventions may be warranted to smooth large changes in hedging and financing premia if they generate risks to macroeconomic and financial stability. FX interventions should not however substitute for needed policy adjustment and should not be used to lean against exchange rate pressures that are driven by fundamentals.							

Table 3.17. Mexico: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was moderately stronger than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. As Mexico's CA deficit shrank to 0.3 percent of GDP in 2023, its adjusted external position strengthened owing to the improvement of terms of trade and the impact of the more accommodative fiscal stance in other economies. The CA deficit is expected to widen moderately in 2024 and hover around 1 percent of GDP in the medium term.

Potential Policy Responses: Further structural reforms to address investment obstacles are critical to boost investment, including through FDI inflows, and thereby enhance growth in the medium and long term, and to maintain external sustainability. These reforms could include tackling economic informality and governance gaps, encouraging female labor force participation, promoting financial deepening, initiating private sector participation in energy, and reforming Pemex's business strategy and governance. Maintaining a prudent fiscal stance is also vital to buttress external stability. Mexico should continue to promote open trade policies and avoid increasing barriers to trade and investment. The floating exchange rate should continue to serve as a shock absorber, with FX interventions employed only in exceptional circumstances. The IMF's Flexible Credit Line with Mexico continues to provide an added buffer against global tail risks.

Foreign Asset and Liability Position and Trajectory	Background. The NIIP is projected to improve from -41 percent of GDP in 2023 to about -28 percent of GDP over the medium term, driven mainly by a decline in foreign liabilities relative to nominal GDP. Foreign assets in 2023 (44 percent of GDP) were mostly direct investment (15 percent of GDP) and international reserves (12 percent of GDP). Foreign liabilities (84 percent of GDP) were mostly direct investment (46 percent of GDP) and portfolio investment (30 percent of GDP).						
	Assessment. While the NIIP FX risks, the large gross for exchange rate volatility are	¹ is sustainable and the relative reign portfolio liabilities could moderate, as most Mexican f	vely high share of be a source of vu ïrms with FX debt	local currency den Inerability in case have natural hedg	omination in its foreign of global financial volati es and actively manage	public liabilities reduces lity. Vulnerabilities from their FX exposures.	
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: -41	Gross Assets: 44	Debt Assets	:: 13 (Gross Liab.: 84	Debt Liab.: 33	
Current Account	Background. The CA deficit was 0.3 percent of GDP in 2023, down from 1.2 percent in 2022, mainly reflecting a higher (by 1.5 percent of GDP) trade balance partly offset by a lower (by 0.1 percent of GDP) primary income balance and lower (by 0.5 percent of GDP) secondary income balance relative to GDP. The trade deficit shrunk as terms of trade improved. The improvement of the CA reflected higher private savings, while these were partly offset by higher investment. The CA deficit is expected to widen moderately in 2024 with strong demand boosting imports. Over the medium term, the CA balance is projected to hover around a deficit of 1 percent of GDP.						
	Assessment. The EBA mode -1.3 percent of GDP. This in fiscal gap of 0.7 percent of relatively tighter fiscal stand of -0.9 to -1.7 percent of 0	el estimates a cyclically adjus nplies an EBA model CA gap GDP) and an unidentified resi ce than in the rest of the wor GDP.	sted CA balance of of 1.4 percent of G idual (0.8 percent o Id. The cyclically a	0.1 percent of GDI DP, reflecting polic of GDP). The estima djusted CA norm h	P and a cyclically adjust y gaps (0.6 percent of G ated fiscal gap of 0.7 pe as an error band (with o	ed CA norm of GDP, mostly driven by the ercent of GDP reflects a one standard deviation)	
2023 (% GDP)	CA: -0.3 C	bycl. Adj. CA: 0.1 EBA N	lorm: –1.3	EBA Gap: 1.4	Staff Adj.: 0.0	Staff Gap: 1.4	
Real Exchange Rate	Background. In 2023, the p 21 percent compared with 18 percent in 2023 compared	eso appreciated by more that the 2022 average, mostly driv ed with the average 2022 NE	n 10 percent again en by a nominal a ER. As of April 202	ist the US dollar. An ppreciation, reflect 4, the REER was 9	verage REER in 2023 ap ed in an average NEER percent above the 2023	preciated by about appreciation of 3 average.	
	Assessment. The IMF staff and level models estimate of CA gap approach, is a REER high uncertainty, including of	CA gap implies a REER under overvaluations of 8.1 percent & undervaluation in the range due to large unidentified CA n	valuation of 4.5 pe and 27.6 percent, of 3.2 to 5.9 perce nodel residuals.	ercent (with a semi respectively, in 20: ent, with a midpoin	-elasticity of 0.31 appli 23. The staff's overall as t of 4.5 percent. This as	ed). The EBA REER index ssessment, based on the sessment is subject to	
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows	Background. In 2023, Mexico recorded net financial account inflows to the tune of 0.3 percent of GDP, compared with 1.0 percent of GDP in 2022. Net inflows of FDI rose to 1.7 percent of GDP, partially offset by net portfolio outflows of 0.6 percent of GDP, widening somewhat from the previous year (0.3 percent of GDP), and reserve accumulation.						
and Policy Measures	Assessment. The long maturity of external sovereign debt and the relatively high share of local-currency-denominated debt, supported by prudent fiscal and debt management by the government, reduce the exposure of government finances to FX depreciation and refinancing risks. The banking sector is resilient, with FX risks contained under macroprudential policy measures. FX risks of nonfinancial corporate debt are generally covered by natural and financial hedges. However, the strong presence of foreign investors leaves Mexico exposed to capital flow reversals and risk premium increases.						
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background. The authoritie extreme volatility, in line wi Framework (CR No. 23/356) identify material frictions th FX balance sheet mismatch international reserves were using nondeliverable forwar was conducted.	s remain committed to a free th their policy framework. Thi that the use of FX interventi- iat would warrant regular FX es, and well-anchored inflation \$214 billion (12 percent of G rds, created in 2017 to address	-floating exchange is is consistent wit ons should remain interventions in Mo on expectations un DP), up from \$201 ss heightened mar	e rate and has used th staff determinati limited to exception exico, given Mexico oder the inflation ta billion at the end ket volatility, was s	d FX intervention in limit on in the context of the onal circumstances, as a an peso's deep and liqu irgeting framework. At t of 2022. In 2023, the FX started to be unwound.	ted occasions of Integrated Policy staff analysis did not id FX market, limited he end of 2023, gross hedging mechanism No other FX intervention	
	Assessment. At 126 percent reserves at the end of 2023 level over the medium term	t of the ARA metric and 296 remains adequate. The IMF : . The Flexible Credit Line arra	percent of short-te staff recommends angement continue	rm debt (at remair that the authoritie es to provide an ad	ing maturity), the level s continue to maintain r ditional buffer.	of Mexico's foreign eserves at an adequate	

Table 3.18. The Netherlands: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was substantially stronger than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The Netherlands' status as a base for multinational corporations and as a trading hub and financial center makes the external assessment challenging. After a rebound in 2023, the external CA surplus is expected to contract over the medium term as population aging and a progressively higher fiscal deficit in the baseline forecast reduce domestic saving.

Potential Policy Responses: To bring the external balance to a level in line with medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies, fostering investment in physical and human capital, also by facilitating access to finance, particularly for small and medium enterprises, should take priority. Against this background, the previous government's structural investment and reform plans to safeguard energy security, allay housing market shortages, reinforce the education system, advance the climate transition, and further promote the digitalization of the economy should continue.

Foreign Asset
and LiabilityBackground. The NIIP reached 71.8 percent of GDP in 2023, compared with 75.2 percent in 2022. Positive NIIP impacts from CA surpluses
recorded in 2023 were more than offset by denominator effects from strongly increasing nominal GDP and negative valuation effects that
particularly affected the net stock of portfolio investment and financial derivatives. FDI remains the largest component of the international
investment position, accounting for more than half of external assets and liabilities, also reflecting The Netherlands' role as the seat for
multinational corporations and its importance as a financial center. Debt liabilities primarily comprise long-term debt securities (48 percent,
of which 69 percent are denominated in euro and 22 percent are denominated in US dollars), currency and deposits (29 percent, of which
60 percent are denominated in euro), and long-term loans (7 percent).

Assessment. The Netherlands' safe haven status and its sizable foreign assets limit risks from its large foreign liabilities.

2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 71.8	Gross Assets: 9	31.2 Debt Ass	ets: 228.1	Gross Liab.: 859.4	Debt Liab.: 242.1		
Current Account	Background. Remements by Statistics Netheriands applied over 2020–22 resulted in an upward shift of the CA surplus from 4.4 to 9.3 percent of GDP in 2022, primarily reflecting a higher trade balance (+1.5 percentage points) after addressing data limitations that had prevailed during the pandemic and an improvement of the primary income balance (+3.2 percentage points) due to revisions to the profits of multinational corporations listed on the stock market. In 2023, the CA surplus is estimated to have rebounded to 10.1 percent of GDP (10.3 percent of GDP cyclically adjusted). Support measures cushioning the impact of the energy price shock on households and corporations have weighed on public net savings in 2023 but were counterbalanced by recovering private net savings from a strong labor market, accelerating wage growth, and weakening residential investment. The Netherlands' role as a trading hub and financial center contributes to a structurally strong headline external position. Specifically, multinational corporations based in The Netherlands are recording profits at their Dutch headquarters while channeling a large part of their investment abroad in the form of FDI, keeping nonfinancial corporate saving high. Relatedly, measurement biases of portfolio equityretained earnings in official statistics may also contribute to an overstatement of the net accumulation of wealth that is attributed to Dutch residents, an issue of relevance for a country where the foreign ownership of publicly listed firms has been above 80 percent in recent years. In 2024, the CA is projected to decline to 9.1 percent of GDP. Assessment . The EBA CA model estimates a CA norm of 4.3 percent of GDP. Based on a cyclically adjusted CA surplus of 10.3 percent of GDP in 2023, the EBA CA gap is assessed at 6.1 percent of GDP. A total of 3.7 percentage points of the CA gap are attributable to policy gaps, primarily reflecting a relatively tighter fiscal stance and a negative credit gap that remains wider than those abroad. The portfolio							
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 10.1	Cycl. Adj. CA: 10.3	EBA Norm: 4.3	EBA Gap: 6	5.1 Staff Adj.: –1.8	Staff Gap: 4.3		
Real Exchange Rate	 Background. In 2023, the CPI-based REER appreciated by 0.8 percent when compared with its 2022 average as inflation in The Netherlands kept outpacing price developments in key trading partners. The ULC-based REER appreciated by 0.7 percent, suggesting labor cost increases slightly ahead of competitors. As of April 2024, the CPI-based REER was 0.6 percent above its 2023 average. Assessment. Assuming a semi-elasticity of 0.65, the IMF staff CA gap of 4.3 percent of GDP implies a REER undervaluation of about 6.6 percent. EBA REER model estimates for 2023 range from an overvaluation of 2.8 percent (level model) to 18.9 percent (index model), largely reflecting unexplained residuals. Consistent with the staff CA gap, the IMF staff assesses the REER as undervalued by about 5.8 to 7.4 percent. 							
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	Background. A conside marginal operational fo capital outflows represe Assessment. The strong CA recording sustained	rable share of gross fore otprints in The Netherlan ents the channeling of co g external position limits —and structural—surpli	ign assets and liabilitie ds that contribute to su prorate profits by mult vulnerabilities to capit uses.	es are attributable ubstantial yet har inationals abroad al outflows. The t	e to special purpose entitie rd-to-interpret capital flow d as FDI. financial account deficit is	s, financial vehicles with volatility. A notable part of primarily the flip side of a		
FX Intervention	Background. The euro	nas the status of a globa	l reserve currency.					
and Reserves Level	Assessment. Reserves	held by euro area econo	mies are typically low	relative to standa	ard metrics, but the currenc	y floats freely.		

Table 3.19. Poland: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was stronger than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The CA shifted from a deficit of 2.4 percent in 2022 to a sizable surplus of 1.6 percent of GDP, due to improved terms-of-trade, subdued domestic demand, and a transitory sharp drawdown in import-intensive inventories to unwind extraordinary buildup in the aftermath of the pandemic and at the start of the Russia's invasion of neighboring Ukraine. As the economic recovery continues in 2024, consumption and credit growth are anticipated to pick up. The significant REER appreciation in 2023 and the release of EU funds are also expected to support imports. The CA balance is projected to decline to -1 percent of GDP over the medium term.

Potential Policy Responses: Efforts to boost investment should focus on easing regulatory hurdles to private investments in the energy sector. This would help catalyze investment and financing additional to the NextGenerationEU grants to address infrastructure gaps and support digitalization. Strengthening the pension system in a financially sustainable manner can reduce pressures on precautionary savings for households from declining replacement ratios.

Foreign Asset and Liability Position and	Background. The negative NIIP has declined markedly over the last decade, both in size and structure, transitioning from volatile sources of financing such as portfolio flows and short-term financing towards more stable FDI. The NIIP reached –33.5 percent of GDP in 2023 from –33.7 percent in 2022. Gross external debt declined to 49 percent of GDP in 2023 from 54 percent in 2022.						
Trajectory	Assessment. The level of external debt has declined substantially, with rollover risk mitigated by the large share of long-term debt (70 percent of total debt) and intercompany lending (30 percent of total debt). The level of gross reserves (158 percent of short-term debt) is adequate and further reduces residual rollover risk.						
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: -33.5	Gross Assets: 59	0.6 Reserve	Assets: 24	Gross Liab.: 93.1	Gross External Debt: 49	
Current Account	Background. The CA in recent years was characterized by volatile domestic and external demand and terms-of-trade changes amid multiple shocks associated with the pandemic and the war, increased government spending to cushion cost-of-living increases and support refugees, robust service exports and strong reinvested earnings of foreign firms. In 2023, the CA recorded a surplus of 1.6 percent of GDP from a deficit of 2.4 percent in 2022. This shift is mainly attributed to a substantial decline of commodity imports driven by a rebound in terms-of-trade, subdued domestic demand partly due to cumulative interest rate hikes, and a sharp drawdown in import-intensive inventories. This one-off effect was to unwind an unprecedented inventory build-up in 2021 and 2022 in response to supply chain disruptions resulting from the pandemic and then Russia's invasion of Ukraine that had prompted a stockpiling of inventories as a precautionary measure. Total national savings remained broadly stable in 2023 while significant inventory destocking by companies dampened overall investment despite a sizable pick up in fixed investment. In the near term, the CA balance is expected to decline as growth picks up on the back of recovering consumption and EU fund-supported investment, with also the impact of the sizable real appreciation in the latter part of 2023, and as inventories normalizes. Over the medium term, the CA balance is projected to converge towards a deficit of 1 percent, due to robust consumption growth, sustained EU fund inflows and increased military spending. Assessment. The EBA CA model estimates a CA norm of -2.2 percent of GDP and a cyclically adjusted CA surplus of 1.4 percent of GDP in 2023, implying an EBA model CA gap of 3.6 percent of GDP. The staff CA gap of 3.6 (±0.5) percent of GDP includes identified policy gaps of 1.8 percent of GDP and an unexplained residual of 1.8 percent of GDP. However, these estimates may not fully capture the one-off effects boosting the CA surplus due to the drawdown in inv						
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 1.6	Cycl. Adj. CA: 1.4	EBA Norm: -2.2	EBA Gap: 3	3.6 Staff Adj.: 0.0) Staff Gap: 3.6	
Real Exchange Rate	Background. The annu strengthened considera trading partners. As of	al average of the NEER ap ably against both the US d April 2024, the CPI-based	preciated by 6.3 perce ollar and euro and as REER had further app	ent in 2023, whil a positive inflati reciated by 5.2 p	le the REER appreciated by on differential persisted in percent from its 2023 avera	11.3 percent, as the zloty 2023 relative to Poland's age.	
	Assessment. The EBA REER index and level models estimate a 2023 REER gap of 11.8 and -11.7 percent, respectively. Consistent with the staff CA gap and an estimated elasticity of 0.43, staff's overall assessment is a REER undervaluation within a range of -7.3 to -9.4 percent, with a midpoint of -8.4 percent.						
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows	Background. The capital account surplus declined to 0.2 percent of GDP in 2023 from 0.5 percent in 2022. Over the medium term, the capital account surplus is projected to stabilize around 0.5 percent of GDP, supported by inflows of EU funds. The financial account experienced a net inflow of 1.6 percent of GDP in 2023. FDI inflows reached 2.3 percent of GDP on a net basis in 2023 from 3.7 percent in 2022.						
and Policy Measures	Assessment. The capital account is projected to remain a strong source of support for investment, reflecting EU cooperation frameworks. Vulnerability to capital outflows is contained as foreign holdings of domestic government securities have declined continuously and significantly since 2016, and the foreign investor base remains diversified. The central bank has adequate tools to manage bouts of volatility.						
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background. FX reserv repo operations and go briefly intervened in for intervention was condu	es increased to US\$194 b vernment FX deposits, sto reign exchange markets in cted in 2023. The zloty is	illion in 2023 from US od at about US\$167 b March 2022 amid dis considered free floati	\$167 billion in 2 illion in 2023 fro sorderly market ng.	022. Net reserves, which n om US\$146 billion in 2022. conditions at the beginning	et out the central bank's While central bank J of the war in Ukraine, no	
	Assessment. At about a external shocks and dis	164 percent of the IMF's re sorderly market conditions	eserve adequacy metr s.	ic, Poland's leve	el of gross reserves is adeq	uate to guard against	

Table 3.20. Russia: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: Russia's external position in 2023 was broadly in line with the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. However, the models do not fully account for Russia's idiosyncratic situation. Due to sanctions, CA surpluses may not translate into an accumulation of readily accessible foreign assets in reserve currencies. Further, the range of uncertainty surrounding the projections remains exceptionally large in the context of shifting sanctions.

Foreign Asset and Liability Position and Trajectory	 Background. Russia's NIIP stood at 42.4 percent of GDP as of the end of 2023, an increase of 9.2 percentage points of GDP from its 2022 level. In 2023, gross assets increased by 7.6 percentage points of GDP while remaining below their peak of 105 percent of GDP in 2020—driven primarily by an increase in other investments and reserve assets. Gross liabilities stood at 34.5 percent of GDP, declining from their 2022 level of 36.1 percent of GDP. As of the end of 2023, about one-third of external debt was held in domestic currency, and there were no obvious maturity mismatches between gross asset and liability positions. The share of nonresident holdings of domestic government debt continued to decline sharply, from 32.2 percent at the end of 2019 to 7.4 percent by the end of 2023. Assessment. Recurring positive CA surpluses maintain Russia's positive NIIP trends and contribute to an accumulation of external buffers. Despite low external vulnerabilities at present, a share of international reserves is currently frozen due to sanctions and additional reserves 						
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 42.4	Gross Assets:	76.9 Resei	ve Assets: 29.6	Gros	s Liab.: 34.5	Debt Liab.: 15.6
Current Account	 Background. After reaching a record level of 10.5 percent of GDP in 2022, Russia's CA surplus narrowed sharply to 2.5 percent of GDP, closer to its historical average and driven by an export-led decline in the trade balance. Energy exports declined due to lower global prices and sharply lower gas exports to Europe since mid-2022. The CA is projected to increase slightly to 2.7 percent of GDP in 2024, although the projection is subject to high uncertainty. Assessment. The EBA CA model estimates a norm of 2.3 percent of GDP for 2023 and a cyclically adjusted CA surplus of 2.6 percent of GDP. Identified policy gaps account for 1.5 percentage points—half of which is driven by the gap in the fiscal balance and reflect larger consolidation needs in the rest of the world compared with Russia—while the unexplained residual accounts for -1.2 percentage points. Moreover, the range of uncertainty surrounding the CA gap estimates is exemptionally large given how difficult it is to estimate the aveiled. 						
	adjusted CA and the CA	norm in the context of	sanctions that have	a direct impact of	n external b	alances.	
Real Exchange Rate	CA: 2.5 Background. Between the CA surplus. In respo July, reaching 16 perce Bank of Russia re-intro by 24.6 percent in 2023 Assessment. The IMF s The EBA REER index m of 18.6 percent. Consis	Cycl. Adj. CA: 2.6 the end of 2022 and sur onse, the Bank of Russia nt by the end of 2023. T duced repatriation and s 3, fully reversing 2022 gr staff CA gap implies a RE odels suggest a REER ov tent with the CA gap (an	EBA Norm: 2.3 nmer 2023, the rub a raised its policy ra he Bank of Russia surrender requirem ains. As of April 20: EER undervaluation vervaluation of 3.3 ind also in line with	e lost close to 40 te by a cumulative lso intervened in nts of export proc 4, the REER was 3 of 1.8 percent in 2 vercent, while the he REER index mo	2: 0.3 percent of i 2: 850 basis the FX mark 2: 923 and tig 2: 923 and tig 3: 9	stan Adj.: 0.0 its value in part due points in several ste ket to stem the depr ghtened FX controls below the 2023 aven ning an estimated el evel models points t issess the REER gap	to the sharp decline in ps starting at the end of eciation. Additionally, the . The REER depreciated age. asticity of 0.17). o a REER undervaluation to be in the range
Capital and	of –6.7 percent and 3.1 idiosyncratic situation. Background. While cap	l percent, with a midpoin pital flow measures intro	nt of –1.8 percent	undervalued). How	vever, these <mark>tly relaxed, t</mark>	models do not fully the authorities have	account for Russia's kept in place restrictions
Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	on repatriation of foreig abroad. Amid remaining 2.5 percentage points of Assessment. Russia's	on investment, including g restrictions, net private of GDP in 2023. arge FX reserves and flo	FDI, as well as res e capital outflows d pating exchange ra	rictions on cash F eclined significant e regime continue	X withdrawa ly—from 9.4 to help abs	als from bank accou 5 percentage points sorb shocks. Remain	nts and cash exports of GDP in 2022 to ing capital controls
	effectively curtailed ca	pital outflows and helpe	d preserve buffers	espite sanctions.			
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	effectively curtailed capital outflows and helped preserve buffers despite sanctions. Background . Official reserves increased modestly by \$16.6 billion to \$598.6 billion in 2023 due to revaluation effects. Despite a positive CA balance, reserves accumulation remains constrained by the sanctions. In response to depreciation pressures, the Bank of Russia implemented additional FX interventions in support of the ruble, including mirroring withdrawals from the National Wealth Fund related to the National Wealth Fund's investment in domestic assets and the suspension of FX purchases prescribed by the fiscal rule. Since January 2023, the Bank of Russia has resumed buying and selling FX, but now only in Chinese RMB, as transactions in traditional reserve currencies are prohibited by sanctions. The 2023 fiscal rule set the benchmark oil and gas revenues in rubles. When oil and gas revenues exceeded the benchmark (in rubles), the authorities were required to purchase FX. The Ministry of Finance reverted to an earlier (benchmark oil price–based) version of the fiscal rule from January 2024 onward. Assessment . As of the end of 2023, international reserves stood at 343.2 percent of the IMF's reserve adequacy metric. Given that a share of						
	international reserves r	ias been nozen ude to s	and units, the asses	Silient of reserve a	auequacy is	subject to migh unc	ertainty.

Table 3.21. Saudi Arabia: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was weaker than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The external balance sheet remains strong. Reserves remain adequate according to standard IMF metrics, although savings are not sufficient from an intergenerational equity perspective. Lower oil exports and investment-driven imports are expected to shift the CA surplus to a deficit. The central government's non-oil primary balance to GDP is expected to be on a continuously improving trend. Given the economy's structure, external adjustment will be driven primarily by fiscal policy. The pegged exchange rate continues to provide Saudi Arabia with a credible policy anchor.

Potential Policy Responses: Over the medium term, additional fiscal consolidation—including through enhanced revenue mobilization and energy price reforms could bring the CA balance closer to the norm. Sustained implementation of an ambitious structural reform agenda to diversify the economy, lift productivity, and boost the non-oil tradable sector will also help in closing the gap. Risks associated with industrial policies should be minimized, while discriminatory policies should be avoided as they could create distortions in the allocation of resources and elicit retaliatory actions by trade partners.

Foreign Asset	Background. Net external assets are estimated at 73.5 percent of GDP at the end of 2023, slightly up from 70.9 percent of GDP in 2022
and Liability	and down from 81.2 percent in 2021. In the medium term, the NIIP is expected to stabilize at 65 percent of GDP. Only broad categories are
Position and	available on the composition of external assets. Portfolio and other investments, reserves, and FDI, respectively, account for 55 percent,
Trajectory	31 percent, and 14 percent of total external assets.

Assessment. The external balance sheet remains very strong. Substantial accumulated assets represent both protection against vulnerabilities from oil price volatility and saving of exhaustible resource revenues for future generations.

2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 73.5	Gross Assets: 133.7	Res. Assets: 40.9	Gross Liab.: 60.1	Debt Liab.: 26.2
--------------	------------	---------------------	-------------------	-------------------	------------------

Current Account	Background. The CA balance registered a surplus of 3.2 percent of GDP in 2023, down from a historical high of 13.7 percent surplus in 2022. The trade balance decreased by 9.5 percent of GDP as the price and volume of oil exports decreased and imports picked up in 2023— primarily driven by domestic-driven policies of reducing oil production and promoting investment. Higher consumption and reduced oil windfalls led to lower savings in 2023. The terms of trade deteriorated by 15 percent in 2023. For the projections, oil production is assumed to follow the OPEC+ (Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries, including Russia and other non-OPEC oil exporters) agreement, with a further decline in 2024 and a recovery in 2025. The CA surplus is expected to deteriorate to around 0.5 percent of GDP in 2024 before shifting to a deficit in 2025 and decline further to a 2.8 percent of GDP deficit by 2029, reflecting increases in investment-driven imports and decline in oil export revenues.							
	Assessment. The IMF staff assesses a CA gap of -2.6 percent of GDP using the EBA-Lite CA model ¹ (April 2024 <i>World Economic Outlook</i>), although the overall assessment is subject to significant model uncertainty due to the idiosyncratic characteristics of the Saudi Arabian economy. Saudi Arabia's reliance on oil complicates the application of standard external assessment methodologies, given the wide swings of oil prices between 2020 and 2023. Given this, the EBA-lite commodity module is also applied to Saudi Arabia ESA, with the Consumption Allocation Rules suggesting a CA gap of -2 percent of GDP for constant real annuity rules and -5 percent of GDP for constant real per capit annuity allocation rules. The Investment Needs Model suggests a CA gap of 3.5 percent of GDP. The estimated CA gap of -2.6 percent of GDP ²							
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 3.2	Cycl. Adj. CA: 3.3	EBA Norm: —	EBA Gap: —	Staff Adj.: —	Staff Gap: -2.6		
Real Exchange Rate	Background. The riyal 2023 and was 5.7 perco was mainly driven by the Arabia's REER apprecia Assessment. Exchange are oil or oil-related pro- products, which in turn of 13.2 percent. Based overvalued by 12.1 per	has been pegged to the ent above its 10-year av he appreciation of the U ition was less than that e rate movements have oducts that are denomin have significant import on the IMF staff CA gap crent, with a range of 2.9	US dollar at a rate of 3. verage (2013–22), while US dollar versus third cur of its NEER. As of April 2 a limited impact on Saud nated in dollars. There is ted labor and intermedia o and a 0.2 elasticity of t 9 to 21.2 percent.	75 since 1986. On avera the NEER appreciated b rencies and with inflatio 2024, the REER was 0.7 di Arabia's competitivene limited substitutability t te-input content. The EB he CA to a change in RE	ge, the REER appreciate y 3.4 percent in 2023. Th n less than in its trading percent above the 2023 i ess in the short term, as petween imports and dor A-Lite REER model sugg ER, the staff assesses th	d by 0.7 percent in ne NEER appreciation partners, Saudi average. most of its exports nestically produced lests an overvaluation ne REER to be		
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	pital and Background. Net financial outflows in 2023 (\$43 billion) returned to their historical average (2013–21) from a record high in 2022 (\$123 billion), mainly due to the decline of CA balance associated with reduced oil exports and oil prices. Net outflows continued as the Public counts: Flows Investment Fund (sovereign wealth fund) and other entities continued to invest abroad. Reserves are expected to remain at a stable lev over the medium term through reduced asset accumulation abroad. Assessment. A lack of detailed information on the nature of financial flows in Saudi Arabia complicates the analysis of its financial accomplicates the analysis of its financial flows.							
FX Intervention and Reserves Background. The Public Investment Fund's investments abroad are increasing, although most of the government's foreign assets a held at the central bank within international reserves. Net foreign assets decreased to \$417.1 billion (39.1 percent of GDP, 15.7 mor imports, and 208 percent of the ARA metric) at the end of 2023, down from \$440.5 billion at the end of 2022 (and from \$724 billion This trend was, in part, driven by financial outflows. Reserves are expected to stabilize at about 13 months of imports in the mediu								
	This trend was, in part, driven by financial outflows. Reserves are expected to stabilize at about 13 months of imports in the mediu Assessment. Reserves play a dual role: they are saving for both precautionary motives and future generations. Reserves are adeque precautionary purposes (measured by the IMF's metrics). Significant buffers are also available through external assets held by the Investment Fund and national oil company. Nevertheless, fiscal consolidation is needed over the medium term to strengthen the C/ increase saving for future generations.							

Table 3.22. Singapore: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was substantially stronger than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The assessment is subject to a wide range of uncertainty, reflecting Singapore's very open economy and status as a global trading and financial center. Over the medium term, the CA surplus is projected to narrow gradually driven by higher public spending, private investment, and an increase in household consumption (as the share of prime working-age population actively saving for retirement declines).

Potential Policy Responses: The planned execution of major green infrastructure projects and the strengthening of social safety nets should help reduce external imbalances in the near term. Over the medium term, Singapore's economy is expected to undergo structural transformation in light of a rapidly aging population and a transition to a green and digital economy. Higher public investment to address these issues, including spending on health care, green and other physical infrastructures, and human capital, as well as ongoing reforms to strengthen social safety nets, would help reduce external imbalances over the medium term by reducing net saving of the economy.

Foreign Asset and Liability Position and Trajectory	Background. The NIIP stood at 171.4 percent of GDP in 2023, down from 178.4 percent of GDP in 2022 and below the average level of 227.1 percent of GDP in 2019–23. Gross assets and liabilities are high, reflecting Singapore's status as a financial center. About half of foreign liabilities are in FDI, and about a fifth are in the form of currency and deposits. The CA surplus has been a main driver of the NIIP since the global financial crisis, but valuation effects were material in some years, driven mainly by NEER appreciation as the Monetary Authority of Singapore tightened its exchange rate-based monetary policy. CA and growth projections imply that the NIIP will rise over the medium term. The large positive NIIP in part reflects the accumulation of assets for old-age consumption, which is expected to be gradually unwound over the long term.					
	Assessment. Large gro foreign banks—present authorities' close monit	ss non-FDI liabilities (42) some risks, but these a oring of banks' liquidity	5.9 percent of GDP in 2 re mitigated by large g risk profiles. Singapore	023)—predominantl ross asset positions, has large official re	y cross-border deposit tal banks' large short-term serves and other official l	king by local branches of external assets, and the iquid assets.
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 171.4	Gross Assets: 1,1	22.3 Res. As	sets: 70	Gross Liab.: 950.9	Debt Liab.: 326.9
Current Account	 Background. The CA surplus was 19.8 percent of GDP in 2023, up from 18 percent in 2022. This mainly reflects an improvement in primary income balance as receipts rose and payments declined. The CA balance is higher than the average of 17.7 percent since 2018 and slightly lower than the post-global-financial-crisis peak of 22.9 percent in 2010. Singapore's large CA balance reflects a strong goods balance and a small surplus in the services balance that is partly offset by a (primary) income deficit.¹ Structural factors and policies that boost savings, such as Singapore's status as a financial center, consecutive fiscal surpluses in most years, and rapid aging—combined with a mandatory defined-contribution pension program (whose assets were about 84.8 percent of GDP in 2023)—are the main drivers of Singapore's strong external position. The CA surplus is projected to narrow over the medium term on the back of increased infrastructure and social spending. In 2023, public saving increased as the fiscal balance improved further, following the unprecedented COVID-19-related stimulus, while private saving decreased slightly. Assessment. Guided by the EBA framework, staff assesses the 2023 CA gap to be in the range of 5.2 to 8.8 percent of GDP, with a midpoint of 7.0 percent.² The identified policy gaps in 2023 reflect a more contractionary fiscal policy adopted in 2023 in Singapore compared to the 					
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 19.8	Cycl. Adj. CA: 20.1	EBA Norm: —	EBA Gap: —	Staff Adj.: —	Staff Gap: 7.0
Real Exchange Rate	Background. The REER appreciation of the REE April 2024, the REER ap	appreciated by 7.2 perc R by 5.8 percent and an preciated by 2.0 percent	ent in 2023, reflecting t appreciation of the NEE relative to its 2023 ave	he appreciation of the approximation of the approximati	ne NEER by 5.3 percent. T oth cumulative, between 2	his followed an 2020 and 2022. As of
	midpoint of 14.0 percer	it in 2023 (applying an e	stimated elasticity of 0.	5). ³		o percent, with a
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	Background. Singapore has an open financial account. As a trade and financial center in Asia, changes in market sentiment can affect Singapore significantly. Increased risk aversion in the region, for instance, may lead to inflows to Singapore given its status as a regional safe haven, whereas global stress may lead to outflows. The financial account balance reflects in part reinvestment abroad of income from official foreign assets, as well as sizable net inward FDI and smaller but more volatile net bank-related flows. In 2023, the capital and financial account featured lower net outflows of 7.1 percent of GDP compared to 40.6 percent in 2022 (outflows ranged from 4.6 to 40.6 percent in 2018–22).					
	Assessment. The finan	cial account is likely to re	emain in deficit as long	as the trade surplus	s remains large.	
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background. With the NEER as the intermediate monetary policy target, intervention is undertaken to achieve inflation and output objectives. As a financial center, prudential motives call for a larger NIIP buffer. Official reserves held by the Monetary Authority of Singapore reached US\$351billion (70 percent of GDP) in 2023. Aggregate data on foreign exchange intervention operations has been published since April 2020 (with a six-month lag).					
	Assessment. In addition assets managed by Ten motives, and there is no	n to FX reserves held by nasek and GIC. ⁴ The curr o clear case for further a	the Monetary Authority ent level of official exte ccumulation for precau	of Singapore, Singa rnal assets appears tionary purposes.	pore also has access to o adequate, even after cons	ther official foreign sidering prudential

Table 3.23. South Africa: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was broadly in line with the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The CA deficit widened to 1.6 percent of GDP in 2023 from 0.5 percent of GDP in 2022, largely driven by higher goods imports, with the CA dynamics reflecting public sector dissaving associated with an increase in the fiscal deficit. The CA deficit is expected to modestly widen to 1.8 percent of GDP in 2024 as imports continue to recover.

Potential Policy Responses: A combination of bold structural reforms and fiscal consolidation is necessary and can help support South Africa's external position. Structural reform efforts to help boost competitiveness should focus on addressing the energy and logistics crises (including by promoting private sector participation), as well as on improving governance, product market efficiency, and the functioning of labor markets and bolstering worker skills. Fiscal consolidation should be expenditure based, while providing space for critical infrastructure investment and well-targeted social spending to help tackle poverty and inequality. Industrial policies, where desirable, should address specific market failures to promote competition and exports in concerned industries and technological advancement, while avoiding discriminatory contents that violate international trade rules or accentuate trade tensions. A flexible rand exchange rate should remain the main shock absorber, and maintaining an adequate level of international reserves can further support resilience to shocks.

Foreign Asset and Liability Position and Trajectory	Background. At end-2023, South Africa's NIIP improved markedly to 28.1 percent of GDP from to 19.7 percent in 2022 (and about 8 percent in 2019), mainly due to valuation adjustments on foreign assets (both on account of exchange rate depreciation and price effects). The NIIP surplus is expected to moderate over the medium term as the CA deficit is projected to widen. Gross external assets reached 128.1 percent of GDP (of which 17.4 percent of GDP were reserve assets) and gross liabilities stood at 100 percent of GDP. Gross external debt increased slightly to about 42 percent of GDP in 2023 (from 41 percent in 2022), while short-term external debt (on a residual maturity basis) increased marginally to 13.3 percent of GDP in 2023.					
	Assessment. The level from large gross extern significant share of ext	and composition of NIIP al liabilities are mitigate ernal debt (43 percent) is	and gross external deb d by a large external as s rand-denominated.	t indicate that So sset position and	outh Africa's external posi the liability composition	tion is sustainable. Risks (mostly in equities), and a
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 28.1	Gross Assets: 1	28.1 Debt Ass	sets: 16.8	Gross Liab.: 100	Debt Liab.: 41.8
Current Account	Background. The CA da to a deficit of 0.5 perce trade balance surplus of widen to 1.8 percent of domestic demand to pr	ficit averaged 3 percent nt of GDP in 2022. In 203 in account of higher imp GDP in 2024 and 2.2 pe e-pandemic levels.	of GDP during 2015-19 23, the CA deficit wider orts, partly offset by a rcent in the medium te	9, turning tempora ned to 1.6 percen reduction in the in rm, as import gro	arily into surplus during t t of GDP, largely driven by ncome balance deficit. Th owth continues to strengt	he pandemic, but reverting r a decline in the goods ie CA deficit is projected to hen alongside a recovery in
	Assessment. Staff estin The cyclically adjusted Accounting for South A of GDP. Staff also adjus balance measurement structural factors outsid	nates a CA gap in the ra CA is estimated at -2.2 frica's lower life expecta ts the CA for the statistic ssues (0.4 percent of GE le the model.	nge of –0.2 to –1.6 pe percent of GDP in 2023 ncy relative to other co cal treatment of Southe)P), ¹ resulting in an est	rcent of GDP in 2 6, relative to a mo untries, an adjust rn African Custon imated staff CA g	023 (–0.9 percent of GDP odel-based EBA CA norm of tor of 0.5 is applied, bring ns Union transfers (1 perc jap of –0.9 percent of GD	mid-point estimate). of 0.6 percent of GDP. jing its norm to 0.1 percent cent of GDP) and income P, largely explained by
2023 (% GDP)	CA: -1.6	Cycl. Adj. CA: -2.2	EBA Norm: 0.6	EBA Gap: -2	2.8 Staff Adj.: 1.	9 Staff Gap: –0.9
Real Exchange Rate	Background. The CPI-b the depreciation of the the 2023 average.	ased REER depreciated I rand against the currenc	by 8.3 percent in 2023 ies of main trading par	(following a depro tners. As of April	eciation of 2.2 percent in 2024, REER appreciated	2022), largely on account of by 1.8 percent compared to
	Assessment. Based on a range of 0.9 to 6.3 pe points to undervaluation	the CA approach, and ta rcent and a midpoint of n of 15.8 percent (level a	king model uncertainti 3.6 percent for 2023 (a upproach) and to an un	es into considera pplying an estima dervaluation of 20	tion, staff assesses the R ated elasticity of 0.25). Th 0.7 percent (index approa	EER to be overvalued with ne REER-based regression .ch).
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	Background. Net FDI inflows increased to 2.1 percent of GDP in 2023 (from 1.7 percent in 2022), while net portfolio outflows accelerated to –1.6 percent in 2023 (from –1.1 percent in 2022). At the same time, derivative net inflows increased to 0.6 percent of GDP (from –0.5 percent in 2022), while other investment registered an outflow of –0.1 percent of GDP (from an inflow of 1.9 percent in 2022). Reserves increased by 0.2 percent of GDP in 2023 (net of valuation gains), contributing to an increase in the surplus of the financial account to 1.3 percent GDP in 2023 from 1 percent in 2022. The capital account was in balance in 2023 from a deficit of 0.4 percent of GDP in 2022. Gross external financing needs reached almost 15 percent of GDP in 2023 from 12.7 percent in 2022, owing to increased external debt amortization and the wider current account deficit.					
	are mitigated by relativ investor base. The latte	ely limited currency misi r tends to reduce asset p	natches, large equity li price volatility during p	ability compositions and size ability compositions of market size and size ability compositions are size ability compositions and size ability compositions are size as a size ability compositions are size as a size a	on of the NIIP, and a large stress.	domestic institutional
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background. South Afr reserves increased to 1 covering about 6 month taken into account), in	ica's exchange rate regir 6.6 percent of GDP at er is of imports. Internation line with the recommend	ne is classified as float Id-2023 (from 15.5 per Ial reserves represent 9 Ied 100–150 percent ra	ing. Central bank cent in 2022) rep 07.3 percent of th inge.	t intervention in the FX ma resenting about 127.3 per le IMF's ARA metric (108.4	arket is rare. International rcent of short-term debt and 8 percent when CFMs are
	Assessment. Maintaining resilience to shocks.	ng an adequate level of i	nternational reserves v	vell within the red	commended range can fu	rther support South Africa's

Table 3.24. Spain: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 is assessed to be moderately stronger than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. Even though the large negative NIIP was significantly reduced in 2023, strengthening it further will require sustaining relatively high CA surpluses in coming years. While in 2023–24 the CA balance will exceed the norm, this gap is projected to shrink in the medium term, with the CA surplus declining as tourism flows normalize, non-energy imports regain strength—supported by the shift in the economy's growth drivers towards domestic demand, particularly investment which has a high import content—and private saving slowly declines toward pre-COVID-19 levels.

Potential Policy Responses: The projected CA surplus path will keep reducing the sizable negative NIIP as needed. Therefore, policies that would divert the CA from such a path, including those that would weaken competitiveness and the CA, should be avoided. However, a similar path could be achieved with a better policy mix that keeps the savings-investment balance and the projected CA path broadly unchanged, while supporting growth and preserving fiscal sustainability. Specifically, sustained fiscal consolidation efforts would rebuild fiscal space and raise aggregate saving, while structural reforms—together with investments in strategic areas—could boost growth and raise aggregate investment. Any such industrial policies should be pursued cautiously, remain narrowly targeted to specific objectives where externalities or market failures prevent effective market solutions, and aim to minimize trade and investment distortions. Spain should persist in its efforts to enhance education outcomes, encourage innovation, and reduce energy dependence from abroad. The Recovery, Transformation and Resilience Plan includes investments and reforms in these areas, as well as specific measures to diversify and improve the quality of tourism services, but adequate implementation and ex post evaluation remain critical for success.

Foreign Asset	Background. The NIIP continued to improve in 2023 and reached -52.8 percent of GDP by the end of the year. This trajectory reflects a larger
and Liability	decrease in gross liabilities compared to that in assets (as a percentage of GDP). Gross liabilities—of which nearly 70 percent correspond to
Position and	external debt-declined to 248.3 percent of GDP by the end of 2023. Most of the negative NIIP is attributed to the general government and
Trajectory	the central bank, with TARGET2 liabilities amounting to 26.2 percent of GDP by December 2023. ¹ The NIIP is projected to continue improving
	in the medium term, supported by sustained GA surpluses and the positive—though temporary—impact of NextGenerationED funds
	disbursements on the capital account.

Assessment. Despite its projected improvement, the still large negative NIIP comes with external vulnerabilities, including those from large gross financing needs and risks of adverse valuation effects, which could be affected by the evolution of global financial conditions and policy responses. Mitigating factors include the rather long maturity of outstanding sovereign debt (averaging almost eight years) and the limited share of debt denominated in foreign currency (11.9 percent of total external debt).

2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: -52.8	Gross Assets: 195.5	Debt Ass	ets: 95.0	Gross	Liab.: 248.3	Debt Liab.: 149.0			
Current Account	Background . The CA surplus rose significantly from 0.6 percent of GDP in 2022 to 2.6 percent of GDP in 2023. This was driven by a strong performance of services exports (both tourism and non-tourism) and by weak imports (not only due to the decline in energy import prices but also to a low—relative to historical average—elasticity of imports to domestic demand). Higher public saving and weaker private investment—including due to high uncertainty and tight financial conditions—more than offset the rise in public investment and a drawdown of excess private savings generated during the pandemic. Continued strength of services exports and further improvements in the energy goods balance will keep the trade surplus high in 2024. In the medium term, the CA surplus is projected to shrink gradually as tourism inflows normalize and non-energy imports regain strength—supported by the shift in the economy's growth drivers toward domestic demand, particularly investment which has a high import content.									
	Assessment. The 2023 cyclically adjusted CA balance is 2.8 percent of GDP. IMF staff assess the CA norm to be between 0.1 and 1.7 percent of GDP, with a midpoint of 0.9 percent of GDP, in line with the EBA CA model. The difference between the cyclically adjusted CA and the CA norm yields a CA gap in the range of 1.0 to 2.6 percent of GDP, with a midpoint of 1.8 percent of GDP. The overall estimated contribution of identified policy gaps is 0.3 percent of GDP, reflecting the positive contributions from a more expansionary fiscal policy stance in the rest of the world relative to Spain and relatively low credit growth (0.4 and 0.2 percent of GDP, respectively), which are only partially offset by the negative contribution from strong social safety nets (-0.3 percent of GDP).									
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 2.6	Cycl. Adj. CA: 2.8 El	A Norm: 0.9	EBA Gap	: 1.8	Staff Adj.: 0.0	Staff Gap: 1.8			
Real Exchange Rate	Background. In 2023, Sp respectively. This followe 2008. As of April 2024, th	ain's CPI- and ULC-based REE I a period of sustained REER c e CPI-based REER was 1.0 per	remained broad epreciation since cent above the 20	y stable, with c 2009, which al 23 average.	changes relat most fully re	tive to 2022 average versed the large a	ge of 0.3 and –0.45 percent, ppreciation during 1999–			
	Assessment. The IMF staff CA gap implies a REER gap of –6.4 percent in 2023 (with an estimated elasticity of 0.28 applied). The EBA REER index and level models suggest instead an overvaluation of 3.8 percent and 18.6 percent for 2023, respectively, mostly driven by large unexplained residuals. Consistent with the staff CA gap, the staff assesses the REER to be moderately undervalued, with a midpoint of 6.4 percent and a range of uncertainty of ±2.8 percent.									
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	Background. The capita balance improved to 4.1 driven by changes in the Assessment. Large exte	account surplus has remain percent of GDP in 2023 (from Bank of Spain's balance she rnal financing needs leave Sp	d high due to flo 1.9 percent of G et, which were of ain vulnerable to	ws associated DP in 2022). Th hly partially off sustained man	with NextGe he increase i set by net ou rket volatility	enerationEU funds in the financial ac utflows in the oth y and tighter glob	:. The financial account count surplus was largely er components. al financial conditions.			
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background. The euro h Assessment. Euro area	as the status of a global rese economies typically hold low	ve currency. eserves relative	to standard m	etrics, but th	ne currency is free	e floating.			

Table 3.25. Sweden: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 is substantially stronger than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies, with an increase of the CA of 1.4 percentage points to 6.8 percent of GDP. The projected medium-term recovery is expected to bring the external balance down before stabilizing at its long-term average of about 4 percent.

Potential Policy Responses: As inflation recedes, there is scope to increase private and public investment in the green transition and the health sector. This would lower the external balance, help meet Sweden's ambitious climate goals, and prepare it for demographic challenges.

Foreign Asset and Liability Position and Trajectory	Background. NIIP reached 33.2 percent of GDP in 2023, an increase of 2.2 percentage points, helped by net valuation gains and stronger CA surplus. Gross liabilities decreased to 280.7 percent of GDP in 2023, with more than half being gross external debt (166.4 percent of GDP). Other financial institutions (75.4 percent of GDP) hold the bulk of net foreign assets followed by social security funds (20.2 percent of GDP), households (18.2 percent of GDP), and the Riksbank (6 percent of GDP), while nonfinancial corporations (44.5 percent of GDP), monetary financial institutions (37.4 percent of GDP), and the general government (2.9 percent of GDP) are net external debtors. A total of 50 percent of the NIIP is in foreign currency.									
	Assessment. The NIIP is expected to firm further in the medium term, reflecting the outlook for continued CA surpluses. Sweden's foreign currency assets are almost three times as high as its foreign currency liabilities, providing a hedge against currency valuation changes. These estimates are subject to uncertainty as international investment position data typically include errors and omissions averaging over 2 percent of GDP in the past decade. Although rollovers of external debt (which include banks' covered bonds) pose some vulnerability, risks are moderated by banks' ample liquidity and large capital buffers. The NIIP level and trajectory do not raise sustainability concerns.									
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 33.2	Gross Assets: 3	13.9 Debt Asse	ets: 140.9	Gross Liab.: 280.7	Debt Liab.: 137.4				
Current Account	Background. The 2022 CA surplus was revised up from 4.3 percent of GDP in last year's <i>External Sector Report</i> to 5.4 percent, stemming from revisions in exports of goods and services (equivalent to 0.3 percent of GDP) and net primary income (equivalent to 0.8 percent of GDP). In 2023, the CA surplus rose to 6.8 percent of GDP on the back of higher net exports (an increase by 1.8 percent of GDP in 2023) from both an increase in exports and a decrease in imports of goods. On the other hand, the net exports of services posted a deficit. Primary income, consisting of compensation of employees and investment income registered a surplus of 3.8 percent of GDP, down from 4.4 percent of GDP in 2022, while secondary income recorded a deficit of 1.6 percent of GDP. In 2023, gross saving fell by 0.4 percentage point to 33.5 percent of GDP, while gross investment decreased by 1.7 percentage points to 26.8 percent of GDP, with the slowdown in gross savings growth driven by the public sector. Sweden continues to be a net oil importer with the oil deficit estimated at -0.9 percent of GDP. Over the medium term, as domestic and global macroeconomic policies normalize, the CA is projected to return to its long-term average. Assessment . The cyclically adjusted CA is estimated at 6.6 percent of GDP in 2023, 5.5 percentage points above the cyclically adjusted EBA norm of 1.1 percent of GDP. However, the estimated EBA norm is low and continues to be below the actual CA outcome for the past two decades, suggesting that factors not captured by the model, such as Sweden's mandatory contributions to fully funded pension schemes and an older labor force, may also be driving Sweden's saving–investment balances. Staff assesses the CA gap at 5.5 percent of GDP. Policies that would explain this gap make up 3 percent of GDP (using the model's standard error of ± 0.4 percent of GDP. Policies that would explain this gap make up 3 percent of GDP (using the model's standard error of ± 0.4 percent of GDP. Policies that									
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 6.8	Cycl. Adj. CA: 6.6	EBA Norm: 1.1	EBA Gap: 5.5	Staff Adj.: 0.0	Staff Gap: 5.5				
Real Exchange Rate	Background. In 2023, t in 2022. As of April 202	he krona depreciated by 4, the CPI-based REER w	6.4 percentage points /as 0.2 percent above if	in real effective tern is 2023 average.	ns (OECD-ULC based) rel	lative to its average index				
	Assessment. The staff CA gap implies a REER gap of -14.1 percent (applying an estimated elasticity of -0.39), with a range between -15.2 to -13.0 percent (using the model standard error of ± 0.4 percent of GDP). The REER index and level models suggest a gap of -20.9 percent and -23.9 percent, respectively, for 2023. The ULC-based REER index depreciated by 20.3 percent since the krona was floated in 1993 and was about 17 percent below its 30-year average in 2023. Overall, the IMF staff assesses the krona to be undervalued between -10.6 to -23.5 percent, with a midpoint of -17 percent as guided by the ULC-based REER index and its standard deviation. ¹									
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy	 Background. The financial account increased to 3.8 percent of GDP in 2023, from 0.5 percent of GDP in 2022. The change in net outflows was mainly driven by an increase in other investments of about 3 percent of GDP constituting three-fourths of the financial account, and an increase in portfolio investments caused by an increase in equity and investment fund shares and long-term debt securities. Direct investments increased from 2.6 to 3 percent of GDP. 									
Measures	Assessment. Large cha sector is nearly three ti the recent Financial Sec its substantial share of	nges in capital flows are mes GDP. Risk can be m ctor Assessment Prograr wholesale funding.	e common in countries itigated by strong finan n assessment, the bank	with large financial cial regulation, supe king system is expec	sectors such as in Swed ervision, and a sound fina cted to be resilient to lar	len where the banking ancial sector. According to ge liquidity shocks despite				
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background. The excha equivalent to 21.1 perco On September 25, 2023 GDP in 2022.	ange rate is de facto floa ent of the short-term ext 9, the Riksbank launched	ting. Foreign currency r ernal debt of monetary a program to hedge th	eserves decreased and financial institu e FX risk in its balar	by USD\$4.8 billion to US itions, and slightly below nce sheet, following loss	\$60.2 billion in 2023, v three months of imports. es of about 1.4 percent of				
	Assessment. Despite it of commercial banks or during the pandemic, th	s floating exchange rate 1 wholesale funding in fo 1e Riksbank can quickly	regime, Sweden should preign currency and dis establish swap facilitie:	l maintain adequate ruptions in such fun s when necessary.	e foreign reserves in viev ding during global finand	v of the high dependence cial distress. As seen				

Table 3.26. Switzerland: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: Switzerland's external position in 2023 was weaker than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. External buffers remain strong given surplus on net foreign investment position and sizable foreign reserves. As in previous years, the assessment is subject to uncertainty due to complex measurement issues and data lags.¹ Due to changes in methodology, it is possible that data will be revised more extensively than in past years.² In addition, more time will be needed to assess the durability of the shift in the CA in 2023.

Potential Policy Responses: Operating within the authorities' debt-brake rule, fiscal policy should balance the need to avoid creating headwinds to growth, while creating fiscal space to address accumulating spending pressures. Reflecting past extraordinary expenditures due to COVID-19 and support for refugees from Ukraine and the sizable accumulated balance of the amortization account, the authorities need to amortize them—via surpluses or extraordinary receipts—until 2035, with an option for extension until 2039. A comprehensive medium-term plan will be needed to address mounting structural spending needs on aging, climate, and defense. Under current inflation and liquidity conditions, the Swiss National Bank should remain data-dependent in its monetary policy decision making and avoid the risk of inflation settling at very low rates. Macroprudential policies should continue to focus on safeguarding financial stability, taking into consideration the current cyclical position of the economy. Commitment to free trade and cooperation, as shown by abolition of industrial tariffs in 2024 and efforts to expand trade relations, should continue in order to build resilience.

Foreign Asset and Liability Position and Trajectory	Background. Switzerland is a major financial center with a large, positive NIIP of 95 percent of GDP and large gross foreign asset and liability positions of 631.4 and 536.7 percent of GDP, respectively, at the end of 2023. The NIIP reflects both a history of large CA surpluses and valuation changes, and has fluctuated around 100 percent of GDP over the past five years. ³ Compared with 2022, the NIIP increased in 2023 by 2.4 percentage points of GDP, mainly driven by positive net transactions which compensated negative valuation effects due to exchange rate movements. Decline in reserves were partly offset by movements in other investments. Projections of the NIIP in 2024 and beyond are complicated by the large gross positions and compositional differences among assets and liabilities.										
	Assessment. Switzerland's is mitigated by the large g	Assessment. Switzerland's large gross liability position and the volatility of financial flows and investment returns present some risk, but this s mitigated by the large gross asset position and the Swiss franc denomination of about two-thirds of external liabilities.									
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 95	Gross Assets: 631	Reserve Assets: 91	Gross Liab.: 537	Debt Liab.: 167						
Current Account	Background. Switzerland's CA surpluses averaged 6.9 percent of GDP during 2012–22. The CA surplus in 2023 is estimated to be 7.6 percent of GDP, well below the value of 9.4 percent in 2022. This decline was primarily influenced by reductions in merchanting (from 10.6 to 9.5 percent of GDP) and services (from –1.1 to –2.6 percent of GDP). The introduction of a new CA survey, which altered how merchanting-related expenses are reported, reduced the reported decline in net merchanting income but negatively affected the service balance, increasing the import of transportation services. The balance in cross-border goods trade remained largely stable in 2023, despite a significant drop in net exports of pharmaceuticals. This decline could be partly attributed to a normalization following high exports during the pandemic and a temporary effect due to value chain restructuring in one of Switzerland's major pharmaceutical companies, but there is uncertainty around whether this implies a structural change in net trade balance in pharmaceuticals. From the saving-investment perspective, overall savings declined by 1.3 percent of GDP, driven by an increase in both public and private consumption (with the increase in private consumption not as strong as in 2022), while investment increased by 0.5 percent of GDP. The CA surplus is expected to slightly increase to 8.2 percent of GDP in 2024 due to a recovery in external demand and moderate toward 8 percent in the medium term supported by the performance of key sectors (pharmaceutical, merchanting). Assessment . The EBA CA norm of 6.4 percent of GDP is close to the previous year's norm. Based on a cyclically adjusted CA surplus of 7.7 percent and the norm, the overall EBA-estimated CA gap equaled 1.3 percent of GDP in 2023. ⁴ Domestic policy gaps account for –1.7 percentage points and include change in reserves (–1.8 percentage points) which more than offsets fiscal underspending (+0.5 percentage point); policy gaps in the rest of the world contribute +0.7 percentage points										
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 7.6	Cycl. Adj. CA: 7.7 EBA	Norm: 6.4 EBA Gap	: 1.3 Staff Adj.: -4.1	Staff Gap: -2.8						
Real Exchange Rate	Background. Relative to 2 2023. The UBS-Credit Suiss has appreciated by 31 per 1.1 percent compared to the Assessment. The staff CA g models suggest that the av capture trends specific to S the staff CA gap, staff assess	022, the average NEER apprec se merger did not have a signi cent since 2011, while the CPI he 2023 average. pap implies REER overvaluation erage REER in 2023 was overva witzerland, in particular, a secu ss the REER gap in 2023 to be i	iated by 6.8 percent, while the ficant impact on the franc ex- based REER has depreciated of 5.2 percent in 2023 (applying alued by 12.8 and 17.7 percent lar improvement in productivity n the range of 3.8 percent and	e CPI-based REER appreciate change rate. From a long-teri d by 2 percent. As of April202 ng an elasticity of 0.54). The E t, respectively. The fit of these ty, especially in knowledge-bas I 6.6 percent with a midpoint of	ed by 3.4 percent in m perspective, the NEER 4, REER depreciated by BA REER index and level models does not fully sed sectors. Consistent with of 5.2 percent (overvalued).						
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	Background. Net financial collapse of Credit Suisse) a net private inflows average Assessment. Financial flow perspective, sizable net pr between 2010 and 2020, a private outflows increased	outflows totaled 6.8 percent of and a decrease in Swiss Natio ed 1.1 percent of GDP, while th ws are large and volatile, refle ivate financial outflows prior t adding to appreciation pressur from to 25 percent, while the	of GDP in 2023, including priv nal Bank reserve assets of 1 he average annual increase in cting Switzerland's status as o the global financial crisis d es. In 2023, driven by Credit Swiss National Bank reduce	vate outflows of 21 percent of 5 percent of GDP (due to inter a Swiss National Bank reserve a financial center and safe h eclined and, on average, turn Suisse–related events and int d reserve assets on a net bas	GDP (related to the rventions). During 2010–22, es was 9.4 percent of GDP. aven. From a long-term ed into net capital inflows terest rate differentials, net sis.						
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background. Official reser down CHF128 billion (or U through FX interventions in	ve assets (including gold) amo \$\$142 billion) from the end of 1 2023, while in the recent pas	ounted to CHF724 billion (or l 2022. The Swiss National Ba st interventions have curbed	JS\$805 billion, 91 percent of nk sold CHF133 billion (17 pe excessive appreciation due to	GDP) at the end of 2023, ircent of GDP) of FX (net) o safe-haven inflows.						
	Assessment. Reserves are currency status of the fram incurred by the Swiss Nati Foreign exchange interven	a large relative to GDP, but more c, the adequacy of FX reserve onal Bank in 2022 and 2023, a tions can be considered in ca	re moderate in comparison w s is not a pressing concern fo and the volatility of its incom- ses of disorderly market cond	ith short-term foreign liabiliti or Switzerland. On the other h e, indicate risks associated w Jitions or to prevent inflation	es. Considering the reserve nand, the financial losses ith its large balance sheet. expectations de-anchoring						

that could result from large and persistent exchange rate movements.

Table 3.27. Thailand: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was stronger than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies, although CA and REER gaps are narrowing. The CA balance improved to 1.4 percent of GDP in 2023 from -3.2 percent of GDP in 2022, as tourism receipts recovered further, and is projected to return to a surplus of around 3 percent of GDP in the medium term.

Potential Policy Responses: Policies aimed at promoting investment, diminishing precautionary saving, liberalizing the services sector, and minimizing tax incentives and subsidies that distort competition would facilitate external rebalancing. Public expenditures should be focused on targeted social transfers to continue to support the most vulnerable, as well as infrastructure investment to support a green recovery and reorientation of affected sectors. Efforts to reform and expand social safety nets, notably the fragmented pension schemes, should continue, and measures to address widespread informality should help reduce precautionary saving and support consumption.

Foreign Asset
and LiabilityBackground. Thailand's NIIP strengthened to 8.3 percent of GDP in 2023 (from -3.4 percent in 2022), after weakening over the past two
years. Gross assets increased to 120 percent of GDP (from 117.5 percent) and gross liabilities declined to 111.7 percent of GDP (from
121 percent of GDP), respectively. Gross assets primarily consist of gross reserve assets (41.2 percent of GDP) and direct investment
(40 percent of GDP). Gross liabilities mainly comprise of direct (about half) and portfolio (about one-fourth) investment. Net direct and
portfolio investment assets declined by 1.9 and 3.7 percentage points of GDP, respectively, while net other investment assets increased by
1.6 percentage points of GDP.

Assessment. The NIIP is projected to remain in a small creditor position over the medium term given CA surpluses. External debt declined to 37.5 percent of GDP in 2023 from 40.4 percent of GDP in 2022, of which short-term debt amounts to about 15.4 percent of GDP. External debt stability and liquidity risks are limited.

2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: 8.3	Gross Assets: 1	20.0	Debt Ass	ets: 41.4	Gros	s Liab.: 111.7		Debt Liab.: 37.5	
Current Account	Background. Thailand's CA balance registered a surplus of 1.4 percent of GDP in 2023, from a deficit of -3.2 percent of GDP in 2022, as the partial recovery in tourist arrivals and improvement in transportation balance offset the weak performance of merchandise exports. The decline in shipping costs and postpandemic tourism recovery, albeit still partial, improved the services account by 3.3 percent of GDP. The normalization of inventories and higher net public savings from delays in approving the FY2024 budget contributed to the CA balance registering a surplus despite lower private savings from robust private consumption growth. Going forward, the CA balance is expected to stabilize at around 3 percent of GDP as for groups are for the travel and transport of GDP and a CA norm of 0.8 percent of GDP for 2023. The CA gap of 0.5 percent of GDP consists of an identified policy gap of 0.3 percent of GDP and a unexplained residual of 0.3 percent of GDP. As the large and persistent COVID-19-related shocks to the travel and transport sectors are not accounted for by the standard EBA cyclical adjustment, adjustors of 1.2 percent and 0.9 percent of GDP, respectively, are applied. ¹ Overall, IMF staff assesses the CA gap to be in the 1.9 to 3.3 percent of GDP for 2023.									
	the adjustors.									
2023 (% GDP)	CA: 1.4	Cycl. Adj. CA: 1.3	EBA	Norm: 0.8	EBA Gap	: 0.5	Staff Adj.: 2.1		Staff Gap: 2.6	
Real Exchange Rate	Background. The baht I real exchange rate appr depreciation pressures was 5.0 percent below i Assessment. Using an e 6.7 percent range, with is estimated at -1.4 per	 Background. The baht has been on a gradual real appreciation trend since the mid-2000s, despite occasional bouts of volatility. In 2023, the real exchange rate appreciated by 1.1 percent relative to 2022, partly reflecting the partial recovery of tourism receipts. This was despite depreciation pressures from portfolio outflows during the year, which were partly linked to electoral uncertainty. As of April 2024, the REER was 5.0 percent below its 2023 average. Assessment. Using an elasticity of 0.49 and based on the IMF staff CA gap, IMF staff assesses the 2023 REER to be undervalued in the 3.9 to 6.7 percent range, with a midpoint of 5.3 percent. The EBA index REER gap in 2023 is estimated at 7.4 percent, and the EBA level REER gap 								
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows and Policy Measures	Background. In 2023, the capital and financial account balance (excluding change in reserves) weakened to -2.4 percent of GDP from 1.4 percent in 2022, driven by the declines in portfolio investment (from 1.2 percent in 2022 to -2.6 percent of GDP in 2023) and inward FDI (from 2.3 percent in 2022 to 0.6 percent of GDP in 2023). Other net investments increased from -0.6 to 0.9 percent of GDP. Assessment. Thailand maintains strong external buffers and fundamentals that have helped weather episodes of volatility reflecting external financial conditions, political uncertainty, and shocks related to COVID-19 and the war in Ukraine. IMF staff welcome the authorities' efforts to provide more flexibility and reduce the cost of non-residents' foreign exchange transactions including by expanding the scope of the Non-resident Qualified Company scheme—to allow nonresidents providing cross-border payment services to participate. ² In line with past advice, the IMF team recommends phasing out CFM measures on nonresident baht accounts. A comprehensive package of macroeconomic, financial, and structural policies should be pursued to address volatile capital flows, complemented with gradual and prudent financial account liberalization.									
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	account liberalization. Background. The exchange rate regime is classified as (de jure and de facto) floating. International reserves (including the net forward position) declined to 49.4 percent of GDP from 49.6 percent of GDP in 2022, which is around 2.5 times the short-term debt, 11 months of imports, and 237 percent of the IMF's standard ARA metric. The exchange rate has been allowed to adjust, with some two-sided FX interventions in periods of large volatility. Assessment. Reserves are higher than the range of the IMF's reserve adequacy metrics and there continues to be no need to build up reserves for precautionary purposes. The exchange rate should move flexibly to act as a shock absorber, while FX intervention could be used to address disorderly market conditions and mitigate policy trade-offs when the FX market becomes dysfunctional and deviations in hedging and deviations in hedging due to large avecaging due to large policy trade-offs when the FX market becomes dysfunctional and deviations in hedging and deviations in hedging due to large policy trade-offs when the FX market becomes dysfunctional and deviations in hedging and financian remains parameters and the policy trade-offs when the FX market becomes dysfunctional and deviations in hedging and financian remains parameters and the policy trade-offs when the FX market becomes dysfunctional and deviations in hedging and financian remains parameters and the policy trade-offs when the FX market becomes dysfunctional and deviations in hedging and financian remains parameters and the policy trade-offs when the FX market becomes dysfunctional and deviations in hedging and financian remains parameters and the policy trade-offs when the FX market becomes dysfunctional and deviations in hedging and financian remains parameters and the policy trade-offs when the FX market becomes dysfunctional and deviations in hedging and financian remains parameters and the policy trade-offs when the FX market becomes dysfunctional and the policy trade-offs when the FX									

Table 3.28. Türkiye: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 is assessed to be weaker than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The assessment is mainly driven by the sizable CA gap, but also supported by the low level of reserves, large external financing needs, and the size and composition of the NIIP with high debt component, all of which contribute to external vulnerabilities. The CA deficit narrowed in 2023:H2, reflecting lower energy prices, declining gold imports, and demand compression from financial tightening, and is expected to improve further in the medium term. However, Türkiye's vulnerability to shocks remains high amid a negative net reserves position and elevated gross external financing needs.

Potential Policy Responses: Strengthening the policy framework would help underpin Türkiye's external sustainability going forward. Tightening of the monetary and fiscal policy stance would contain demand and improve the CA balance. Accelerating financial liberalization would reduce market distortions and improve monetary policy transmission. Open trade policies, including removing discretionary credit allocation that favors exports, could enhance competition and facilitate external rebalancing. Collectively, these policies would improve confidence and help sustain capital inflows which would allow for a much-needed accumulation of international reserves.

Foreign Asset and Liability Position and TrajectoryBackground. Türkiye's NIIP averaged -36.8 percent of GDP over 2019-23. The NIIP improved from -34.7 percent of GDP at the 2022 to -25.5 percent of GDP at the end of 2023, mainly driven by valuation effects including a large decrease in direct investin liabilities in dollar terms. Debt liabilities account for around 70 percent of gross liabilities. External debt declined from 51 percent 2022 to 45 percent of GDP in 2023. The private sector holds almost 50 percent of Türkiye's external debt, while the public sector government and central bank) holds the remainder. About 45 percent of the external debt is short term (on a remaining-maturit)										
	Assessment. The size and composition of its gross external liabilities, coupled with low reserves, increase Türkiye's vulnerability to liquidity shocks, sudden shifts in investor sentiment, and any global upswing in interest rates. The NIIP is expected to stabilize over the medium term and hover around –33 percent of GDP in 2029 due to a projected improvement in the CA balance. External debt is sustainable over the medium term but is subject to risks, particularly from a large depreciation in the REER.									
2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: -25.5	Gross Assets:	29.4 Debt As	sets: 11.5	Gross Liab.: 54.9	Debt Liab.: 39.0				
Current Account	Background. The CA deficit averaged 2.4 percent of GDP over 2019–23. Despite favorable energy prices, the CA deficit in 2023 remained significant at 4.0 percent of GDP, following a deficit of 5.1 percent of GDP in 2022, as nonenergy surplus declined from 3.8 percent of GDP in 2022 to 0.7 percent of GDP in 2023, due to a significant slowdown in exports amidst robust imports. In 2023:H2, however, CA deficit narrowed to around –1.4 percent of GDP, reflecting lower energy prices, declining gold imports, and demand compression from financial tightening. The improvement in the current account between 2022 and 2023 thus reflects an increase in savings, driven by the reduction in private consumption, which outweighed the increase in investment.									
	Assessment. The EBA 2023. Overall, the CA g	CA model estimates a c ap is assessed in the ra	yclically adjusted CA bal nge of –3.3 to –2.0 per	ance of –3.0 perce cent of GDP, with a	ent of GDP and a CA norm midpoint of –2.6 percent	of –0.3 percent of GDP in of GDP.				
2023 (% GDP)	CA: -4.0	Cycl. Adj. CA: -3.0	EBA Norm: -0.3	EBA Gap: -2.6	6 Staff Adj.: 0.0	Staff Gap: -2.6				
Real Exchange Rate	Exchange Background. The CPI-based REER depreciated by an annual average of 8.3 percent over 2019–22. Following several years of deprecati average REER appreciated by 2.4 percent in 2023. Reflecting higher PPI inflation, the average PPI-based REER appreciated by around 8 in 2023. As of April 2024, the CPI-based REER and the PPI-based REER appreciated by 7 percent and 3 percent, respectively, relative to 2023 average as inflation picked up driven by a large minimum wage bits in lanuary.									
	Assessment. Consister 9.6 percent (applying a 2023 by 45.7 and 55.7	nt with the staff CA gap, n estimated REER elast percent, respectively, al	staff assesses the REEI icity of 0.27). The EBA R though the models' resi	R to be overvalued EER index and leve duals are very large	in the range of 7.3 to 11.9 I models suggest the REE e for Türkiye.	9 with a midpoint of R was undervalued in				
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows	Background. Net capit in the banking sector. F in 2023. Direct investm	al inflows increased to a Portfolio investments als ient recorded a moderat	4.9 percent of GDP in 20 so turned positive after t te net inflow of 0.4 perc	23 from 3.9 percen he May 2023 electi ent of GDP.	t of GDP in 2022, driven l ion and recorded a net in	by an increased borrowing flow of 0.8 percent of GDP				
and Policy Measures	Assessment. With annual gross external financing needs projected at around 24 percent of GDP on average over 2024–29, Türkiye remains vulnerable to adverse shifts in global investor sentiment. The authorities' policy normalization since May 2023 has contributed to a modest rebound in capital flows, but increasing and sustaining the capital inflows, including to lira-denominated assets, would require further strengthening policy credibility and accelerating financial liberalization to reduce market distortions. As conditions improve, CFMs on capital outflows will need to be phased out.									
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Background. The de jure exchange rate is free floating while the de facto classification is assessed as a crawl-like arrangement. Gross international reserves increased to \$141 billion in 2023 from \$129 billion in 2022 supported by capital inflows and lower CA deficit. However, reserves have fallen subsequently as depreciation pressures increased in early 2024.									
	023, close but still below swaps and other short-term nting for a large share latility, while not preventing n of reserves should be									

Table 3.29. United Kingdom: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was weaker than the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. The CA deficit deteriorated marginally in 2023, reflecting a higher income deficit largely offset by improved trade balances due to lower energy prices and a negative public imbalance. The CA deficit is projected to gradually narrow as trade balances recover. The uncertainty around this assessment remains significant, reflecting measurement issues and the evolving impact on trade and capital flows of the new EU-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement.

Potential Policy Responses: Gradual fiscal consolidation, while preserving key public services and protecting the vulnerable, should help close the CA gap. In the medium term, implementing structural reforms to boost UK international competitiveness (including via upgrading the labor skill base to support labor reallocation to fast-growing sectors) would help improve CA balance while accommodating a need for rising public investment in support of the climate transition. The UK should continue to support an open trade environment, including addressing remaining barriers to trade with the European Union, while industrial policies should continue to be deployed cautiously and remain targeted to specific objectives where externalities or market failures prevent effective market solutions.

Foi and Pos Tra	d Liability sition and jectory	sterling appreciation) led to this sizable worsening of the NIIP in 2023 from – 14 percent of GDP in 2022. A negative valuation enect (including sterling appreciation) led to this sizable worsening of the NIIP in 2023 in addition to the CA deficit. ¹ Other investment—which is mainly cross-border bank loans—(196 percent of GDP in assets and 194 percent in liabilities) and portfolio investment (123 percent of GDP in assets and 130 percent in liabilities) constitute a large part of gross assets and liabilities. Other European countries, Japan, and the United States account for about three-quarters percent of total UK external assets and liabilities, and external liabilities have a larger share denominated in pounds than do external assets. ² IMF staff project the NIIP will moderately improve over the medium term, although large and volatile valuation effects make these estimates particularly uncertain.									
		Assessment. Despite the large valuation losses in 2023 (mainly driven by valuation losses on other investment assets), total valuation gains since 2016 (including the unrecorded impact of inflation differentials and the retained earnings bias on portfolio investment, as well as sterling depreciation) have more than offset the negative CA flows on the NIIP. Fluctuations in large gross stock positions could be a potential source of vulnerability (gross assets and liabilities exceed 500 percent of GDP). However, the United Kingdom's net liability position in domestic currency and exchange rate flexibility would offer some insurance against external crises.									
202	23 (% GDP)	NIIP: -31	Gross Assets:	503 Debt As	sets: 257	Gross Liab.: 534	Debt Liab.: 282				
Cu	rrent Account	 Background. The CA deficit increased marginally from 3.1 percent of GDP in 2022 to 3.3 percent in 2023, driven by a larger income deficit largely offset by an improved trade balance with a positive terms-of-trade shock. This CA deficit was higher than the average of 2.5 percent over the past five years (2019–23). While the income balance has been volatile historically, the deterioration in 2023 (which is also high compared with the average over the past five years) was likely due to higher interest payments on pound-denominated external debt. The decline in investment was slightly lower than the decline in gross savings, which was driven by the fact that public dissaving (6 percent of GDP) exceeded private saving (2.7 percent of GDP). Assessment. The EBA CA model estimates a norm of -0.4 percent of GDP; thus, with the cyclically adjusted 2023 CA of -3.3 percent of GDP, the CA gap is -2.9 percent of GDP. As in previous years, the unrecorded impact of inflation differential-related valuation effects on debt stocks (which would otherwise improve the 2023 CA by -0.1 percent of GDP) together underestimate the underlying CA by 0.5 percent of GDP.³ Adjusting for this, 									
202	23 (% GDP)	CA: -3.3	Cycl. Adj. CA: -3.3	EBA Norm: -0.4	EBA Gap: -2.9	9 Staff Adj.: 0.5	Staff Gap: -2.4				
Re: Ra	al Exchange te	 Background. The pound appreciated in real effective terms in 2023 by 2.5 percent relative to its average level in 2022, driven partly by nominal appreciation, with higher for longer policy rates expected in the United Kingdom. Overall, the pound has depreciated by about 3.7 percent since mid-2016, reflecting market expectations of more restricted access to the EU market under post-Brexit trade arrangements. As of April 2024, the REER had further appreciated by 2.8 percent compared to the 2023 average. Assessment. The EBA REER level and index approaches suggest a gap of 4 and –6 percent, respectively, for 2023. Consistent with the staff CA gap, the staff assessed the REER gap to be in the range of 5.4 to 13 percent with a midpoint of 9.2 percent (applying an estimated elasticity of 0.26). 									
Ca Fin Ac an Me	pital and ancial counts: Flows d Policy asures	 Background. Given the United Kingdom's role as an international financial center, portfolio investment and other investment are the key components of the financial account. In net terms, the CA deficit was mainly financed in 2023 by net other investment of 11.1 percent of GDP, while net portfolio investment and FDI declined by 6.2 and 2.7 percent of GDP, respectively. Assessment. Large fluctuations in capital flows are inherent in countries with a large financial sector. This volatility is a potential source of 									
FX and Lev	Intervention d Reserves vel	Vulnerability, autougn it is intugated by a robust financial stability framework. Background. The pound has the status of a global reserve currency. The share of global reserves in sterling has not changed materially since 2015, at about 4.6 percent. Assessment. Passages held by the United Kingdom are twoically low relative to standard metrics, and the surrange is free flecting.									
				as alo traisair IOW IC							

Table 3.30. United States: Economy Assessment

Overall Assessment: The external position in 2023 was broadly in line with the level implied by medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. An improvement in the trade balance was led by a decline in the goods deficit, primarily driven by reduced imports of goods, resulting in a CA deficit of 3.0 percent of GDP (versus 3.8 percent of GDP in 2022). The CA deficit is projected to decline to about 2½ percent of GDP over the medium term based on an increase in net public saving due to fiscal consolidation and a slow convergence of private saving to its steady state after years of excess saving drawdowns, reflected in a lower trade deficit.

Potential Policy Responses: Over the medium term, suggested fiscal consolidation aimed at a medium-term general government primary surplus of about 1 percent of GDP should broadly stabilize the debt-to-GDP ratio and maintain an external position consistent with medium-term fundamentals and desirable policies. Structural policies to increase competitiveness while maintaining full employment include upgrading infrastructure; enhancing the schooling, training, apprenticeship, and mobility of workers; supporting the working poor; and implementing policies to increase growth in the labor force (including skill-based immigration reform). Industrial policies should remain narrowly targeted to specific objectives where externalities or market failures prevent effective market solutions and avoid favoring domestic producers over imports. Tariff barriers and other trade distortions should be rolled back, and trade and investment disagreements with other countries should be resolved in a manner that supports an open, stable, and transparent global trading system.

Foreign Asset
and LiabilityBackground. The NIIP stood at -70.7 percent of GDP at the end of 2023, weakening from -61.2 percent of GDP in 2022 and compared to the
2016-19 prepandemic average of about -46½ percent of GDP. About a quarter of the NIIP decline was attributed to net transactions, while
the main driver of change was valuation adjustments stemming from a significant rise in US stock prices compared to foreign stocks which
led to an increase in the market value of US liabilities more than US assets. At the same time, the small depreciation of the US dollar (around
1.7 percent) raised the value of foreign-currency-denominated US assets in dollar terms, thereby marginally offsetting (about 10 percent
of) the negative impact of rising stock prices on the NIIP. Under the IMF staff's baseline scenario, the NIIP is projected to remain broadly
unchanged through the medium term on the back of improvements in net portfolio investment position as the CA balance reverts to its
prepandemic average and valuation gains persist.

Assessment. Despite the widening negative trend in the NIIP, the US external debt declined to around 87 percent of GDP in 2023 (down from its mid-2020 peak of nearly 110 percent of GDP and the 2016–19 average of 94 percent of GDP) driven by a strong postpandemic economic rebound. In addition, the investment income balance remained positive as the yield on assets has consistently surpassed that of its liabilities. Importantly, the substantial share of external assets denominated in foreign currencies (which has increased to around 70 percent by 2020)—combined with an even larger share of US-dollar-denominated external liabilities—remains a relevant channel for exchange rates to affect NIIP through valuation changes, with a depreciation generally improving the NIIP. Nonetheless, financial stability risk could surface in the form of an unexpected decline in foreign demand for US fixed-income securities, which is a main component of the country's external liabilities. The risk, which could materialize, for example, as a result of a failure to reestablish fiscal sustainability, remains moderate given the dominant status of the US dollar as a reserve currency. Strong institutions, a predictable policy framework, and attractive diverse investment opportunities further mitigate the likelihood of such risk materializing. About 60 percent of US assets are in the form of FDI and portfolio equity claims.

2023 (% GDP)	NIIP: -70.7	Gross Assets: 123.6	Debt As	sets: 37.9	Gros	s Liab.: 194.4	Debt Liab.: 87		
Current Account	Background. The CA deficit was 3.0 percent of GDP in 2023, down from 3.8 percent in 2022 (moving from 3½ to 2.6 percent of GDP in cyclically adjusted terms) and compared with the 2016–19 prepandemic deficit of around 2 percent of GDP. In 2023, the trade deficit notably contracted relative to 2022 (–2.8 percent versus –3.7 percent of GDP), reversing the trend of deterioration observed since 2016 primarily due to a reduced deficit in goods. Additionally, the service surplus increased slightly. Meanwhile, income accounts remained broadly stable. From a savings-investment perspective, the CA deficit reflected the public sector's savings-investment deficit, partly offset by private sector's savings-investment surplus. The CA deficit is expected to gradually decline to about 2¼ percent of GDP over the medium term. Assessment. The EBA model estimates a cyclically adjusted CA balance of –2.6 percent of GDP against a CA norm of –1.9 percent of GDP, with a standard error of 0.7 percent of GDP. This implies a model-based CA gap of –0.7 percent of GDP for 2023, with an estimated contribution of identified policy gaps of –0.7 percent of GDP. The identified policy gaps primarily reflect the more expansionary fiscal policy in the US relative to the rest of the world (resulting in -0.8 percent of GDP contribution from the fiscal policy gap). The IME staff assesses a CA								
	gap in a range of –1.4 a	nd 0 percent of GDP with a i	nidpoint of –0.7 p	ercent of GDP.					
2023 (% GDP)	CA: -3.0	Cycl. Adj. CA: –2.6 E	A Norm: –1.9	EBA Gap:	-0.7	Staff Adj.: 0	Staff Gap: -0.7		
Real Exchange Rate	Background. After appre As of April 2024, the REE Assessment The IME sta	ciating by 8.3 percent in 20 R was about 2.0 percent ab ff CA gap implies a BEEB th	2, the REER depr we the 2023 aver t is overvalued by	eciated by 0.5 age. / 5.8 percent in	percent in	2023 (when yearly	averages are compared).		
	The EBA REER index mod Considering all the estim to be 5.8 percent of GDP, CA elasticity.	lel suggests an overvaluation ates and their uncertainties, with a range of 11.6 to 0 pe	of 8.3 percent, a consistent with th cent, where the r	nd the EBA REE le CA gap, the l ange is obtaine	R level mo MF staff a d from the	odel suggests an ov ssesses the 2023 m e CA standard error	ervaluation of 16.7 percent. idpoint REER overvaluation and the corresponding		
Capital and Financial Accounts: Flows	Background. In 2023, the financial account balance stood at approximately –3.0 percent of GDP, a slight improvement from the –3.1 percent of GDP recorded in 2022. This shift primarily stemmed from an increase in net other investment and, to a lesser degree, an increase in net financial derivatives, though it was partly offset by declines in net portfolio investment and net direct investment.								
and Policy Measures	Assessment. The United States has an open capital account. Vulnerabilities are limited by the US dollar's status as a reserve currency, with foreign demand for US Treasury securities supported by the status of the dollar as a reserve currency and, possibly, by safe haven flows.								
FX Intervention and Reserves Level	Assessment. The US dol standard metrics. The cu	ar has the status of a globa rrency is free floating.	reserve currency	. Reserves held	d by the U	nited States are typ	ically low relative to		

Technical Endnotes by Economy

Argentina

¹Namely reflecting valuation gains from the exchange rate depreciation on peso debt held by nonresidents as well as resident purchases of debt held by nonresidents.

²Investment income to Argentines over the same period was US\$13.8 billion, indicating that a larger share of the growth in Argentines' foreign savings has been on account of new flows (e.g., interest and capital gains).

³High levels of private foreign assets suggest diminishing risks of significant capital flight upon the lifting of CFMs.

⁴The adjustor is smaller than the actual impact of the drought on exports (~3 percent of GDP), due to second-round effects. ⁵Staff's adjustment includes the 2.4 percent drought adjustment to the cyclical CA minus the 1.1 percent external sustainability adjustor to the CA norm.

⁶Meanwhile, results from the EBA REER index model suggest a REER gap of 19.9 percent, while the EBA REER level model estimates a gap of 5.0 percent, with the estimate surrounded by significant uncertainty.

Canada

¹Inflation compensation is not recorded in the income balance which is recorded in nominal terms. This yields an estimated downward bias of 0.9 percent of GDP. Further, retained earnings on portfolio equity are not recorded, but can be estimated from stock positions, financial market data, and the national accounts. The downward bias from this is estimated to amount to 0.6 percent of GDP, yielding a total estimated downward bias on the income balance of 1.5 percent of GDP.

China

¹See 2022 IMF CFM Taxonomy for a list of China's existing CFMs and related policy advice.

Euro Area

¹The export and import elasticities are obtained as the average of estimates from Consultative Group on Exchange Rate Issues– inspired export and import equations using REERs relevant for the euro area with an ADL (2,2,2) model on quarterly data 2000–19. The trade balance elasticity is calculated using the share of exports and imports in extra-EU trade in GDP.

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

¹Includes debt securities, loans, trade credits and other advances. ²A +0.4 pp of GDP cyclical adjustment arising from the estimated negative output gap for Hong Kong SAR in 2023 and other cyclical and short-term factors, implies a cyclically adjusted CA of 8.8 percent of GDP. The CA was adjusted further by 0.7 pp to account for the incomplete recovery in incoming tourism, reflecting in part continued weak consumer confidence in Mainland China, the key market, and lingering capacity constraints associated with reopening in Hong Kong SAR. This adjustment reflects the gap between actual tourist arrivals in 2023 and projected arrivals based on the trend from 2010–19. As a result, the underlying current account balance used in this assessment is 9.5 percent of GDP.

³Hong Kong SAR is not in the EBA sample as it is an outlier along many dimensions of EBA analysis. While it is possible to use EBA-estimated coefficients and apply them to Hong Kong SAR, there are obvious drawbacks. Following this approach, the cyclically adjusted multilaterally consistent CA norm in 2023 is estimated to be about 22.5 percent of GDP, which compared with the CA adjusted for cyclical and other shortterm factors (9.5 percent of GDP, see footnote 2), implying a CA gap of -13.0 percent. The EBA CA gap is overstated as it does not properly reflect the measurement issues that are relevant for Hong Kong SAR, so three adjustments are made which reduce the CA norm by around 12 ppt of GDP to 10.4 percent, based on a staff-assessed norm range. First, a deduction of around 6.1 ppt of GDP (based on a range between 5.4-6.8 ppt) is made to the EBA model's implied contribution of the NIIP position. This is because the positive NIIP contribution in EBA captures average income effects that are less relevant for Hong Kong SAR since the income balance relative to its NIIP is systematically lower than other peer economies, due to a persistently higher share of debt instruments on the asset side than on the liability side. Second, a deduction of around 4.6 ppt of GDP is made to account for a decline in the gold trade balance that does not reflect changes in wealth but rather the increased physical settlement of gold futures contracts resulting from the opening of a Precious Metals Depository. Third, a deduction of 1.3 ppt of GDP (midpoint of an estimated 1.2-1.5 ppt range) is made to account for Mainland China's increased onshoring, which led to a decline in logistics and trading activities in Hong Kong SAR, but did not result in lower consumption because it is viewed as temporary and to be replaced with increased provision of high value-added services as Hong Kong SAR's own economy rebalances in response to Mainland demand (see "People's Republic of China—Hong Kong Special Administrative Region: Selected Issues" (Country Report No. 17/12) for more details).

⁴The range is calculated by applying the average semi-elasticities of Hong Kong SAR and similar economies.

⁵The financial linkages with the Mainland have deepened in recent years with the increase in cross-border bank lending, capital market financing, and the internationalization of the RMB. As of end-2023, banking system claims on bank
and non-bank entities in Mainland China amounted to 102 percent of GDP, down by about 17 ppt from the peak at end-2020.

India

¹The observed stability of the exchange rate since December 2022 prompted reclassification of India's de facto exchange rate regime by the IMF from "floating" to "stabilized arrangement" as of the Article IV consultation in December 2023, while the de jure classification remained "floating."

Indonesia

¹Indonesia is among a few countries with low life expectancy at prime age and demographic indicators are adjusted to account for this. As a result, the model-estimated CA norm is adjusted by subtracting 0.3 percentage point.

Japan

¹IMF staff recommends allowing the estimated credit-to-GDP gap to decline gradually over the medium term from its currently estimated level of 16.5 percent (14.4 percent net of corporate savings) with a corresponding policy setting (P*) for the credit-to-GDP gap in five years of 7.3 percent of GDP. This is consistent with the reduction envisaged earlier in the 2022/23 *External Sector Report.*

Saudi Arabia

¹EBA models do not include Saudi Arabia. The IMF staff considered two approaches of the EBA-lite methodology: the EBA-lite CA model and the EBA-lite commodity module. The latter includes the special intertemporal considerations that are dominant in economies in which exports of nonrenewable resources are a very high share of output and exports. ²Using the EBA-lite CA model, the cyclically adjusted CA norm is estimated at 5.9 percent of GDP (lower than the CA norm of 7.7 percent of GDP in 2022, which was mainly driven by high oil exports and fiscal balance). The Consumption Allocation Rules assume that the sustainability of the CA trajectory requires that the net present value of all future oil and financial and investment income (wealth) be equal to the net present value of imports of goods and services net of non-oil exports. Estimated CA norms from the Consumption Allocation Rules were 5.2 percent of GDP and 8.2 percent of GDP for the constant real annuity and constant real per capita annuity allocation rules, respectively. The Investment Needs Model takes account of the possibility that it might be desirable to allocate part of the resource wealth to finance investment, which was

not explicitly considered by the consumption-based model and produced a CA gap of 3.5 percent over the medium term. The reliance of the consumption and investment models on projected oil prices beyond the medium-term macro framework subjects the results to a high degree of uncertainty. The CA gap in 2023 of -2.6 percent of GDP represents the staff's overall assessment, which is anchored on the EBA-Lite CA model. The range for the gap is calculated using the standard error of Norway (2 percent), a comparable oil-rich economy in the EBA sample.

Singapore

¹Singapore has a negative income balance despite its large positive NIIP position, reflecting lower rates of return on its foreign assets relative to returns on its foreign liabilities, possibly due to the fact that the composition of Singapore's assets is tilted toward safer assets with lower returns.

²Nonstandard factors make a quantitative assessment of Singapore's external position difficult and subject to significant uncertainty. Singapore is not included in the EBA sample because it is an outlier along several dimensions. One possibility, though with drawbacks, is to use EBA estimated coefficients and apply them to Singapore. Following that approach, the CA norm is estimated to be about 15.6 percent of GDP in 2023 (including the multilateral consistency adjustor). However, using this approach understates the CA gap. In order to account for Singapore specificities, several adjustments are needed. First, a downward adjustment of 1 percentage point is made to EBA's implied contribution of public health expenditures to the norm to account for the fact that Singapore's health expenditure is appropriate given its high efficiency, even though its desirable, as well as current, public health expenditure is significantly lower than in other EBA countries. Second, a downward adjustment of 3.7 percentage points to the norm is made to better account for the effect of NFA composition and component-specific return differentials on the CA. Third, notwithstanding possible partial double-counting with the NFA components adjustor, a downward adjustment of 2.2 percentage points of GDP is applied to the underlying CA to account for measurement biases due to inflation and portfolio equity retained earnings (-5.4 and +3.2 percent of GDP, respectively). Adjusting for these factors, the staff-estimated CA gap is about 7.0 percent of GDP, to which the fiscal gap contributes about 1.6 percent of GDP, credit gap about -0.1 percent of GDP, public health spending about 0.2 percent of GDP, and reserves about 0.3 percent of GDP. ³We apply the maximum range of ±1.8 percent in the EBA sample for the CA gap reflecting the uncertainty around Singapore's assessment.

⁴The reserves-to-GDP ratio is also larger than in most other financial centers, but this may reflect in part that most other financial centers are in reserve-currency countries or currency unions. External assets managed by the government's investment corporation and wealth fund (GIC and Temasek) amount to at least 100 percent of GDP.

South Africa

¹Because South Africa is among the few countries with relatively high adult mortality rates, the demographic indicators are adjusted to account for the younger average prime age and exit age from the workforce, resulting in a lower CA norm. Other adjustors account for transfers related to the Southern African Customs Union (SACU), assessed to have a net negative impact on the CA, and measurement biases related to the treatment of retained earnings on portfolio equity assets and inflation compensation, which are likely to contribute to an underestimation of the income balance.

Spain

¹TARGET2 is the settlement system run by the Eurosystem. It settles payments related to the Eurosystem's monetary policy operations, as well as bank-to-bank and commercial transactions. When banks in Spain send more euros through TARGET2 than they receive overall, the Bank of Spain incurs a TARGET2 liability. The Bank of Spain's TARGET2 liabilities had increased until recently, mostly as a result of the asset purchase program introduced by the European Central Bank in 2015, which technically led the Bank of Spain to purchase assets held by investors with bank accounts abroad.

Sweden

¹The upper and lower bounds are derived by adding/subtracting the standard deviation (6.4 percent) from the average outcome (midpoint) to reflect uncertainty around the EBA estimated norm.

Switzerland

¹Due to large revisions to historical balance-of-payments and international investment position data, particular caution is needed when comparing the ESA results for different periods. For example, based on the latest information from the annual surveys on cross-border capital linkages, the CA has been revised in 2023 downwards by CHF15 billion (2 percent of GDP) for 2021 and by CHF4 billion (0.5 percent of GDP) for 2022, driven by higher expenses for dividends paid to nonresident investors for their equity participations in resident enterprises. ²As flagged by the Swiss National Bank (press release: "Swiss Balance of Payments and International Investment Position 2023 and Q4 2023," March 2024).

³Valuation changes reflect fluctuations of exchange rates and prices of securities and precious metals that interact with differences among assets and liabilities in terms of currencies and instruments. As a result, an appreciation (depreciation) of the Swiss franc has a negative (positive) effect on the NIIP. Other stock-flow adjustments include changes in statistical sources, such as changes in the number of entities surveyed and items covered. ⁴Part of the positive EBA CA gap may reflect institutional pension features, such as replacement and coverage rates, in Switzerland rather than other economic policy gaps. ⁵The underlying CA is adjusted for Switzerland-specific factors in the income account: (1) retained earnings on portfolio equity investment that are not recorded in the income balance of the CA (or the PE RE bias) under the sixth edition of the IMF Balance of Payments and International Investment Position Manual and (2) recording of nominal interest on fixed income securities under the Balance of Payments Manual framework, which compensates for expected valuation losses (due to inflation and/or nominal exchange rate movements), even though this stream compensates for the (anticipated) erosion in the real value of debt assets and liabilities. The PE RE bias was estimated using the "stock method" and "flow method" as explained in "The Measurement of External Accounts" (IMF Working Paper 19/132), and it is similar in size to estimates based on the Swiss National Bank's pilot BPM7 data.

Thailand

¹For Thailand, the transportation adjustor is calculated as the change in the transport services balance between 2019 and 2023. The travel adjustor is added to account for the temporary impact of the COVID-19 shock on the tourism balance, as the Thai economy is highly dependent on tourism and Chinese tourist flows represent a large share of prepandemic tourist arrivals. Under the assumption that tourism flows will have recovered by 2025 for Thailand, a tourism adjustor of 1.2 percent of GDP is calculated in four steps: (1) first, subtracting the IMF staff prepandemic projection of the travel balance for 2023 from the actual 2023 travel balance yields the overall impact of the both transitory and structural factors impacting the tourism balance after the COVID-19 shock; (2) second, subtracting the IMF staff prepandemic projection of the travel balance for 2025 from the currently projected 2025 travel balance provides an estimate of the structural change on the tourism balance following the pandemic; (3) third, netting out the structural change estimated in the second step from the overall effect calculated in the first step yields a measure of the transient effect on the travel services balance; and (4) applying the coefficient of 0.75 (that is, the estimated impact of changes in the travel services balance on the CA) on the estimate of the transient effect on the travel services balance calculated in the third step yields the tourism adjustor applied by IMF staff.

²The Non-Resident Qualified Company scheme is being assessed under the Institutional View for the Liberalization and Management of Capital Flows.

United Kingdom

¹Official NIIP data do not record FDI assets and liabilities at market value. The Bank of England's December 2022 *Financial Stability Report* estimates that if the United Kingdom's FDI assets and liabilities were also marked-to-market, then the United Kingdom's NIIP would rise from negative territory to close to +100 percent of GDP.

²Estimates in Allen and others (2023) suggest that, in 2020, about 93 percent of external assets were denominated in foreign currency compared with 53 percent for external liabilities. ³These measurement issues arise primarily because of differences between the statistical definition of income and the relevant economic concept. Both would lead to NIIP valuation changes but are not recorded in the income balance.

References

- Adler, Gustavo, Daniel Garcia-Macia, and Signe Krogstrup. 2019. "The Measurement of External Accounts." IMF Working Paper 19/132, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Allen, Cian, Deepali Gautam, and Luciana Juvenal. 2023. "Currencies of External Balance Sheets."
- IMF Working Paper 23/237, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Bank of England. 2022. *Financial Stability Report.* London, England, December.
- International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2017. "People's Republic of China—Hong Kong Special Administrative Region: Selected Issues." IMF Country Report 17/12, Washington, DC.

INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

GLOBAL FINANCIAL STABILITY REPORT INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

FISCAL

MONITOR

WORLD ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

REGIONAL ECONOMIC OUTLOOKS

ASIA AND PACIFIC

EUROPE

MIDDLE EAST AND CENTRAL ASIA

SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA

WESTERN HEMISPHERE



Free

PUBLICATIONS

Global economics at your fingertips

Timely.

Topical

IMF.org/pubs bookstore.IMF.org eLibrary.IMF.org

IN THIS ISSUE:

CHAPTER 1 External Positions and Policies

CHAPTER 2 Navigating the Tides of Commodity Prices

CHAPTER 3 2023 Individual Economy Assessments





EXTERNAL SECTOR REPORT 2024